STATE'S ATTORNEY
Marilyn J. Mosby

OFFICE of the STATE'S ATTORNEY for BALTIMORE CITY DIRECT DIAL
120 East Baltimore Streer Baltimore, Maryland 21202 443-984-6011

January 13, 2016

VIA HAND DELIVERY

The Honorable Bamry G. Williams

Associate Judge

Circuit Court for Baltimore City

534 Courthouse East

Baltimore, MD 21202

RE: State vs. Porter, No. 115141037

State vs. Goodson, No. 115141032
State vs. White, No. 115141036
State vs. Miller, No. 115141034
State vs. Nero, No. 115141033
State vs. Rice, No. 115141035

Dear Judge Williams,

| write on behalf of the State with regard to the trial scheduling of the above-
referenced cases. The State requests that none of the cases be tried until the Court of
Special Appeals resclves the Porter immunity appeal. After that resolution, the State
requests that Porter be retried first, followed by the trials of Goodson, White, Miller,
Nero, and Rice, in that order. After recounting the current schedule, 1 will address the
reasons for the State’s request.

As of now, the Goodson trial has been stayed. The White trial, now set for
February 8, will likely soon be in the same or similar posture as the Goodson trial.
Porter has filed a Notice of Appeal of your immunity order in the White case, and
presumably that appeal will be consolidated with the previous Porter appeal, and the
impact will be the same on the Whife case as the impact on the Goodson case. The
Court of Special Appeals will hear argument on March 4, with its ruling presumably a
reasonable time thereafter.

The Mifler case is scheduled for March 7, and before the orders of the Court of
Special Appeals, it was to be the next case tried after the White case. Although the
Nero case is scheduled for February 22, and the Rice case for March 9, the plan was to
reschedule Nero and Rice after the Miller case.

The State asks that Porfer be retried before any of the other cases because that
is the most practical thing to do. Retrying Porter first will (1) eliminate the need for a
time consuming and potentially complex Kastigar hearing; (2) allow the State to avoid
the cosily redundancies of creating a “clean” team; and (3) moot virtually every
objection made thus far by Porter in opposing the immunity conferred upon him. The
savings in judicial and prosecutorial resources will be considerable and in the public
interest.



The Sfate has previously advised the Court of Porter's importance as a witness
in the Goodson and White cases. Porter's testimeny about the failure fo seatbelt at the
second stop is also critical to the trials of Miller, Nero and Rice. Each is charged with
reckless endangerment and misconduct for failure fo seatbelt Mr. Gray. The involuntary
manslaughter and assauit charges against Rice are also based, in part, upen the failure
fo seatbelt.

Also important is Porter's testimony concerning his interactions with Mr. Gray at
the fourth stop. The State and its expert witnesses rely in part on Porter's evidence
concerning that fourth stop to prove that Mr. Gray suffered his fatal injuries between the
second and fourth stops. The defendants contend that these injuries occurred later,
between the fifth and sixth stops. While not legally dispositive as to each and every
charge against each defendant, where the injuries took place is important and will have
impact upon the jury. It is directly implicated in the involuntary manslaughter and assault
charges against Rice, and also relevant to the reckless endangerment charges against
each of Miller, Nero, and Rice. If the injury happened where the State contends, it is
directly traceable to the failure to seatbelt at stop two, and is therefore evidence that the
conduct of Miller, Nero, and Rice “created a substantial risk of death or serious physical
injury to another....” MPJI-Cr 4:26A. This is an objective test for which the actual
injuries suffered are relevant: “Whether the conduct in issue has, indeed, created a
substantial risk of death or serious physical injury is an issue that will be assessed
objeclively on the basis of the physical evidence in the case.” Williams v. State, 100 Md.
App. 468, 495 (1994).

Having closely observed the defense efforts in the Porfer case to (1) assign the
culpability for Mr. Gray's death to Goodson and to White, and (2) establish that Mr.
Gray's injuries occurred between stops five and six, the State is persuaded of the
importance of Porter’s testimony in the trials of Miller, Nero, and Rice.

Finally, Goodson is charged with the most sericus offenses of any of the
defendants. Once Porter is first retried, for the reasons written above, it is fitting and in
the public interest that Goodson be tried next. If the Goodson case is tried to a verdict, it
may have an impact on both prosecutorial and defense decisions about the remaining
cases.

Thank you for your consideration of these requests.
Very truly yours,

M W=

Michael Schatzow
Chief Deputy State's Attorney
Baltimore City State’s Attorney’s Office

MS/tsr



Cc: Matthew B. Fraling, Ill, Esquire, Via Email
Marc L. Zayon, Esquire, Via Email
Catherine Flynn, Esquire, Via Email
Joseph Murtha, Esquire, Via Email
Ivan Bates, Esquire, Via Email
Michael Belsky, Esquire, Via Email
Andrew Jay Graham, Esquire, Via Email
Gary Proctor, Esquire, Via Emai
Amy Askew, Esquire, Via Email
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‘STATE OF MARYLAND o IN THE
V. * CIRCUIT COURT
LT. BRIAN RICE | * FOR BALTIMORE CITY
* CASE NO. 115141035

® 3 * * * L] * * *

. DEFENDANT WILLIAM PORTER’S OPPOSITION TO THE STATE'S MOTION
TO COMPEL A WITNESS TO TESTIFY PURSUANT TO
SECTION 9-123 OF THE COURTS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ARTICLE

Now comes the defendant, William Porter, by and-through- (mdersigned
counsel-and hereby files this Opposition to the State’s Motion to Compel a
Witness to Testify Pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial
Proceedings Article. In support thereof, William' Porter states the. following:

1. The State has previously suggested, if not requested, that the Gourt
consider postponing the- frials of Officer Caesar Goodson, Sergeant Alicia White,
Officer Garrett Miller, Officer Edward Nero, and Lieutenant Brian Rice until after
the retrial of Officer William Porter, Such a suggestion was not adopted by the
Court, and the trials of the remaining defendants were scheduled to proceed in
the order identified. The order of the trials was disrupted after the Court of Special
Appeals stayed the trial of Caesar Goodson after staying this- Court’s order
compelling Officer Porter to testify as a witness in the frial of Officer Goodson. An
order compelling the testimony of Officer Porter in the trial of Sergeant Alicia

White has been appealed, and it Is anticipated that the trial of Sergeant White will
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be stayed upon the Court of Special Appeals staying of this Court's order
compelling Officer Porter to testify as a witness for the State.

2 On more than one occasion the State has communicated its interest
in retrying the matter of Officer Porter before trying the remaining defendants. By
virtue of the Court of Special Appeals’ order staying Officer Goodson’s trial, and
the anticipated stay of Sergeant White’s trial, it appears that the State’s strategy
of postponing the remaining cases now involves a not previously revealed ‘desire
to have Officer Porter testify in-each and every co-defendant’s trial. This theory,
offered for the first time in communication with the Court on January 13, 2016,
~ suggests that Officer Porter's “tastimony about the failure to seatbelt at the
second stop is also critical to the trials of Miller, Nero and Rice.” The problem with
this representation is that a review of the trial testimony of Officer Porter reveals
absolutely no testimony “about the failire to seatbelt ‘at th¢ second stop.” The
State’s attempt to use Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings
Article as a vehicle to.obtain postponements of the trials of Officer Miller, Officer
Nero and Lieutenant Rice cannof be ignored by the Court.

. 3. OnJanuary 14, 20186, for the first time in a publicly filed pleading
since the inception of the prosecution of these matters, the State asserted that it
“may” call Officer William Porter to testify as a witness during the triat of
Defendant Rice because Officer Porter's testimony “may be necessary to the
public interest.”

4.  Beyond this bare assertion, and its factually inaccurate

2
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representation to the Court in a separate document, the State offers no proffer in
its two page motion as to why Officer Porter’s testimony is either material or
necessary {o the trial of Defendant Rice, or how it is necessary to serve the public
interest.

5. As noted, the request comes days after the Court of Special Appeals’
injunction staying the trial of Officer Goodson, and a likely injunction staying the
trial of Sergeant White. Both injunctions are the result of the State's
characterization of Officer Porter as a material and necessary witness for the
trials of Officer Goodson and Sergeant White, as well as the need to clarify the
issues concerning Officer Porter's compelled testimony.

6. The State now attempts to place Lt. Rice’s case in the same
posture as those of Officer Goodson and Sergeant White in an attempt to reguire
a stay of his trial.

7. The Staie’s past actions contradict the alleged need on which the
present request rests. When the State was afforded the opportunity to select the
order in which to call the cases in this matter, the State conten-ded that
«Defendant Porter is a necessary and matetial witness in the cases against
Defendants Goodson and White, so it is imperative that Mr. Porter's trial takes
place before theit trials.” Exhibit A. State’s Letter dated September 15, 2015,
Consequently, the State suggested the following:”[wlithout listing ali the possible

permutations, the State essentially seeks to have Mr. Porter tried before Mr.
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~ Goodson and Ms. White, to have Mr. Miller tried before Mr. Nero, and to have Mr,
Mr. Miller and Mr. Nero tried before Mr. Rice:” /d.

8.  In the State’s previous four trial witness lists to Brian Rice, the
State never once indicated that it intended to call Officer Porter as a witness.
Moreover, the State has never suggested, until the filing of the present Motion,
that Officer Porter's testimony was in any way necessary to the prosecutions of
Defendants Miller, Nero_or Rice.

9. In light of the State’s past position, it is abundantly clear that the
present Motion is nothing more than a pretext to regain control of the order of the
Defendants’ trials, and avoid trying the most factually and legally tenuous cases
first.

10. However, in order to fulfill its procedural desires, the State is
trampling upon the Fifth Amendment righté, as well as the Article 22 rights, of
Officer Porter, The State essentially seeks to take Officer Porter hostage as an
unwilling witness in five trials, three of which are solely for the sake-of postponing
the trials until after the retrial of Ofﬁc;er Porter. Iflthe present Motion is granted, it
would be in essence reward the State for its tactical inadequacies and utter
disrespect for the constitutional protections afforded Qfﬁc‘er Porter.

11.. The State’s actions in the cases before the Court are without
precedent, Officer Potter is being used as the designated whipping boy in the
State’s case against Officer Goodson and Sergeant White, and now the State

seeks to torture him even more by moving to compel him to testify in the trials of

4
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Officer Miller, Nero and Lieutenant Rice. The State does‘not shy away from
saying that Officer Porter committed perjury in his own trial, yet they continue to
think that they can sponsor his testimony in the other officers’ cases, and then
prosecﬁte him for the crimes that they allege in the charging document filed in his
case.. This cannot be tolerated, and particularly; shouid not be permitted as a
means to obtain a postponement of the remaining three cases and dominate the
order in which the frials proceed before the Court.

12.  The Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution declares in part that
“No person ... shall be compelled in any criminat case to be a witness against

himself.” U.S. Const.. 5th Amend. The Fifth Amendment creates a privilege

against compelled disclosures that could implicate a witness in criminal activity
and thus subject him or her to criminal prosecution. Hoffman v. United States, 341
US 479, 486-488, 71 8.Ct. 814, 818-819 (1951). The privilege against self-
incrimination is a constitutionally-based .privilege——not an evidentiary privilege.
13. To be clear: Porter is not saying that § 9-123 is unconstitutional: he
is saying thatitis unconstitutional as applied to this-defendant in this setting. To
quote Chief Judge Murphy, in his capacity as chair of the General Assembly
Criminal Law Article Review Committee:
The granting of some form of immunity against prosecution arising from
compelied incriminating testimony does nhot, of itself, cure the constitutional

defect. The General Assembly may wish to explore the scope of immunity that
may be required to allow compelled festimony in harmeny with federal and State

constitutional precedent.
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See notes to Md. Code Ann., Crim. Law § 9-204. The General Assembly has
fatled to do so, so it falls to this Court to provide Officer Porter shelter from the
storm.

14,  While Officer Pbrter has many valid reasons as to why he cannot be
compelled to testify, the Fifth Amendment, the Sixth Amendment, Ariicle 22, to
name but three, the overarching principle is that the judicial system is built on
trust and respect of the public and relies on that trust and respect for
effectiveness. ‘It is of fundamental importance-that\justi‘c:e should not only, but
should manifestly and undoubtedly be seen to be done.” Rex v. Sussex Justices,
1 K.B. 256, 259 (1924). Simiiarly*, the United States Supreme Court has said that
trials themselves are “a reflection of the notion, deeply rooted in the commen law,
that justice must satisfy the appearances of justice,” Levine v. Unifed States, 362
U.S. 610, 616 (1960) (quoted source omitted), and that the perception of fairess
of trials and judic‘iai acts is essential to the effectiveness of the system itself. See
Richmond Newspépers, Inc. v, Virginia, 448 U.S. 555 (1980) (Brennan, J.,
concurring). Frankly, calling Porter as a witness in two (2) trials [OR FIVE], about
the same matters upoh which he faces a pending. manslaughter triél, wreaks of
improptiety.

15. Onarelated point, and as previously mentioned, on September 15,
2015 the State told the Court that it was “imperative” that Porter be tried first.
Implicitly, maybe even explicitly, the state acknowledged in this pleading that

Porter had to go first in order that he not have a Fifth Amendment Privilege. If the

6
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State truly believes that Officer Porter can be called as a witness, with a pending
manslaughter charge, why was it “imperative” that Officer Porter proceed fo trial
first?

18. Co-defendants trials are severed every day in Maryland. And yet
there is not a single reported case of one co-defendant being compelled to testify
agairist the other in the way the circuit court envisages happening here. Thereis
a reason for that: it effectively renders constitutional protections all but
meaningless.

17.  Even if there were nothing wrong, in theory, with proceeding as the
State suggests, in this case it would nevertheless be impermissible with the
factual scenario that is before this Court. While it might be a.closer call ifthe
State chose to insert a clean team, give transactional immunity, or if the State
called Officer Porter after his case resulted in acquittal, uitimateiy he would still be
an impermissible withess. The bottom line is that the State, who has sole
charging authority, believes he will lie about matters that are material. And all the
immunity in the world cannot cure lthat.

18. For the purpose of continuity, and to ensure that previously assérted
issues are again considered by the Court, and preserved for any record that may
be considered by an appeliate court, Officer Porter incorporates, and adopts by
reference, and attaches hereto as Exhibit B, Motion to Quash Trial Subpoena of
Officer William Porter, filed in the matter of State of Maryland v. Oﬁ’t:cer Caesar

Goodson, Case Number 115141032 Undersigned counsel understands that no

7
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subpoena has yet to be served upon Officer Porter to testify in the trial of Officer
Miller, but the arguments set forth in the referenced Motion to Quash were
incorporated by reference in Officer Porter's opposition to the State’s Motion to
Compel his testimony in Officer Goodson’s case. As such, he once again
requests that this Court consider those related issues in determining the
impropriety of granting the State’s request.

WHEREFORE, for the reasons set forth in the‘body of this respohse, and
the accompanying documents, William Forter requests that this Honorable Court
find that compelling his testimony at the trial of Officer Garrett Miler is not
necessary to the public interest, and offends the consfitutional protections affored
by the Fifth Amendment and Afticle 22, and.deny the State’s Motion to Compel

his testimony in the trial of Officer Garrett Miller.

Respecifully submitted,

Josgph Murtha

Murtha Psoras & Lanasa, LLC
1301 York Road, Suite 200
Lutherville, Maryland 21093
(410) 583-6969

“jmurtha@mpliawyers.com

@f bt gor

Gary E. Prg ctor

Law Offices of Gary E. Proctor LLC
8 E. Mulberry Street

Baltimore, Maryland 21202

(410) 444-1500
-garyeproctor@gmail.com

Attorneys for Officer William Porter

8
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVIGE

[ HEREBY CERTIFY that on this 19™ day of January, 2016, a copy
of the foregoing Defendant William Porter’s Opposition to the State’s Motion
to Compel a Witness to Testify Pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and
Judicial Proceedings Article; and referenced exhibits was sent via electronic
mail to Janice Bledsoe, Deputy State’s Attomey, Office of the State’s Attorney
for Baltimore City, 120 East Baltimore Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202 

Qe S il

Jogéph Murthia
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Exhibit A
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QRFICE of the STATE'S ATTORNEY for BALT{MORE CYTY - DIRECT DIAL

BTATE'S ATTORNEY
120 Bast Baltimare Street : Baltinore, Maryland 21202 448:904-6011,

Marilyn J. Moshy

Seplember 15, 2015

1A HAND DELIVERY,

The Honoralile Barry 6. Willlams
Associhie Judge '
Gireult Cayrt for Balfimore Gity
534 Coutfiouse East

Baltimbra, M2 21202

Ra: Siate v. Goodsen, ot al,,
Cago Nos.: 145141032-37

‘Dear Judgje Wiliams,

1 Wito = diregtéd soncerning the order: and. anficlpated length of tlals, Te
anficpsted Tangth of Trial doas notincudg fhe. lime for-hearing-and resolving pretiiat
pnotions; the fime for Juigl. selectiof, nor the length of the-defonse.cases. Bevansestiie
Sterto s ot yet reosivel diseovery.ffom any ofdhe Defendants, the arficipated:lengt -
of trial aleo does not Include possibie addifionat time in the Stata's tase frorn meeting
anficiated defonses. The State would.cal the casas, in the following ordar.

First: William Porter, Ne. 116141087 Flyadays
Becond: .Caesar Gopdson,No, 115141032. Five'days
Third: Allela White, No. 115141036 Four days
Folrty: Garrett Miller, No, 115141084 Three days
Fifth: Edward Narg, No, 116141083 Three days
Sixth: Bifan Rice, No. 115141036 Four days,

% H a = & @

Dofendant Porter is & necessary and migterial witpass In the teses agalnst
Defandants Goodson and Whits, so 1t is imperailve thiat Mr. Porter's tial {akes place
heforo thelr trals. Defeitdart Porter's counget Has known this since befors the grand
Jury teturned Indictments in those casas. G Jilly 242015, counsel for Defendants
Portar and Rice were advised by tho State that Porter’s gase would ba callad flrst, either
with Defendant Rice or without Tim, deperiding on s Cowts ruilng on the Jolnder
sought by the State. Presumably, counsel for Defandaris Poror and Rice so advisad
counsel for the other defendants. In any event, counsst for all Defendants were nofliied
that the State intended fo vall the Porter case firet during the chambers conference with

the court on Saptember 2, 2015,

The trial date of October 13, 2015 was ordered on June 18, 2015, based on’the
avalleblity of the vourt and all counsel. As Judgs Plorson reigiestdd, we had clogied
that dato with Dr. Caof Allan, the Assistant Medicd! Exaniirier who condiigted ihe
attopsy, We were advisst by Dr. Allan thls morsingthat shio will be out of MaiyiEnd
framn November 16 through November 80, The State willbe reddy totegin tha cage
agalnst Mr. Forter on October 18, Counsel for Mr. Porfer has exprassed his Iiitaht ‘
asek o continuanco. ‘The State informed counsel for Mr. Porter over the pest wedkend H
that it kad no objection 1o @ confinuance of Mr, Portéf’s dase of up 1o thres wapks, 2
provided that his remeins the first case o be tried. However, given Dr, Allaw's sofiatiule,
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the State now belleves that It cannot consent to a continuance beyond Ostober
26, Glven that no other Defendant is réquired ' Bie véEdy for irlal on October 13 (and

the Biafe has not received any discovary from any Defendant 30 days before Oulober

13}, a two woek continuance would not unduly detay the time by whith ali sik cases
eaid be resoived. However, If the consequence of a continuanes for Mr. Portor wotly
be forcing the State to iy a different Defondant first, then the .State would vigorously
oppose o contihuanco for Mr. Porter, Mr. Porter's coundel fias Bider awate of the
- Qotober 13 trial date for almost threa months, and has known with certainty thet Wr,
Porters casa would be tried first for at least six weeks. In Jight of tHe I5hy soheadited
anc! agraed upar tidl date, and the other background referenced ahove, M, Perterhas
ho legitimate hesis for a confinuance, partioularly one that would impast the Slate's
tradilfonial right fo call cases in the order ft chooses,

Finally, the Gourt difectad:the Stéte t provide an allemative order in the event
that Mr, Porter's case Is rot {rled first, Without prajudice to the Blate's pasifion that, in
lightofthe Tacts of thls case and the Information In this Istter, it should ba dble to veffthe
oases in the order expressed above, the Stale's altemalive order would be to fry Mr.
Miller first, andsthen,. onder; Mr.-Portsr, Wil Goodsef, Wis. Whits, Mr, Nero and. Mr.
Rice. -Without-fisting -althe:passible: pc_a‘n*ng!e‘iti’éri%‘,j‘iﬁi;-’sf_’stfa'tis;e&senﬁ%iliy;sef.eks to' Have
Mr. Potter-tried:iefore Mr..Gotdsoryand Me: WHIE, fo'habe Sr. Milsh thed bafore Mr.

yaot

Nera, and:tohaverMr. Miter sing W Reva 0iga beforéRt: Hios:

Thank you for-your -consideretion of {Hese ‘féquesis, Pursuent o yoir
Insfructions, | have anclosed the fransaript of each defendant's statement. | frust fhat
this leffer is olear and responsive to your dlfsdibd, If -y{du"i‘_féve any Huestians or think
ihat & chambors conferente wotlld He-udafyl, ifie Siath & Bvallable af the sonvenionoe of

tha Cout, '

Very Irddy yours,

oot
fohagl-Sohatzow

Ghisf Daputy State’s Attorney
Ballmore Cliy:State’s Attorney's Offfoe

MS/tsr
Enclosuras

Ce: Without Enclosures
Matihew B. Fraling, NI, Esquire, Via Emall
Marc L. Zayon, Esquire, Vis Hand Delivary
Cathefing Fynn, Esquire, Via Hand Pelivery
Joseph Murtha, Esquire, Via Emall
jvan Batoh, Esgulre, Via Hand Dellvery
Wichael Beleky, Esquire, Via Hand Delivery
Andraw Jday Graltam, Esquire, Via Hand Dalivery

Gary Pragtor, Esoulre, Via Hand Dalivary
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. IN THE CIRCUIT COURT -

FOR BALTIMORE CITY
STATE OF MARYLAND
v. . CRIMINAL NO. 115141032
OFFICER CAESAR GOODSON :
Defel;dant, |
. 0-0600

MOTION TO QUASH TRIAL SUBPOENA .
,@F OFFiCE  WIELIA PO TE

Comes NOW Witness Oﬁ" cer William G..Perter and hereby moves thls Honorable

Gourt 16 quash his trial subpoena in the case at bar, and in support thereof states

as follows.

| RELEVANT FACTS

PROCEDURAL POSTURE

Baltimore City Pofice Officer Villiam Porter (hereafter “Officer Porter”) has
been charged with Manslaughter, Second Degree Assault, Reckless
Endangerment and Misconduct in Office in Baltihore City Cireuit Court Case
Number 115141037." The undersigned are counsel for Porter invthat case. The
charges- involve the in-custody death of Freddie Gray on April 12, 2015. There
are six officers charged in the death of Mr. Gray: Officer Porter, Officer Caesar
Goodson, SergeantAlicia White, Officer Garrett Miller, Officer Edward Nero and

Lieutenant Brian Rice. All were charged, and indicted, on the same day. As one

1
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Judge was assigned to all six (6) cases, initially there was disctission about
which case would go first.”

On September 15, 2015 the State of Maryland, through Chief Deputy
State's Attorney Michael Schatzow wrote to the specially ajs.signed Judge, Judge
Barry Williams, and told him that the state would be calling Officer Porter's case
first, followed by Goodson, White, Miller, Nero and Rice. ExhibitA. The state's
rationale for this was tha_t: »

Defendant Porter is a necessary and mateffal withess in the cases

against Defendants Goodson and White, so it is Imperative that

Porter's trial takes place before their trials, Defendant Porter's

coungél has known this since: before the grand jury retumed

indictments in these cases.

Jd. The Court granted the state its wish, and Officer Porter proceeded to trial

flrst.

THE TRIAL

Jury selection began in Officer Porter's trial on November 30; 2015.
Ultimately, the case mistried on December 16, 2015 as the fury were unable to
reacl'; a verdict as to-any of the four (4) charges placed against Ofﬁcér Porter.
Following the mistriai, this:Court set the retrial for June 13, 20186.

During his trial, Officer Porter testified in his defénse. During the state's
closing argument by Ms Janice Bledsoe, and the rebuttal by Mr. Schatzow, hoth

commented on Officer Porter's credibility, candor and truthfulness. The following

1 Inifially the sEfe moved fo consolidate some trials, but eventually the Gourt found
that six (6) separate trials was appropriate.

2

E. 31




ére not all of the instances when the state, in éffect, called Officer Porter a
perjurer, but it sets out specific examples that are germane to the decision this
Court must make in relation to this Motion:

- The State's Opening-Closing Argument
[A]  during his testimony at trial Officer Porter -stated under oath that he heard
Freddié Gray say during his iniifial arrest that he could not breathe. The siate's
theory at trial, was that IVlr.'Gray had sald this much later. In her closing Ms.
Bledsoe stéted tﬁat not one of the other witness officers testified that they heard
Mr, Gray say during his initia;I arrest that he could not breathe and went on to
assert that “youA knom;' why? - ‘Cause it was never said [during the initial arrest].”
TS 9:53:20. M. Bledsoe's assertion that it was never said leads to the
inexorable conclusion that ihe state was accusing Officer Porter of petjury.
[B] The reason the state believed that Mr. Gray said he could not breathe
much later was pecause of a report of a Detective Teel, who wrote memorialized
a conversation she had with Officer Porter. in arguing that Officer Potter is notto
be believed, Ms. Bledsoe stated that “who has the motiv‘e to be deceitful? It's not
Detective Teel. It's Officer Porter” TS 9:54:07.
[C] Officer Parter testified that when he saw Mr. Gray in the back of the police

wagon, at Druid Hill and Dolphin, he helped Mr. Gray (who was on.the floor) onto

2 The “TS” stands for Time Stamp. The State's closing and rebuttal have yet to be
transcribed, but the undersigned have watched the video, and transcribed herein, the
arguments of counsel as faithfully as possible.

3
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the bench, but that Mr. Gray had power in his legs and bore the weight of his
body. In calling Porter a liar, Ms. Bledsoe stated that: |

five times [Officer Porter] was asked about it, not once did he say

Freddie Gray assisted himself up on the bench. Five times he used

words that indicate he put Freddie Gray on the bench. Not once in

any of those five times did he say, “it would be physically impossible

for me to do that, 1 did not just put hirn up on then bench' | couldn’t do

that,” not once, but he told you that from the stand.
TS 9:57:40. -
[D] Officer Porter testified that he was aware that asrestees often feign injury in
the hopes of avoiding a trip to jail. He testified that the term for it that many
officers use Is “jailitis.” Ms, Bledsoe in her closing said that “this jailitis is a bunch
of crap.” TS 10:09:02,
[E] Officer Porter testified that, wheh he saw Freddie Gray at Druid Hill and

| Dolphin he believed that Mr. Gray was not injured. Officer Porter further stated

under oath that if he knew Mr. Gray was injured he would havle sought immediate
medical étten‘tion. Ms. Bledsoe, in labeling Officer Porter a perjuror stated that
ﬁorter “knew Gray was hurt badly [at Druid Hill and Dolphin], he knew he wash't:
going to’be accepted at Central Booking and he did nothing.” TS 10:10:10.
[F] Offic.er Porter testified that when Mr. Gray wés loaded in the Wagon at
Baker and Mount Streets, he did not know whether Mr. Gray was leg shackied or

not. Ms. Bledsoe told the jury “he [Porter] knew Freddie Gray; was placed into

the wagon with handcuffs, leg shackles on..." TS 10:14:35.
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[G] Because of the stafements of Officer Porter referenced above, Ms.
Bledsoe argued to the jury that “there’s only one reasonable conclusion, Officer
Porter was not telling the truth about his involvement in this incident” T3

10:15:15.
[H] After pointing out another statement that the state believed was
inconsistent,' regarding wh'at Officer Porter told a civiiian named Brandon Ross,
Ms. Bledsoe again stated “the only reasonable conclusion you can come to is
that Ofe. Porter is not telling the truth.” TS 10:18:27.
[l  Additionally, Ms. Bledsoe argued to the jury that Officar Porter lied under
oath when he stated that on April 12, 2015 he was unaware of a General Order
numbered 1114, TS 10:27:08.
[J]  Officer Porter testified at trial that he believed the wagon was headed to
the hospital at o-ne point, with Mr. Gray inside of it Ms. Bledsoe, at TS 10:39:45,
stated that this Was false testimony, because Officer Porter was behind the
wagon and new it was headed in a different direction.

The State's Rebuttal

[K]  Mr. Schatzow tqld the jury that “now that the defendant is on trial, he

comes into cotrt and he has lied fo you about what happeﬁed." TS 1:01:15.
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[L] Lessthana minute later, Mr. Schatzow repeated his assertion that “The
_state proved through the evidence that he [Porter] lied when he spoke to the
[investigative] officers and he lied on the witness stand.” TS 1 :92:09.'5 '

[M] Mr. Schatzow stated that one of Porter's fies was “how he tried fo pretend

in his April 17t statement that he was too far away at stop 2, to know what was
going on." TS 1:02:43.
[N]  Mr. Schatzow stated that Officer Porter misrepresented what he saw when
at Baker and Mount Street, asking the jury “what was he trying fo cover up, was
he trﬁﬁg to cover up his own knowledge of what had happened there?‘" TS
1:03:50.
[0] While opining' on Officer Porter's credibility generally, Chief Deputy
Schatzow stated that “you prove that people aren't telling you the truth by
showing inconsistencies in their statements. You pfove that the statements are '
inconsistent with each other. You prove that they're telling someth'ing‘that just s,
makes no sense at all.” TS 1:04:41.
[P] The siate's attribution of perjury to Officer Porter was far from subtle:

the state] proved that what he said at stop fwo was a lie and that

this I can't breath” nonsense that he came up with. You see what

he's fried to do in his testimony, every place thét he is stuck, every
place that he is stuck in his April 17, and every place in his Aprii 15

3 OF course, Mr. Schatzow's assertion that Officer Porter lied to the initial police
officers that interviewed him, could lead to additional charges of misconduct in office
and obstruction and hindering. See, for example, Cover v. State, 297 Md. 398, 400, 466
A2d 1276, 1277 (1988) (‘Ibloth this Court and the Court of Special Appeals have said
that resisting, hindering, or obstructing an officer of the law in the performance of his
duties is an offense at common law.”)
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statement he now comes up with some.new. explanation for. This
business about that at stop 4 Mr, Gray used his own legs to get up.
Nonsense. Five, six times on April 17, you'll see "I picked him up and
I put him on the bench, [ put him on the bench, 1 put him on the '
bench”. You wont see anything about Fraddie Gray using his own
muscles, using his own legs.
TS 1:05:54.
[Q] inresponse to the defense's assertion that Officer Porter's testimony was
credible, Mr, Schatzow stated that “[Porter] sits here in the witness stand and he
tries to come-up with exp'Ianatidns for why he said what he said. But credibility is

not an issue in this case, credibility is not an issue, not at all.” TS 1:07:21.

L

IR]  While discussing Mr. Porter's contention that Mr. Gray said “| can't breathe
during his initial arrest, Mr. Schatzow tells the jury that the other witnesses “don’t
say that because it didn’t happen, becauses it didn’t happen.” TS 1:08:10. Ifit

did not happen then Officer Porter is being directly accused of perjury.

[S] Mr. Schatzow told.the jury “this is what you were told, 'you have no reason
to not believe defendant Porter.’ | have already given you a bunch of reasons,
you've heard reason, But the biggest reason of all is he’s got something at stake
here ladies and gentlemen, he’s got motive to lie.” TS 1:12:12,

[T] h"l accusing Officer Porter of lying when he said that he had very little
conversation with Officer Goodson at Dofphin and Druid Hill, Mr. Schatzow stated
that:

But that's like the [Baker and Mount] thing where, he can't identify
his own shift commander that's sitting right in front of his face, that's
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nof a cover up, that’s not irying to hide the truth, that's not trying
to throw the investigators off. Naw, Naw that's not what that is.

TS 1:15:33.
While there are other examples of both prosecutors impugning William

Porter's veracity, the above sets out a stifficient basis for this Motion.
The Subpoena -

During Officer Porter's trial, he was handed a subpoena to testify in the

trials of both Goodson and White, Exhibit B.
The Federal Investigafion

Counse} have spoken with the members of the Civil Righté Division of the
Uni;ted States Attorney's Office-that are investigating the in-custody death of Mr.
Gray. As recently as October 22, 2015, the undersigned corresponded with the
United States Attorneys involved in the investigation. it is standard practice for
the Debaftment of Justice not to be involved prior to the conciusion of the state
prosecutions.

Counsel have had a similar experience with the witnesses. In meeting with
one witness, that was called at Officer Porter's trial, the undersigned asked him a
question and the response received was “the FBl also asked me that question.”
As such, there is an ongoing, verifiable, Federal investigafion into the conduct of

Officer Porter and others with regard to the death of Freddie Gray and, at this
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time, it is Impossible to predict whether this will result in charges in United States
District Court.

Significantly: when Officer Porter testified af his trial the undersigned
observed at least three (3) current members of the.Uni‘ged States Attorney's
Office for the District of Maryland in attendance, including the United States
Aftorney himself. Itis thérefore, surely, undeniable that Officer Porter remains In

- the sights of the United States.

1. RELIEF SOUGHT

Officer Porter seeks that this Court find that, notwithstanding any grant of
immunity by the state, that he cannot be compelled to testify in either the
Goodson or White hatters, because such tesﬁmbpy would resuit in the

abridgment of his rights under both the state and federal constitutions.

[, THE STATE'S PROPOSAL

On January 8, 2016 this Court proposes to hold a hearing. At said hearing,
Officer Porter will assert his rights under state and federa! constitutions to decline
to testify at the trials of Goadson and White. Following that, the state proposes to
give Porter immunity.

The immunity statute in question reads, in relevant part, as follows:

(b)) Ifa wftness refuses, on the basis of the privilege against self-

incrimination, to testify or provide other information in a crirninal

prosecution or a proceeding before a grand jury of the State, and the
court issues an order to testify or provide other information. under
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subsection (c) of this section, the withess may not refuse to comply
with the order on the hasis of the privilege against self-incrimination.

(2) No testimony oy other information compelled under the order, and
no information directly or indirectly derived from the testimony or
other information, may be used against the witness in any criminal
case, exceptina prosecution for perjury, obstruction of justice, or
otherwise failing to comply with the order.

(c)(1) if an individual has been, or may be, called to testify or provide
other information in a criminal prosecution or a proceeding before a
grand jury of the State, the court in which the proceeding is or may
he held shall issue, on the request of the prosecutor made in
accordance with subsection (d) of this section, an order requiring the
individual to give testimony or provide other information which the
individual has refused fo give or ‘provide on the basis of the
individual's privilege against self-ncrimination. .

(2) The order shall have the effect provided under subsection (b) of
this section.

(d) If a prosecutor seeks 1o compel an individual to testify or provide
other information, the-prosecutor shall request, by wiitten motion, the
court to issue an order under subsection (c) of this section when the

prosecutor determines that:

(1). The testimony or ofher information from the individual may be
necessary to the public interest; and

(2) The individual has refused or is likely to refuse to testify or
provide other information on the basis of the individual's privilege
against self-incrimination.

Md. Code § 9-123. The state believes that, under the grant of immunity

conferred on by this section, Officer Porter will have no Fifth Amendment

Privilege, and will héve to answer the guestions, under penalty of conterﬁpt.
Whilé it is known to the Gourt and the parties -~ but may not be by the

reader of this I\!lotioh - - the state fully intends to go forward with Officer Porter's
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refrial on June 13, 2016 - - but in the interim seeks to compel him as a witn‘ess in

their cases against Officer Goodson and Sergeant White.

IV. PORTER GANNOT BE GOMPELLED TO TESTIFY

(a}  Summary of the arqument

The l;ifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution declares in part that "No
person ... shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against
himsel.” U.S. Const., 5th Amend. The Fifth Amendment creates a ptivilege
against compelled disclosures that could implicate & witness in criminal activity
and thus subject him or her o criminal prosecution. Hoffman v. United Stafes,
341 USv4?9, 486-488, 71 8.Gt. 814,-818-819 (1951). The privilege against seif-
incrimination is a consfifutionally-based privilege-—not an evidentiary privilege.

While Porter has many valid reasons as to why hé cannot be compelled to
testify, the overarching principle is that the judicial system is bullt on trust and
respect ofthe public and relies on that trust and respect for effectiveness. “It is of
fundamental importance that justice should not only, but should manifestly and
undoubtedly be seen to be done.” Rex v. Sussex Justices, 1 K.B. 256, 258
(1924). Similarly, the United States Supreme Court has said that trials
themselves are "a reflection of the notion, deeply rooted in the common faw, that
Jjustice must satisfy the appearances of justice,” Levine v. United States, 362
U.8. 610, 616 (1960) (quoted source omitted), and that the perception of fairness

of trials and judicial acts is essential to the effectiveness of the system itself. See
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. Richmond Newspapers, inc. v. Virginia, 448 U.S. 555 (1980) (Brennan, J.,
concurting). Frankly, calling Porter as a witness In two (2) trials, about the same
maﬂers upon which he faces a pending manslaughter trial, wreaks of improriety.

On a related point: on September.15, 2015 the state told this Court tha£ it
was “imp’erative" that Porter be tried first. Implicitly, maybe even explicitly, the
state acknowledged in this pleading that Porter had to go first in order that he not
have a Fifth Amendment Privilege. If the staie truly believes that Porter can be
called as a withess, with-a pending manslaughter charge, why was it “imperative”
that Officer Porter go first?

Concomitantly, America has racked up masses of jurisprudence in its
indépendence. Indeed, as argued herein, Maryland had a runni.ng start with
English jurisprudence pre-1776 as precedent, éo, for example, plug “bear
wrestiing” into Westlaw énd you'll find statutes from Louisiana (La. Stat. Ann. §
14:102.10), Oklahoma (Okia. Stat, Ann. Tit. 21, § 1700), Missouri {Mo. Ann. Stat.
§ 578.176) and Arkansas (Ark. Code Ann. § 5—6I2a124). You'll find cases from
around the co.unfry discussing whether bear wrestling (or the undersigned's
favorite: boxing with a kangarco) constifutes animal cruelty, or is
unconstitutioﬁaliy vag;.xél In short: the courts of this land have tackied almost
every conceivable issue. And yet, the silence is deafening when it comes to one
defendant with a pending homicide trial being compefled to testify against
énother defendant about the same event, over his objection. There is a reason

for that: it effectively renders the Fifth Amendment al! but meaningless.

12

E. 41




(bYy  Adgrant of immunity by this Court in this case will not:put Officer Porter in
the same position

Agran—t. of immtrnity must provide a protection coextensive with the Fifth
Amendment, as required by Kaetfgan The State attempted to impeach Officer
Porter durrng hrs mistrial, and to do so, the State presented a theory during
Officer Porters trlat which aileged that Officer Porter lied and attempted to cover
up facts when grvrng a statement to police officers, and when taking the stand in
his own defense Effectwe]y, the State wishes to lc:ompel Porter; through the farce
ofa grant of rmmunrty, tolay a fou ndation for ewdence that the State has
deemed as constrtutrng an obstruction of justice and perjurys

Perjury, of course, has no statute of trmltations Mid. Crrm Code § 9-
101(d).- So Officer Porter can be charged wrth it as and when the state chooses
to. It is also important to:note that I_V]d. Crim._Code § 9-101 (c)(t:) states that ifa
defendant gives two contradictory statetnents the etate does not have to prove
which is false it is enough that both statemente under oath cannot be frue. As
such, if Officer Porter were 1o testrfy in, Officer Goodson or Sergeant \Nhrtes trial
(er both) something that the state believes istnconsistent with his trial testimony,
the stafe would not have to prove which is false, and afl the tmmunity the state
could confer would be rendered meaningless. '

Further; a defendant, ef course, always has a right to testify in his defense,

At the bench during Officer Porter's trial the Court went to great lengths to inform
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Officer Porter of his absolute right to testify and the cotresponding right to remain
silent. That said “a person convicted of perjury may not testify.” Md. Code 2-104,
As such, calling Officer Porter as a withess in the Goodson/White trials may ‘
result in him being stripped of his ability to testify at his own trial. Again, all the
immunity in the world can do nothing to alleviate this concern.

Mb. CoDE, CT8. & JUD. PRrROC. § 9-123, "Privilege against self-incrimination
provides: ‘

(b)(1) If a witness refuses, on the basis of the privilege against seif-

incrimination; to testify or provide wother Anformation -in

a criminal prosecution or a proceeding before a grand jury of the

State, #d: the court issues an order o testify or provide other .

information under subsection (c) of this section, the witness may not

refuse to comply with the order on the-basis of the. privilege against
self-incrimination. '

(2) No testimony or other information 6ompellecl under the order, and

no information: directly or indirectly-derived from the testimony or

other information, may be used against the witness in any criminal

case, -except in a prosecution for perjury, obstruction of justice; or

otherwise failing to comply with the order.
(Emphasis supplied). In addition, the Supreme Court ruled in Kasfigar that a
witness may be compelled to testify when given use and derivative use immunity,
if after the immunity is granted, the immunity leaves the witness in the same
position, as if the witness had simply claimed the privilege. Kasfigar v. United
States, 406 U.S. 441 (1972); see also Murphy v. Waterfront Comm'n of New York
Harbor, 378 U.S. 52, 79 (1964) abrogated by Unifed States v. Balsys, 524 U.S.
666 (1998). Thus, the,Maryland statute and Kastigar are directly inapposite to the

State’s theory that Officer Porter committed an obstructioni of justice during his
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taped statement and Officer Porter commitied. perjury when he took the stand in
his defense at trial. |

Courts have agreed, that "[tlhe exception in the immunity statute allows the
use of immunized festimony only in proseéuﬁons for future perjury, future false
statements, énd future failure to comply with the immunity order, ‘not for past
acts.” Matter of Grand Jury Pfoceedings of Aug., 1984, 757 F.2d 108 (7" Cir,
1884). Truthful testimony under a grant of immunity may not be used to
prosecute the witness for false staternents made earlier. In re Grand Jury
Proceedings, 819 F.2d @81 (11% Cir. 1987). Thus, based on the State's blatant
imheachmen’: of Officer Porter during his frial, the State is effectively presented
with a Hobson’s choice. The State elther has to retract their previous theory, and
admit that Officer Porter was fruthful, or the State has to recognize that the grant
6f-immunity would be a farce — that is, the State’s grant of immunity would be -
coaxing Officer Porter into committing what the State believes is perjury and an
obstruction of justice, both of which are’ crimes that falls outside the scope of
immunity granted in the immunity statute. Mp, CopEg, CTs. & Jub. PROC. § 9-123.
Such a farcical grant of immunity would fly in the face of Kastigar's holding that a
withess may be cor;1pelied to testify when given use and derivative use immunity,
if after the immunity is granted, the immunity leaves the withess in the same
position, as if the witness had simply claimed the privilege. 406 U.S. 441.

An analogous scenario is found in Unifed States v. Kim, 471 F. Supp. 467

(D.D.C. 1979). Kim held that when a defendant was found to have given a
15
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perjurious response to a congressional committee's question, and then that same
defende_mt‘is granted use and derivative use- immunity f:o answer the same
question, such a grant was not coextensive with scope of privilege that must be
provided under Kastigar, as it could have resulted in the inﬂictién of criminal
penaities. U.S. v. Kim Is similar to Officer Porter's scenario in that the prosecution
cannotfirst allege that Porter has provided perjured testimony/cpmmitted
obstr‘uctions of juétice, and then thereafter grant immunity to suborn the very
same testi:ﬁony that was allegedly perjured. To summarize: “filt is well=
ostablished in federal courts that the privilege against self-incrimination can
properly be invoked based on fear of a perjury prosecution ariging out of conflict
between statements sought to be compelled and prior sworn testimony.” Johnson
v, Fabian, 755 N.W.2d 295, 310-11 (Minn. 2007)(cfting other Cases). |

Further: each additional statement by Officer Porter would be'live tweeted
and reported upon, Eesulting in an inability to receive a fair trial. Notably, this is 2
matter in which 100% of the jury panel was aware of the case. Likely the same
percentage of a new panel would have at least some knowledge of preceding
case(s). If Officer Goodson or Sergeant White were to be acquitted it is all but
inevitable tha1jur01:s:wou|d conciude that Porter - - the star witness - - was not
credible. If convicied, the jurors will assume that Officer Porter has knowledge of
inculpatory acts 'that he has now revealed when granted immunityl.

Commentators will likely opine as to this regardless of the outcome of each trial.
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Officer Porter's statement at his trial was ungquestionably voluntary, ‘and his
statements fo F.L.T, and Detective Teel were found by the Court to be voluﬁtéry.
Contrarily, Officer Porter's potential state;‘nents in Officer Goodson's frial and Sét.
Whife’s trial would not be. Officer Porter would thereby.be subjected to jurors
with.some knowledge of the substance of his compelled statements. Parsing out
whether a juror's knowledge of Officer Porter's previous testimony was from the
initial voluntary sfate|nents, or the Jater compelled statements would not be
possible in voir dire. -A mini-Kastigar hearing weuld be required for each Juror.*

Moreover, in Officer Porter's frial; and any refrial, the witness were an.d can-
be sequestered. The reason for this is obvious, that each witness should testify
about his or her .reépllection, untainted by what every other withess said. And
while the. Court can .compel:witnesses at Officer Porter's trial from learning what
the other withesses Have testified to, it can scarcely prohibit people from -
following accounts of Officer Porter's testimony.in the Goodson and White trials.

[f this.Court buys what the state is selling, why.wouldn’t a prbsecutor doit
in every case? Itis all too common that more than one person is charged with
any given homicide, Because of a host of reasons, the cases are often severed
or not joined. Why would an enterprising prosecutor not say “you know what,
Defendant B may testify in his trial. So Il give him im_munity and call him as a
withess In Defendant A's trial. I'l see how he responds to guestions, get an

advance preview of what he's going to say, get a feel for how to cross him,

4 See the related Poindexter argument below.
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whether to offer him a plea, sure | can't use what he says, but they can'tmake
me forget it, there's no prohibition against me getfing a transcript, no brainet,
right?”” This is exactly the kind of harm the Eighth Circuit saw, when holding that
“Isjuch use could conceivably include assistance in focusing the investigation,
deciding fo initiate prosecution, refusing to plea-bargain, interpreting evidenﬁe,
planning cross-examination, and otherwise generally planning trial strategy.”
United States v. MeDaniel, 482 F.2d-305, 311 (8" Cir. 1973).

A later Kastigarwill be insufficient to remedy Officer Portef's testimony at
fwo trials. As Oﬁicer'-F-'orterhas""not-yet delivered the...material, and he
consisteritly and vigorously.asserted his privilege. Here !theA ‘cat’ was h~ot yet ‘out
of the bag’ and feliance upon a [ater-objection or motion to suppress would ‘let
the cat out' with no assurance whatever of putfing it back.” Maness v. Meyers,
419 U.S. 449, 463, 95 S. Ct, 584, 593, 42 L. Ed. 2D 574 (1975).

Should this Court give the state its imprima‘tuf to make an end run around
self-incrimination, the preceding sentence is a preview of coming attractions.
"[Efven if the sole purpose in calling 2 witness is other than subterfuge, the
qﬁestioning by a party of its own witness concerning an "independent:area of
inquiry” iritended to open the door for impeachment and introduction of a prior
inconsistent statement could be found improper.”. Walker v. State, 373 Md. 360,
386, 818 A.2d 1078, 1093 (2003)

M, 8chat26W will surely not ask Officer Porter the same questions six

months later as he did the first go around. Even if he did, it is inconceivable that
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Officer Porter will answer them the same way. All good cross examination is
palimpsest, it builds on what you already know. To allow the state to have two 2)

more runs at Officer Porter, prior to his retrial, is anathema to our notions of the

right to remain silent.

The Maryland statute on immunity states that “if a witness refuses...the

witness may not refuse to comply...may be used against the witness...if a witness

refuses to comply...” Id. (emphasis supplied). The statute is designed for people
without skin in the game: witnesses. Not Officar Porter.
. To be sure: there are ways of compelling someone that the state believes

to be less culpable in a criminal act to testify at the other's frial. People v.
Brunner, 32 Cal. App. 3d 808, 911, 108 Cal. Rptr. 501 (CA Ct. App. 1873).
California sengibly holds that:

where, as here, the defendant properly Invokes the privilege against

self-incrimination in a felony proceeding and is compelled by

invocation of [the California Immunity Statute] to testify to matters

which tend to incriminate him as to presently charged offenses, he

may not be prosecuted for them, notwithstanding that his testimony
is not used against him.

People v. Campbell, 137 Cal. App. 3d .867, 187 Cal. Rptr. 340 (CA Ct. App.
1882).° Accord People v. Matz, 68 Cal. App. 4th 1216, 80 Cal. Rpfr. 2D 872, 875

(1998).

‘5 Again, California holds that, under its statute “The measure of what incriminates

. defines the offenses immunized, Thus, the inference (“link”) from compelled testimony
to implicated offense serves to identify and hence define the offense immunized from
prosecution.” People v. Campbell, 137 Cal. App. 3d 867, 874, 187 Cal. Rptr. 340 (CA
Ct, App. 1982) (emphasis in the original).
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(¢} Porter hag noj been immunized federally

As this Court is aware:

The assistant United States attorney testified that she ioo was
authorized to grant [a witness] immunity from any federal
prosecution within the...District [that that Federal prosecufor
practices in] based upon his testimony or the fruits thereof. She also
indicated that the immunity she was offering was not immunity under
the federal immunity statute, 18 U.S.C. §§ 600103 (1982), which
requires federal judicial approval, but rather immunity granted solely
under the authority of her office and without the approval of a federal

judge.

State ex rel. Munn v. McKelvey, 733 8.W.2d 765, 767 (Mo. 1987). Of course,
Federal prosecutors and Judges also have the abiltiy pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§
6001—03 to grant & more formal immunity.

Neither such Orders have been provided in this case. And that
notwithstanding, as stated earlier, that the United States Department of Justice is

very much aware and monitoring all that is going on in the case at bar.

As the Court is aware, and as will be discussed further later, when the
United States Government becomes aware of immunized testimony it fypicaliy
develops a “taint’ team.® The undersigned provides two (2) examples for the
purposes of making a record in this case.

1) the undersigned both represented correctional officers that were
accused of beating an inmate. The officers, and others that worked on their shift,

were compelfled to testify in administrative hearings. As a result of this compelled

6 Sometimes the respective teams are called “clean” and “dirty.” *
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testimony the Federal Government put a “taint” team in place. The FBI Agents
and the United States Department of Justice had two prosecuticn teams. The
ffrst got to read everything. The conﬁpelied testimony, the information developed
through other sources, all of it. The second got to read only what the first team
decided was untainted. So the prosecutors did not know what was said by
people compelled o a.nswer questions. Nor were the agents actually proactively
investigating the case éware what was_said during the compelled statements,

2) " Under Federal law a defendant in a capital case has a right to raise mental
diseases and defects, not amounting to insanity, to argue that he should not
receive a sentence in death, Fed. R. Grim. P. § 12.2. The wrinkle is that the
Government has a right to advance notice-of it, and the opportunity to get their
own assessment. What if a capital defendant, not raising insanity, decides to
testify at his guilt phase? Well, any prosecutor worth his salt would surely work
that information into his cross. Even if a defendant doesn't testify, it could, almost
inadvertently, be brought out through other witnesses. IQ scores, personality
disorders, defects that go to an ability to accurately recall events, all would bé fair :
game. So the United-States Attorney's Office provides two (2) sets of attorneys.
Team 1 tries the case. Team 2 receives the mental health disclosure from the
defense, hires their own experts, files whatever challenges they believe may lie.
And, here's the important part, Team 2 does not share anything that they are

doing with Team 1 unless and until said mental health evidence becomes a factor

at the penalty phase of the trial.
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These fwo examples are provided soléiy to point out that there are no-such
dichotomous participants in this case. The same prosecutors that presented the
case to the grand jury, participated in pretrial hearings, and tried Officer Porter's
case are now seeking to compel hié testimony in the trials of two-others, and will
be counsel of record when Porter round 2 commences. No walls will be arected
around this testimony, the spill over effect will be instantaneo;.[s and indellible.

For that reason alone this Court must disallow the calling of Officer Porter as &

witness.

(d)___The state would be suborning perjury

Firstly, it will surely-have escaped no-one's notice that Maryland doeés not
allow for a prosecutor or a Court to immunize petjury. Which makes sense from
a societal standpoint: 'here’s your immunity, now go say whatever you want' is
scarcely in the public interest. So, whatever grant this Court makes will have no
offect on the abifity of the State of Maryland to charge Officet Portgr with perjury
later.

If Officer Porter is compelled to testify at Goodson trial, and were to testify
differently from his own frial: it Is surely axiomatic that he would have commitied
petjury during at least one of the trials. However, even'if he testifies consistently
\'Ni'[h his previous trial: as narrated above the prosecution already believes he has
committed muitiple instances of perjury. And, as detailed below, what is of ctucial

importance is what they, the state, believe.
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The state's commenting on Officer Porfer's testimony would be admissible
In Goodson and White's trial as an admission of a party oponent. See, for

example, Wisconsin v. Cardenas-Hemandez, 219 Wis. 2d 516, 528, 579 N.W.2d

678, 684 (1998) (collecting cases).

R 1

Similar situations

The Tennessee Burgau of Investigation investigated a Tri-Cities attorney
for perjury, eift.er he was accused of advising one of his clients to “lie under oath"
in a DUl case. The Iavyyer sent the following email to the clieht, “they won't have
anyone there fo testify how much you had to drink. You won't be charged with
perjury. 've never seen them charge anyone with perj_ury, and everybody lies in
criminai cases, including the cops. If you want to tell the truth, then we'll just
plead guilty and you can get your jail ti;*ne over with.”

In State Bar of Cal. v. Jones, 208 Cal. 240, 280 P. 564 {1929), the
Supreme Court of Cglifomia held that a one-year sﬁspension from practice f.or.
attorney's attempt to cause miscarriage ofjus’ciée through inducing clients to give
perjured testimony was not an excessive penalty.

In Premium Pet Heaith, LL.C v. All American Proteins, LLC, et al. the Court
reprimanded counsel for suborning perjury by submitting an affidavit stating that

counsel did not have relevant materials, after counsel deleted all of the relevant

7 Available at hitp:/fcrimlaw.blogspot.com/2005/12/from-dont-leave-written-
evidence-of.html
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materials the day before. The judge took particular issue with this turn of _events,
since Bryan Cave partner Randall Miller was aware of this before he fled an
affidavit that denied this, “[Milier] reviewed the Landers Affidavit and filed it ...
thereby suborning perjured testimony ... Miller also failed to alert the Court or
opposing counsel to the spoliation that Bryan Cave had ordered the day before,

another clear violation of professional and ethical ob!iga.\’cions."8

In Tedeséo v. Mishkin, an attorney, against whom san&ions were sought
both as an attorney and as a litigant in a securities action, subomed perjury of
witness in violation of 18 U.8.C.A. § 1622 and aided and ab;atted witness to
commit perjury in violation of 18 U.S.C.A. §§ 2, 1621 by not advising witness,
after hearing his proposed testimony and knowing it t.o be false, against testifying
in that manner. Tedesco v. Mishkin, 629 F. Supp. 1474 (S.D.N.Y. 1986), The
attorney's later telling witness to do what he had to do was insuffiéient to stop
witness from carrying out agreement given attorney's knowledge that withess

would go to drastic lengths to protect attorney. id.

The hafm to due process

The relevant law governing a prosecutor’s use of perjured testimony is set
forth in Napue v. fllinois (1958):

(It is established that a conviction obtained through use of false
evidence, known to be such by representatives of the State, must fall

8 Available at http:/fabovethelaw.com/201 5/06/biglaw-partner-and-associate-
destroyed-evidence~suborned~perjuryl2/.
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under the Fourteenth Amendment. The same result obtains when the
State, although not soliciting false evidence, allows it to go
- uncorrected when it appears.

The principle that a State may not knowingly use false evidence,
including false testimony, to obtain.a tainted convietion, implicit in
any concept of ordered liberty, does not cease to apply merely
because the false testimony goes only to the credibility of the
witness. The jury's estimate of the truthfulness and reliability of a
given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence,.and it
is upon such subtle factors as the possible interest of the witness in
testifying falsely that a defendant's ife or liberty may depend.

380 U.S. 264, 269 (citations omitied.) Accordingly, State v. Yates, decided by the

Supreme Court of New Hampshire, presents a legal scenafio that is analogous to

that of the instant matter. 629 A.2d 807, 809 (1 9@3). Ini Yates, the prosecutor

reasohably believed that a witness presented false'te'stiinony when the witness

denied any involvement in illicit drugs, and that witness’ false testimony was

integral to the conviction of the defendant. Id, The defendant's “entire defense

dépended on the premise that [the witness] owed [the defendant] money from a

cocaine sale.” Id. The prosecutor knew before trial that the witness had recently

been indicted for drug possession, yet, the prosﬁ"e_cutor failed to correct the

witness' statemnent when the witness denied any involvement in illicit drugs.

Importantly, the' Yafes court stated that one does not need to prove that the

prosecutor had actuaf knowledge of the uncorrected false testimony; one “need

only show that the prosecutor believed [the witness'] testimony was probably

false.” See May v. Collins, 955 F.2d 289, 315 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 504 U.S.
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001 (1992); United States v. Mills, 704 F.2d 1553, 1665 {11th Cir. 1983); cerl.

" Denjed, 467 U.S. 1243 (1984); of. Giglio v. United States, 405-U.S. 150, 154
(197_2) (knowledge of one attormney in prosecutor’s office attributed to other
attorneys in office). The Supreme Court.of New Hampshire ultimately held that a
lawyer.’s duty of c;andor to the tribunal f‘is neglected when fhe prosectitor's office
relies on a witness's denial of certain conduct in one case after obtaining an
indictment charging the witness with the same conduct in another case.” Yaies,
529 A.2d at 809.° For the prosecution to offer testimony into evie_ler)ce,_knowing it
or believing it to be false is a violation of the defendant's due process rights. Mills,
704 F.2d at 1665 giting United States v. Sutherland, 656 F.2d 1181, 1203 (5th
Cir), cert. denied, 455 U.S. 949 (1981); United Stafes v. Brown, 634 F.2d 818,
827 (5th Cir. 1981). As noted by the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, “the
nondisclosure of false testimony need not pa willfut on the part of the prosecutor
to result in sanciions.” Hawthorne v. United States, 504 Ald 580, 591 n. 26 (D.C.

1986) citing Giglio v. United Stafes, 405 U.S. at 154,

9 The. paraliel rule in Maryland is Maryland Rule. 16-812, Marytand Ruie of
Professional Gonduct 3.3 “Candor Toward the Tribunal,” which provides:

{a) Alawyer shall not knowingly: .
(1) make a false statement of fact or law to & tribunal or fall to correct a false statement
of material fact or law previously made to the tribunal by the lawyer,

(2) fail fo disclose a material fact o a fribunal when disclosure is necessary to avold
assisting a criminal or fraudufent act-by the client;

(4) offer evidence that the lawyer knows to be false. If a lawyer has offered material
evidencs and comes to know of its falsity, the lawyer shall take reasonable remedial

measures.
26
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So while Officer Porter one “need only show that the prosecutor believed
[the witness'] testimony was probably false,” he need go no further than the
factual summary above to evince that both Ms. Bledsoe and Mr. Schatzow stated

unambiguously that what Officer Porter said was demonstrably false.

‘“There._is no way around this

It is of no moment if the state makes claims that Officer Porter is very
unlikely to be prosecuted for any statement he might make at the White /

Goodson trials. That is because:

We find no justification for limiting the historic protections of the Fifth
Amendment by creating an exception to the general rule which
would nullify the privilege whenever it appears that the government
would not-undertake to prosecute. Such a rule would require the trial
court, in each case, to assess the practical possibility that
prosecution would result from incriminatory answers. Such
assessment is impossible to make because it depends on the
discretion

United States v, Miranti, 2563 F.2d 135, 139 (2™ Cir.1958) (cited with approval in

Choi v. State, 316 Md. 529, 539 (1989).

Even if (which they cannot) the state could somehow confine their direct
questioning fo areas in which they have never levied a perjury accusation against

Officer Portet, this would stili not solve the issue.

This is because “a judge must allow a defendant wide latitude fo cross-

examine a witness as to bias or prejudices.” Smallwood v. State, 320 Md. 300,
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307-08, 577 A.2d 356, 359 (1990). Accordingly, whatever narrow focus the state
may decide to employ in an attempt to cure the unconstitutional ill set out herein,
nothing would bind-counsel for Goodson and White from a much wider foray on
cross-examination. And, in the event that Officer Porter withstands their cross
wi.th his reputation intact, the prosecutors could then become charactér

witnesses to impugn his veracity (see further below).

To allow. Porter to testify, is fkely to result in him being unavailable for
cross-examination. VWhile the state may give him immunity, the defense cannot.
And any new areas that they enoiuire into are likely to result in Porter declining to
answer. No part of any statement Porter has ever given can be used if he is
unavailable for cross-examination. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124

S.Ct. 1364, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004); State v. Snowden, 385 Vi, 64, 867 A.2d

314 (2005).

()__ The cases cited by the State
They do not stand for the proposition thaf Officer Porter can he compelled to

testify

The state principally relies on Unifed States v. Balsys, 524 U.S. 666, 680-
682 (1998). There are several points to make about this case. Firstly, even the
portions that the state relies on cannot be said to be anything more than dicta.
The holding of Balsys was that “[wle hold that concern with foreigh prosecution is

beyond the scope of the Self-Incrimination Clause.” Id. af 669.
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Be!sys was an immigration case, Balsys was not given any immunity, and
so is dissimilar to the case at bar. And Balsys' purported fear was that he might
be prosecuted In “Lithuania, Israel and Germany." 1d. at 670, Of course, ho
prosecution at that time was pending, indeed there was nothing in the record that
Lrthuama had had any contact with the defendant since his rmmlgratlon from that
country 37 yeare earlier. The Supreme Court di stliled the issue into one
sentence: could Ba!ysis “demonstrate that any testimony he might give in the
deportatron m\restlgatlon couid he usedina cr[mlnal proceedlng against him
brought by the Government of either the Unlted ‘States or one of the States,
[then] he would be entitled to invoke the pnwlege ! Hele Officer Porter has
demonstrated ooncluswely, that there is an ongomg mvestlgatron by the United
States, l

Moreover, Balsys reiterates that “the requirement to provide an tmmunity
as broad ae the privilege itself.” As stated herein, given that the same
prosecutors will take Mr. Porter's testimony not once: but twice - - in the frials of
Goodson and White, will then cross-examine O‘fficer Porter again at-his retrial, he
will not, and cannot be, placed in the same pesition as if he had never testified.
The state gets an advantage, and what Mr..Schatzow learns of Officer Porter's
knowledge during the compelled testimony duting the triais of Goodson and

White cannot be unknown to him on June 13, 2016.
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Further, what thé state is in effect asking this Court to find is that as‘-a
matter of Federal law, Officer Porter's téstimony at the Goodson and White frials
cannot be used against hi'.m latér. Respectfully, this ﬁaﬁer is proceeding in the
Gircuit Court for Baltimore Qity, and this Court cannot make such an inferential
leap as to what a separate sovereign may decide in the future.

Following Balsys, the state next bites United Stétes v. Cirino, 2014 U.S.
Dist, LEXIS 155236 (1 0/29!1“4). First_ly, a‘n unreported United State;s District
Court decision from another cireuit is scarcely a reason for this Court to make faw
that flies in the face of 12 score yeérs of Anglofl\ﬂaryland jurisprudence.
Secondly, the reluctant witness in Cimino was an "agent'of the FBL...carrying oﬁt
the controlied vbuys orchestrated by the Bureau.” Id.at5. Thisisa world away
from the case at baf. While the Cimino witness may have had a snowb;stll‘s
chance in hell of being prosecuted, no matter what she said, Oﬁicgr Porter has
already been tried once for homicide, with another to féllow anon. Lastly, in
~ Cimino: i
However; the.immunity arguments pressed on this Court by
defendant are of no relevance to-the case at bar, The informant has
not been immunized by anyone, for anything. She has no agreement
that reguires any sévereign to forbear from prosecuting her for any
cfimes she may commit, including crimes committed duri_ng the

course of her work'as an Informant

|d. at 11-12. Thus, the portion cited by the state cannot he said 10 be. anything

_other than'Llnreported, non-binding, dicta.
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The third case in the state's trifecta of cases it cited is Unifed States v.
Poindexter, 698 F Supp. 300(D.D.C, 1988).' The primary thrust of the case
concerns the steps taken by grand jury members to avoid learning of immunized
testimony given at Congress, prior to their returning of an indictment. That is
hight-and-day from what we-have here. The reason Poindexter supports Officer

Porter's position, however, is that:

there must be noted several administrative steps which were taken
by Independent Counsel from an early date o prevent exposure of

. himself and his associate counsel to any immunized testimony.
Prosecuting: personnel were sealed off-fromexposure tothe
immunized testimony itself and publicity concerning it. Daily
newspaper clippings and transcripts of testimony before the Select
Committees were redacted by nonprosecuting “tainted” personnel to
avoid direct and explicit references to-immunized testimony.
Prosecutors, and those immediately associated with them, were
confined to reading these redacted materials. In addition, they were
instructed to shut off television or radio broadcasts that even
approached discussion of the immunized testimony. A conscientious
offort to comply with-these instructions was made and they were
apparently quite successful. In order to-moniterthe matter, all
inadvertent exposures were to be repotted for review of their
possible significance by an attorney, Douglass, who played no other
role in the prasecution after the immunized testimony

" started...Overall, the file reflects a scrupulous.awareness of the
strictures against exposure and a conscientious attempt to avoid
even the most remote possibility of any impermissible taint. .

Id. at 312-313. ltis therefore, readily apparent that the prosecution team in
Poindexter went out of their way to avoild learning anything - - let alone anything
of consequence - - from the Immunized testimony. in the case at bar, however,
‘there is but one prosecution team. The same people that crossed Officer Porter

last fime will be in the room whan he is called as a witness next time, and the
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time afterthat and, potentially, a fourth time af his retrial. The state's failing to

Chinese wall the different prosecutions means that they cannot now remove the

indeliible taint
Even if the cases said what the stale belfeves they say, Officer Pr.mer has a
separate right not to testify under the Maryland Declaration of Rights

Assuming, arguendo, that Murphy signaled a sea change in federal
constitutional jurisprudence in its ruling that the federal constitutional pri\'/ilege
against self-incrimination protects a state witness against incrimination under
sederal and state law, and a federal witness-against incrimination under state and
federal law. Murphy, 378 U.S. 52, 78, Vety importantly, in making its decision, the
Murphy Court discussed, in detail, two English common law cases decided

before 1776:

In 1749 the Court of Exchequer declded East India Co. v. Campbell,

1 Ves.Sen, 246, 27 Eng.Rep. 1010. The defendant-in that case

refused to 'discover’ certain information in & pfoceeding in an

English court on the ground that it might subject himto punishment

in the. courts of India. The court unanimously held that the privilege

against self-inctimination protected a witness in an English court

from being compelled to give testimony which could be used to

convict him in the coutrts of another jurisdiction.
Id. at 58. The Supreme Court also cited Brownsword v. Edwards, 2 Ves.sen. 243,
28 Eng.Rep. 157, decided in 1750, one year after East India Co. v. Campbell, in
which the defendant refused to divulge whether she was lawfully married to a
certain individual, on the ground that if she admitted to the marriage she would

"be confessing to an act which, afthough legal under the common law, would
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render her liable to prosecution in ecclesiastical court.” Murphy, 378 U.S. 52, 58—
59, Thus, as the Supreme Court stated, Brownsword applied the ruﬁng from East
india Co. in acase invblv’mg separate systems of courts and law located within
the same geographic area. '
~ Why this matters is that the Maryiand Declaration of Rights Article 5(a)(1)

provides, “That the Inhabitants of Maryland are entitied to the Common Law of
Endland, .. as existed on the Fourth day of July, seventeen hundred and-
seventy-six.” (Emphasis supplied). Thus, pursuant to Article 5 of the Maryland
Declaration of Rights, Mary]an;i common law retains the dual sovereigniy
doctrine in its entirety, as Maryland retains the rulings sét forth in England pre-
1776, providing a different protection for its citizens than its federal counterpart.

As stated supra, Article 22 of the Maryland Deciaration of Rights' is the
state parallel to the self-incrimination clause of the Fifth Amendment. Counsel
has located no case which holds that Murphy or Balsys’ rulings are applicable in
Maryland under Arficle 22 grounds.

Further support is found in Ghoi v. State, 316 Md. 529, 545, 560 A.2d 1108,
1115-16 (1989). Because while a Witﬁess may have.

waived h.er Fifth Amendment privilege, she certainly did not waive

her privilege against compelled self-incrimination under Art. 22 of the

Maryland Declaration of Rights. Long ago, in the leading caseg of
Chesapeake Club v. Stats, 63 Md. 4486, 457 (1885), this Court

expressly rejected the waiver rule now prevailing under the Fifth
Amendment and adopted the English rule that a witness's testifying

10 Arficle 22 states, “[ffhat no man ought to be compelled to give evidence against
himselfin a criminal case.”
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‘about a matter does not preciude invocation of the privilege for other
guestions relating o the same matter.

ch This is authority for Officer Porter's contention herein that, while immunity
cannot cure his Fifth Amendment concerns, it most certainly cannot assauge his
Maryland rights.

Maryland retains the dual sovereignty dectrine in its entirety. Evans V.
State, 301 Nd. 45 (1984) (adopting the dual sovereignty principle as a matter of
Maryland common [aw); see also Gillis v. State, 333 Md. 69; 73, 633 A.2d 888,
890 (1993) (holding that “Jujnder the "dﬁa} sovereignty” doctring, separate
soveraigns deriving their power from different sources are each entitled to punish
an individual for the same conduct if that conduct violates each sovereignty's’
laws), Bailoy v. State, 303 Md. 850, 660, 496 A.2d 665, 670 (1985) (stating that
"ilhis Court has adopted, as a matter of common law, the dual sovereignty
doctrine."). |

Article 22 of the Maryland Declaration of Rights reads that “That no man
ought 1o be compelled to give evidence against himself in a criminal case.” ld.
Under Article 22, “[tihe privilegé must be accorded a liberal construction i[-'l favor
of the right that it was intended to se_cure," Adkins v State, 316 Md. 1, 8, 557
A.2d 203, 206 (1989).

~ Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, Article XII states, simifarly, that no
one can be “compelied to accuse, o furnish evidence against himself.” And in

Massachusetts “[olnly a grant of iransactional immunity” will syffice. _Attorney,
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Gen. v. Colleton, 387 Mass. 790, 801, 444 N.E.2d 915, 921 (1982). Thus, Officer

Porter could not be called, were we in Massachusetts, “so long as the withess
remains liable to prosecution criminally for any matters or causes in respect of

which he shall be ekamined, or to which his testimony shall relate.” Id. at 79'7.

(e} __The state would be making themselves witnesses

The.re have been only two people that called Officer Porter untruthful. It
was not Officer Porter. It was notthe Detective Teel, the lead investigator, to the
contrary she said he was frying to be candid in her discussions with him. [t was
not the coroner, nor was it Dr. Lyman, who did not opine as to the
reasonableness of Porter's actions. It was not any members of the jury, who
presumably at least partly credited his testimony in failing to return a guilty
verdict. |

The only two {2) persons that have called.Officer Porter a liar ~ - io date - -
are Janice Bledsoe and Michael Schatzow. As stated, supre, Mr. Schatzow’s
greatest hits include that Porter “lied o you [the jury] about what happened... lied
when he spoke to fhe [invéstigative] officers and he lied when he spcke on the
witness stand:” while Ms. Bledsoe penned the one hit wonder “Officer Porter was
not telling the truth about his involvement in this incident...the only reasonable
conclusion you can come to is that Ofc. Porter is not telling the truth.” 1d.
Coming from two deputies in the States Atforney’s Office these comments are

that much mere significant because:
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Aftorneys' representations are trustworthy, the [The Supreme] Court
[has] reascned, because attorneys are officers of the court, and
when they address the judge solemnly upon a matter before the
coutt, their declarations are virtually under oath. ‘

Lettley v. State, 358 Md. 26, 47, 748 A.2d 392,404 (2000) (iﬁtet‘nal citations

omitted).

If Officer Porter is called to testify in the Goodson and White trial there are
two (2) people, and only two (2) people, that can be called to impugn his
credibility, Vis. Bledsoe and Mr. Schatzow. Thus, “lijn order to attack the
credibility of a witness, & charactet witness may testify...that, in the character
witness's opinion, the witness is an untruthful persoh.” Md. Rule 5-608.

This presents all sorts of problems because:

MLRPC Rule 3.7(a). The policy behind this rule is succinctly stated

in the Comment; kCombining the roles of advocate and witness can

prejudice the opposing party and can involve a conflict of interest

between the [awyer and dlient.” MLRPC Rule 3.7 cmt. With regard to
fhe mixing of roles, the Commenf continues:

The opposing party- has-proper objection where the combination of

roles may prejudice that party's rights in the litigation. A witness is

reguired to testify on the basis of perscnal knowledge, while an
advocate is expected to explain and comment on evidence given by

others. it may not be clear whether 2 statement by an advocate-
witness should be taken as proof or as an analysis of the proof.

ld.

Klupt v. Krongard, 126 Nd. App. 179, 205-08, 728 A.2d 727, 740 (1999). The
‘advocate-witness rule “aelsumes heightened importance in a criminal case.”

Walker v. Stafe, 373 Md. 360, 397 (2003). In short: calling Officer Porter at the

36

E. 65




Goodson and White trials will not only result in his rights being violated, but will

necessitate a quagmire in which rights are trampled on all sides in the ensuing

free-for-all.

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons and any others that appear to
this Court, Officer Porter prays that the Court grant his Motion to Quash the
Subpoena he received for the case at bar.

W . . 1!

Respectfully Submittéd,

Joseph Murtha

Murtha, Psoras & Lanasa, LLC
1301 York Road, Suite 200
Lutherville, MD 21083
410-583-6569

'murtha@mpl!awyers.com

& g‘,’&ﬂéﬁr O

Gary E. Pjoctor v

Law Offices of Gary E. Procior, LLC
8 E. Mulberry Street

Raltimore, MD 21202
410-444-1500

ggmmgc_tgi@gﬂlaiﬁﬂ
Attorneys for Officer William Porter
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| hereby certify that on this 4% clay of January, 2016, a copy 0f witness

William Porter's Motion to Quash the subpoena was hand delivered to Ms.

Bledsoe at 120 E. Baltimore Street, o".Floor, Baltimore MD 24202.

1@@/ & %‘r)mé{‘é)w/f
0 7

GARY E. PROCTOR

38

E. 67




E. 68



E. 69


















COPY

1
State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS
STATE OF MARYLAND, * IN THE
*
* CIRCUIT COURT
V. *
* FOR
;4
EDWARD MICHAEL NERO, * BALTIMORE CITY
-
Defendant. * 115141033
4
* * ~ ~ L d -+ * | * a* 4 *
4
STATE OF MARYLAND, * IN THE
*
* CIRCUIT COURT
V. k
* FOR
*
GARRETT EDWARD MILLER, * BALTIMORE CITY
>
Defendant. * 115141034
*
L -« L d * - - > F 3 ¥ * * *
STATE OF MARYLAND, * IN THE
L 4
* CIRCUIT COURT
V. 4
* FOR
*
BRIAN RICE, * BALTIMORE CITY
Defendant. - 115141035
*
A - * * L 3 + * L * * * &
STATE OF MAKYLAND, * IN THE
*
* CIRCUIT CQURT
V. +
* FOR
ALICIA WHITE, * BALTIMORE CITY
- *
Defendant. * 115141036
+
* + & ] + L] + k R + * *
ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-466-2033 410-494-7015

E. 75



11

12
13
14
15

16
17
18
19
20
21

22

.23

24

~~
~

State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

ro

TRANSCRIPT OF OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS
{Motions Hearing)

BEFORE: THE HONORABLE BARRY G. WILLIAMS, JUDGE

HEARING DATE: January 20, 2016
APPEARANCES:
For the State: MICHAEL SCHATZOW, Esquire

JANICE L. BLEDSOE, Esquire
MATTHEW PILLION, Esquire
JOHN BUTLER, Esquire

For Defendant Nero: MARC L. ZAYON, Esquire
ALLISON R. LEVINE, Esquire

For Defendant Miller: CATHERINE FLYNN, Esquire
BRANDON MEAD, Esquire

For Defendant Rice: MICHAREL J. BELSKY, Esquire
CHAZ R. BALL, Esquire

For Defendant White: IVAN I. BATES, Esquire

For Defendant Porter: JOSEPH MURTHA, Esquire

Transcriptionist: Karen Ehatt, CET D-574

Transcraption
Service: ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
Heaver Plaza
1301 York Road, Suite 601
Lutherville, Maryland 21093
Phone: 410-466-2033

Proceedings recorded on digital media with video,
transcript produced by transcription service.

410-466-2033

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE

410-494-7015




State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEFENSE EXHIBITS: Marked Admitted
Porter's Ex. 1

1/13/16 Letter 44 44
Porter's Ex. 2

Trial Testimony of Officer Porter 44 44

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-4¢6-2033 410-494-7015




o ® 9 s W N

= = e e e e
W od B W = O

State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

PROCEEDINGS
(On the record - 02:06:52 p.m.)

THE CLERK: Bl1l rise. The Circuit Court For
Baltimore City, Part 31, will start the morning session.
The Honorable Barry G. Williams presiding.

THE CQURT: The afternoon session, too.

THE CLERK: Say it again?

THE COURT: Maybe the afternoon session, too.
Everyone can be seated.

You said morning.

THE CLERK: Oh, I did? Okay.

THE COURT: Call the cas<, please.

MR. SCHATZOW: Good afternoon, Your Honor. Call
the case of State versus Alicia White, Number 115141036.
Present on behalf of the State is myself, Michael
Schatzow, Deputy State's Attorney Janice Bledsoe and
Assistant State's Attorney Matthew Pillion and Jehn
Butler.

THE COURT: Good afternoon.

MR. SCHATZOW: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

MR. PILLION: Good afternoon.

MR. BATES: Good afternoon, Your Honor. My name
1s Ivan Bates. I represent Sergeant Alicia White
standing to the left of me at the trial table.

THE COURT: Good afternoon. &And you're here,

410-466-2033

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE

E. 78
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State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 201¢ BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

too, so say --

MR. MURTHA: Good afternoon, Your Honor. Joseph
Murtha on behalf of Officer Porter.

THE COURT: All right. Good afternoon to all.
Mr. Bates filed a motion to strike the Court's order
compelling Officer Porter's testimony during Alicia
White's trial. Court has had an opportunity to review
it. TI've seen the response from the Defense.

Mr. Bates, do you want to be heard at all, sir?

MR. BATES: Yes, I do, Your Honor. First of
all, Your Honor, I would like to state that I do feel
that we do have standing. Do feel at this moment in time
this case is a little different in the sense that the
State wishes to introduce evidence that we feel is not
admissible in the trial.

One of the 1ssues we look at, Your Honor, with
this order, it states that under subsection D, Your
Honor, D-1, the testimony or other information from an
individual may be necessary to the public interest.

Well, Your Honor, cne of the things we have to do --
before we were judges, prosecutor or defense attorneys we
were lawyers, brand new lawyers. In lcoking st the
preamble, what it states is that a lawyer shall aid the
legal profession 1in bur5u1ng these objectives and should

help the bar regulate itself in the public interest.
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State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

What is important, Your Honor, is to sit down
and look at the rules of professional candor, 3.3.

THE COQURT: Well, actually, Mr. Bates, what I'm
more concerned about 1s whether or not when the Goodson
matter was called, and Mr. Murtha made it clear to thas
Court that his client wasn't going to testify and that he
made it clear, because there was a subpoena in your case
also, that he wasn't going to testify in your case also,
whether it was appropriate for me to allow basically the
State and Mr. Murtha to make the same arguments that he
made 1n Goodson which were appropriate to make, to make
them in your case. I believe that it was appropriate,
but what I will acknowledge that it was inappropriate for
me not to allow you to be there. So for that, I will
apnlogize.

MR. BATES: Yes, sar.

THE COURT: So --

MR. BATES: But Your Honor, we do feel that it's
inappropriate -- we do feel that we have standing to make
the arguments, some of which that Mr. Murtha may have
made to the Court, Your Henor.

THE COUPRT: Well, what do you mean you have
standing to make the -- what do you -- I don't understand
what you're saying.

MR. BATES: Well, we feel that because the State
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wishes to call Officer Porter, that as an officer of the
court, when we sit down and we see something that we view
as unethical in terms of the rules of professional
candor, that we must bring those issues to the Court.
However, these issues directly affect my client. When
you sit down and look, the rules are clear. You

cannot -- in reference to false evidence, when evidence
that a lawyer knows to be false is provided by a person
who is not the client, the lawyer must refuse to cffer it
regardless of the client's wishes. Here --

THE COURT: So basically, Mr. Bates, what I
understand 1s you're saying --

{Loud ncaise)

THE COURT: That's my cane falling. Don't worry
about 1t. 1I'll probably blame that on you, too, though.

MR. BATES: That's fine. I'm used to 1it.

THE CCURT: I know you are. What you're saying
is that the State is offering i1nformation and would be
offering information 1n your case that they can't offer.
Is that effectively what you're saying?

MR. BATES: That is effectively, Your Honor.
Under the professiconal rules --

THE COURT: But isn't that a trial 1ssue? And
that would be for the Court to make a determination

whether 1t's appropriate to allow the evidence in or not,
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not for you, as a lawyer -- you're talking about when we
started out -- as a lawyer looking at the canons of
ethics? 1Isn't that more appropriate?

MR. BATES: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. BATES: Well, because what it states under
the 9-123 that it must be for the public interest. And
one of the problems we have with the public interest, the
State has already called Officer Porter a liar. Based on
that, it's important that the judicial system is not seen
as caving in to the State's wishes in which they try to
manipulate the system. What we have --

THE COURT: I'll take that as a jab at me but go
ahead. Here's what I'm going to say. The Court granted
the motion from the State in the Goodscon matter based on
the arguments that were presented, and I granted the
motion in the White matter based on the arguments that
were presented on that day. Goodson was here because it
was pretrial motions. You were not here, as I noted,
because didn't expect, candidly speaking, the Court of
Special Appeals to take this case in the manner in which
thay did. They did. Otherwise, ycu would have had an
cpportunity at your trial to make the arguments that you
wanted to make wherever I believed 1t would be '

appropriate to do so.

410-466-2033

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE

410-494-7015



@ 2 e w N

11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

21

23
24

State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

Under the circumstances as presented here,
again, I've already apologized to you for not allowing
you to be at the hearing, but I do not believe that
necessarily you had a right to make any arguments at all.
But also, I do not believe that 1t would be appropriate
to grant your motion given the circumstances that we find
ourselves in where the Court of Special Appeals has
accepted the Goodson matter, and they're going to have
hearings in March and that I do believe that the factual
scenario and the legal issues presented in the White case
are extremely similar. So for those reasons, I'm golng
to deny your motion.

And 1f at the appropriate tim2, when you are
before me for a trial, I'm going to kind of guess that
you're going to have a number of arguments that you want
to make. Am I right in that?

MR. BATES: Yes, Ycour Honor.

THE COURT: I kind of figured that. Okay. So
fcr this moment --

MR. BATES: I do have one --

THE COURT: Every time you talk --

MR. BATES: That was my fault.

THE COURT: -- every time ycu talk that thing
falls. ' '
MR. BATES: Well, that's because --
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THE COURT: Every single time.

MR. BATES: -- the cane is telling you that
you're wrong on the ruling, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is that what the cane is telling me?

MR. BATES: So it falls because you're wrong.

THE COURT: Okay. 1I'll accept that.

MR. BATES: Respectfully. Respectfully.

THE COURT: And you know I hate when lawyer say
"respectfully" because it means the exact opposite.

MR. BATES: I know. I know.

THE COURT: The exact copposite. So your motion
1s denied.

MR. BATES: Yes, sir. I do have one question.
I guess we'll deal with scheduling at a later time
period, correct?

THE COURT: Absolutely.

MR. BATES: Thank you, Your Honor. May I be
excused?

THE COURT: You don't want to stick around?

MR. BATES: I'm going to stick arcund but just
excused from the trial table.

THE CCURT: You can move on. Thank you.

MR. BATES: Thank you.

THE COURT: All right. And as long as we're

still on this particular i1ssue, I do note that,
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Mr. Murtha, you filed a request for injunction pending
appeal in the White case. Clearly, the matter is already
before the Court of Special Appeals in the Goodson
matter. Based on the Court's rulings, I do believe that
under the circumstances 1t would be appropriate for me to
grant your request. I note there's no objection from the
State. So the injunction in the Alicia White matter,
that will be granted.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. You can call the other
three now.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, just with regard to
that, just so I -- you're staying not just your order 1in
the case, but you're staying the trial as well?

THE COURT: Well, given the fact that the Court
of Special Appeals --

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes.

THE COURT: -- kind of told me that they wanted
that in the Goodson matter -- oh, sit down.

MR. BATES: Your Honor, ijust for the record, I
want it to be clear that we object on behalf of Alicia
White. We invoke our speedy trial rights.

THE COURT: How about I assume that you object
to everything I dn?

MR. BATES: That would be perfect, Your Honor.

410-466-2033
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THE COURT: There we go. Appreciate that. All
right.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, do you want me to
call all three of the other cases now at once?

THE COURT: I do. Um-hum.

MR. SCHATZOW: Very well. Your Honor, then
State would call the following three cases: State versus
Miller, Number 115141034, State versus Nero, Number
115141033, and State versus Rice, Number 115141035.
Again, Your Honor, on behalf of the State, Michael
Schatzow, Deputy State's Attorney Janice Bledsce and
Assistant State's Attorneys Matthew Pillion and John
Butler.

THE COURT: You may as well speak first.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor. Good
afternoon again, Your Honor. Joseph Murtha on behalf of
William Porter. I will note that Officer Porter 1s not
here with the Court's permission. He has waived his
appearance consistent with what he has done in the past
when permitted to do so, Your Honor.

MS. FLYNN: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
Catherine Flynn and Brandon Mead here on behalf of
Officer Miller who's standing to my right.

MR. ZAYON: ‘Your Honor, good afternoon. For the

record, Marc Zayon and Allison Levine present on behalf
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of Officer Edward Nero.

MR. BELSKY: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

Michael Belsky and Chaz Ball on behalf of Lieutenant Rice
who's present and standing behind me.

THE COURT: All right. We are here because --
1f you want to just sit down, however you want to set up
doesn’'t really matter to me. We are here because the
State has filed a request to compel Officer Porter's
testimony 1n the trials of Officer Miller, Nero and Rice.

Mr. Murtha, 1I'll hear from you.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor. Ycour Honor,
this is unlike the two other cases which the Court has
actually heard. In the Goodson matter, the White matter,
those two individuals that were going to trial,
previocusly the State had clearly identified that they
anticipated that Officer Porter would be a material
witness i1n both of those cases and had put us on advance
notice.

And for the purpose of the record, there has
been an opposition to the motion to compel that has bkeen
filed with the Court. I would adopt and incorporate by
refsrence that document. There is an attachment. That
attachment is the motion t¢ quash the subpoena that
has -- that was served in both the White and Goodson

cases. I would note that no subpoe¢na has been served in
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regard to Officer Miller, Officer Nero and Lieutenant
Rice's cases, but the arguments were incorporated by
reference for the purpose of the record and once --

THE COURT: Mr. Murtha, I'm going to make your
jJjob a little bit easier at the moment. Can you proffer
to the Court what your client's testimony would be or
position would be as far as testifying in the cases of
Miller, Nero and Rice?

MR. MURTHA: If he would be called to the
witness stand right now, he would indicate to the Court
that he would invoke his Fifth Amendment privilege.

THE COURT: Thank you. You may be seated.

MR. MURTHA: May I be heard at all, Your Henor?

THE COURT: You will at some point, but not
right now.

MR. MURTHA: Qkay.

THE COURT: State?

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, 1in light of that, we
renew our motion to compel. The motion sets forth in the
words of the statute what the two prerequisites, that is,
that the State's Attorney for Baltimore City has
determined that the testimony of Cfficer Porter mway be
necessary to the public interest. And we alsc assert
that the State's Attorney determined that Officer Porter

15 likely to refuse to testify, which his counsel has
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just represented.

The statutory prerequisites having been met,
Your Honor, we believe that the Court should grant the
immunity orders. The issues raised by Mr. Porter are
1ssues that A, the Court of Special Appeals is looking
at, and B, are issues that are for the Kastigar hearing,
not for this stage of the proceedings.

And with regard to the -- I don't know if you
want to hear me yet on this, and if you don't, I'm sure
you'll tell me. But with regard to the Defendants'’
motions, our -- the State's position is they have no
standing to make these arguments. Their concerns, as you
menticned, are trial concerns which are to be raised at
trial. They have no standing --

THE COURT: Well, as I mentioned for Mr. Bates'

argument --

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes.

THE COURT: -- I didn't say anything about the
others.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes. But I think logically the
same thing 1s true, Your Honor, when the State -- when

the State wishes to have a witness immunired, obviously
the Court -- 2nly the Court has the authority to do it:
the State makes the motion tc the Court but we -- but 1in

analogous situations, there's no room for the Defense.
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If we're conducting a grand jury investigation, and we
want to immunize a grand jury witness, we don't have to
consult with a putative defendant about 1it.

THE COURT: We have actual Defendants here,
right?

MR. SCHATZOW: We do have actual Defendants.
You're right, Your Honor. But if you look at the Herman
case, which we cited in the oppositions that we filed
this morning to the Defendants', the three Defendants'
motions, Third Circuit relying on an old Supreme Court
case which was decided before there was use and
derivative use immunity but based on transactional
immunity, both the Supreme Court and the Third Circuit
came to the same position, that the immunity statute was
not designed to confer rights upon defendants. Their
rights are trial rights. Their rights are not to
interfere with the State's ability to make reasoned
judgments about what may or may not be necessary and what
may or may not be in the public i1nterest in terms of
making those, ycu know --

THE COURT: Well, can you proffer to the Court
what's the reasoned sudument [or Porter's testimony in
Officer Miller's cas¢ and Officer Nero's case and Officer
Rice's case?

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor, I can, although
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just -- if I might for the record say, Your Honor, I'm
going to do that. 1I'm going to do it willingly but as --
just for the record, as a matter of law, we don't think
1t's necessary once the State's Attorney has made that
determination. But I'm going to proffer it.

THE COURT: Well, let me ask you something. 1If
the State's Attorney makes the determination, but the
Court finds that it's a ruse and subterfuge, what would
the Court have to do at that point in time?

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, Your Honor, that's an
interesting question. &nd I certainly don't want to
suggest that the Court 1s without power to deal with
ruses and subterfuges. That's not what we have here.
But 1t 1s true that both the Supreme Court ¢f the United
States and the Third Circuit have said that as long --
that that 1s a decision that's entrusted to the State's
Attorney and that the -- that it would be a violation of
the separation of powers to interfere with that
determination.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: So I'm not saying that, Your
Honor, to insult ycu or tecause I'm not gaing to answer
your question --

THE COURT: And you're saying it respectfully,

I'm sures just --
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MR. SCHATZOW: I'm not going to use that word.
I was going to use that but --

THE COURT: Everyone uses 1t.

MR. SCHATZOW: I'll just say it with a great
deal of respect. And --

THE COURT: Thanks.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- so that's our legal position,
Your Honor.

But to answer your question, to answer your
question, there are two areas --

THE COQURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- in which this testimony
becomes siqgnificant and in the public interest. The
first is the failure to seatbelt at the second stop. And
what Mr. Porter has to say about that in his papers
because he was aware, Your Honor, just, you know, that
we --

THE COURT: Are you talking about his statement
or his traial testimony-?

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes. His statement because his
trial testimony --

THE COURT: Olkay.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- no. There was no testimony
about it. But 1t is in the transcript that we used as a

demonstrative aid during the trial of Mr. Porter. At
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both pages 39 and page 71, he indicates that the --
Mr. Gray, the decedent --

THE COURT: And 7172

MR. SCHATZOW: And 71, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: It's very clear on 39. Seventy-
one is a little broader, but it's clear on context.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: Pages 39 and 71 says he was not
seatbelted.

THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. SCHATZOW: The =--

THE COURT: Well, doesn't page 40 say, "But
again, I didn't watch the entire ordeal."?

MR. SCHATZOW: That's what he says then and we
also -- of course, we also have the video where he's
standing there as he's put in the wagon, and Lieutenant
Rice 1s coming out of the wagon so --

THE COURT: So basically what you're saying is
you're proffering to the Court that in the case of
Officer Miller, Nero and Rice, you need Porter to testafy
that he was never scatbelted in?

MR. SCHATZOW: That's right, Your Henor, because
they're all -- each of them -- each of them are charged

with assault and -- just give me one second. Reckless --
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excuse me, not assault. Take that back. Each of the
three are charged with recklessness -- with reckless
endangerment and misconduct for the failure to seatbelt
at that stop. And in addition, Lieutenant Rice is
charged with manslaughter and assault which we contend
stem from the failure to seatbelt at the second stop. So
that's one of the two bases, Your Honor, is the failure
to seatbelt at the second stop.

THE CQURT: So what's the second one?

MR. SCHATZOW: The second one is the place where
the injury occurred.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: As I'm sure you recall, there
was —-- the State's position, which has been relied on by
both its experts and the State in proving its case, is
that the injury to Mr. Gray that proved fatal took place
between the second stop and the fourth stop. And the
Defense has contended that the injury took place between
the fifth stop and the sixth stop and that is -- the
State does not contend that that's --

THE COURT: Well, I'm sorry. Excuse me one
second. You =said that you need Officer Porter's
testimony based on his statement on pages 39 and 717

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. Go ahead.
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MR. SCHATZOW: Excuse me. So in terms of the -—-
and that was related to the second stop, failure to
seatbelt, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Um-hum,

MR. SCHATZOW: In terms of the place of injury,
Officer --

THE COURT: Well, I'm -- I got to back up. I'm
sorry. You're talking about page 71, but if you look at
page 70, the question has to do with what Goodson did.
So how does that have any relevance to Nero, Miller and
Rice for page 70 and 717

MR. SCHATZOW: My recollection, Your Honor, and
I don't have 1t in front of me, my recollection was
that --

THE COURT: I do.

MR. SCHATZOW: I know you do. My recollection
was that in the context of 70 and 71, they're talking
about the totality, not just at the fourth stop, but the
totality --

THE COURT: Page 70, line 20, Detective
Anderson, "So what -- what was Goodson doing? I mean,
did he sealbelt him in?"

Oofficer Porter, "Well, he -- I -- I -- I guess

"he didn't seatbelt him after I left, No."

Again, Anderson, "So he -- so he wasn't
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seatbelted in? Okay."

Detective Teal, "Do you own a taser?"

Officer Porter, "No. I don't have one."”

And so Detective Anderson again, down at
line 11, "All raight. So at no time did you see him
seatbelted in?"

"No. Right." Any further question, Detective
Anderson. That's what's there.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor. "So at no time
did you see him seatbelted 1n?" Your Honor. When I was
referring to, 1t was broader in context than just the
second stop. He's saying at no time on that day --
this -- page 71 1s near the very end of the interview, as
I recall. And so he's summing -- Detective Anderson in
his question is summing up on an overall basis what 1s
set forth in terms of --

THE COURT: Well, 1s Detective Anderson going to
testify to that, that he was summing up?

MR. SCHATZOW: I can't tell you, Your Honor,
that I've asked him that specific question. All I c¢an
tell you is we -- that's how we read the transcript --

THE COURT: COkay.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- 1in addition to what's on
page 3% which is specific to the second stop.

THE COURT: And page 40.
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MR. SCHATZOW: Yeah. This continues on.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. SCHATZOW: Okay. So that's one discrete
area. And the second area, Your Honor, the second
discrete area involves the place of injury.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: And there is a dispute, as you're
well aware, that -- between the 3tate, which contends
that the fatal injuries took place between the second
stop and the fourth stop, and the Defense, which contends
that the injuries tock place between the fifth stop and
the sixth stop. And part of what the State relies on and
part of what the State's experts rely on are Officer
Porter's description of what occurred at the fourth
stop --

THE COURT: And you're talking about in his
statement or 1in the trial testimony?

MR. SCHATZOW: In both.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: In both. In both. And so we
don't contend, Your Honor, that it 1s leqgally daispositive
of every single charge against each of Mr. -- Messrs.

Miller, Nerc and Rice. But we do think it's important,
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when there's a dispute like that, it's important to the
jury when they start weighing how they're going to decide
the case. And --

THE COURT: Well, didn't the dispute start when
he gave his statement? What I'm obviously concerned with
is you made it very clear to this Court when this case
started back when I got involved, sometime in June, what
your order was going to be and why. You made it clear
that you needed Officer Porter's testimony for Goodson
and for White. Whether the Court agreed with that or not
was 1rrelevant. Doesn't matter but you made that clear.
At no point at all did you ever make it clear to me --
you may have talked to the Defense attorneys, I don't
know -- but you never made 1t clear to the Court that
there would be a reason for Officer Porter to effectively
testi1fy 1n every single case.

So it's either the issue of you didn't Kknow,
and you didn't figure it out until after the trial,
although you had his statement, or for some other reason.
So I don't understand so explain.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, what you just said is
accurate. We didn't take that position. But we tried to
learn something from our experience in trying Mr. Porter,
and we tried to learn something about what was effective

in what we did, what was effective in what the Defense=
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did, what we tried to read into what the jury did. And
we think we have the right to change our mind, Your
Honor. And we acknowledge we're --

THE COURT: Sure.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- changing our maind.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: Nobody's trying to mislead you,
and we haven't tried to mislead you, and we're not
misleading you now, You are absolutely right in what you

described as the order that we presented. It's still the

order that we want -- would like to try the cases in
ultimately. That would be a guestion for you and -- but
the --

THE COURT: More so the Court of Special
Appeals, but we'll see about that, too.

MR, SCHATZOW: And the Court of Special Appeals.
But we do thaink, having watched the case play out, that
it's going to become important particularly because in
the case of the -- of Miller, Nero and Rice, 1f the jury
believes and concludes that the injury happened between
stops two and four, I think they look at their
culpabkility 1n a much different waey than 1f they believe
the injury happened between five and six. It may not be
legally'dlspositlve, but I think 1t's very important for

the jury. And I think that's something that got hammered
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home to us as we looked back on our experience in the
Porter case and watched the trial unfold and that's

the -- those are the twc reasons, Your Honor. 1It's as
simple as that is, or whether it's complicated or simple,
that's what the reasons are.

THE CQURT: Rll right. So as far as the
seatbelting, you say that you need Officer Porter's
testimony. At what stop you're talking about?

MR. SCHATZOW: Two.

THE COURT: Stop two. That's where the videco
is, correct?

MR. SCHATZOW: Correct, Your Honor. That was
the ~- yeah, the video with him being -- you know, where
they show Mr. Gray on his knees and the leg chains on him
and putting him in the van.

THE COURT: So 1f I understand what you're
talking about there, the video showed Officer Porter
closer to the van. Officer Porter indicated that he
wasn't close to the van and couldn't see anything. So
what 1s 1t that you neged him to say?

MR. SCHATZOW: That he did not -- exactly what
he says in his statement. He did not see him seatbelted
in that van, and we can show where he was at the time and
what his opportunity to observe was and he can -- and

he'll say, we assume, if he testifies consistently with
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his statement, that he was not -- he did not see him
seatbelted.

THE COURT: So what you're saying is you believe
that the testimony that you're -- you're offering
immunity in the case of Nero, Miller and Rice for the
purpose of Mr. Porter to come 1n and state that I never
saw them seatbelt him in; 1is that correct?

MR. SCHATZOW: At stop two,.

THE COURT: At stop two.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes.

THE COURT: But then we know that if we go to
the next page of his statement, "But again, I didn't
watch the entire ordeal." So my questicn to you is how
is that statement going to be admissible and relevant?

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, I think it will be
admlssible and relevant because he says he didn't see him
and the -- didn't see him seatbelted, and the video will
show what his opportunity to cbserve was, when the
oppcrtunity began, when the opportunity ended. And that
will allow us to prove that he was not seatbelted in
the --

THE COURT: Well, let me stop ycu there. How
dces that prove that given that the video doesn't show
inside the van, correct?

MR. SCHATZOW: No. It doesn't show inside the
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van. You're right, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: But what it shows is Lieutenant
Rice stepping out of the van and Mr. Porter stepping back
to allow Lieutenant Rice out of the van, and there's no
evidence that anybody else ever went into the van. So if
he wasn't seatbelted then at stop two, he was not
seatbelted at stop two.

THE COURT: Well, does the video show the entire
time from Mr. Gray being placed into the van and
Mr. Gray -- the van door closing?

MR. SCHATZOW: I can't say that, Your Honor. If
you'll recall, I think there's some times when the video
is pointing down at the street. So I'm not going to say
that it proves it to a mathematical certainty but --

THE COURT: Well, of course. And I don't need
you to do that. What I'm trying to figure out, before I
make my ruling, is what it is that you want to get
because --

MR. SCHATZOW: Right. But --
agree, the statute is relatively clear stating when the
prosecutor determines that the testimony may be necessary
to the public interest, the Court shall issue an order
requiring the individual give testimony. But I also note’

that common sense also dictates looking at the Maryland
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Rules, Rule 401 which defines relevant evidence,

Rule 5-402 which talks about all relevant evidence is
admissible, and things that are not relevant are not
admissible, and then the more important one, 5-403 makes
it clear that although relevant evidence may he --
although relevant evidence may be excluded if its
probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger
of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, misleading
the jury or by considerations of undue delay. And I'm
sure that 1f I let the Defendants stand up, they're going
to talk about their speedy trial issues and other things.

So answer that for me now.

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, I -- in terms of speedy
trial, Your Honor, I --

THE COURT: Well, when I say answer that for me
now, 1t really wasn't --

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh.

THE COURT: -- that part of it. Just saying why
should 1 allow it?

MR. SCHATZOW: Because we are making the
request. We are making it in good faith. 1I've explained
to you the two bases -- the two separate kbases on whaich
w2 have concluded that this testimony 15 in the publac
interest. And I think that these -- thése are not sort

of frivolous or made up arguments. They're real
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arguments, and the statute entrusts the State's
Attorney's Office to make the decision of whether it's in
the public interest. BAnd I understand Your Honor's
desire to make sure that there's not a ruse or some
subterfuge going on here. 2And I assure you there isn't,
and I've explained to you why there isn't.

But once you're past that, Your Honor, then I
think 1t*'s separation of powers. 1It's the intent of the
legislature. 1It's the constitutional law. This 1s the
State's Attorney's decision to make, and once they make
it, and they make 1t in good faith, then we're done.

Now you have other issues. We're only talking
right now, Your Honor, about the question of granting the
motion to compel. I'm not saying that because you
immunize him that means you're n¢ longer the judge at
trial; you can't make rulings on what's admissible and
what's not --

THE COURT: If only.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- insofar as his testimony is --
goes. But what I am saying very strongly, Your Honor,
that's premature. Those are issues that you'll decide
when he's on the witness stand, and we ask a Jquestion,
and somebody objects, and then you'll make a ruling. And
you'will not hear me say that because you i1mmunize him

then that means he -- you can't control the evidence
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presented to the jury. I'm just saying that it's
premature on this particular issue that's before you
today right now.

THE COURT: And of course, if I grant him -- if
I grant immunity in each of those cases, the next step

that you'wve asked this Court to do is to postpone the

cases.

MR. SCHATZOW: That's correct, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And tell me why I would do that.

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, for -- I think for a -- two
different reasons although they're all -- they're kind of

related. First off, I think and would submit to the
Court that 1t's the most practical thing to do for these
three reasons. One is if you put off these cases, we
ultimately get a decision from the Court of Special
Appeals, and they tell us what we're -- what to do, and
we're all going to do what they tell us what to do.

Then we would have the opportunity, Your
Honor -~ you would have the opportunity to schedule the
retrial of Mr. Porter first. And if you were to do that,
Your Honor, that would have at least three impacts. Tt
would e2liminate the need for a Kastigar hearing, which

could be complex, could be simple, but it could be

"complex, and 1t's going to definitely take time no matter

what. It will allow the State to avoid the expense and
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problems associated with putting together a clean team
sometime before Mr. Porter testifies under immunity and
those -- that's -- that is clearly in the public interest
to save --

THE COURT: Well, couldn't you have figured that
out when you charged these six officers that you would
need that, if you wanted their testimony?

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, I don't think we assumed,
Your Honor, that the rfirst case would end in a mistraial
and --

THE COURT: Why wouldn't you assume that that's
a possibilaity?

MR. SCHATZOW: We did assume 1t was a --

THE COURT: Mistrial, not guilty, guilty --

MR. SCHATZOW: We did assume --

THE COURT: -- those are the three options.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- we did assume 1t was a
possibility, Your Honor. We did assume that. And Your
Honor, I know you don't think so, but we really do pay
attention to what you say and you made -- when you were
talking before, you made it fairly clear -- I know you
weren't prejudging anything. I'm not accusing that. But
that 1t would ke necessary for us to have a taint team.
And the fact -- a clean -- call it a clean team. You

know what I'm talking -- a team that's not exposed to the
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immunized testimony.

And okay, we heard you, Your Honor. The fact
1s in federal --

THE CQURT: Well, it's not me. It's the
Court -- the Supreme Court made it clear that if you want
to use i1mmunized testimony how it's done. I had nothing
to do with that. That goes way back.

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, no. But it is true, Your
Honor, there's a split in circuits about whether -- 1in
the federal circuits there's a split about whether the
mere fact that the prosecutor has access to the immunized
testimony is actual derivative use if the prosecutor
doesn't go out and get evidence based on that.

THE COURT: But of course, you have to prove
that.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes. And we'd have to prove that
at a Kastigar hearing.

THE COURT: Right.

MR, SCHATZOW: And you're absolutely raight,.
It's much easier to prove that if you have a clean team,
and you don't have tainted prosecutors. So we
anticipatsd -- we didn't anticipate, Your Honor, that we
wonld have such a strong impression that we needed to
have a clean team because we can account, in a retrial

for Mr. Porter, of all -- ftor all the evidence because we
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already have put the evidence in. And so that's exactly
what our thinking was in response to that. So it would
avoid that.

And then secondly, Your Honor, in terms of
virtually every objection Mr. Porter has made, both
before you and the Court of Special Appeals, if his case
were tried before the others, before he was compelled to
testify, wvirtually every one of those objections goes
away.

THE COURT: There. I want to do that, don't 1I?
That's my concern to help the State out.

MR. SCHATZOW: No. Well, it's not to help the
State out, Your Honor. It's to help =--

THE COURT: I mean, yes, of course it 1s. It
absclutely, positively -- Mr. Schatzow, it absolutely,
positively is. There's no other reason for you to say
that. I don't care whether you have to have a clean team
or a dirty team. I don't care if you get a guilty, a not
guilty, a hung jury. I don't care 1f the Defendants are
found guilty or not guilty. That's for the process.

But for you to sit here and knowing full well
that I said no, I'm not going to try Mr. Porter's case
next because these other Defendants have a right t¢ go to
trial, and then for yosu at this later point in time to

say oh, by the way, you know what, we never thought about
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using Porter; we investigated this case for the time that
we did; we looked at these cases; we charged the six
Defendants; we never, ever thought that we'd possibly
have to use Porter's testimony in every case, sounds
strange to the Court.

So with all that said, yes, you should have
figured this out. Yes, 1t's your job to do these things.
You didn't do it and that's fine. This is where we are.

So sort of apologize for the outburst, but by
you saying that you didn't know and that i1t would help
you not to have a tainted team because you think that's
what I'm requiring, the law requires it. It would help
you so that all the concerns that Mr. Porter has would go
by the wayside, not my concern. So please continue.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor. I'm not trying
to suggest it wasn't in the State's interest. I'm not
trying to suggest that at all, Your Honor. I guess what
I am trying to suggest 1s that it's also in the public
interest 1f the Defendants' rights are protected to
all -- to have the case go with a minimum expenditure of
public resources. That's all I'm trying to suggest, Your
Honor. It's certainly an the 3tate's interest, and I
don't want you to interpret what I'm saying as not being
1n the 3tate'’s interest. O0f course, it is in the State's

interest, but the State is not just some ordinary party
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to the proceedings. We're no more important, we're no
more special the Defendants are, but we're not just a
private citizen making an argument. And so that's one
set of reasons.

And the other set of reasons relates to the
things that I said before, these two substantive areas
where we think it's in the public interest to have the
benefit of his testimony. And Your Honor, I hear you
loud and clear and --

THE COURT: Well, I know you always do,

Mr. Schatzow. You're fine.

MR. SCHATZOW: What?

THE COURT: I said I know you always do.

MR. SCHATZOW: So we do think, for the reasons I
sald hefore, those two discrete areas, that it makes
sense. And you know, all I can do is say this, Judge. I
think I've tried to demonstrate it. We're acting in good
faith here. Whether someone, including you, thinks that
we should have figured all this out earlier, I don't know
what we would have -- well, I do know what we would have
done differently. We would have told you in the
b2ginning that ws wanted Porter in each and every traial.
That's what we would have done differently.

But we ar2 where we are, and 1f somebody is

going to be blamed for not having the sufficient
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foresight, that should be me. But that's where we are,
and I urge you to grant these motions. They're being
made in good faith. They comply with the statute. They
comply with the constitution. And if you have no other
questions, Your Henor, I would submit on what I've said
1n our papers.

And I would also like Your Honor to
incorporate, as Mr. Murtha did, the arguments we made in
the Goodson case as well as our written cpposition to the
moticn to quash filed in the Goodson and White cases.

THE COURT: Very well. Well, 1in these cases,
you did not file a -- there's no subpoena in these cases.

MR. SCHATZOW: We haven't filed a subpoena, Your
Honor, because --

THE COURT: Okay. Just wanted to make sure.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- quite frankly, because where
we are in the scheduling.

THE COURT: I understand. All right. I just
wanted to make sure that I didn't miss something.

MR. SCHATZOW: That's accurate. We have not
issued the subpoenas. We assume that that part we will
ke akble to work Zut with Mr. Murtha.

THE COURT: All right. A&nd I do have one more
question.

MR. STHATZOW: Sure.
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THE COURT: The issue concerning the seatbelt
again for Officer Porter, if he testifies the way you
want him to, are you not setting him up for perjury?

MR. SCHATZOW: I don't see how, Your Honor,

because again, this whole -- the perjury --
THE COURT: Well, you --
MR. SCHATZOW: -- Your Honor, 1 would just --
THE CCOURT: -- you need him to say --
MR. SCHATZOW: -- I'd just like to get him

convicted for what I've charged him with --

THE COURT: I understand.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- before I worry about something
e2lse. You know, 1n terms of the way my understanding,
which I think is correct, about the way this works, we
cannot use his i1mmunized testimony to prosecute him for
perjury that he committed before his immunized testimony
if he committed such perjury. So I don't see how we're
setting haim up for perjury. He has no Fifth Amendment
privilege to perjure himself. He's got to tell the
truth.

THE COURT: Well, but here's the problem that I
se2, Under this factual sc2narin that you've presented
the Court, not the factual scenario for Goodson and
White, but under the scenario that you have here,

effectively each Defendant has a right to cross-examine
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Mr. Porter, and if he wants to say something different,
it kind of impacts their ability to cross. You have the
ability to ask questions the way you want, but also
there's a right to cross-examine. And you're saying
you're granting immunity, but it seems problematic that
you get to say all right, we want him to say X, and as
long as he says X, everything is fine. But then when
he's gcing to be crossed, he's going to take the Fifth.
You're saying well, you know, he's saying something
different now. So where are we with that?

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, maybe I have a
fundamental misunderstanding. I think when -- his
compelled testimony is all of his testimony. In other
words, if he says a stoplight was red on direct, and he
says 1t's -- and on c¢ross he says 1t was raining, I think
the raining is also the subject of the compelled
testimony. In other words, you're not going to let him
get on the stand and say just answer the prosecutor's
questions, and now you can take the Fifth for the --

THE COURT: No. I wouldn't do that.

MR. SCHATZOW: No. So my understanding is we --
his i1mmunity applies to his compelled testimony. His
compelled testimony begins when we start asking him, and
1t ends when you excuse him from thé witness stand. So I

den't see -- you know, so in other words, I want to be
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clear here, Judge. Yeah. Nobody is asking you and we
are not giving and we are not seeking a license for him
to get on the stand and commit perjury. We're asking to
compel his truthful testimony, and we assume that the
testimony will be the same regardless of whether we ask
the questions or the Defense asks the questions.

THE COURT: The same consistent with this
statement, correct?

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, yes. That's our basis for
believing what he's going to say because he's already
said it. Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Murtha?

MR. MURTHA: May we just approach very briefly?
And it's just a Porter issue so --

THE COURT: That's fine.

BENCH CONFERENCE
(Bench Conference begins - 02:46:16 p.m.)
(The parties approach the bench where the following
ensues:)

THE COURT: Um-hum,

MR. MURTHA: Your Honor, because I know the
Court instructed us not to append the January 13th, 2015
letter to any pleading, but in the January 13th, 2015
‘letter to the Court, the representation that the State

made was that they were relying upcn the testimony and I
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will -- if the Court has a copy of the letter --

THE COURT: I do.

MR. MURTHA: And it's on the second page. And
so I read and reread. It's on the second page, first
paragraph. And the State makes the representation not
that they're relying upon the statement, but they're
relying upon his testimony. Which now there's a shifting
sand that, you know, adjusts the foundation upon which I
stand upon.

But I would mark as an erxhibit his trial
testimceny for the purpose of the hearing, in light of the
representation that had been made, and just admit it to
show that there is literally an absence of any testimony
relating to whether or not QOfficer Porter made an
observation about whether Mr. Gray was seatbelted or not
seatbelted.

THE COURT: Here's the situation that I find us
in. You're right. We do have the letter here. Which
number 1s the September letter? I know I have it --

MR. MURTHA: September the 15th I --

THE COURT: Yeah. No. I'm just saying whether
it was in or not before. It's one of the few times I did
allow you to write me as opposed to a motion.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, I believe the

September 15th letter was attached as an exhibat to --
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THE COURT: I think so.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- somebody's papers. I can't
tell you --

THE COURT: That's fine. ‘Yeah, yeah.

MR. MURTHA: It was --

THE COURT: Okay. That's fine.

MR. MURTHA: -- for scheduling. It was actually
to all of -- all of the oppesitions included the
September the 15th letter.

THE COURT: Well, here's the thing. All this
may be in another court anyway. You effectively read
this 1nto the record just -- I'm not bothered by it. I'm
just saying you referred to everything in here. That's
fine. 1I'll let it be an exhibit --

MR. MURTHA: Okay.

THE COURT: -- that you can reference. And then
I have no problem with it. That's all. So that's fine.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

{Bench Conference concluded - 02:48:12 p.m.)
{The parties return to the trial tables where the
follcewing ensues:)

THE COURT: So Mr. Murtha, you're making

reference tco what now?
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MR. MURTHA: Your Honor, I would ask -- and I
actually have a copy:; it's highlighted. It the State
does not oppose the highlighted version, I could
substitute it. That there be marked as Officer Porter's
Exhibit A which is a January the 13th, 2016 letter.

THE COURT: It will be Exhibit 1.

MR. MURTHA: Exhibit 1, 1f I may approach. I
have stickers.

THE COURT: Any objection to the highlighted
one, or do you have a clean one over there, Mr. Schatzow?

MR. MURTHA: I have --

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh. Do they have -- I have a --

MR. MURTHA: I have a clean one.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MURTHA: If I may approach, Your Honor.
Exhibit 1. I'm sorry. I didn't fill out these stickers.
That would be the January the 13th, 2016 letter to the
Court from Mr. Schatzow advising the Court of essentially
what has just been argued.

And I wouid note that on page 2 of that letter,
in the first paragraph in the representation to the
Court, the State says that they would be relying upon the
testimony of Officer Porter. So in anticipation of
teday's hearing and searching for why it would be that

they would rely upcn testimony that literally never
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addressed the issue of seatbelting I would -- I have
marked and asked that it be admitted as Defendant's
Exhibit 2, and that is the trial testimony of Officer
Porter. And I would proffer that --

THE COURT: Any objection, just for the record?

MR. SCHATZOW: For the letter going in? No,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: And the transcript.

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh, and the transcript? HNo, Your
Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So entered.

(Defendant Porter's Exhibits 1 and 2 are marked for

1dentification and admitted into evidence.)

MR. MURTHA: And that reason that becomes
important 1s because seven days later, we're in a
position where the State has said -- after having the
benefit of actually reading the responsive pleadings
including the responsive pleading of Officer Porter
oppesing the motion to compel, saying that nowhere within
that trial transcraipt 1s there actually any testaimony
that relates to seatbelt or not seatbelting. And I thaink
that's significant because -- and 1t's not always easy Fo
make accusations of things such as pretext, subterfuge
and ruses, but that's what this is.

And the reason being is clearly the Court
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had -- or excuse me, the State had communicated to the
Court previously an interest in trying the cases of
Officer Miller, Officer Nero and Lieutenant Rice after
the retrial of Cfficer Porter. The Court was not
inclined to do that, and I don't think there was ever a
formal postponement. And then after a trial on Officer
Porter, and after, not at a time of Officer Goodscn's
trial or Officer White's trial but only after injunctive
relief had been granted by the Court of Special Appeals,
does 1t become important for the State to actually call
Officer Porter as a witness about stop two.

Now I think 1n the -- it will be reflected in
the cross-examination by Mr. Schatzow and also in the
closing arguments -- the State ridiculed QOfficer Porter
because Officer Porter indicated when he got out of his
car he couldn't see what was going on, and he was
vigorously cross-examined about how close he was and then
also asked why he <ouldn't identify who the people were.
So here the State's making a representation to the Court
that he's a vital material witness of a fact, one, that
1s never testified to, and two, where it being subject fo
cross-examination, the State held him 1n contempt for not

being able to see what was actually going on. In fact,

" in the videotape that's being referenced by the State, he

turns his back, and he actually approaches the crowd
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because he engages in crowd control.

Now adopting the State's theory of the use of a
Defendant as a witness, it would be much easier for the
State to logk down this trial table and to say you know
what, stop two, who could we use? Well, let's see. We
have Officer Garrett Miller's first, and what we're going
to do is we're going to immunize Officer Nero, and we're
going to call him because that's our theory. We want the
most important witness that can testify to that. Or
maybe we even i1mmunize Lieutenant Rice because he's
third.

How does Officer Porter, whose back is turned
to the van before the doors close, who doesn't know
whether or not he was seatbelted, become a material
witness about stoep twe? That ~- it's a disingenucus
pretext for the purpose of getting a postponement. And
it's actually -- it's offensive in the sense that the
State stands up here and makes the representations that
they do, suggesting that it really i1sn't for the purpose
of getting a postponement.

In regard to the fourth stop, there are three
officers that have actually been given i1mmunity. Gfficer
NMovak -- and Officer Novak has been identified as a State
witness. Officer Novak did not testify for the State.

He's testified for the Defense. But Officer Novak
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testifies very clearly of his involvement in stop two.
He's already been granted immunity. He was a participant
1n the arrest of Mr. Gray at stop two. He had a bird's-
eye view of what transpired. They had a sufficient
witness who could actually testaify.

In regard to the fourth stop, there's Officer
Gladhill and there's Officer Wood. Those are other
officers actually or Officer Gladhill, another officer --

THE COURT: And you think you have the authority
to tell the State which witnesses to call?

MR. MURTHA: I can't but all these arguments are
being made for the purpose of arguing that this is a
pretextual effort by the State to postpone the cases and
subject Officer Porter -- actually, and I've said it in
the pleadings, what they want to do is they want to take
him hostage for five cases, and then torture him in his
own trial, having laid a minefield of suggestions that
he's actually perjured himself. And as the State has
acknowledged, and as the Court actually i1nguired in
regard to the extent of cross-examination, there are
limits. We have no -- we are literally powerless in
regard to controlling the nature of the testimony or
cbjecting to the air of questioning when he's called as a
witness for the State and subject to cross-examination by

the Defense.
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So it really -- as a zealous advocate for
Officer Porter, it's offensive that now he's going to be
drawn into becoming a material witness when never before
has he ever been recognized as a material witness.

Your Honor, I've put in our papers. In fact,
paragraph 13, page 5 of the papers is a comment by Chief
Judge Murphy about his observations, how the nature of
the immunity that is extended by Courts and Judicial
Proceedings 9-123 really isn't sufficient and suggests
that the legislature expand it for the purpose of
pratecting people who are called as witnesses. And
that's why, for all the reasons that have previously been
stated, that it -- the protections are not adequate under
the circumstances of this case.

The Court is now powerless. I understand the
State says separation of powers. The Court actually --
once we check A, B and C, the Court has to grant it. But
the Court asked very insightful questions --

THE COURT: Thanks.

MR. MURTHA: -- specifically -- and I'm always
respectful, folks, so I'm not going to use --

THE CQURT: There we go. There it 1s.

MR. MURTHA: But, well, you asked questions that
I would have asked if I had the opportunity. They're

questions that -- answered but aren't complete. There's
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et

a case from 2002 that Judge Moylan actually wrote the
opinion in. And it's actually Charity v. State, and it's
132 Md. App. Reports 598.

Now Charity v. State 1s a case where there was
a Maryland State trooper who under the Whren doctrine
that was announced by the Supreme Court in regard to a

police officer's opportunity to actually make a traffac

xO -~ oo woN

stop and even if there was a legitimate basis for the

9 traffic stop that allowed them to get to the car.

10 Previcusly, arguments had been made that the officer’'s

11 actions were pretextual.

12 Well, Judge Moylan, in this case, chastises the
13 law enforcement efforts to abuse the praivilege that had
14 been extended by the Supreme Court in Whren. And Judge
15 Moylan says if there's a lesson to ke learned from this
16 case, 1t 1s that when the police, and in this case we can
17 substitute prosecutors, are permitted a very broad,
18 persistently controversial investigative prerogataive,
19 they would well be off used (sic) when not literally
20 required to do so to exercise their prerogative with
21 restraint and moderation, lest they lose it. JTn fact, he
22 later on goes to say that should the State or law

23 enforc-ement continue to push the envelope out, 1t may
24 lose the goose that has laid the golden eqg.

25 And the reason I cite the Charity case, because
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it's the only case I could find where the judiciary says
to the State you're right. You do have a legitimate
basis for coming before the Court and saying that it was
valid. But you have pushed the envelope so far out that
you're at the point of exploiting the privilege that has
been exztended to you. And that's what we have here.

And I don't think the Court is powerless to
actually just buy wholesale -- the State makes the
representations, but the State also knows the history of
these cases. It knows that in September of 2015, the
State identified the lineup of the cases and how
important it was for Officer Porter to go first because
his perceived Fifth Amendment privilege. But now his
Fifth Amendment privilege is disregarded, whether or not
he can protect himself and his Sizth Amendment right te a
fair trial later on because --

THE COURT: Well, the Court of Special Appeals
will determine that. I made the ruling as I did in the
Goodson and White matters. I'll make a ruling in this
case based on what is presented. But as far as his
protections, the Court of Special Appeals has made it
clear they're intcrested in 1t, and they're going to make
a decision so --

MR. MURTHA: Thsy are. But the Court,

understanding all the information, can make a finding,
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1 and that's how new case law is made all the time. The

2 Court can make a finding that based on the history of

3 this case and on the facts presented that it really isn’'t
4 in the public interest.

5 Looking down the lineup here, there could be

<] several other witnesses who provide much more material

7 testimony, and they could receive the benefit of use and
8 derivative use testimony to give a much clearer

9 observation in --

10 THE COURT: Well, but once again, that's not

11 your job. That's solely within the area »f the State's
12 Attorney's Office to make a decision which witnesses they
13 w1ll call in their case. You have nothing to do with

14 that. Please move on.

15 MR. MURTHA: That's true. But in protecting my
16 client --

17 THE COURT: Which you have a right to do,

18 obviously.

19 MR. MURTHA: I assert that because there's no

20 doubt 1n my mind, and the Court may rule favorably for

21 the State and say Mr. Murtha, nice try, but 1t just isn't
22 encugh Lo carry the day. But I do believe that it 1s a
23 pretextual effort by the State to seek a postponement.

24 Now the State 1s actually assuming a fact that

25 will not have been determined as of today because they

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-466-2033 410-494-7015

E. 125



]

o o < U e W

52

State v. Nero, Miller, Rice, White
January 20, 2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

asked for a postponement. There is a presumption that
the State is making that Officer Porter, after
contemplating the Court's decision, will seek 1njunctive
relief and appeal each of the Court's orders if the Court
orders him to compel. He didn't see anything at stop
two. He wasn't a participant with Officer Nero and
Officer Miller. So we have to assess what we're going to
do next.

So the State should presume that automatically
the Court's order to compel the testimony in each one of
these cases automatically should result in postponement.
I'm only saying that because, well, one is Mr. Proctor is
out of the country right now, and we haven't assessed
what Officer Porter would like to do. It very well --
the logic would be that there would be injunctive relief
sought and an appeal filed with the Court of Special
Appeals. That would be the conventional wisdom. And I'm
not saying that that's not going to happen, but I think
the State has actually put the cart before the horse, so
to speak, 1n asking for a postponement today when a
critical decision has not been made that would cause the
Court tc believe that the cases should be postponed.

That 1s not my argument. That's the argument for the
counsel for each of the Defendants.

But I would ask the Court to find that the
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State's efforts to call Officer Porter are pretextual in
nature, they are for the purpose of obtaining a
postponement, and thrusting Officer Porter into being not
just the first case tried but the second case tried and
in the process, trampling upon his ability to ultimately
have a fair trial in the future, having been subjected to
the torture of being a witness in other cases. So for
those reasons, Your Honor, I respectfully request the
Court not grant the State's request in the three cases
where they've sought an order compelling his testimony as
a witness. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Counsel for
Miller, Nero and Rice, from my perspective, the -- I have
read what you filed. The only issue I think would be
appropriate -- I mean, the State disagrees you don't have
any standing. I disagree with that tc some degree. But
I wi1ll hear you solely on the issue -- want to be heard
on the issue of speedy trial, 1f you want to be heard on
that or not.

MS. FLYNN: Thank you, Your Honor. Catherine
Flynn on behalf of Officer Miller.

THE COURT: What's your name again, ma'am?

MS. FLYNN: That would ke Catherine Flynn, Your
Honor. )

THE COURT: Thank you, ma‘'am. Go ahead.
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MS. FLYNN: Thank you. I understand the State
has not actually formally requested a postponement, but
essentially I guess that's why I'm here on behalf of
Officer Miller.

THE COURT: Sort of.

MS. FLYNN: All right. ¢$So I want to clarify.

It's my understanding that the State's position with

@ ~J & U s W N

Officer Porter is that he's a material witness in the

9 prosecution of Officer Goodson and Sergeant White and

10 that the failure to be able to call Officer Porter

11 essentially guts the prosecution of Officer Goodson and
12 Sergeant White. That's my understanding of the State's
13 position as opposed to their position in calling Officer
14 Porter in Officer Miller's case, that they would like to
15 call Officer Porter. They may call Officer Porter. But
lée they have not i1dentified him --

17 THE COURT: It may be necessary to the public
19 interest which is straight from the statute.

19 MS. FLYNN: Yes. But they haven't identified
20 him in the same way that they did in the Goodson and
21 White case as a material witness and without him they --
22 the prosecution would be gutted of Cfficer Miller.

23 I do want to clarify that at stop two, my

24 | ‘client made a statement, and he was asked what he was

25 doing at stop two, and he indicated that he was filling
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out the tow tag which is the documentation regarding the
arrest of Mr. Gray. He indicated he never went into the
wagon and that he was outside of the wagon the entire
time.

For the sake of argument, I would proffer that
we could enter a stipulation about Officer Miller and the
seatbelt at stop two. From what I gather, Officer
Porter's testimony was that he didn't really see exactly
what was going on. And it scunds to me like the State
may want to call him to impeach him. But if the only
issue 1s whether or not Officer Miller was involved in
seatbelting Mr. Gray at stop two, if asked, I could enter
a stipulation to that fact because Officer Miller gave a
statement indicating exactly what he was doing at stop
two.

The issue about stop --

THE COURT: Well, the 1ssue that I want to hear
from you has to do with postponement.

M3. FLYNN: Okay. So the 3tate 1s saying that
they need a postponement because they want to call --
they want to try Officer Porter's case --

THE COURT: Well, 1 know why they're askinqg.

MS. FLYNN: -- first.

THE COURT: My questicon for you is are you

objecting to a postponement? You're scheduled for --
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MS. FLYNN: March 7th.

THE COURT: March 7th.

MS. FLYNN: I was contacted by the Court last
week and given that date, and we are prepared to go
forward on March 7th. We are prepared to file all of our
pretrial motions as required. What the State I think is
failing to --

THE COURT: And you're objecting to -- 1f the
Court were to grant the motion to compel, and if the
Court were to stay the case and postpone all the cases,
you're objecting to that; 1s that correct?

MS. FLYNN: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you. Next?

MS. FLYNN: If I could, Your Honor --

THE COURT: Could what?

MS. FLYNN: The State is basically saying that
without =--

THE COURT: I don't want -- again, your issue --
your purpose here is whether ycu agree or not agree with
the postpcnement request.

MS. FLYNN: I understand that, Your Honor. But
the State is saying that they need a successful
prosecution one way or another for Officer Porter --

THE COURT: I don't really care what they have '

to say abkwout that. And I'm not being funny at all.
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MS. FLYNN: Okay.

THE COURT: I don't care about that because the
issue has to do with whether they had the right to do
this and the basis for it. So I've got that.

MS. FLYNN: And certainly --

THE COURT: Thank you very much, ma'am. Ma'am,
thank you so much.

Next.

MR. ZAYON: Your Honor, thank you. Yes. 5o
obviously on behalf of Officer Nero, we would object to
any postpcnements. I'm reaffirming his right to a speedy
trial at this moment, and I would adopt all of the
arguments that Mr. Murtha has made as they apply to my
client with regard to why we are objecting to Officer
Porter even being compelled as a witness in this case.

I think I'm set for February 22nd, and there
are some scheduling issues with regard to that separate
fromm these issues. PBut I guess we can discuss that at a
later time or at this time, whatever Ycur Honor --

THE COURT: You may want to be ready to talk.

MR. ZAYON: I'm ready when the Court's ready.

THE COURT: llext.

MR. BELSKY: Good afternoon, Your Honor. On
behalf of Lieutenant Rice, we are brepared for trial. We

would assert our speedy trial rights and will tell this
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Court under the guise of speedy trial, my client is
actually suspended without pay at this point. He has
four children. He has no income coming in relative to
his police capacity. He's in hard times right now. He
has every interest in getting this case heard at a
speedy -- as speedy as possible, and we would assert our
speedy trial rights. We're ready to go to trial.

THE COURT: Thank you. You can respond.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, just very briefly to
clear up the record. When Mr. Murtha was referring to
Mr. Novak having a bird's-eye view of the arrest at stop
two, I think he meant stop one. Stop two 1s Baker and
Mount. Presbury and Mount is where the arrest took place
and where Mr. Novak was involved.

When Mr. Murtha said that Officer Gladhill and
others were at stop four, stop four was Druid Hill and
Dolphin. Officer Gladhill was not present. Officer
Porter was the only one present other than Cfficer
Goodson and I --

THE COURT: Well, stop four has nothing to do
with this, correct, because Miller, Nero and Rice weren't
Lhere. That's just involving Goodson.

ME. SCHATZOW: Well, except it involves Miller
in terms of our s2cond point. We've heard about --

people have addressed the seatbelt. Nobcdy really has
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addressed the point about where the injury took place,
and that's why stop four is relevant for Miller, Nero and
Rice because, as I point out in my letter and
according -- the Williams case and the standard jury
instruction, it's relevant to the issue of reckless
endangerment and 1t's also -- it's directly relevant,
important to the jury because 1f they didn't seatbelt at
stop two, that was the last chance to seatbelt before the
injury occurred. That's where --

THE COURT: And you're saying the injury
occurred when?

MR. SCHATZOW: Between 2:00 and 4:00, between
Baker and Mount and Dolphin Hill (sic) and Druid Avenue.

THE COURT: But you don't know where. It could
have been after stop two. It could have been after stop
three.

MR. SCHATZOW: Possibly.

THE COURT: It could have been after -- or by
stop four, correct?

MR. SCHATZOW: Could have Leen but yeah, by --

we contend it happened by stop four and after stop two.

Yes.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: And the only other thing I wanted
to respond to -- well, two other things very briefly,

410-466-2033
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Your Honor. When Mr. Murtha talks about paragraph 13 of
his papers and what Chief Judge Murphy said when he was
part of the -- speaking on behalf of the Criminal Law
Article Review Committee, it's ironic because he was
talking about a transactional immunity statute which he
said did not go far enough to provide immunity. It
wasn't constitutional because it needed to provide, in
the context of the cases he's citing to, Evans and in re
Criminal Investigations, because it didn't provide use
and derivative use. What Chief Judge Murphy 1s saying
there, and this goes to the substance, Your Honor, and so
it completely undermines Mr. Murtha's substantive
arguments because he was speaking in favor of use and
derivative use immunity, and he was equating Article 22
to Section 5. And it's right there in the notes that
Mr. Murtha references which are part of the comments to
Section 9-204.

And, you know, the point I make about stop
four, the reckless endangerment actually requires proof
that thes risky conduct could lead to a significant
injury. And we think the proof that it did lead to a
significant injury 1s such proof.

With regard to the speedy trial arguments, Tour

" Honor, I would simply point out that these cases are -- 1

think tomorrow -- I maght be off by a day or twe, but I
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think tomorrow is the eight month anniversary of when the
grand jury indictment was returned. And while the State
would love to get the cases tried quickly, and we're not
asking for some inordinate delay, and I'm sure the Court
of Special Appeals will move with what they consider to
be promptness and speed, we are not talking, you know,
we're not talking about a two-year delay. We're not
talking about putting things off for --

THE COURT: Well, what happens if after the case
comes back and you -- if I were to grant what you asked,
you try Porter, and it's the same result?

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, you know, Your Honor, 1
would say that we would have t¢o re-examine it. We
recognize that your patience is not unlimited and we
recognize that --

THE COURT: Certainly 1t as.

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, you've demonstrated 1t to
be unlimited. 1I'll say that. But I'm now trying to look
far into the future. And look, Judge, if the case were
to mis-try two cases in a row because of hung juries on
all counts, obvicusly we'd have to take a look -- a very
serious look at it. And our ability to qou back to the
wzll repeatedly tce ask for the same thing, Your Honor, is
limited by the practicalities and the fact that we all ’

live in the real world. But where we are right now, 1n
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terms of right now, we're a day short by my calculations,
although I could be off, we're a day short of being eight
months out from the indictment. That is not an
extraordinary long time. To the contrary, it's a pretty
short time in this court for cases of this magnitude.

And so I understand the Defendants are making

an objection, and I understand that that's their right to

o ~ o e W

make an objection. But I don't think that they meet the
9 four-part test for a speedy trial violation at thas

10 point, and I doubt very seriously that they will be able
11 to when the Court promptly schedules the cases in for

12 trial, 1f the Court were to grant the relief we request,

13 and the Court of Special Appeals speaks to the issue.

14 THE COURT: Thank you.
15 MR. SCHATZOW: Thank you, Your Honor.
16 THE COURT: All right. This Court is very clear

17 that the State has broad power to seek 1mmunity, and when
18 the request is pursuant to Maryland Courts and Judicial
19 Proceedings 9-123, again, as I read a number of times,

20 and the prcsecutor determines that the testimony may be
21 necessary to the public interest, the Court shall issue
22 an order requiiing the individual tco give testimony.

23 Certainly this Court found in the White case and the

24 Goodson case that 1t was appropriate based on the proffer

25 of the State.
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The State effectively argues that they don't
believe they're required to proffer anything. Of course,
that's for another day for someone to determine whether
it's a requirement or not. The Court of Special Appeals
w1ll make 1t clear. The Court of Appeals or Supreme
Court will make it clear whether there's a requirement
for the State to proffer to the Court what the
information is that they're using. Or is it simply a
matter of the Court being a rubber stamp once the
Executive Branch says we find that 1t is necessary to the
public interest that the Court is regquired to grant
immunity?

I don't believe that 1t's that simple. I think
under the circumstances presented in the White and
Goodson matter, although obviously people disagree with
the Court, based on the way it was presented I do believe
1t was appropriate. This cas2 is a little different and
may get to the same result, may not. But this 1s
different because at no point until January 13th did the
State make 1t clear that Miller, Nero and Rice would be
cases where Mr. Porter's testimony would be needed.

Mr. Schatzow indicates that they reassessed
things, and I believe that actually happened, that things
were reassessed, and they made a determination. But I

also do note that the request for immunity for Qfficer
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Porter is directly tied to the State's request to
postpone the matters until they can get a more favorable
outcome which is what both sides want. Both sides want a
favorable outcome to each of the scenarios that are
presented for Porter, Goodson, White, Miller, Nero and
Rice. So all sides are doing what they believe is
appropriate.

This Court, looking at the evidence that the
State has proffered, noting that it's for two issues, for
the seatbelt issue for Nerco, Miller and Rice and for the
place of injury. I do note that in the January 13th
letter, the State referenced that is important -- also
important is Porter's testimony.

Now one could say we're splitting hairs. Is
testimony trial testimony, or 1is testimony, a statement?
Either way, I have taken the time to go through Mr.
Porter's statement and to go through Mr. Porter's trial
testimony. And as the State pointed cut on page 39 of
his statement, Mr. Porter indicates, "I never saw them
seatbelt him again. But again" -- to page 40, says, "But
again, I didn't watch the entire ordeal."” To allow the
State to put that testimony in during a trial agsinst
Nero, Miller or Rice certainly would ke possibly
probIematic with 5-403, unfair prejudice, confusion of

the issues, misleading the 7jury or consideration of undue
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delay.

Undue delay in relationship to the time when
these cases are tried, I don't know. We have some trial
scheduled for February, that's for Nero. For Miller and
Rice, we are scheduled for March, and I do acknowledge
that the Court of Special Appeals will not come back with
its decision until obviously sometime after the arguments
which are March 4th. So I don't know when those cases
will come back.

But the State, in the manner in which it's
seeking to immunize Mr. Porter for Miller, Nero and Rice,
it does seem to this Court, candidly speaking, that it’'s
for a dual purpose: to get the postponement that they
want, to get around this Court's ruling that these cases
need to continue and possibly for the reason stated, that
Mr. Porter's testimony is relevant to the seatbelt issue
and relevant to the place of injury.

Based on the proffer that's presented by the
State and having gone through Mr. Porter's statement and
Mr. Porter's trial testimony, I don't necessarily see the
seatbelt issue playing out the way the State envisions
1t, Now does that mean that I can't grant them the
request? No. It doesn't mean that. But of course, I
have to assess it because again, I say 5-403 1s relevant

and 5-402 1s relevant.
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1 If Mr. Porter gets on the stand and testifies
2 consistent to his statement, there may be issues, there
3 may not be. I don't know. But the issue with White and
4 Goodson was a simple one, from this Court's perspective.
5 The issue here for Miller, Nero and Rice is not simple.

6 I do not believe that based on the proffer presented by
7 the State for the seatbelt issue and the place of injury,
8 the concerns that this Court has with the speedy trial

9 rights of the Defendants, the concern that this Court has
10 with the position that Mr. Porter will be placed in by

11 the request of the State and again, I guess most

12 importantly, finding that the request for immunity has

13 more to do with getting around the Court's postponement
14 request than anything else, I do not find 1t is

15 appropriate, and the request for immunity for Mr. Porter

16 for Miller, Nero and Rice is denied.

17 Thank you.

18 MR. SCHATZOW: Thank you, Your Honor.

19 MF. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honcor.

20 THE COQURT: Counsel, approach. All counsel
21 approach. Well, all --

2z MK. MURTHA: T'11 --

Z3 THE CQURT: One representative for each cne. 1
24 just want to quickly -- ’
25 MR. MURTHA: Well, actually, I should --
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THE COURT: Even you. Even you. Even you.

It's a quick question.
BENCH CONFERENCE
{Bench Conference begins - 03:18:19 p.m.)
{(The parties approach the bench where the following

ensues:)

MR. ZAYON: Should be six.

THE CQURT: Yeah. I was just checking. Is
anyone planning to respond to the motion to intervene?

MS. BLEDSOE: I can't hear him.

MR. ZAYON: I didn't hear -- the motion?

MS. BLEDSOE: I can hear --

THE COURT: Is anyone planning to respond to the
motion to intervene? I'm just curious.

FEMALE SPEAKER: Motion to what?

MS. BLEDSOE: For the media.

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh, for the media.

MALE SPEAKER: Intervening.

MS. BLEDSOE: Oh.

MALE SPEAKEKR: No.

THE COURT: Qkay. I know someone --

MAT.F SPEARER: Is --

THE COURT: -- had said they were so I --
before -- ’
MR. SCHATZOW: Mot at this peoint.
ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
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1 THE COURT: Okay. That's all I cared about.
2 You may as well stay here. No, we can do it on the
3 record. I just want to -- as far as postpone, I'm not
4 postponing anything unless -- well, I'm not so --
5 MR. ZAYON: Okay.
6 THE COURT: -- step back.
7 MR. ZAYON: Okay.
8 THE COURT: Okay.
9 THE COURT: Okay.
(Bench Conference concluded - 03:18:51 p.m.)
(The parties return to the trial tables where the
following ensues:)
THE COURT: Let's see. Excuse me one second.
BENCH CONFERENCE
(Bench Conference begins - 03:19:05 p.m.)
(A woman approaches the bench where the following
ensues:)
THE COURT: Do I have to do anything?
FEMALE VOICE: (Inaudible).
THE COURT: I did. That's what I just did. I
just don't know -- I was wondering if -- okay.
{Bench Conference concluded - 03:19:14 p.m.)
(A woman leaves the bench where the following
ensues:) -
THE COURT: All right. Anything else from any
ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
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of the parties?

MR. SCHATZOW: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MS. FLYNN: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. MURTHA: Excuse me.

THE COURT: What?

MS. FLYNN: Well, I have a trial date, and are
we going to schedule a motions --

THE COURT: Yeah. We certainly are. Your trial
is scheduled, as far as I know, and certainly the next
one up is Nero. You're after Nero, and you're after
Miller. So as far as this Court is concerned, we're
continuing.

MR. BELSKY: I hate to do this but can we --

THE COURT: I <an't hear you.

MR. BELSKY: Can we approach for one second?
I'm sorry.

THE COURT: Okay. Fine.

BENCH COMNFERENCE
(Bench Conference begins - 03:19:52 p.m.)
(The parties approach the bench where the following
ensues:)

MR. BELSKY: I apoleogize. Right now my trial is

scheduled for March 9th. I'm trying to schedule a

surgery at this point. Ms. Flynn's client 1s scheduled

410-466-2033
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to go March 7th. Am I to assume in scheduling that I'm
not going March 9th or --

THE COURT: I have no clue at this point.

MR. BELSKY: Okay.

THE COURT: Raight now, I'm -- all I'm more
concerned with -- all I'm more concerned with; that's not
even grammatically correct. I'm more concerned with
Nero's case because that's the next one up.

MR. BELSKY: Sure.

THE COURT: How certainly we'll find, after we
deal with Nero, where are we with Miller. Is it likely
that 1t will be postponed? I don't know. But I don't
know the circumstances that we find ourselves 1n so --

MR. BELSKY: Okay. Well, I can reach out.

MR. ZAYON: So let me, if I may with regard te¢
Nero, and I mean, you guys can chime in or not chime in.
I have no 1dea. But my understanding -- and 1it's fine.
I just have to get with my experts and get everything
done.

THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. ZAYON: But my understanding was always that
Nero was going after Miller. And the last time
everything was postponed, I wasn't invited to that
postponement party.

THE COURT: You sure weren't.

410-466-2032
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MR. ZAYON: But my understanding was that's just
because you didn't get to me yet, and that case was going
to be postponed.

THE COURT: And here's the issue. As I stated
from the beginning, I did not erxpect my rulaing to go to
the Court of Special Appeals. I can only speak --

MR. ZAYON: Well, none of us expected that, I
guess. So right but --

THE COURT: So we are where we are. We're
trying these cases. We're moving forward so --

MK. ZAYON: Okay. Because we've been -- are you
fine with that? I mean, I guess 1t doesn't matter if
they're fine because we --

MS. BLEDSOE: It doesn't matter what we're fine
with, clearly.

MR. ZAYON: Okay. All right.

MR. BELSKY: Why don't we all talk?

MS. BLEDSOQE: We're not calling the shots on
this one.

THE COURT: Yeah. S0 we'll see where we are.

So you'll be getting a scheduling -- got to send this out
later tonday.

MR. BELSKY: Ferhaps --

MR. ZAYON: We could save you a stamp, and you

can just hand 1t to us.
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THE COURT: No. We'll send it out. We'll get
it to you. Okay.

MR. BELSKY: Perhaps we all could talk and --

THE COURT: You all can do what you want. And I
don't mean that in a flippant way. I mean --

MS. BLEDSOE: We know what we need to do.

THE CCOURT: Right,

MS. BLEDSOE: And we'll do what we need to do.

THE COURT: And I'm sure that will happen. I'm
sure this 1s not the last I've heard of this. What a
shock.

MS. BLEDSOE: [ know, Judge.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. BLEDSOE: Is what it is.

THE COURT: Abscolutely. But this will go out
later today saying that the trial in this matter
scheduled to begin February 22nd, 2016, barring me
hearing anything from anyone who has more power than
me -- and candidly speaking, it's only a small group of
people who have more power than me on this issue -- 1f 1
hear from them, I do what they tell me to de. If I don't
hear from them, we moeve forward.

MS. BLEDSOE: Okay.

MEK. BELSKY: Thank you, You:r Horor.

MR. ZAYON: Understood. Okay.
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MS. BLEDSOE: Thank you, Your Honor.
THE COURT: All righty.
(Bench Conference concluded - 03:22:06 p.m.)
(The parties return to the trial tables where the
following ensues:)

THE COURT: Thank you everyone. Court's in
recess. You all can go. I got to clean up and also got
to stand up slowly.

(Off the record - 03:22:19 p.m.)
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TRANSCRIBER’S CERTIFICATE
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matter of State of Maryland versus Edward Michael Nero,
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Maryland versus Alicia White, Case Number 115141036,
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2016, was recorded on digital media with video.

I hereby certify that the proceedings herein
contained were transcribed by me or under my direction.
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best of my ability and constitutes the official
transcript thereof.
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STATE OF MARYLAND ... .* .  INTHE
T CIRCUIT COURT FOR
v. . BALTIMORE CITY
. CASE No. 115141035
BRIAN RICE .
* * * * * * * * * * * * *

TATE’S MO
Now comes the State of Maryland, by and through Marilyn J. Mosby, the State’s

Attomey for Baltimore City. Michael Schatzow, Chief Deputy State’s Attomey for Baltimore
City: Janice L. Bledsoe, Deputy State's Attomey for Baltimore City; and Matthew Pillion,
Assistant State’s Attomey for Baltimore City; and pursuant to the Court’s inherent power
requests that this Court 1ssue a stay of the above-captioned proceedings pending resolution of the
appeal filed by the State on February 4, 2016, from the final judgment of this Court entered on
January 20, 2016, denying the State’s Motion to Compel a Witness to Testify Pursuvant to Section
9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Anticle (“CJP" hereinafter).
L Summary of Argument

Despite the Court’s good mtentions in seeking to avoid delay of the Defendant’s trial, the
Court’s denial of the State’s Motion to Compel Officer William Porter’s testimony ran contrary
to the plain language of CJP § 9-123 and to the Legislature’s intent in enacting the immunity
statute. It also violated separation of powers principles by appropriating to the Judiciary a
discretionary power granted to the Executive Branch. The State is now appealing these errors
given their ramifications on the State’s ability to prosecute this and other cases here and
throughout the State. As outlined below and previously argued, this Court had no authority to
engage in judicial review of the State’s Attommey’s vested exercise of lawful discretion in
determining that Officer Porter’s testimony may be necessary to the public interest in the State's

prosecution of the Defendant for his role in the fatal arrest and custodial transportation of Mr.
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Freddie Gray. Instead, this Court had only the power to verify that the State’s Motion to Compel
complied with the procedural and pleading requirements of Section 9-123. Upon finding such
compliance, the Court was required to follow the mandate of the Legislature and issue the
immunity order,

Though the Court has disagreed with the State's assessment of the statute’s mechanics,
the State’s arguments about Section 9-123’s power distribution are strong. Moreover. the Court
acted without any express authority or guidance on this issue from either of Maryland's appellate
courts—and in the face of overwhelming precedent from other jurisdictions. If, as the State
firmly maintains, this Court was, in fact, wrong in its denial of the State’s Motion to Compel, to
deny the State any meaningful opportunity for appellate review of that decision would
potentially result in a miscarriage of justice in the Defendant’s trial. The People of this State
deserve that opportunity, and this Court has always demonstrated a commitment to giving both
the Defendant and the People a fair trial. That commitment now requires allowing a higher court
to review this Court’s decision before moving forward in this case. As such, this Court should
exercise a discretionary power it unquestionably possesses—the power to stay the proceedings
pending the State’s appeal.

I1. Background

On January 14, 2016, the State filed in the above-captioned case a Motion to Compel a
Witness to Testify Pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article. The
witness in question was Officer William Porter. The State’s Motion, submitted and signed by
the State’s Attorney herself, averred that the State may call Officer Porter to testify against the
Defendant and set forth her determinations that Officer Porter’s testimony may be necessary to

the public interest and that he is likely to refuse to testify on the basis of his privilege against
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self-incrimination given his similar refusal to testify in the related cases of State v. Caesar
Goodson (No. 115141032) and State v. Alicia White (No. 115141036).

On January 15, 2016, the Defendant filed an Opposition to the State’s Motion to Compel.
The Defendant attacked the State’s Motion as lacking an explanation of “why Officer Porter is
either necessary or material to the trial of Defendant Rice or how it is necessary to serve the
public interest.” Def. Opp. at 1. The Defendant argued that Officer Porter’s testimony is, in fact,
not necessary to the public interest based on his assessment of the State’s reasons for filing the
motion and his view of the motion’s effect on both his and Officer Porter’s constitutional rights.
Def. Opp. at 2-3. As such, he urged the Court to deny the motion. Likewise, on January 19,
2016, Officer Porter filed an Opposition to the State’s Motion in which he too requested that the
Court deny the State’s Motion on grounds that the Court should find that compelling his
teshmony would not be necessary to the public interest and would violate his pnvilege against
self-incrimination. Def. William Porter’s Opp. at 8.

On the moming of January 20, 2016, the State filed a Response to the Defendant’s
Opposition, arguing that Section 9-123 granted neither the underlying defendant nor the witness
standing to make such objections to the State’s request for a grant of immunity and that under the
plain terms of that statute, this Court lacked the discretion to deny a motion to compel
immunized testimony when presented with a motion that complied with the statute’s procedural
requirements. Because the State’s Motion to Compel unquestionably did comply with Section 9-
123, the State urged this Court to follow the statute’s mandates and 1ssue the order to compel
Officer Porter’s testimony under a grant of use and derivative use immunity.

On the afternoon of January 20, 2016, this Court conducted a hearing on the State's

Motion to Compel. At that hearing, the State repeated the arguments presented in its Response.
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Nevertheless, the Court considered objections from both Officer Porter and the Defendant and
then required the Chief Deputy State’s Attorney to explain in open court the reasons that
prosecutors believed that Officer Porter’s testimony may be necessary to the public interest.
Though the State maintained that such a judicial inquiry was improper under Section 9-123 and
separation of powers principles, the Chief Deputy explained that the State sought to elicit from
Officer Porter testimony regarding two important aspects of the charges against the Defendant.
Consequently, the State’s Attorney had determined that such testimony may be necessary to the
public interest. The Court then made its own determination that granting him immunity would
not be in the public interest, irrespective of the State’s Attomey’s contrary determination as
properly pled in her Motion to Compel, and the Court denied the Motion. From this denial, the

State filed a Notice of Appeal on February 4, 2016.

erroneous denial of the State's Mo to Co! to aveid a miscarriage of justice
A. Denying the State’s request for a stay would impermissibly frustrate an appellate court's
bili

Pending appellate review of this Court’s denial of the State’s Motion to Compel Officer
Porter, the State requests that the Court issue a stay of the proceedings. This Court has the full
power to issue such a stay and has granted one in the related case of Stare v. Alicia White (No.
115141036). As the Court of Appeals has described, when such an appeal is taken, “the trial
court retains 1ts ‘fundamental junisdiction’ over the cause, but its right to exercise such power
may be interrupted by . . . a stay granted by an appellate court, or the trial court itself, in those
cases where a permutted appeal is taken from an interlocutory or final judgment.” Pulley v. State,

287 Md. 406, 417 (1980). Though this Court retains “fundamental jurisdiction” over this
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proceeding, the Court of Appeals has also held that “the propriety of the exercise of that
jurisdiction” is a separate matter. In re Emileigh F., 355 Md. 198, 202 (1999). In that regard,
“[a)fier an appeal is filed, a trial court may not act to frustrate the actions of an appellate court,”
and *“[pJost-appeal orders which affect the subject matter of the appeal are prohibited.” /d. at
202-03; see also State v. Peterson. 315 Md. 73, 82, n.3 (1989) (“We think that a trial court
ordinarily should not proceed with a hearing (when a writ of certiorari has been issued], thereby
mooting an issue before an appellate court.”); accord Jackson v. State, 358 Md. 612, 620 (2000)
(While “a circuit court is not divested of fundamental jurisdiction to take post-judgment action 1n
a case merely because an appeal is pending from the judgment,” *{w]hat the court may nor do is
to exercise that jurisdiction in a manner that affects either the subject matter of the appeal or the
appellate proceeding itself—that, in effect, precludes or hampers the appellate court from acting
on the matter before it.”) (emphasis in original). Were this Court to order that the Defendant’s
trial will not be stayed and that the State must proceed to trial without the testimony of Officer
Porter, such an order would unquestionably frustrate the actions of an appellate court, effectively
mooting the State’s appeal and preventing any further review of this Court’s denial of the Motion

to Compel.

Moreover, a decision by this Court not to stay the proceedings would cause irreparable
harm to the State’s ability to prosecute this case at no commensurate gain to Officer Porter or the
Defendant. Indeed, Officer Porter, the appellee in the appeal. will not be affected by a stay.
Despite the State’s request to schedule his retrial soon after the December mistrial and before
trial of the related cases, Officer Porter’s retrial was set for June 13, 2016, due to the asserted

unavailability of his counsel prior to that date. Consequently, the State’s appeal should be
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resolved by then. Regarding the Defendant, he will not be a party to this appeal. As such,
granting the stay would cause the Defendant to lose only a legally insignificant short amount of
time awaiting resolution of the appeal before starting his trial.' On the other hand. denying the
stay would cost the State a valuable witness in its case. Officer Porter would provide key
evidence regarding the Defendant’s alleged misconduct and his alleged recklessness. Once the
jury has been sworn in the Defendant’s trial. however, the State will be foreclosed from seeking
any meaningful remedy to this Court's denial of the Motion to Compel. If the Defendant were
acquitted after a trial without Officer Porter’s testimony, the damage would be done and could
not be undone.

A stay would obviate the risk of such a potentially unfair result, a risk made all the more
compelling given the public interest that abounds in this matter. At stake here is not only the
outcome of one of the most high-profile criminal trials in Maryland history but also the very
fiber of our State’s constitutional separation of powers. This Court’s denial of the Motion to
Compel has deprived proseculors of both a valuable witness in this case and also an
indispensable prosecutorial ool that the Legislature provided to them over twenty-five years ago.
Whether this Court’s ruling is correct or whether the State’s view is proper is a question which
an appellate court should be permitied to timely answer. The public interest deserves no less,

particularly in light of the strong merits of the State's case on appeal.

! Even assuming that granting a stay would result in a tnal delay of several months, the Defendant was 1ndicted less
than nine months ago and so would stll come to trial on a date that would barely be sufficient to even tngger a
legstmate speedy tnal challenge, much less actually depnve the Defendant of that right given the complexity of the
1ssues in this case. See Glover v. State, 386 Md. 211, 223 (2002) (“While no specific Juration of delay constitules a
per se delay of constitutional dimension, we have employed the proposiuson that a pre-trial delay greater than one
year and fourteen days was ‘presumptively prejudicial’ on several occasions ™) (internal citations omtted),

6
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The merits of the State’s appeal will tumn on the question of whether CJP § 9-123 requires
a court to order compelled, immunized witness testimony after verifying that the statutory
pleading requirements of the prosecutor’s motion to compel have been met, or whether the
statute instead permits a court to substitute its own discretion and judgment as to whether
compelling the witness's testimony may be necessary to the public interest such that the court
may deny a prosecutor’s motion to compel even if the motion otherwise complies with the
pleading requirements of the immunity statute. By its terms, CJP § 9-123 squarely answers this
question, vesting the decision about whether to seek immunity for a witness squarely within a
prosecutor’s discretion and granting a court only the role of confirming that the prosecutor’s
pleadings are procedurally compliant and then issuing the immunity order as statutorily
prescnbed. In relevant part, § 9-123 states:

(c) Order requiring testimony. --
(1) If an individual has been, or may be, called to testify or provide other
information in a criminal prosecution or a proceeding before a grand jury
of the State, the court in which the proceeding is or may be held shall
issue, on the request of the prosecutor made in accordance with
subsection (d) of this section, an order requiring the individual to give
testimony or provide other information which the individual has refused to
give or provide on the basis of the individual's privilege against self-
incrimination.
(2) The order shall have the effect provided under subsection (b) of this
section.
(d) Prerequisites for order. -- If a prosecutor secks to compel an individual to
testify or provide other information, the prosecutor shall request, by written
motion, the court to issue an order under subsection (c) of this section when the
prosecutor determines that:
(1) The testimony or other information from the individual may be
necessary to the public interest; and
(2) The individual has refused or 1s likely to refuse to testify or provide
other information on the basis of the individual's privilege against self-
incrimination.
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Cts. & Jud. Proc. Art. § 9-123(c)(d) (2015) (emphasis added). This language leaves no
ambiguity about the prosecutor’s and the judge’s respective roles—the prosecutor makes the
discretionary determination of the public's interest and then requests immunized testimony,
while the judge determines only the request’s accordance with the statute and then orders
immunized testimony. Nowhere does this language permit the court to inquire into the
prosecutor’s decision-making, nor does the statute allow the subject of the immunity request or
the underlying defendant to object to the manner in which the prosecution has exercised its
discretion. The court has no discretion to deny a prosecutor’s immunity request properly pled
under subsection {d).

The history of § 9-123 confinms that this plain language achieves precisely the result that
the legislature intended. As described by the House of Delegates, the immumty statute was
intended

FOR the purpose of authorizing certain prosecutors in certain circumstances to

file a written motion for a court order compelling a witness to testify, produce

evidence, or provide other information; specifying the effect of the order;

prohibiting testimony or other evidence compelled under the order or certain
information derived from the compelled testimony or evidence from being used
against the witness except under certain circumstances; requiring a cour( under
certain circumstances to issue an order requiring a witness to testify or provide

other information upon request by a prosecutor; establishing procedures for

enforcement of an order to testify or provide other information; defining certain

terms; and generally relating to immunity for witnesses in proceedings before a
court or grand jury.

1989 Md. Laws, Ch. 289 (H.B. 1311) (emphasis added). The phrase “requiring a court™ does not
equate with “allowing a court”; rather, the Legislature’s purpose was to create a mandatory
judicial action.

Moreover, a formal Position Paper contained within the legislative history bill file for HB

1311 similarly describes the procedural mechanism of the proposed new immunity statute:
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By far the most significant changes provided by the proposed statute are
procedural.  [mmunity would no longer be conferred automatically or
accidentally, but rather only through court order. To ensure coordinated,
responsible requests for immunity, the decision to seek a court order requires
approval by the State's Attorney, Attomey General, or State Prosecutor. The
State’s Attomey, Attorney General, or State Prosecutor will thereby have central
control and ultimate responsibility for the issuance of grants of immunity.

The judicial role under this statute is ministerial. The judge verifies that:

1. The State’s Attorney, Attorney General, or State Prosecutor has
approved the request for an immunity order;
2. The witness has refused or is likely to refuse to testify;
3. The prosecutor has determined that the witness's testimony may be
necessary to be the public interest [sic].

Once the judge concludes these three requirements are met. he issues a court
order compelling testmony and immunizing the witness.

The Judge will not himself determine whether the witness's testimony may
be necessary to the public interest. To do so would transform the Judge into a
prosecutor and require him to make delicate prosecutorial judgments which are
inappropriate. Furthermore, a particular immunity grant may be a very small
aspect to a large scale investigation, making it impossible for the judge to make
any meaningful evaluation of the public interest.

Position Paper on HB 1311, Witness Immunity, 8-9, 1989 Reg. Sess. (1989) (emphasis added)
(attached as State’s Exhibit 1).2

Additionally, the legislature’s Division of Fiscal Research submitted a Fiscal Note for
House Bill 1311, summarizing the proposed immunity statute as follows:

SUMMARY OF LEGISLATION: This amended bill provides for the granting of
‘use’ immunity to witnesses compelled to testify regarding a criminal matter.
Specifically, if a witness refuses to testify on a criminal matter, on the grounds of
privilege against self-incrimination, the Court may compel the witness (o testify
or provide information by issuing a court order to that effect. The court order
would only be granted upon the written request of the prosecutor, who has found
that the testimony or information of a witness may be necessary to the public
interest, and that the testimony or information would not be forthcoming absent
the order.

! The Posiion Paper bears no author but was contained within the microfilm legislatrve bill history for HB 1311 on
fite at the Library of the Department of Legislauve Services in Annapohs

9

E. 175



Criminal prosecution would be allowed against the witness for the crimes that

were testified about; such testimony, however, would not be ‘used’ against the

witness in any criminal case except those involving the failure to comply with the

Court’s order.

Md. Gen. Assembly Div. of Fiscal Research, Fiscal Note Revised for H.B. 1311, 1989 Reg. Sess.
(Apr. 4, 1989) (emphasis supplicd) (attached as State’s Exhibit 2).

These materials make clear that the General Assembly intended CJP § 9-123 to grant to
the Executive Branch the sole power to determine whether giving a witness immunity would in
fact be in the public interest and to authorize the Judiciary to serve only the ministerial role of
supervising the procedure of granting immunity. Consequently, this Court's attempt—however
well intentioned—to limit and appropriate to itself the prosecutor’s statutorily vested immunity
authority violated Maryland’s separation of powers principles. See Md. Dec! of Rights, Art. 8
(“the Legislative, Executive, and Judicial powers of Government ought to be forever separate
and distinct from each other . . . ."). This plain language and legislative history analysis of CJP §
9-123 by itself makes clear that the State will prevail on the merits of its appeal from this Court’s
denial of the Motion to Compel.

While Maryland’s appellate courts have yet to construe CJP § 9-123°s division of power.
the statute’s legislative history suggests that another ready source of guidance lies in federal law.
As the Position Paper on HB 1311 correctly noted at the time § 9-123 was being considered,
“[t)he proposed statute is based substantially on the federal immunity statutes: 18 U.S.C. §§
6001-04 (1985).” Position Paper, supra at 2. Thal federal statutory scheme provides in relevant
part:

§ 6003. Court and grand jury proceedings

(a) In the case of any individual who has been or may be called to testify or

provide other information at any proceeding before or ancillary to a court of the

United States or a grand jury of the United States, the United States district court
for the judicial district in which the proceeding is or may be held shall issue, in

10
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accordance with subsection (b) of this section, upon the request of the United

States attorney for such district, an order requiring such individual to give

testimony or provide other information which he refuses to give or provide on the

basis of his pnvilege against self-incrimination, such order to become effective as

provided in section 6002 of this title [18 USCS § 6002).

(b) A United States attorney may, with the approval of the Attorney General, the

Deputy Attomey General, the Associate Attormey General or any designated

Assistant Attomey General or Deputy Assistant Attomey General. request an

order under subsection (a) of this section when in his judgment--

(1) the testimony or other information from such individual may be

necessary to the public interest; and

(2) such individual has refused or is likely to refuse to testify or provide

other information on the basis of his privilege against self-incrimination.
18 U.S.C. § 6003 (emphasis added). This provision uses a materially 1dentical procedure as that
outlined in CJP § 9-123, and federal courts have amassed a substantial body of law construing
this provision’s distribution of power between the court and the prosecutor in a manner that
strongly indicates that the State will prevail on appeal.

At the foundation of these federal precedents lies the Supreme Court’s construction of a
predecessor immunity statute in Ullmann v. United States, 350 U.S. 422 (1956). There the
Supreme Court considered the question of whether a witness could properly request a judge to
deny an immunity application that otherwise comported with the statutory pleading prerequisites,
which at the time required an averment that “in the judgment of a United States Attorney, the
testimony of [the] witness . . . is necessary to the public interest” and also required that the
United States Attorney obtain “the approval of the Attommey General” before making an
application to the court. J/d. at 423-424. The Government argued “that the court has no
discretion to determine whether the public interest would best be served by exchanging
immunity from prosecution for testimony [and] that its only function is to order a witness to
testify if it determines that the case is within the framework of the statute.” Id. at 431. The

Supreme Court agreed that *“(a] fair reading of [the immunity statute] does not indicate that the

11
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district judge has any discretion to deny the order on the ground that the public interest does not
warrant it”; rather, the court's “duty under [the statute] is only to ascertain whether the statutory
requirements are complied with by [prosecutors).” /d. at 432-34 (emphasis supplied).

After Congress enacted the procedurally similar present-day immunity scheme, the
federal Circuit Courts of Appeal have uniformly construed those provisions in accordance with
Ullmann. For example, In re Kilgo, 484 F.2d 1215 (4™ Cir 1973), involved an appellant who had
been held in contempt after refusing to testify despite being immunized and compelled under the
federal immunity statute. He claimed, in part, “that the immunity order, on which the contempt
citation rest{ed), [was] invalid [because] neither he nor the court was apprised of the basis of the
United States Attorney’s conclusion that his testimony was necessary 1o the public interest . . . .”
fd. at 1217. The Fourth Circuit found no merit in this contention, explaining

No case interpreting the public interest provision of the 1970 Act [enacting the
immunity scheme] has been called to our attention. However, cases construing
analogous requirements in earlier immunity statutes establish that the district
court is not empowered to review the United States Attorney's judgment that the
testimony of the witness is necessary to the public interest. The leading case is
Ullmann v. United States, 350 U.S. 422, 100 L. Ed. 511, 76 S. Ct. 497 (1956),
which construed the Immunity Act of 1954 [18 U.S.C. § 3486] dealing with grand
Jury mnquiries involving national security. That Act also limited grants of
immunity to witnesses whose testimony, in the judgment of the United States
attorney, was necessary to the public interest. The Court, recognizing the potential
constitutional question that would arise if the judiciary reviewed the merits of
immunity, construed the statute to withhold from the district court ‘any discretion
to deny the order on the ground that the public interest does not warrant it.” 350
US. at 432. It held that the function of the district court was limited to
ascertaimng whether the application complied with the statutory requirement --
that is, had the United States attorney certified that in his judgment the testimony
of the witness was in the public interest. [...] The drafters of the 1970 Act left no
doubt that the construction given to the public interest provision in previous
immunity acts was to be applied to § 6003, and the legislative history confirms
the limited role of the court. Because the Act does not authorize the district court
to review the United States attorney’s judgment that the testimony of the witness
may be necessary to the public interest, no evidence pertaining to this judgment
need be offered.
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E. 178



Id. at 1218-19.

Similarly, the Third Circuit described the procedural operation of the federal immunity
statutes in In re Grand Jury Investigation, 486 F.2d 1013, 1016 (3" Cir. 1973), saying, “{u]nder
the language of [18 U.S.C. § 6003) the judge is required to issue the order when it is properly
requested by the United States Attorney,” and “[h]e is given no discretion to deny it.” Likewise,
the First Circuit in /n re Lochiatto, 497 F.2d 803, 805 (1* Cir. 1974), construed § 6003 in
accordance with Ullmann as using language that “does not indicate that the district judge has any
discretion to deny the order on the ground that the public interest does not warrant it.”” Accord In
re Maury Santiago. 533 F.2d 727, 728-29 (1* Cir. 1976) (“The U.S. Attomey filed a letter from a
proper official of the Justice Department authorizing him to request immunity for Maury. He
stated 1n open court that Maury's testimony was, in his opinion, necessary to the public interest.
The judgment of the U.S. Attorney is unreviewable in this matter . . . and we see no reason to
require that this representation be put in affidavit form.”); United States v. Levya, 513 F.2d 774,
776 (5™ Cir. 1975) (holding that the witness was not entitled to notice and a hearing before an
immunity order is granted and construing that “since the court's duties in granting the requested
order are largely ministerial, when the order 1s properly requested the judge has no discretion to
deny it.””); Urasaki v. United States District Court, 504 F.2d 513, 514 (9" Cir. 1974) (“In passing
upon an immumty application, the district court is confined to an examination of the application
and the documents accompanying it for the purpose only of deciding whether or not the
application meets the procedural and substantive requirements of the authorizing statute. [...)
Adversary procedure is not a part of the legislative scheme in connection with the district court’s
performance of its limited duties in granting or denying the application for immunity.”). Lastly,

in Ryan v. Commissioner, 568 F.2d 531, 541 (7" Cir. 1977), the Court rejected an appellant’s
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claim that an immunity order was invalid because the record “did not contain facts showing that
the prosecutor had any basis for making the judgment that the grant of immunity would be in the
public interest.” As the Court explained, “[shince that judgment is entirely a matier for the
executive branch, unreviewable by a court, there is no need for the record to contain any facts
supporting the decision of the United States Attomey.” /d.

In addition to this guidance from the federal courts, the New Jersey Supreme Court has
squarely considered the propriety of the judiciary questioning a prosecutor’s decision that there
exists a public need to grant immunity to a witness. In In re Tuso, 376 A.2d 895 (N.J. 1977). the
appellant was a lawyer who had been subpoenaed to testify before a grand jury considering an
indictment. When the lawyer asserted his privilege against self-incrimination, the New Jersey
Attomey General petitioned the court to compel his testimony under New Jersey’s similar use
and derivative use immunity statute, which provides that upon such a petition “the court shall so
order and that person shall comply with the order.” Jd. at 896. Before the court could rule on
that petition, a different state grand jury indicted the lawyer on charges involving the same
subject matter as the testimony that the Attoey General sought to compel. /d. When the court
nevertheless granted the petition and ordered the lawyer to testify, the lawyer appealed to New
Jersey’s intermediate Appellate Division, which reversed the trial court’s order as improper. /d.
“The principal basis for the conclusion of the Appellate Division was that the State did not need
the information it was seeking from Tuso” because the “Attorney General conceded at oral
argument he had sufficient information for an indictment against D'Anastasio but wanted Tuso’s
testimony to assure a conviction.” /d. at 896-97. Moreover, though the “Appellate Division
conceded that the federal cases uniformly construe the parallel federal immunity statute to

withhold any discretionary right in the court to deny an order to testify when the prosecuting
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officer has met the prerequisites of the statute . . . the Appellate Division felt the federal cases
were not authoritative where the order sought was ‘basically unfair, inequitable or totally
unnecessary.’” Id. at 896.

On subsequent appeal to New Jersey’s highest court, the Attomey General challenged the
Appellate Division’s intrusion into his authority, and the Supreme Court agreed with his
position. In reversing the Appellate Division, the Supreme Court explained regarding the state’s
immunity scheme:

(1]t is clear that the statute cited above delegates the function of determining need

in such a situation to the Attorney General (or prosecutor, with the approval of the

Attoney General), not the court. conformably with the duty of that officer to

attend to the enforcement of the criminal laws. Upon request by the Attorney

General, the statute directs that the court ‘shall’ order the witness to testify. [. . .]

Id. at 896 (emphasis supplied).

In summation, on the question of the State’s likehhood to prevail here on appeal as it
bears on the issue of whether to grant a stay of the proceedings, every source of authority—from
CJP § 9-123’s plain text and legislative history to its federal corollary’s extensive appellate
construction—demonstrates that this Court erred in replacing the State’s Attomey’s
determination of the public interest with its own and that the State will prevail on appeal
accordingly. The clear intent of the Legislature was that the Executive Branch, not the Judiciary,

should have the discretion to determine whether a particular witness's testimony may be

necessary to the public interest under Maryland’s general immunity statute.

Wherefore, the State requests that this Court grant the State’s Motion to Stay Proceedings

Pending Appeal.
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PRITUN rArI R
NHINESS maNgry
V. INTROOICT Iy
A. the Problem

There are basleally iwp types of Imminity: teansac
vse and derivative usc bmmunity (hereinafrer ~

ttonal and

use immnity"),
Transactionat immunity meang that once a wilness has been
Rrosecuted for offenges arising out of Lhat ttausacllgn even §[
lndeecndent evidence of the gllgngsggl -- {rom & source other
than the witness -. comes to light. (ge Immunity, » shorthand
lerm for yse and derivative use Iomunity, means that once o

wilness has beep compe o testlf: about an ﬂlli"iﬁl Relther
Lhat Lestimony nor any evidence derived from that lestlmoug may
be vsed againse the witness, gf independent evidence 1g

discovered, or hat been preserved, the w incss lheoretleally nay
stilt be pProsecuted for the offense,

Obviously, In situations Ip which ingy
crimina} sctiviry I necessary In order to

able alternatives
when only transact iong) immoniwy §g avallable,
For example, Assume 8 scenario fn which » RAFcotics newmork
I runctlo-lng eflectlvely with » blerareny in which the firsy
echelon leader s » Prosperous, "whiqe cotlar”
has never been convicted of » crime, That Individusl, who we can
refer 1o as “Kingpin~, pProvides the capita) hCCessSary to purchnse
the narcoties which |g disiributed 1o users. e mever has his
hand on the farcotics amd enters only jato €ash transactlons.
Kingpin, however, relies uwpon 3 Certifled pubilc ACvount (“A%)

| who monitors the actual narcotics teafficking

pProfessiona) who

network (*p~),

Kingpin Ay never be successfully Prosecuted withnut
informat jon from “A" of "8". There may not be enough ovidence
ARAIngt "A* op wp~ 1o prosccute them for (heir fole 1n the
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calispriiadey .

A resourcelul prosecestor, who could be investigating hingpin
far nmrcetics violations or criminal viclations of the Insome 1ax
1l would subpocns A" of 0" belfore the ppand jury at which
time “A" and “H” wounld invoke thelr privilege angainst scifl-
inmrimination., Under the present law, the prosccutor wounld then
face the difcrma of baving to glve "A" or “B" transactional
imnunity or 8 tolal exemplion from 11abil ity for thelr
misdreds. "A" of "8", then, cowld concelvably notl be proscculcd
for thelr role in the consplracy on cliher the state or federal
tesel. 11 granted tramsactional I-uﬁnlty. they also conccivably
may notl Incur clvil llablility for thelr Involvement. “A* or "H"
concelvably may not Incur clvil tax {1abllity 1n the fosrm of
penalties and "A® conceivably may not face professional
discepline §n the form of liconse svspension of rcvocation by his
prolessional licensing authorlity., To permit "A™ or "H” to ualk
away from thelr misdceds would truly be a miscarriage of jusiice,

B. The Rcsolution

The resolution of the dilemma s to provide the prosecutar
‘&1h use ‘mmualty to permit Lhe prosecutor to bulld a Lax
prosecution case against Kingpin by lewmunlzing "A" from the use
of "A's” teslimony against him, or & sarcotllcs case by ronunizing
“8" from the use of hig testimony agatasl him, “A" and "B" could
still be prosecuted for thelr lavolvement In the conspiracy,
rould sti)) be forced (0 pay civil tax peaaltles and “A" could
$1111 be subject Lo discipiine on A professiona) basis.,
Certainly, consideration of appropriate sanctlions against "A" and
“B" should and must nclude al) possibilitics geven Che magnitude
of Ltheir involvement in the crime.

5. PROPOSED GENERAL INMNITY STAIUTE

The proposed statute 13 basced subdstantially on the fcdcral
utunity Stetlules: 18 U.S.C. §6600)-04 (1985). Changes made 1n
the language are primarfly those reguired hy the differences
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between the organszatranal stencture of Jaw enforcement agescies

in the fedeanl and siate systoms,
1he proposed genceal imminily statute differs substantively

fromn existing Marylond statuies In three ways:

1. 1t provides for use and derivative use insieand of
transactional losunity:

2. 1t I3 geneenlly avaliable rather than limlted (o
specifilc crimes;

3. 1t hag byllt-in procedural safeguards which must be

complicd wilh prior to s wiitizration. Generally, the prescat
statulcs operate automatlcally.

The proposed Immunity slatule would replace the (mmunity
provislions for speciflic crimes. Prgsenlly, Maryland bas separate
Immunitly provisions for the (ollowiag crimes: Article 27, §23,
Aribery of Public Ofticials:!/ Acticle 27, §24, Rribery of
Athlctic Participants; Article 27, §9, Conspiracy to Commid
Btlbely.i’ Cembling or Lottery Violatlons; Article 27, §298,

Controlled Dangerous Substances; Article 27, §262, Gambllag;

Article 27, §371, l.o‘tery Viotations; Article 27, §400, Selling
Liquor Lo Minors; Article 27, §540, Ssbotage Prevention; Article
33, §268-18, Election Irregularities;: Filnanclal Institutions §9-

Yarticie 111, 850 of tne Contlitution of Maryland requires
the General Assembly Lo adopt & bribery statule conferring
transcat ional Immunity. Article 27, §523 and 39 4rc Lhe respunse
Lo the mandate. Consequently, absent & constitut lonal amendncnt,
Inmunity for bribery must continue Lo be “transactional™ as
opposed to the more limited "use and derivatllive use” imnunity.

2/ Transact ignal imnunity for consplracy 1o conmit hraihery
Alsu would not be affected since It/ has constitutional overtones

3.
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B, Savangs and Foan Frosecntion, ¥
TI1, BASES LOR USE IWVREN )Y

A, Jegal Dagls far ive lemmunity

In 1892, the Supreme Court held vaconstitutlonal o federnt
inmunity statwle which barred the Introduction of compelled
testimony but permittcd It to be used Lo lacate olher
evldcnce.{’ The Courl reasoned -- correctly -- that such
derlvative use of the talnted evidence rendered the hmmnity
meaningless. Nut rother than simply statieg that the
Constitution required derivative use Inmunity; b.e,, lusnunity
from both the Introduction of cumpelied testimony and
ecxploltation of the testimony to find Jeads, the opinion spoke In
broad language which secmed to cequire Lransactional hununity.
Consequently, Congress enacted a ltaisacllnnnl Ineunity statute
which was ypheld by the Swpreme Courl.?’ and which herame Lhe
mode) for state legisiation, | 970, Congress repealed the
_t_unsactloaal jomunily sututesmﬁm
slatute, 18 U.5.C. §§6001-04 (1970). \Whea the Supreme Court
revicwed the new statwie, It held that the transactional lnmunily
language in Cownselman which had been relied on for almnst one
hundred years wos dicta. Thus, the Court held Lhat the new
statute which bars the wse and derivative wse of information
oblalned under & grant of Immunity provides the protect lon
Zequired by the FiELh Amcndment %

Maryland's transactional immwnity statules, like the federal

Y immunity in the savings and loan 31tuation would femin
tho seame since (he duration of the Inemunity accorded to the
investigation of Lhe pending matiers would be |imited Lo one s
exlension of the sumset provisions.

Counseiman v. Nitchcork, 142 U.S. 547 (1AD2).

nrown v. Walker, 161 U.S. $91 (1896).

$/kastigar v. United States. 406 U.S. 441 (1972),

-4
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emnn ity statules repealed an 1970, are based apon an inaertaet
tnletpretation of the (A9 decaslon, 1t Is nem elear that wse

immnaly will mect conntitutional requicements. Ataryland s Launs
are, therelfoare, cutdated,

B. Practical Bases for Use Inmunlly

In addition to providiag the possibllity that » witness
glven use lwsunily may be seubject Lo subsequent prosecution (or
his criminal activily, f.e., the Ollver Norih prosccution, nnd
would be subject Lo collateral conscquences, use immunlly
provides (or more complete disclosure of cevidence than
transactional (mmunity. As Professor G. Robert Blakely stated at
the 1974 Seminar of the National Assoclistions of Altorneys
Ceneral:

With transactional immunity all the witness
has 10 do Is meation the Lransaction; he docs
nol have to fi11 in the detalls. So his
attorney can teli him to Just mention §t, and
then say, "1 don't remember.” Bul with a
“"ute™ statlule, & smart stiorney advises his
client to tell all he knows, because the more
he tells, the less can be Iater used agninst
him. So "wse” statutes encourage fuller
discloswre by witncsses, and Lhat Is what they
are really all about.

As » rceuit, individuals testifying under o grant of vse wmunity
M3ve greater reason to disclose thelr involvement.?/

Furtber, & general immunity siatule, lastead of the preaent
patchmork guile of immunity siatuies (or particular crimes, would
likewlse be more conduclve (o ful) disclosure of cvidence by an
Immunized witness. Often teslimony about a drug transaction will
encompass other crimes, such as violations of criminal tax
statutes. Under Lhe present system, a wiitness subpeonaed to
testify pwrswant 1o (he Immunity provistons of Article 27, §298

"/ancther Lransactional of use witness inmunity docs nat
prr:lude prosecution for perjury ofr making fatse statements wnder
tdth,
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(Centrol bed Dangeraus Sabrtam en) mny ot fefuse 10 testaly

et aune test lwony regarding the contrelted dapgecaus salislanees
transaction weuld stmnltancously mplicate bim 0 (he commissron
of other erinneg, ¢.g., 18K prtjury." Yet this cirommianee
presents the possibidity of a trap fur 1RC UnmAry prosecuter
inguirlng into drug violatives and Iaadvertently granting
trancactional immunity for sume previously unknown criminal
activity.

Further, there are no proccedural safcguards in the present
Immwnlty statutes and consequenlly thelr operation Is triggered
hapharucdly, without identification of when a witness heglns 10
recelve smmunitly. The statules also provide an “automotic
imnunity bath®. Across the natlon,? witneszes subpocnacd hefore
the grand Jury wust cither assert the privilege against self.
Inctimination of clse notify the prosccutor that 1t Is their
inteantion 10 do s0. ‘The prosecutor then asks the court to order
testimony and certifics that the immunity conferred theeeby is in
the publlc intcrest. This Is the procedure sel out in this
proposed statute and is Lhe procedure Incorporated in the
tecently adopted savings and loam imnity legislation. In sharp
contrast, most prescat Maryland statutes inmunize cveryone whu
ANsecis questlions In the grand jnty.'q/ No nsscrtion of the
Bflvilege Is required, nor |s there any fequircment of a
certification that the ismunity Is In the public intcrest. fhe
uncertainty of when the statute Is applicable, couplcd with the
bianket awtomatic transactlional immunity bath, makes Maryland
innunity statutes bolh haphasard and dangerous. Unless a

8/yn re: Ceiminal Investigation No. 1-162, 307 \. 622
(1987).

9/witness Immunily, National Association of Attoracys
Gencral, August, 1978,

1075 ate v. Panagoulis, 253 Md. 699 (1969) (Wilncss wha
appeased voluntarily before grand jury to make statoment and way

then ashed questlons was “compelled™ to testify within meaning wl
Uribery ummnity statules).

.G-
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gruscLutor as sery contervant In the vagaries of v es LR v e
peand Jury baw, he or she acclidentally may mgh s ze potenteal

taigetR. At A consequence of the risks arising feom the browl
antomatic immnity recclved by anyonc gubpoenacd bhefore o wroand
Juty insestigating Arugs, gimhling and clection bans, the gr ol
yury frequent ly heconrs unusable as af investigative tond an

these arcas. The result 1S that the financial asperts of large
drug upcratiuns cannol be investigated by AMaryiand grand jurics

Finally, desplie the broad brush Immunization ihe present
statutes provide, they may fronically deprive potential
defendants of the oppostunity Lo provide exculipatory evidcnce 1o
a grand jury. A prosecutor who might otherwise consent to the
appcarance of 8 defcndant who want ‘to testify belfore an
investigative grand jury or -- the more coomon ocrurance - - A
proseculor who Is willing to call & wiiness supportive of the
defense, may decline to d0 so becavuse he fcars automatlc
imuunizatlion. There are MO jmmunity walver statules and the
question of whether the automatic immunity can be walved has yel
10 be resolved by the appellate courts.

V. PROPOSED STATUTE

The propused stiatute substitutes usc for transactional
lnnnnl!y'l’ because of the additlonal tact-finding vtrlity that
use (mmunitly provides. I would automatically bring the Maty!and
taw into accord with the Supreme Court's current view of the
beeadth of the Fifth Amendment.

The proposcd slatule ts made gencrally applicanle primariis
for 1wo reasons. 11 Assures the compchiatility of Lthe 1¢ht imony
regarding & transaction which may involve 4 raricty of
interrelated ceimes and thus clrcuwnvenls any constitntional

11/ gransactional immunily for ihe crlme of bribery is
reiained because of its constitutlonal undeeplnning and for the
war Ings and loan nvestigat ion berause of its Vumpted duration.

.7-
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protilom aliich may presently rnlsl."’ Secandly, it 14 nm
Appettent Ahat a grand Jury way e an pnappropreate forum for the
investigatlon of a variety of crimes, particularly latge seale
drug operations, money laundering, ond tax pergury.  The
cxistence of a generally avattable but 1imited Innunlty statnle
would remedy (he dual problems of no inmumity for mast orimes and
too much Inemnlty for drugs, gambling and electlions offenses,

By far the most significant changes provided by the proposed
statute are procedural. Imnunity would no longer be coalerred
Automatically or accidentally, bal rather only (htough court
order. To cnsure coordinnted, responsible rcquests for immmnity,
the decasion Lo seck a court order réquires approval by the
Siate's Attorney, Attorney Gencral or State Prosecutor. [he
State’s Atlorney, Lhe Attorney Geaeral or State Prosecutor will
thereby have central coatrol and uitimate responsabllity for the
1ssuance of grants of wmunily,

The judiclal role under this slatute is ministerial. Ihe
judge verifles thal:

1. The Stule's Atlorney, the Alturney
General, or Stale Prosecutor has approved the
request (or an imauni:y order;

2. The witness has rcfused or s likely Lo
rcfuse 10 testify;

3. The prosecutor has detcrmined that the
witness®s testimony may be ncccssary to be the
public interest.

Once the judge concludes Lhese LRICe requirements are met, he
Issues a court order cumpelling testimony and inenunising the
wnilness.

Juage will not himscif delesmine whether the withess®

il

1270, th re Coiminal Investigation No. 1-162, supra. n 6,
watnese st reasenably fear prosceution for anc of crame fat il
olfenses),
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testmmmy may be accrssary (o the public Interest. 1o do so

would feansform the Jodge Into o prosecutor and foaquite ham to
wake delicate prosccaterial judgments wheih are Inappropriste,
Furthermore, a particular immunlty grant may he 4 veey amall
Asprel 1o 4 Jarke scale investigation, naking it impossible for
the judge (o make any meaninglful evaluation of 1he pubiile
interest,
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AMAYLAND GENERAL ASSOMBLY
SEPARRENT OF FISCAL SERVICES
DIVISION OF FISCAL RESEARCH
JOSEME N, COBLE, OIRECTOR

FISCAL MOTE
REVISED -1

Mouse B11) 1311 (The Spesker, et a1) (Delegate Menes, Chatrman, Specia)
Commities on Drug and Alconp! Abute)

Judiciary Referved to fudictal Proceeding=

SO0NRY OF LEGISIATION:  This amended i1 provides for the grenting of
"ute® tmmnity to witnesses compelled to testify regarding & crising)
eatter. Specifically, if o witness refuses Lo testify on 2 crimina) metter,
on the grounds of privilege sgainst self-incriningtion, the Court may compel
the witness to testify or provide information by 1ssuing 8 court order to
that effect. Theé court order would only be grantad upoh Lhe written request
of the projecutor, who hes found Lhat the testimomy or Information of a
withess Say b mecessery to the public Interest, and thet the testisony or
informit fon would not be forthcoming sbient the order.

Criming! prosacution would be 4llowed inst tha withess for the crimes
that were testified sbout; such testimony, however, would not be “vied®
againit the witness in any crininal case, except those involving the failyre
to comply with the Court's order.

STATE FUISCAL [WPACT STATEMENT: We effect.
LOCAL FISCAL ISPACY STATEMENT: Mo effect.

STATE REVENUES: Mo effect.

STATE EXPENDITURES:  The Administrative Office of the Courts advises that
the cost of any additiona) Court orders ngcestary under this legisltetion
could be absorbed within existing resowrces. State enpenditures are not
affectad by this change in procedurs) requirements for compelling testimony
from witeesses claiming self.incrimination priviteges.

LOCAL REVENUES: No offect.
LOCAL EXPERDITURES: mo effect.
INFORMTION SOURCE:  Adainistrative OfFice of the Courts, Departssnt of

Public Safety and Corrections) Services {Divistion of Correction), Department
of Fiscal Services
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cOMM CS2115 SAT INCICTMENT FILED

COMM US2115 S8T CC§7150400006C

COMM 952115 S8T FILED ASA - BLEDSOE, JANICE L . ESQ 6R776
MOTF 05271¢ 3CB MOTION FOR SPEZEDY TRIAL

MOTE 05271¢ 5CB MOTION TO FROJUCE DOCUMENTS

MOTF 05271% 328 REQUEST FOR DISCOVERY

NEXT PAGE /0 PAGE 002
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9:23:28 Monday, February 03, 201¢

b [

U2/08/16 CRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:2
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215
EVENT CATE OPER PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

MOTF 05¢7.5 SCB MOTION 710 SUPPRESS PURSUANT TO MD 4-2S5Z AND 4-253

MOTF C52715 SCB MOTION FOR GRAND JURY TESTIMONY

MOTFE 052715 5Cb DEMAND FOR CHEMIST

FLLE 05271¢% SCB FILED ADF -~ BELSHY, MICHAEL , ESQ 52933
TOMM 05271% SCB DEF RICE'S DEMAND FOR BILL OF PARTICULARS FLD

COMM 05271°% 3CB DEF'S MOTION FOR REMOVAL AND PEQUEST FOR A HEARING FLD

COoMM, 05271¢% SCB CC: JUDGE PETEPS

COMM 05271% SCB DEF'sS JOINT MOTICH FOR RECUSAL OF BALTIMORE CITY

COMM 05271°¢% SCB STATE'S ATTORNEY'S OFFICE FLD; CC: JUDGE PETERS

COMM 052715 3CB DEF'S MEMORANDUM IN $UPPORT OF MOTION FOR REMOVAL AND

coMM 052715 SCB REQUEST FUR A HEARING FLD; CT: JUDGE PETERS

COMM 052715 SCB DEF'3 JNOINT MOTION TO DISMISS FOR PROSECUTOR1AL MISCONDUCT
CoMM 052715 SCR OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR SANCTIONS FLO

corM 052715 SCR APPENDIN TC DEF'S MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 9OF MOTIOU FOR
COMM 052715 SCB REMOVAL ANCD REQUEST FOR A HEARING FLiy; CC: JUDGE PETERS
FILE 052715 S6T FILED ADF - BALL, CHAZ R , ESQ 35445

CuMM 052915 CYH CSET ARRG; P08; 07/02/15, CHH

TCMM 060210 SCB STATE'S3 MOTION TO EXTEND TIME REQUIREMENTS TO RESPOND TO

CCMM N60215 SCB DEF'S MOTICONS FILED; CC: JUDGE PZTEPS

NEXT PAGE F/N PAGE 003
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9:73.53 Monday,

S

Fzbruary 08, 2016

02/08/1€ CRIMINAL COUORT OF 2ALTIMOPE CASE INQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215
EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME 2J0M REAS / EVENT COMMENT

COMM 0€G315 3C8 DEF*'3 JOINT RESFONSE IN CGPPOSITION TO STATE'S MOTION

COMM 0€0313 STB FOR EXTENSICN OF TIME FLD {DISK INCLUDED); «<C: JUDGE PETERS
COMM 0604153 SCY DATE STAMEED & ORDERED 6/4/15, STATE'S MOTION TO EATEND TIME
COMM (060415 SCY REQUIREMENTS TO RESPOND TQO DEFT'S$S MOTIONS,& THE DEFT'S JOINT
CoMM 060415 SCY KESPOU3E IN OPPOS1TION TO $TATE'S MOTION FCR EXTENSION OF
COMM 060415 SCY TIME, & HAVING FOUND CAUSE AS REQUIRED BY RULE 1-204(A), IT
COMM 260415 SCY IS5 ORDERED THAT TEE STATE SHALL RESPOND TC DEFT'S MOTION FOR
COMM Ooudl5 SCY REMOVAL, JOINT MOTION FOR RECUSAL OF BALTIMORE CITY STATE'S
COMM 060415 SCY ATTY'S OFFICE, & JOINT MOTION TO DISMISS FOF PROSECUTORIAL
CCMM C60415 SCY M13COHDUCT OR, IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR SANCTIONS BY JUNE 26,
coMM 060415 SCY 2015, & IT IS FURTHER ORDERED THAT THE DEFT MAY FILE THE
coMM 060415 SCY MANDATORY MOTIONS SET FORTH IN RULE 4-252(A) WITHIU 45 DAYS
COMM 060415 SCY AFTER THE EARLIER OF THE APPEARANCE CF COUNSEL OF THE FIRST
coMM 060415 SCY APPEARANCE OF THE DEFT BEFORE THE COURT PURSUANT TQ RULE
COoMM 060415 3CY 4-213(C). PETERS, J (COPIES SENT BY CHAMBERS)

COMM 0R051% CNN DEFENDANT'S PRELIMINARY RESPONSE TC THE STATE'S MOTION FOR
COMM 0€031% CNN IS3SUANCE BANNING EXTRA JUDICAL STATEMENTS AND DEFENDANT'S
coMM 060315 Ctn RESPONSE TO THE NEWS MEDIA INTERVENORS MOTION TO INTERVENE
CoMM 060515 CNN AND QPPOSE TEE STATE'S MOTION FOR ISSUANCE OF ORDER BARRING
NEXT PAGE e/ PAGE 004
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9:23:39 Monday,

4

02/08/1¢ CRIMIVAL COURT OF BALTIMORE
TASE 112141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT

EVENT DATE

TOMM
CoOMM
oMM
COMM
CoMM
COMM
CoMM
coMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
CCTMM
CCMM
CCMM
CCMM
CCMM
oMM
COMM

NEXT

0€051s
LI R B
Uo0als
060915
060915
veh9l1s
060915
060915
060915
060915
060915
06065
060975
0609:5
C60915
0601215
060915
060915
060915

PAGE

Fekruary 08, 2016

OFER
NN
sCB
SCB
ChW
CM3
CMs
CM3
CcMS
CMS
CMsS
CMS
CMs
CcMsS
CMS
MS
MS
cME
Mg

CMS

CASE INQUIRY 09:23
A3.2449 COD Y DMCM < 090215
PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
EXTRAJUDICIAL STATEMENTS FILED; <C: JUDGE PETERS
STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEF's DEMAND FOP BILL OF PARTICULARS FLD
<C: JUDGE PETERS
FILED ASA - FTLLIOH, MATTHEW ., E3Q 652491
STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S BILL 0OF PARTICULARS
2C: PETERS J
STATE'S REQUEST TO SUBSTITHTE THE STATE'S RESPONSE TC
DEMAND FOR BILL OR PARTICULARS IN PLACE OF STATE'S
RESPONSE TO DEMAND FCR BILL OF PARTICULARS FILED
ERRONEOUSLY AT 3:49 P.M, CGM JUNE &, 2015
STATE'3 RESPONSE T DEFEUDANT'S DEMAND FCR BILL OF
FAKTICULAFS CC: PETERS J (RECEIVED BY DOGRY J ON 6-8-15}
ORDER OF COURT DATED JUNE 9, 2015, BASED UPON THE
RECUEST CF THE BATIMCRE CITY STATE'S ATTORIEY'S NDFFICE,
IT IS THIS %TH DAY OF JUNE 2015, BY THE CIRCUIT CQURT
FOR BALTIMORE CITY, HERKEBY; ORDERED THAT THE STATE'S
RESPONSE TC DEMAND FCR BILL OR PARTICULARS FILED
JUNE 8, 2015 BE SUBSTITUTED FOR THE STATE'S RESFONSE
TO DEMAND FOR BILL OF PARTICULARS FILED ERRONEOUSLY AT

F/N PAGE 005

E. 220



9:

23-39 Monday, Fekruary 08, 2016
¥

02/08/1€ CRIMINAL COURT OF 2ALTIMORE CASE TNQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM € 090215
EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME RUUM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

COMM 0€UYlS CMS 3:4% D.M. ON JUME 8, 2015 REQUEST GRANTED. DOORY J

COMM 0€0913 CM3 ©OPY OF ORDER MAILED TO ADF

COMM 0609]15  CKW SUPPLEMENT TO DEFS JOINT MOTION FOR RECUSAL OF BALTIMGRE
COMM 060915 Ckw CI1TY STATS'S ATTORNEY'S OFFICE FLD; CC: JUDGE PETERS

COMM 0G1115  SBT 3TATE'5S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S OMNIBUS MOTIONS FILED

MPRO 061515  1gj MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 20150703
CCMM 0615°5  13) STATE'S MOTIGN FOR PROTECTIVE ORGEP PURSUANT TC PULE

COMM C61515  1g) 4-263{M), MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT THEROF, AND REQUEST FOR
COMM C61515  1g) EXPEDITED HEARING

COMM C61715  SCY OFFICE OF TdE STATE'S ATTORNEY FOR 2ALTLMORE CITY'S

2OMM 061715  SCT OPFOSITION TO DEFENDANTS' JOINT MOTION FOR RECUSAL

COMM 061715  SCY OF BALTIMORE CITY STATE'S ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

COMM 061715  SCY FILED ASA - SCHATZOW, MICHAEL , ESU 717876
COMM 067215  CMS ORDER OF COURT DATE STAMPED 6-22-13, THE COURT .

COMM 062215  ©MS HAVING DETERMIMED THAT THE ASSIGNMENT 9F THESE CASES TO
COMM 0€221%  ©°MS SINGLE JUDGE IS APPROPRIATE, IT IS THIS 19TH DAY OF

COMM (62215 CMS JUNE, 2015, ORDERED THAT THESE CASES ARE ASSIGNED TO

COMM 062215  CMS JUDGE BARRY WILLIAM3 FOR ALL FURTHER PROCEEDINGS. COFIES
COMM 062215 CMS OF ALL FAPERS SILED WITH THE CLERK SHOULD BE SIMULTANEOUSLY
NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 206
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9:23:40 Monday,

I

02/08/716

EVEUT DATE

COMM
COMM
COMM
CoMM
COMM
COMM
comMM
CoMM
COMM
coMM
COMM
CoMM
COMM
coMM
COMM
COMM
COoMM
coMM
CCMM

NEXT

062215
062215
062215
062215
062215
v62z1°<
062215
062215
062215
062215
062215
062215
ne221%
062215
62315
062315
062215
062215
062725

PAGE

Feboruary 08, Z2Cl€

OPCR
TMs
oME
TME
IM&
CMS
CMS
CMS
CMS
CMs
CM3
CMS
CM3
CMS
CNN
CXW
CKW
CKW
CKW
CKW

CTRIMINAL COUFT CF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115111035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT

A32449 COD Y DCM C 030215
FART TIME RCOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

SENT TO JUDGE WILLIAMS' CHAMBERS. W. MICHEL FIERSOUN J.
ORCER OF COUKIT DATE STAMPED $-22-15, UPOMN CONSULTATION
WITH THE PARTIES TC THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED TASES THROUGH
COUNSEL, IT IS THIS 19TH DAY OF JUME, 2015, ORDERED THAT
A MOTIONS KEARING IS SCHEDULED FOR SEPTEMBER 2, 2015, AT
9:3C A.M. AND FURTHER ORDERED THKAT THE TRIALS IN EACH OF
THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASES ARE SCHEDULED FOR OCTQBER 13,
2015, AND FURTHER CRDERED THAT THE ARRAIGXMENTS SCHEDULED
FOR JULY 2, 2015 SHALL BE CANCELLED UPON THE ENTRY BY
EACH DEFENDANT COF A PLEA OF NOT GUILTY IN WRITING PURSDANT
TC RULE 4-24z{B} ON OR BEFORE JUNE 26, 2013,

W. MICHEL PIZERSON J.

COPY OF OSDERS MAILED TO ALL CTOUNSEL

ELEA AND REQUEST FOR JURY [RIAL

SUPPLEMENT TO OFFICE OF THE STATLE'S ATTORNEY FOR
SALTIMORE TITY'3 OPPOSITION TC DEFS JOINT MOTION FOR
RECNSAL OF BALTIMORE CITY STATE'S ATTORNEY'S OFFICE FLD:
CC: JULGE WILL:AMS

OFFICE OF THE STATE'S ATTORNEY FCR BALTIMORE TITY'S

B/N PAGE 007
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9:23:40 Monday, February 038, 2016
* i

0Z/9¢/16 CRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:23
CASE 112141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A324499 COD Y DCM C 090215
EVENT JATC OPER PART TIME ROUM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

COMM 0621319 CKW OPFOSITION TO DEF3 JOINT MOTICH TO DISMIS3S FOR

COMM 06231¢S <KW PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT, OR IN THE ALTERUATIVE, FCR

coMM 0€2319 CKW SAUCTIONS FLC

COMM Q€2415 SCY DATE STAMPED § ORDERED 6/24/15, THiS COURT IS IN RECEIPT OF
COMM 0€241% SCY STATE'S MOTION FOR FROTECTIVE ORDEPR PURSUANT TC RULE 4-263

CoMM 0€2413 SCY (M) FILED Ol JUNE 1S5, 201S. PURSUANT TO RULE 1-202() AND

CoMM 062415 SCY 4-252(F), ANY DEFENSE RESPONSE IS DUE ON OK BEFORE JULY 6,

COMM (62415 SCY 2915, THTS COURT NOTEZS THAT IN THE MOTION THZ STATE

COMM 062415 SCY REQUESTED AN EXPEDITED HEARING BUT FAILED TO COMPLY WITH

CoMM 062415 §CY RULE 1-204(A}, WHICH PEPMITS A COURT TO SHORTzZN TIME FOR

COMM 062415 SCY A RESPONSE. HAVING FAILED TO SHOW THIS COURT THAT THE

CoMM 062415 SCY CONDITION UNDER WHICH A MOTION TO SHORTEN TIME SHOULD BE

coMM 062415 SCY GRANTED, & IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT THE STATE'S REQUEST FOR

CCMM 0624915 SCY AN EXPEDITED HEARING, OP. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, TO SHORTEN

COMM 062415 SC¢ THE TIME FOR RESPONSE, IS DENIED. WILLIAMS, J (COPIES

CoMM 062415 SCY SENT BY CHAMBERY)

coeMM 062415 1gj SUFPLEMENT TC OFFICE OF THE STATZ'S ATTORNEY FOR BALTIMORE

CcoMM 062415 193 C1TY'S MOTICH FOR PROTECTIVE ORCER

COMM 062415 1gy J36ED ASA - BLEDSOE, JANICE L . ESQ 68776

NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 008
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9:23:11 Morday,

February 08, 201<%

. b

C2/08/ 1A

EVENT DATE  OPER
COMM 062515  1DM
~OMM 062615  CKW
COMM 062615  SCB
COMM 96261%  3CB
COMM 062615  5CB
COMM 063015  C€2C
COMM 063015 <27
COMM 043015  €2C
HCAL 070215  1DM
COMM 070215  SCB
HCAL 070215 1DM
COMM 070615 193
COMM 070615 193
ceMM 070615  1q3
COMM 070815  C2C
COMM C70815 C:C
COMM 070815  C2C
COMM V70815  C2C
COMM 070815  C2€
NEXT PAGE

CRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE TINQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BKIAN LT

A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215
PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

CASE REMOVED FROM ARRG. DOCKET AS PER J. FETERS JICCR
STATE':Y RESPONSE TG DEFS MOTION FOR REMOVAL FLD

STATE'S MOTION FOR JOINT TRIAL COF DEFENDANTS FLD

STATE'S IMITIAL DISCLOSURES, NCTICES, AND MOTIONS FLD
STATE'S INDEY. OQF INFORMATION PRODUCED IN DISCOVEERY FLD
DEF'S JOINT MOTION IN OPPOSITION TO STATE'S MOTION FOR
PROTECTIVE ORDER PURSUANT TO PULE 4-263 (M), MEMORANDUM
IN SUPPORT , AND REQUEST FOR EAFEDITED HEARING FLD.
pP08;0930;509 ;ARRG; ;POST;OTH;PETERS, CHARLES;BE3

SET IN ERROP; NO FILE IN COURT

P08:0939:509 ;ARRG; ;TSET, ;WILLIAMS, BARKY,8C9
DEFSHNDAKT'S REPLY TO STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDAUTS'
MOTION FOR REMOVAL AND REQUEST FOR EEARING CC: JUDGE
WILLIAMS

DEFENDANT'S JOINT MOTION IN CPPOSLITCN TC STATE'S MOTION
FOR PROTECTIVE ORZER PURSUANT TO RULE 4-263 (M)
MEMORANCUM IH SUPPORT, AND REQUEST FOR EXPEDITED HEARING
WHZCH WAS FLD. 6-30-15, HAND DELIVERED TO JUDGE WILLIAMS'
CHAMBERS.

P/N PAGE 009
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9:23:41 Monday,

3

February 08, 20)é

0z2/038/1¢ CRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMCRE CASE INQUIRY 09:23
CASE 1151431035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A3244% 0D Y DCM C 090215
EVENT DATE JPER PART TIME RwOM REAS / EVENT COMMEHT

COMM 07CR1S C2C STATE'S RESPUNSE TO DEFENDANTS' JOINT MOTION IN QFPOSITION
COMM 07CELS 2C TS STATE'S MOTICN FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER STATE'S RENEWED

CoMM 070815 C2C REQUEST FOR HEARING FLD.

coMM 070918 C2Z STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFE!DANTS' JOINT MOTION IN OPPOSITION
COMM 07091% CZC TO STATE'S MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER STATE'S RENEWED

COMM 070915 ©2¢ BEQUEST FCR HEARING HAND DELIVERED TO JUDGE WILLIAMS®

CcoMM 0709185 CALC CHAMBERS.

MTAN 070915 1gj MOTION EOKR SUBPOENA / TANGIBLE EVID;TICKLE DATE= 20150717
coMM 071315 £CY STATE'S APPENDIX OF EVIDENCE TW SUPPCRT OF MOTION FOR

COMM 071315 SCY PROTECTIVE ORDER PURUSANT TO FULE 4-263(M) CC: WILLIAMS, J

coMM 071315 £CY DEFENDANT'S OPPOSITION TO THE STATE'S MOTION FOR JOINT TRIAL

coMM 071315 SCB DEF'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS STATEMENTS PURSUANT TO THE

oMM 071315 SCB L.Z.0.B R. & GARRIT: V. NEW JERSEY FiC

COMM 071315 SCB DEFS MOTION TO 3UPPRE3S THE SEARCH ALIL SEIZURE OF DEFENDANTS

COMM 071315 SCB DEPAFTMENTAL CELL PHONES AND REQUEST FOR FRANKS HEARING FLD

MPRO 071615 CHIl MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 201503503

COMM 0714615 CNE STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH TRIAL SUBFOENA BASED ON ABUSE QF

oMM 071615 ZUN FPOCESS (£OPY DELIVERED TO JUDGE WLLLIAMS CHAMBERS PER

CoMM 071615 CHN FPER LAW CLERK)

NEXT PAGE F/N PAGE 010
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9:23:41 Monoay,

r

L

tebruary 08, 2016

02/908/1¢ CRIMINAL COUPT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:23

CASE 115111035 3T A RICE, SRIAN LT

EVENT DATE

CCoMM
CoMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
CoMM
COMM
CoMM
COMM
COMM
coMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
COMM
comMM

NEXT

071615
071615
071615
C71715
071715
071715
071715
072115
072115
07211%
072315
072315
07231%
072415
72415
072415
072415
015715
07z71%

PAGE

OPER
CNN
CNN
~N
SCB
SCB
SCH
SCB
lq)
19)
19)
o 4]

CKW

A32449 COD ¢ DCM C G90215

PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUBPOENA FCR

TANGIBLE EVIDEMNCE (COPY DELIVERED TC JUDGE WILLIAMS CHAMBERS

PRk LAW ZLERK)

STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLL

ORDER DATEC ANUD DATE STAMPED ~SULY 17, 2015; THAT THE STATE'S

MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER PURSUANT To FULE 4-263(M) IS

DENIED; B. WILLIAMS, J

STATE'S OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANT'S JOINT MOTION TO SUPPRESS

THE SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF DEFEHDANT'S DEPARTMENTAL CELL

PHONES AND REQUEST FOR FRANKS HEARIXNG

PEPLY TC STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFS MOTION FOR SUBPOENA

FOP TANGIBLE EVIDENCE FLD; COPY DELIVERED TO JUDGE

WILLIAMS PER LAW CLERK

WAITING ON PHONE CALL FR. JUDGE, WILLIAMS SEC. BEFORE
SCHEDULING THIS MATTER/NO TRIAL SUMMARY/7-22-15...TJ

STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE

FILED ASA - BLEDSOE, JANICE L . E3Q 68776

STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS'® JOINTL{ FILEC MOTION TC

SUPPRESS STATEMENTS PURSUANT T2 THE L.E.0.2.R. AND

P/N PAGE 011
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9:23:42 Munday,

»

02/08/1¢ CRIMINAL COURT OF SALTIMORE
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BR1AN LT

EVENT DATE

coMM
oMM
COMM
COMM
MZOHM
COMM
~OMM
COMM
COMM
COoMM
COMM
~OMM
CoMM
COMM
COMM
oMM
COMM
COMM
COoMM

NEXT

07271%
072315
07291%
072913
073015
073215
07511%
373115
080415
0806.5
080615
080615
0v0615
080615
080615
080615
060615
050615
061115

PAGE

Fektuary 908, 2016

OPER
C¥R
CPR
CPR
CPR
13)
19)
SRT
€51
19)
SCB
sce
SCB
sce
SCB
SCB
SChH
3CB
SCB
CkW

CASE INQUIRY 09:23
R3244% COC Y DCM < 090212
PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
GARRITY V NEW JERSEY
REPLY TO STATE'S OPFOSITION TO MOTION TO SUP?RESS THE SEARCH
AND SEILURE OF DEFENDANTS' DEPARTMENTAL CELL PHONES AND
REQUEST FCR FPANRS HEARING
MOTION To COMPEL DISCOVERY ;:TICKLE DATE= 20150807
COPTES DELIVERED TO JUDGE WILLIAM'S CHAMBERS OER L.C.
RESFOWSE 0 STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH TRIAL SUBPQENA BASED ON
ABUSE OF FRCCESS FILED CC.JUDGE WILLIAMS
LINE FTLED; COFY DELIVERED TO JUDGE WTLLIAMS FER ATTORNEY
STATE'S SU2PLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLO
DEF'S 3UPFLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JOINT MOTION
FOR RECUSAL OF THE BALTIMORE CITY STATE'S ATTORNEY'S OFFICE
COPY DELIVEREG TO JUDGE WILLIAMS® CHAMBERS
STATE'S MOTION TO SANCTION THE OEF'S ATTORNEYS FOR
UHEROFESSIONAL CONDICT AND ABUSE OF COMPULSORY FROCESS FLD
STATE'S MOTION TO STRIKE AS A SANCTION FOR DEF'S VIOLATION
GF RULE 4-263{l) OR, ALTERNATIVELY, STATE'S RESPONSE TO
DEF'S JOINTLY FILED MOTION TO COMPEL AND FOK SANCTIONS FLD
DEFENDANTS WAIVER OF APPEARANCE FLD

P/N PAGE 012
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G:2%:47 Monday, Februaty 08, 2016

+ Tt
02/08/16 CRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY v9-23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215

EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

CcoMM 081415 CPR STATE'S MOTION 10 QUASH HEARINGC SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY
COMM 081415 “FR CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED ON ASSISTANT STATE'S ATTORNEY
CCMM 081415 CFR ALBEPT PEISINGZR

COMM CR1415 CPR STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOEWA SERVED ON WAYNE
COMM CE1415 TPP WILLIAMS

coMM 081415 CPR STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH HEARING SUBFOENA SERVED ON AVON
COMM 051415 CPR MACKEL

COMM 081415 CKW STATE'S MOTION TC QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTED B:
CoMM 08141¢ CRW CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED ON DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORNEY
COMM Q&1415 CKW ANTONIO GIQIA

MPRO 031415 CKW MCTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ,TICKLE DATE= 20150301
MPRO 08141% 5CB MCTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ; TICKLE DATZ= 20150901
MPFD 0B1415 SC3 MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER :TICKLE DATE= 20150901
MPRO 081415 SCB MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ; TICKLE DATE= 2C150901
MPRO 081415 S8T MOTION FOP. ?ROTECTIVE ORDER :TICKLE DATE= 26150901

CoMM DBl415 S8T STATE'S MOTICH TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY
oMM (081415 S8T CATEERINE FLY!IN § SERVED ON STATE'S ATTORNEY MARILYN
CoMM 081415 SRT MUSEBY FILED

MPRC 081415 Ul MOTIOGN FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER :TICKLE DATE= 20150901

NEXT PAGE P/ FAGE 013
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9:23:43 Monzay, February 08, 2016
02/08/1% CRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE TIQUIRY 09::3
CASC 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449% COD Y DCM C 090215
EVENT DATE  OPER PART TIME RICM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM OR1415 CUN STATE'S MOTICN TO QUASH HERRING SUBPOENA REQUESTED 3Y
CCMM 08141% CNN CATHEFINE FLYNN AND SERVED ON DR. CAROL ALLEN
MPRO 081415 137 MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 20150901
CCMM 0B1415 133 STATE'S MOTION TC QUASH HEARING SUBPOEMA REQUESTED BY
COMM 081415 1gj3 CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED OGN ASSISTANT STATE'S ATTORNEY
COMM 081415 191 LISA GCLDBEFRG
TOMM 08.415  SCB STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA FEQUESTED BY
COMM 081415 SCB BY CATHERINE SLYNN ANWD SERVEDL ON DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORHEY
COMM 081415 €CB JANICE BLEDSCE FLD
MPRO 081415 SCB MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 20150901
COMM 08141% SCB STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY
CCMM 0814°5 SCB CATHERINE SLYNN AND SERVED ON CHIEF DEPUTY STATE'S
COMM 0814:5 SCB ATTORNEY MICHAZL SCHATZIOW FLD
MEPO C214915 SCR MUTTON FOR FROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 70150901
COMM C31815 SCY DATE STAMPED § ORDERED 8/17/15, STATE'S MCTION TO QUASH
<OMM CE1B15 SCY HEARING SUBFOENA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYUN AND SERVED
COMM 01815 5CT ON DR. CAROL ALLEN. ORDERED THAT THE HEARING SDBPOFEUA
COMM 031815 SCY SERVED ON CR. CAROL ALLEN FOR THE SEPTEMBEZP 2, &J15.
coMM 081815 SCY HEARING 1S QUASHED. (SEE ORDER) WILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL
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©:23:43 Monday, Tebruary 08, 016

*

.
02/08/16 CRIMINAL COURT oOF BALTIMORE CASE INMNQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115141035 3T A KRICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215
EVENT OATE OPER PART TIME ROOM PEAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 08LAH1S ECY ATTORNEY OF RETORLC)
COMM 08:915 £CY DATE STAMEED & ORDERED 8/17/15, STATE'S MOTICH TO CUASH
CcoMM 081915 SCY HEARTING SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE ZLYNN AND SERVED
CCMM 281vw15 3CY ON ASSISTANT STATE'S ATTORNEY, ALBERT PEISINGER. ORDERED,
COMM 081915 SCY THAT THE HEARING SUBFOENA SERVED CON ALBERT PEISINGER FOR
oMM 081955 SCY THE SEPTEMBER 2, 2915 HEARING IS QUASHED. WILLIAMS, J
CcoMM 081915 SCY (CC: ALL ATTORNEY'S OF RECORD)
COMM 081915 SCyY DATE STAMPED §& ORDERED 8/17/15, STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH
CoMM 081915 SCY HEARING SUBFOENA REQUESTED BY ATHERINE FLYWNN AND SERVED
COMM CB81915 SCY ON ASSISTANT STATE'S ATTORNEY LISA GOLDBERG. ORDERED,
COMM 0181915 SCY THAT THE HEARING SUBPOENA SERVED CN L1SA GOLDBER:; FOR THE
COMM (81315 St SEPTERMBFR 2, 2015 HEARING IS QUASHED. WILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL
COMM 081915 SCY COUNSEL OF RECORD)
COMM 081915 SCY DATE 3TAMPED & ORDERED B8/17/15, STALE'S MOTION TO QUASH
CoMM. 031915 SCY HEARING 3UBPOZNA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYNI! AND SERVED
COMM 08131°< 3C7 ON WAYNE WILLiAMS. ORDERED, THAT THE HEARING SUBPOENA
COMM QE1315 SCY SERVED ON WAINE WILLIAMS FOR THE SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 HEARING
COMM 0519315 3Cy [5 QUASMED, WILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL TOUNSEL OF RECORD)
CoMM (8131¢% 3C: DATE STAMPED & ORDERED 8/17/15, STATE'S MOTION TC QUASH
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CASE INQUTRY 0@:22
A32449 COD Y DCM < 030215
PART TIME ROCtS REAS / EVENT COMMENT
HEARLING SUBPOENA KEQUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED
ot AVON MACKEL. ORDERED, TAAT THE HEARING SUBPOENA SERVED
ON AVON MACKEL FOR THE SEPTEMBER 2, c01% HEARING IS QUASHED.
(CC: ALL COUNSEL CF RECCRD)
DATE STAMFED & ORDERED 8/17/15, STATE'S MOTICON T QUASH
AEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED
ON CHIEF DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORNEY MICHAEL SCHATZOW. OROERED,
THAT THE HEARING SUBFOENA SERVED ON MICHAEL SCHATZOW FCR THE
SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 HEARING IS QUASHED, WILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL
COUNSEL OF RECORD)
DATE STAMPED & ORDERED 8/17/15, STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH
HEARING SUBFOEMA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED
ON STATE'S ATTORNEY MARIL:t MOSBY. ORDERED, THAT THE
HEARING SUBPOENA SEKRVED ON MARTLYN MOSBY FOR THE SEPTEMBER
2, 2015 HEARING IS QUASHED. WILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL COUNSEL
OF RECORD)
DATE STAMPED & ORDERED 8/17/15, STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH

' HEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYMN AND SERVED

ON OEPUTY STATE'S ATTCRNEY JANICE BLEDSOE. ORDERED, THAY
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CASE 11514103% ST A RICE, BRIAN LT h324949 COD Y DCM T 090215
EVENT OATE QPER PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 08191% SCY THE HEARING SUBPOENA SERVED ON JANICE BLED3VE FCR THE
COMM 0¥1915 SCY SEPTEMBER 2, 2015 HEAR1NG 1S QUASHED. WILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL
COMM 281915 €CY COUNSZEL OF RECOPD)
CCMM 081%.5 $Cf DATE STAMPED & OFCERED €/17/15, STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH
COMM (81915 SCY HEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED
COMM 021915 SCY ON DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORNEY ANTOHNIO GICIA. ORDEREC, THAT
COMM 0£1915 5CY THE HEARING SUBPOZIIA SERVED OH ANTONIO GIOIA FOR THE
oMM 081915 327 SEETEMBER 2, 20195 HEARING IS QUASHED. WILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL
COMM 081915 SCY COUNSEL OF RECORD)
coMM 081%15 CPR STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
coMM (82415 SCB STATE'S MUTION TO QUASH HEARING SUBFOENA SERVELD ©ON
COMM 0R241% SCB DETECTIVE DAWNYELL TAYLOR FLD
MPRO 0%2415 SCB MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE OPDER ;TICKLE DATE= 20150%11
coMM (8241% 3CB STATE'S MOTION TC QUASH HEARING SUBFOENA SERVED ON
CoMM 0BZ241¢ 3CB MAJOR SAM COGAN FLD
MPRQ 082415 3CB MOTION FOP PROTECTIVE ORDZIR ;TICKLE DATE= 20150511
COMM 042418 SCB STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH HEARING SUBPCENA SERVEDR ON THE
COMM 082415 3CB CUSTODIAN OF RECOFPDS FOR THE OFFICE OF THE CHIEF MEDICAL
CoOMM ORB241¢ 3CB EXAMTNER FLD
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EVENT DATE OPER PAPT TIME RUOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

MPRO 082415 3CB MOTICN FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 20150911
MPRO Qali1sS 5CB MOTION FQR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 20150%11
COMM 0R2415 SCB STATE'S RESPONSE TO OEF'S SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM IN

COMM 032415 3CB SUPPORT OF JOINT MOTION FOR RECUSAL QF BALTIMORE CITY

oMM 032191% SCB STATE'S ATTORNEY OFFICE FLD

MPRO 08251% CrW MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DATE= 20150912
oMM 032615 CM3 ORDER OF COURT DATED AUGUST Co, 2015, SECURLT:/MEDIA

oMM 0BZ61% CMS PROTOQCCGL ORDER FILED. OFDER 1S SUBJECT TO MODIFICATION

COMM 082615 CMS BY THE CCURT AT ANY TIME. W. MICHEL PIERSON J

COMM 082615 CMS TOPIES MAILED TO ALL COUNSEL

CGMM 0B2615 SCP ORDER DATED ATGUST 25, 2015 AND DATE STAMPED AUGUST 26, 2015
COMM 082615 SCB THAT THE SUBFOENA SERVEL ON DETECTIVE OAWNYELL TAYLOR FOR
COMM 08:€15 SCB THE SEPIEMBER 2, 2015 HEARING IS QUASHED; WILLIAMS, J
oMM 0Bz€15 CKW DATE STAMEEE AND ORDERED AUGUST 25TH 2015 THAT THE HEARING
COMM 0BZ61S CKW SUBPOENA SERVED ON MACOR SAM CCGAN FCR THE SEPTEMBER 2 2015

COMM 082615 CEW HEARING IS QUASHED

COMM 082615 SCB ORDER DATED AUGUST 25, 2015 AND DATE STAMPED AUGUST 26, 2015

coMM 0BL€1S SCB THAT THE HEARING SDBPOEVA SERVED OX THE CUSTODIAN OF FECCRDS

cOMM 082615 2Ch FOR THEZ OFFICE OF THE CHIEF MEDICAL EXAMINER FOF THE
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A%2443 CoOC Y DCM € 09021%
PART TIME ROOM RERS / EVENT COMMENT

SEPTEMBER 2, 2915 HEAFING IS QUASHED FLD; WILLIAMS, J
STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH HEARING 3UBPOENA SERVED ON
COLOHEL STANLEY BRAMFCORD FLD

MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER :;TICKLE DATE= 20150913
STATE'S MOTTON TO QUASH ALL HEARING SUBPOENAS ISSUED BY
THE DEFENSE FCR THE SEPTEMBER 2, 2015, MOTIONS HEARING FLO
ORDER DATE STAMPED 8/27/15; ORDERED THIS 26TH DAY OF ACUGUST
2015 THAT THE HEARIUG SUBPOENA SERVED ON COLONEL STANLEY
BRANFORD FOR THE SEPTEMBER 2, 201% HEARING I3 QUASHED
JUDGE B. WILLIAMS

COB't MAILED TO STATE'S ATTORNEY(S) AND DEFEMSE ATTORMNEY (S)
SECOND REQUEST FOR AN EVICENTIARY HEARING ON THE
SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF JOINT MOTION FOR
RECUSAL CF THE BALTIMCRE CITY STATE'S ATTURNEY'S OFFICE
STATE'S RESFONSE TO DEFENDANT'S “SECOND REQUEST FOR AN
EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM IN
SUPPORT OF JOIUT MOTION FOR RECUSAL OF THE BALTIMORE CITY
STATE'S ATTCRUEY'S OFFICE"™ FILED BY MICHAEL SCHATIOW

CSET PMOT; P31; 09/G2/153; 1T2 (PER COMPUTER/ORDER)
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CASE 115141C35 ST A RICE, BR1AN LT A32449 COD Y DCM C 09021%

ZVENT DATE OPER PART TIME R<IJCM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

CUMM 083115 SBT STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISTLOSURE FILED BY JAUICE BLEDSOE
COMM 090215 1DM <SEYI ARRG; PO8; 07/02/15; 1DM

cOoMM 090215 1DM T3ET JT ; P31; 10/13/15; 1DM

TRAK 090215 1DM ASSIGHED TO TRACK C - 120 DAYS ON 09/02/2015
coMM 090215 1re CONSENT WAIVER CF PRESENCE OF DEFT'S "GRANTED" (JUDGE
coMM 090215 1T2 WILLIAMS)

COMM 090215 1T¢ JUDICIAL STATEMENTS HEARD AND "DENIED" (JUDGE WILLIAME)
coMM 090215 1TZ JOLINT MOTION FOR SANCTIONS HEARD AND "DENIED" (JUDGE
coMM 020215 1T2 WILLIAMS)

COMM 090215 1T2 DEFT'S REQUEST FOR EVIDENTIARY HEAPING HEARD ALDC

COMM 090215 1T “DENIED" (JUDGE WILLIAMS)

coMM 090215 1T2 JOINT MOTION TC FECUSE BALTIMORE CITY ASA AND QFFICE
COMM 090215 1TZ2 HEARD AND “CENIED" (JUDGE WILLIAMS)

COMM 090215 172 STATE WITHDRAWS MCTION FOR JOINT TRIAL OF DEFT., RICE
CcCMM 090215 1T2 (JUDGE WILLIAMS)

HCAL 0902.5 SCT F32;0930;9528 ;PMOT; ;OTHR; ;WILLIAMS, BARRY;8CH

COMM 090815 1gj DETENDANT'S SUFPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM T( DEFENDANT'S MOTIOH
COMM 090815 1g3 FOR REMOVAL

oMM C30915 S8T STATE'S SUPFLEMEUTAL DISCLOSURE FILED BY CJANICE BLEDSOE
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EVENT CATE OPER PART T:iME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMEMT

coMM 021015 CFR FILED ASA - MOSBY, MARILYN J ., ESQ 589290

HCAL 091015 i TFR P31;0930;528 :HEAR;HR;DENI; ;WILLIAMS, BARRY;B8CY

COMM 091015 CER CSET HERR; P31; 09/10/15; CER

coMM 051015 CPR DEFENSE MOTION TO TRANSFER VENUE L[S HEREBY HEARD & "OEUIED”
HCAL 091C15 SCR F31;093N;528 ;HEAR:; ;OTHR; ;WILLIAMS, BARRY;B8C9Y

CCMM 091C: 9% SCB CSET KEAR; p31; 03/10/15; SCB

COMM G31C15 SCB DEF*'S MOTION FOR 3UBPEONA TO TANGIBLE RECORDS OF POLICE DEPT
ceMM 031015 SCB TRAINING RECORDS AT THE ACADEMY HEARD ANC IS HEREBY DENIED
COoMM 031015 SCB WITH LEAVE T¢ REFILE; DEF'S MOTION FOP SUBPEOHA TO

coMM 031015 SCB TANGLIBLE RECORDS OF CHIEF MEDICAL EXAMINERS OFFICE

coMM 091015 SCB WITHDRAWN; DEF'S MOTION FOR SUBPEONA TC TANGIBLE RECORDS
COMM 031015 SCB 1037ENTRAL BOOKING FOR FREDDIE GRAY WITHDRAWN; DEF'S MOTION
coMM 091015 SCB FOR SUBPEONA TO TALUGLIBLE RECORDS FOR JANUARY 1, 2012 TO
coMM 06101¢% SCB APRJIL 2012 OF POLICE ACADEMY TRAINING ON LEGAL ISSUES HEARD
COMM 091015 SCB AND DENIED; DEF'S MOTION FOR SUBPFRONA TO TANGISLE RECORDS
CoMM. 091015 $CB OF £TATE'S ATTY'S OFFICE INVESTIGATION RECOKDS FOR

coMm 091015 3CB APRIL 1., .°O1% THRU MAY 1, 2015 HEARD AND DENIED

CoMM 091115 3CB STATE'S SUFFLEMENTAL CISCLOSURE FLD

TOMM 091115 SCY MCTIOMN TO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TO CHARGE A CRIME
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EVENT DATF. OFER PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

CoMM 09161°< 3CE SIATE'S NOTICE OF INTEUT TO USE DNA FLOL

COMM 0291615 3C2 ¢TATE'S SUFPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLD

coMM 0911 13 CZFENDANTS® JOINT MOTION FOR RECORDATION OF

COMM 091415 131 SEPTEMPER 24,2015 SCHEDULING CONFERENCE

COMM 091315 137 MOTION TO PPODUCE RECORDS REGARDING DNA ANALYSIS

COMM 091815 19j STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF EXPERT WITHESS

COMM 092215 CKW STATE'S SOUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLO

COMM Q92315 SC'Y DATE STAMPED & ORDERED 9,/22/15, THAT THCZ DEFfT'S REQUEST FOR
CoMM 092215 SCY SEPTEMBER 24, 2015 SCHEDULING CONFERENCE TO TAKE PLACE ON
CCMM 0927315 SCY THE PECORD, IS CENIED. WILLIAMS, J (CC: MICHAEL BELSRKY,
COMM 0322315 S$C'( ATTORENY FOR CEFT, JANICE BLED3OE, DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORNEY,
comM G922315 5CY OFFICE OF TYE STATE'S ATTORNEY FOR BALTIMORE CITY)

COMM 0392315 CPP STATE'S MOTIUN TO COMPEL DISCOVERY

COMM 092315 TPR STATFE'S SUPFLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE

cOMM (92315 £NN STATE'E RESFON3E TO UEFEHDANT'S MOTION TO PRODUCE RECORDS
CoMM 09231% CNN REGARDING DNA ANALYSIS

MCOM 092315 CZC MCTICN TO COMFEL DISCOVEKRY ;T1ICKLE DATE= 20151C01
COoOMM (92£1% 1TZ CSET HEAR; F21l; 09/.9/15%; 1T¢ (ADD-ON/LAW TLK/JGDSE

ToMM 092815 1Tz WILLIAMS CALLING PT. 46 DKT./RM 34 EAST)
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0¢/0g/1¢ CKIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215
EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME ROOM RERS / EVENT COMMENWT

coMM 092815 3CY DATE STAMPED 9/28/1%, & ORDERED 9/25/15, THAT ALL PROVISIONS
COMM 097915 SCY OF THE SECURITY/MEDIA PROTCCOL CORDER DATEDR AUGMHST 26, 2015
COMM 09281% §T¢ SHALL APPLY TO THIS HEARING. 1IN ADDITINN, FOR THIS HEARING,
CoMM 092&1% 5CY MEMBEFS OF THE MEDIA SHOULD ARRIVE AT THE COURTHOUSE AT 1:00
TOMM 092315 5CY .M. PIERSON, J

COMM 09261¢% CKW STATZ'S RESPONSE TO DEFS MOTION TO DISMISS FOR FAILUFE TO
comMM 092€15 CKW CHARGE A CRIME FLD

oMM 092915 CYH CSET JT ; 231; 03/09/16; CH

HCAL 042915 SCB P31;0200;328 ;HEAR; ;POST,CAN;WILLIAMS, BARRY;8C9

COMM 092915 SCB POSTPONED TIL 3/9/2016 PART 31 AT 9:30AM; DEF SERVED

COoMM 092915 S8T CEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR FECONSIDERATION OF THE DENIAL OF

©COMM 0829195 S8BT MOTION FOR REMOVAL & REQUEST FOR HEARING FILED

COMM (192915 $87T SUPPLEMENT TO DEFENDANT'S JOINT MCTION TG COMPEL AND FOR
COMM V%2915 S8T SANCTICHS FILEC

HWNQ 092915 S8T POSTPONEMENT FORM FILED; HICKE (MD RULE 4-271) NOT WAIVED
COMM (93015 §7Y DATE STAMPED & ORUERED 9/30/15, DEFT'S REQUEST FOR THE

COMM Q%3015 £CY SUPPRESSICON OF THE SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF DEFT'S DEPARTMENTAL
COMM 093015 SCY CELL PHONES AND FOR A FRANKS HEARING IS DENIED. WILLIAMS, J
COMM (1930115 S2Y (CC: MICHAEL BELSKY, ATTORNEY FOR BRIAN RICE, JANICE BLEDSOE
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CASE 11514103% ST A RICE, BRIAN LT

R32449 COD Y DCM C 099215
PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT CCMMENT

DEPUTY STATS'S ATTORNEY, OFFICE COF THE STATE'S ATTCRNEY

FOR BALTO. CITY}

3TATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL D1SCLOSURE

UATE STAMPED & ORDERED 10/2/15, THAT DEFT'S RECHUEST FOP
RECONS[DERATION OF THE DENIAL OF MOTICN FOR REMOVAL AND
DEFT'3 REQUEST FOR A HEARING [S DENIED. WILLIAMS, J

(CC: MICHAEL BELSKY, ATTORKEY FOR BRIAN RICE, JANICE BLEDSOE
DEPUTY STATE'3 ATTORNEY, OFFICE OF THE STATE'S ATTORUEY FOR
BALTO. CITY}

DATE STAMFED 10/5/15, & ORDERED 10/2/15, UEQU CONSULTATION
WITH THE PARTIES TO THE ABOVE-CAPT1OHED <CASE THROUGH COUNSEL
ORCSERED THAT A MOTIONS HEARING IS SCHEDULED FOR OCTOBER 13,
201% AT %#:20 A.M., AND FURTHER ORDERED THAT A MUTION HEARRING
1S SCHEDULED FOR CCTOBER 14, 2015 AT 9:30 A.M. WILLIAMS, J
(CC: MICHAEL BELSKY, ATTORNEY FOR BRIAN RICE, JANICE BLEDSOE
DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORNEY, OFFICE OF STATE'S ATTORNEY EFCR

FOR BALTC. CITY)

DATE sSTAMPED 10/5/15, & ORDERED 13/2/15, UPON CONSIDERATION
OF THE MOTTOM AND RESPONSE IN THIS INSTANCE, & HAVING FOMID
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CASE 1.514103S ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215
EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME ROOM REA3S / EVENT COMMENT

COMM 100515 ECY THE STATE'S RESPONSE IN PARAGRAPHS C, D, E, 1, AND P I3
oMM 160515 S7Y INSUFFICIENT, IT IS ORDERED THAT THE STATE DISCLOSE THE

CoMM 1620515 &CY DOCUMENTS REQUESTED BY THE DEFENDANT IN PARAGRAPHS C, D, E,
COMM 10Q0%15% SCY 1, AND P. (SEE ORDER FOR DETAILS) WILLIAMS, J

COMM 100%15 SCY (2C: MICHAEL BELSKY, ATTORNEY FOR BRIAN RICE, JANICE BLEDSOE
COMM 100916 &CY DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORWEY, OFFICE OF STATE'S ATTORNEY FOR
coMM 100515 £CY FOR BALTO. ClTY)

COMM 100515 §CB STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSUFE FLD

COMM 100815 VG1 CSET PMOT; P31; 10/14/15%; VGI (FR ADD QU PEP LW CK GI)

CcuMM 100815 VGI CSET PMQT; P31:; 10/13/15; VGI (FkR ADD ON PER LW CK GI)

oMM 100815 SCY DATE STAMFED & ORDERED 10/8/15, HEARING UPON PRE-TRIAL

COMM 100815 3CY MOTIONS TN THESE CASES IS SCHEDULED TO OCCUR ON OCTOBER 13,
COMM 100815 SCY AWC OCTOBER 14, 2015 AT 9:30 A.M. " IS ORDERED, THAT ALL
CcoMM 100815 SCY PROVISIONS OF THE SECURITY/MEDIA FROTOCOL ORCER DATED AUGUST
CCMM 100815 SCY ¢%, 201% 3SHALL APELY TO THIS HEARING. PIERSCN, J

COMM 190815 34T GTATE'S SNPFLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FILED BY JANICE BLEQRSOE
COMM 100915 CNN STATE'S RESPONSE TU DEFENDANT'S SUPPLEMEUT TC DEFENDANTS
COMM 100915 CNN JOINT MOTION TO COMPEL AND FOR SANCTIONS

HCAL 191315 CYH F31;0900;528 ;5T ; ,;POST;PAV;WILLIAMS, BARRY:8C%
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oMM 161315 &CY KREPLY 7O 3TATE'S RESPONSE TO CEFT'S MOTION TO DI3MISS FUOR
oMM 161315 SCY FAILURE TO CHARGE A CRIME FLD

HCAL 161315 CKW P31;0930;528 ;PMOT:; ;CONT: ;WILLIAMS, BARRY:8C9

coMM 1C1315 ChW DEFENSE MOTION FOR POSTPONEMENT AT MOTIONS HEARING IS

COMM 101315 CKW EEREBY HEARD ANLD DENIED; DEFENSE MOTION TO DISMISS

COMM 1G:31% CKW STATEMENT IS WITHDRAWN; DEFZNSZI MOT1ON FOR SEQUESTRATION
coMm 16.315 CKW 13 HEREBY HEAPD AND GRANTED; CONTINUE ON 3/9/16 PT31

COMM 101415 CKW DATE STAMFEL AND ORDERED ON 10/14/1% THAT IN CONSIDERATION
CoMM 1C1415 CKW CF DEF'S JOINT MOTION TO COMPEL AND FGR SANCTIONS, THE TOURT
COMM 1Ci4lS CKW HAVING FOUND TEAT THE STATE HAS FAILZID TG FRODUCE

COMM 1C141°% KW INFOPMATION THIS COURT DEEMS EXCULPATORY, IT IS THIS 14TH
coMM 1C1415 CKW DA¢ OF CCTOBEP ZC15 HEREBY ORDERED THAT DEF'S MOTIOMN I3
COMM 1C1415 CKW GRANTED IN PART AND HEREBY ORDERD THAT THE STATE ON OR

COMM 11415 CKW BEFORE 10/28/13, PROVIDE COUNSEL FOR DEFS WITH COPIES OF ANY
COMM 1€1415 CKW AND ALL COCUMENTS PERTAINING TU THE INVESTIGATION AND

coMM 101415 CTKW PROSECUTLON OF DEF3. ALL OTHER REQUESTS BY THE STATE AND
oMM 101415 Ce&W THE DEFS FOR SANCTIONS ARE HEREBY DENTED PER

COMM 101415 CKW JUCGE BARRY C. WILLIAMS (SEE ORDER}; CC COPIES TO

CoMM 101415 CXW MIZHAEL BELSKY, ATTY FOR BRIAM PLCE AHD JANICE BLED3CE
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CASE INQUIR{ 098:2
A32449 QD Y DCM T 090215
PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COUMMENT
DEPUTY STATE'S ATTY, OFFICE OF TBE STATE'S ATTY FOR
BALTIMORE CITY
DATE STAMPED & OFDERED 10/14/15, ON MAY 14, 2015, THIS COURT
RECEIVED THE STATE'S MOTION FOR ISSUANCE OF ORDER BARRING
EATRAJUDICIAL STATEMENTS. ON SEPTEM3ER 28, 2015, THIS COURT
RECEIVED THZ DEFT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF THE DENIAL
OF MOTION FOR REMOVAL & REQUEST FOR HERRING. THE DEFT'S
MOTIOH NOTED HIS CONCERN FOR THE ACCUMULATION OF PRETRIAL
PUBLICITY, THCLUCING THE DISCLOSURE OF EVICENCE NOT IN THE
PUBLIC RECORD, & THE EFFECT OF SUCH ON THE VICR DIRE PROCESS
& HLS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL. ACCORDINGLY, IT I3 HEREBY
OFDERED THAT: 1.) THIS ORDER IS BINDING ON THE CEFT, ALL
ATTCGRNEYS FOR THE DEFT & THE 3TATE, & ON ALL EMPLOYEES,
KEPPESENTATIVES, OR AGENTS OF SUCH ATTORNEYS. IT SHALL
REMAIN IN FORCE UNTIL THE CONCLUSIUN OF THIS CASE OR UNTIL
FORTHER ORDEP QF THIS COURT. 2.) HO PERSON COVERED BY THIS
GRDER SHALL MAKE OR ISSUE ANY EXTRAJUDICIAL STATEMENT,
WRITTEN OR QFAL, CONCERNING THIS CASE FOR DISSEMINWATION BY
MEAHS OF PUBL-C COMMUNICATION. 3.) COUNSEL ARE REMINDED OF
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9:2%:48 Mondav, February 0f, 2016

. .
02/08/1% CRIMINAL <CODRT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAU LT R32449 CCD Y DCM C 090.215
EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME ROCM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 101515 SCY THEIR ETHICAL DUTIES & OBLIGAITONS AS SET FORTH IN THE
COMM 191515  3CY MD PULES CF FROFESSIONAL CONDUCT, RULE 3.6, TRIAL PUBLICITY.
CoMM 10151% ECY 4.) O PERSON COVERED BY THIS ORDER SHALL AVOID OR
COMM 101515  SCY CIRCUMVENT ITS SFFECT BY ACTIOWS THAT INDIRECTLY, BOUT
COMM 191513  SCY CELIRERATELY, BRING ABOUT A VIOLATTUN OF THIS ORDER. 5.}
CoMM 1901515 SCY IF ANY PERSON BELIEVES THAT EVENTS HAVE OCCURRED THAT SHOULD
COMM 101513 STf RZSULT IN A MOULIFIATION OF [HIS ORDER, S0UCH PERSCH MAY SEEK
~OMM 101515 SCY RELIEF FRCM THE COURT. 6.} THE PROHIBITIUN ON MAKING EXTRA
CoMM 101515 §CY JUDICIAL STATEMENTS APPLIES TO THE REPOSTING OR REPUBLICA-
CoMM 1015153 SCy TION OF ANY STATEMENTS MADE PPlOR TC THE ENTRY OF THIS ORCER
COMM 101515 SCY THAT WOULD NOW CONSTITUTE A VIOLATION OF THIS ORDER. & 7.)
CoMM 1901515 SCY UWOTHING IN THIS ORDER SHALL BE CONSTRUED TO LIMIT ANY RIGHTS
COMM 191515  SCY OF THE MEDIA OR THE PUBLIC PURSUANT TO THE FIRST AMENDMENT
COMM 1901515 3CY O] TG LIMIT PUBLIC ACCESS TO COURT PROCEEDINGS AS ALLOWED
coMM 101515 SCY BY STATUTE, RULE OR COURT ORDER. WILLIAMS, J (CC: MICHAEL
COMM 101515  SCY¥ BELSKY, ATTCORNEY FOR BRIAN RICE, JANICE BLEDSCE, DEPUTY
coMM 101515 SCY STATE'S ATTORNEY, OFFICE TF THE STATE'S ATTORMEY FOR BALTO.
coMM 101515 5CY CITY) (SEE ORDER FOR GOOD CAUSE SHOWN;
coMM 1J201%S S8T MOTION TO DISMLISS FOR FAILURE TC CHARGE A CRIME FILED

NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 028
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9:2%:19 Monday, February 08, 2016
a .

02/02/1¢ <CHRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMCRC CASE INQUIRY 09:23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32449 COD Y DCM < 09GL15
EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME ROTM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

coMM 10211¢ SCB STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLD

COMM 11141% CPR STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO CISMISS POR

CoMM 110415 CPR EA1LURE TO CHARGE A CRIME

COoMM 010<1¢€ 13 STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL CISCLOSURE OF EXPERT WITNESS

COMM 010%1e SCY MOTICH TO INTERVENE TO SEEK ACCESS TO COURT RECORDE ANC
CoMM 01C516 SCY PROCEECINGS AND REQUEST FOR HEARING FLD

CuMM 011416 3C¢ DATE STAMPED & ORDERED 1/13/16, UPON COMSULATION WITH THE
CoMM 011416 SCY PARTIES TO THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASE THRQUGH COUNSEL, IT IS
coMM 011416 SCY ORDERED THAT A HEARING IS SCHECULED FOR JANUARY 20, 2016
CuMM 011416 SC: AT 2:20 P.M. WILLIAMS, J {(CC. MICHAEL BFLSKY, ATTY FOR
COMM 0)14)0 3CY BRTAN RICE, JANICE DLEDSOE, OEPUTY STATE'S ATTY, OFFITE OF
oMM 011416 STy THE STATE'S ATITY FOR BALTO. CITY)

oMM 011416 58T STATE'S MOTION TO COMPEL A WITHESS TO TESTIFY FURSUAUT TO
coMM 011416 38T SECTION 9-123 OF THE TCOURTS & JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ARTICLE
COMM 011416 S8BT TILED BY MARILYN MOSB:

coeMM 011516 3Cy DEFT LT. BRIAN RICE'S OPPOSITION TO THE STATE'S MOTION
CoMM 011516 3CY TO COMPEL A WITNESS TO TESTIFY PUPSUANT TO SECTION 9-123
COMM 011510 SCY OF THE COURTS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEGCINGS ARXRTICLE FLD

CoMM 011516 CPR SECURITY/MELIA PROTOCOL ORDER

NEXT PAGE p/u PAGE 0293
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9'2%:49 Monday, Fekruary 9&, C01€

:
- .

02/08/716 <CRIMINAL CCURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 99:23
CASE 115141035 ST A RICE, BRIAN LT A32419 <COD ¥ DCM C 699215
EVENT ODATE CPER FART TIME FPOOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

CoOMM 011916 CNtl DEFEVNDANT WILLIAM PORTER'S OPPCOSITION TO THE STATE'S

<OMM 011916 CNIl MOTION TO COMPEL A WITNESS TO TESTIFY EURSUAMT TO SECTION
COMM 011916 ClN 9-123 OF THE ZGURTS ANC JUDICIAL PPOCEEDINGS ARTICLE

COMM 012zCLé€ CHN 3TATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT BPIAN RICE'S OPPOSITION

COMM (G1201¢ CNM TO THE STATE'S MOTION TC CUMPEL A WiITNESS TC TESTIFY

COMM C12016 CNN PURSUANT TO SECTIOMN 9-123 OF THE CODRTS AND JUDICIAL

COMM 012016 CNN PROCEEDINGS ARTICLE

HCAL 012016 SCB P31;0930;528 ;HEAR; :CONT; JWILLIAMS, BARRY;8C3

COMM 012014 SCB CSET HEAR; P31; 01/20/1€; 3CB

COMM 101201¢€ SCB STATE'S MOT1ON TC COMPEL PORTER'S TESTIMCUY DURING TRIAL
coMM 012016 SCB [S HEREBY HEARD AND DENIED

CoMM 012016 SCB DEF'S MOTION FOP SPEEDY TRIAL RIGHT IS DENTED; CONTINUE ON
COMM 012016 SCB OPRIGINAL SCHEDYULE

COMM 012816 CPR STATE'S SUFPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE

COMM 020416 LSt STATE'S MOTICZ OF AFPEAL FLO. OGN CEHIAL OF MOTION TO COMPEL
COMM 020516 CSU FLD. PER MICHAEL SCAATZOW, ASA CHECK #1470 IN THE AMOUNT OF
COMM 02Cs16 CsU $61.00. DUZ T¢ TRANSMIT ON 04-04-16.

COMM 020416 Cs0) wtrivcasreavasvns v v A AGCTONED TO LMHY **4¢wrstdhhabtstaabboades
CoMM 02C516 3CRB STATE'S MOTION TO STA: PROCEEDINGS PENDING APPEAL FLD

NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 030

E. 245



-

9:237:50 Monday, February 08, <016
.

02/98/1¢ CFIMINAL COURT <CF BALTIMORE
CASE 11%131035% 3T A RICE, BRIAN LT
IDEXT AOD/FILE

CON PFULL NAME/PHONE NUMBER
AKA RICE, PBRIAW SCOTT

coD B00DSON, CAESAR P OFC

COZ NERC, EDWARD MICHALL COFC

C0O2 PORTER, WILLIAM G 9FFICER

COD WHITE, ALICIA SERGEANT

ADF BALL, CHAZ R
310-€85-2022

ACF BELSK<, M1THAEL
410-¢85-2022

ASA MCSBY, MARILYN J

ASA FILLION, MATTHEW

ASA BLEDSOE, JANICE L

443-984-2966
NEXT PAGE

A32384
A32333
A32386
A32385
35445

52933

£89290
652491

6877€

052715
052215
052215
052215
052215

061915
052713
060115
052715
091015
091015
06091%
060915
052215
072415

CASE INQUIRY 9%:23
A32449 COD Y BCM C €30215
STREET/CITY STATE ZIECODE V/W

242 W 29TH ST

BALTIMORE MD 21211

242 W 23TH ST

BALTIMORE ™MD 21211

242 W 29TH 3TREET
BALTIMOPE MD 21211

242 W 2STH STREET
BALTIMORE MD 21211

300 E LOMBARD ST #1100
BALTIMORE ™MD 21202

300 EAST LCMBARD ST STF 11090
BALTIMORE MD 21292

120 E BALTIMORE 3T
BALTIMORE MD 21202

120 E BALTTMORE STREET
BALTIMORE MD 21202

120 E BALTIMOKRE ST 10TH FL
BALTIMORE ™MD 21202
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50 Monday, c01¢&
L3 o'

0ez/08s16 CRIMINAL CCURT
TASE 115141039 3T A RICE,

~ON FULL NAME/Z?HONE HUMBZR

ASA SCHATZOW, MICHAEL

2}: february 0u,

¢F BALTIMORE
BRIAN LT

ICENT ADD/FILE
717876 061615

CASE INQUIRY 909:23
A32449 COD Y DCM C 090215
STREET/CITY STATE ZIPCCDE V/W
120 E BALTIMORE ST L0TH FL

06171% BALTIMCRE MD 21202

PO TAYLOR, DAWNYELL S G932 052215 DET DIV HOMICIDE SECTION
BAIL TYFE S OPDATED ON 05/22/15 BY S8T 001

AMOUNT 350000 TOTAL 0 PROPERTY VAL 0 MORTGAGE 0

DATE POSTED 050115 BATIL NG 2015-GG-000201 LOC DC GR RENT

DATFE. FORFEIT JODGE IDENT

FORFEIT CJUMMENT

DATE EXTENDED DAYS EXTENDED 000 JUDGE IDENT

DATE JUDGEMENT

DATE CLOSED REASON JUDGE IDENT
BONDSMAN1 RAUB, GARr E IDENT TELEPHONE

ADDKRESS 214 EAST LEXINGTON ST CITY BALTIMCRE ST MU ZIP 21200
BONDSMALC

ADDRESS CITY ST ZIp
CUMP/PROEFERTY *LEXINGTON HATTONAL INS CO iDENT 12
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR BALTIMORE CITY, MARYLAND

STATE OF MARYLAND

VS. Case Number:
115141037
WILLIAM PORTER,

DEFENDANT .

REPORTER®"S OFFICIAL TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
(Excerpt - Testimony of William Porter)

Baltimore, Maryland
Wednesday, December 9, 2015
BEFORE:
HONORABLE BARRY G. WILLIAM, Associate Judge
(and a jury)
APPEARANCES:
For the State:
JANICE L. BLEDSOE, ESQUIRE
MICHAEL SCHATZOW, ESQUIRE
MATTHEW PILLION, ESQUIRE
JOHN BUTLER, ESQUIRE
For the Defendant:
JOSEPH MURTHA, ESQUIRE
GARY E. PROCTOR, ESQUIRE

* Proceedings Digitally Recorded *

Transcribed by:

Patricia Trikeriotis

Chief Court Reporter

111 N. Calvert Street
Suite 515, Courthouse East
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

1
E. 248



TABLE OF CONTENTS

VOIR
STATE”S WITNESSES: DIRECT CROSS REDIRECT RECROSS DIRE
William Porter 4 91 154 175 --
DEFENDANT”S EXHIBITS: IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE
9 (Photograph of Bruce and
Presbury Street) -— 23
10 (CCT Image of Mount Street) 37 38
11 (Photograph of Western District) 77 77
STATE’S EXHIBITS: IDENTIFICATION EVIDENCE
34-A (Transcript of William
Porter’s Police Interview
on April 17t, 2015) 104 --
77 (Disc of CCTV footage from
North and Pennsylvania) 144 144
2

E. 249



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

PROCEEDINGS

(Excerpt - Testimony of Officer William Porter
began at 10:48 a.m. )

MR. PROCTOR: At this time, the Defense will
call Officer Porter.

THE COURT: All right. Very well.

MR. MURTHA: Your Honor, just -- is there any
way that get turned off?

(Brief pause.)

MR. MURTHA: Thank you.

THE COURT: Swear the witness 1iIn.

THE CLERK: Sir, raise your right hand, sir.
Whereupon,

WILLIAM PORTER,
the Defendant, having first been duly sworn, was examined
and testified on his own behalf as follows:

THE CLERK: Thank you, sir.

Have a seat, and state your name.

THE WITNESS: William Porter.

THE COURT: You may proceed.

Ladies and gentlemen, you’ll note in a few
seconds that Mr. Proctor seems to have a cold that has
been going around this courthouse for the last couple of
months, just bear that in mind.

MR. PROCTOR: Thank you, sir.

3
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IT anyone can’t hear, put a hand up.

DIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q. Officer Porter, did you know Freddie Gray?
A. Yes, 1 did know Freddie Gray.

I saw Freddie Gray on a daily routine. Every
day, 1| saw Freddie Gray out. |1 worked foot -- on our
foot patrol in the Gilmor Homes up at North and Carey and
Pennsy and North. He was a regular fixture up there.

And 1T he wasn’t dirty, he’d come over and talk
to me.

Q.- What do you mean?
A. Dirty means, you know, that you have drugs, you
have, like, a pack of drugs on you.

IT he wasn”’t, he’d come over and talk to me.
And 1°d talk with Brandon Ross and to Davonte Roary. |
talked to all the guys up there.

Q- Did you have a problem with him?

A Not at all, no.

Q.- So then when he said he needed a medic, why
didn’t you call for one?

A Well, 1 didn’t call for a medic because after
talking to Freddie Gray, Mr. Gray, he was unable to give
me any reason for -- for any kind of medical emergency.

Just talking with him, 1 didn’t see anything externally,

4
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any cuts or wounds or anything.

And the medic usually takes a while to come --
come to a scene. Where we were Mr. -- the transport
would have transported Mr. Gray to the hospital in 10
minutes. It usually takes a little bit longer for them
to get to us, and for them to assess the scene, and take
him to a hospital.

Q- And why didn’t you seatbelt him at Druid Hill
and Dolphin?

A. Just prior training and experience, as everyone
has said, that wagon back there is pretty tight. You
know, 1t becomes a -- when 1°m walking iIn, my gun side --
I’m right handed, so my gun side is on the right. So
going into the wagon, my gun is always presented to the
prisoners who are sitting along the wall. So it always
presents a problem getting into the wagon.

It’s just -- throughout all of my training,
I1’ve seatbelted people inside my vehicle, but 1 -- my
personal cruiser, but never the wagon.

Q.- At Druid Hill and Dolphin, did Mr. Gray tell
you he couldn’t breathe?

A. Absolutely not.

Q.- So why does Detective Teel’s report say
differently?
A. Detective Teel’s report. She called me on my
5
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way down to Virginia. |1 was on my way -- | answered the
phone just because | knew it was a Baltimore City number.
She asked me, you know, could 1 explain to her what
happened.

And assuming that she had known -- that she had
investigated the case, that she had known that 1 had been
all of the stops from one to -- well, with the exception
of one, but one to six | had been at all the stops from
the beginning. So 1 started from the beginning, which
was Presbury and Mount, in which Mr. Gray had been hurt,
saying he couldn’t breathe, and that he needed an asthma
inhaler.

Q- Okay. Now let’s start at the beginning.

Where did you grow up, Sir?

A I grew up in Baltimore City, West Baltimore
more specifically. Within the -- in the Western
District, various areas. Carey and Edmondson Avenue is
where 1 lived. 1 lived on Braddish, 1800 block of
Braddish. The 1700 block of Ashburton. I lived on --
then on Riggs. So a lot of areas in the Western.

Q- And other than being a police officer, have you

had any other jobs?

A. Yes, | have.
Q- And what are those?
A Other than being a police officer, 1 worked at

6
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Towson Commons Movie Theater when it was still there. |1
also worked at a computer company with one of my mentors.
Q. What high school did you graduate from?
A. I graduated from National Academy Foundation.

Q- And what did you do after that?

A. After that 1 -- I went to Villa Julie
University -- started Villa Julie College, which is now
known as Stevenson University. 1 attended there for two

to three years.

Q- And when did you start coming into regular
contact with police officers?

A. Very young. Being young, my mom didn’t have a
-— or my family didn”t have much money. So she couldn’t
pay for summer camp; she needed to work during the day.
So I joined the Police Athletic League. At the Police
Athletic League, 1 came into regular contact with --
contacts -- 1°m sorry -- with officers every day.

Q- Okay. And how would you describe that contact?

A It was always positive. You know, it was like
a camp setting, so I -- you know, we came in. They gave
us a little breakfast. We’d do activities throughout the
day. They’d give us lunch.

IT you had gone to the PAL Center during school

time, they’d -- they’d help you with school -- 1 mean

with your homework.
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Every Friday, they would take us out to various
places in Baltimore City, like the Baltimore Aquarium,
the zoo, things like that.

Q. Did you ever think about joining the military?

A. I did think about joining the military,
specifically the Air Force. My dad and my grandfather
were both in the Air Force. Unfortunately, 1°m color

blind, so I was unable to do the Air Force.

Q. What does your mom do for a living?

A. My mom §s a nurse.

Q.- So when did you decide to join the police
force?

A I decided to join the police force just from

the experiences I had with the Police Athletic League.
And about 2010 is when I decided. And even then, we were
-- the society was having a negative image of police.
There were certain police cases that were coming up, and
people were having just a negative interpretation of
police.

And so | decided that 1 would become a police
officer, and give someone -- give -- give the people a
different view to police.

Q.- And what kind of a cop would you describe

yourself as?

A. I was always fair. |1 -- 1 had little things
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that would annoy me, such as, like, littering. Littering
would annoy me because you should be proud of where you
come from, so you shouldn’t litter.

I mean, like, Gilmor Homes iIn the Western
District is filthy. It’s filled with, like, trash all
over the place. There’s some people that walk out just,
you know, whatever they eat and whatever they’re
drinking, they’ll just drop on the ground. So, you know,
I would get on them, and say, you know, you should be
proud of where you come from.

I always tell the guys up at Pennsy and North
that -- you know, Pennsy and North was like a pivotal
place where black people, in like the 1950s, Cab Calloway
would go there, and Lena Horn would go there. And -- and
it’s become the heroin capital of the East Coast up at
Pennsy and North.

Q- Did you write tickets for minor infractions?
A. I wrote tickets for, like I said, littering.

And sometimes I would have write tickets for
loitering. 1It’s just a problem, loitering. A lot of --
you know, we have 300 plus murders here in the City. A
lot of those guys are just sitting outside loitering,
whether 1t be a corner store or a liquor store.

Q- So what do you remember about your training at

the academy, sir?
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A. Training at the academy, my academy was

extended. It was for 11 months. Typically, it"s six
months -- during my training at the academy,
unfortunately I had a -- a trainee that was shot by an
instructor. But other than that, I learned.

Q. When the trainee was shot, did the people
teaching you change?

A. Oh yeah. They -- they basically moved
everybody out, and just did a reform of the -- of the
police -- of the training academy.

Q- What kind of things did you learn at the
academy?

A. At the academy, we learned law, ACT, which is
arrest control tactics; defensive tactics; you know, just
the basics on how to become a police officer.

Q. What kind of medical training did you receive?

A I’m sorry. Just what, 1 think her name 1is,
Officer Carson-Johnson. Just that EMAT (phonetic) class,
just a three-day period, eight hours. That’s basically
was my medical class, what we sat through there.

Q. What about seatbelting?

A. We were always told to seatbelt, but it —- 1
had never been given any demonstration or anything about
seatbelting.

Q- Okay. So did you receive a copy of the General

10
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Orders at the police academy?

A. I wasn’t -- | have never ever had a physical
copy of the entire General Order. 1 know that I signed
for a piece of paper. But coming from the civilian side,
when -- when someone says we’re going to hand you
something called the General Orders, I had no idea what
that was. So, yes, 1 did sign for it.

But during the academy, 1 was given a flash
drive, and I was -- I"m sorry -- the General Orders were
put on that flash drive.

Q- After the police academy, what’s the next thing
that happens?

A. After the police academy, you do field
training. It’s supposed to be 10 weeks. Unfortunately,
our class had done six weeks of field training. You just

go under a field training officer, who"s trained to train

officers.

Q.- And during your field training, was anyone
arrested?

A. Yes. Yes. Lots of arrests.

Q- And with your -- what do you call the person
responsible for supervising you?

A. He’s called an FTO or Field Training Officer.

Q- Okay. So people were arrested during your sSiXx
weeks of field training; is that correct?

11
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Q.
A

Yes, sir.

Were they put in a wagon?

They were put In a wagon, yes.

Were they seat belted?

They were not seat belted.

How many arrests have you been present at?

I have an approximate number, probably 110

arrests for two years, but 1°ve probably been a part of

200 arrests.

Q.

wagon?
A.
Q.-

A.

Q.

And of those 200 arrests, how many left in a

Probably around 150.
And of those 150, how many were seat belted?
None.

What is your understanding of, when a detainee

gets in the wagon, whose responsibility are they?

A.

I think any officer would tell you it’s the

responsibility of the -- the wagon driver to get the

prisoner from Point A to Point B, whatever that Point B

may be.

Q.

So you’ve heard testimony about a PocketCop.

What i1s a Pocketcop?

A.

A PocketCop is actually an application that,

you know, the police department and various police

departments have. It’s placed on the departmental phone

12
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so that civilians can’t access that PocketCop app, and
it’s distributed throughout the police department.

Q- Did you have one?

A. I did not have PocketCop

Q- So i1f you wanted to check your email, how would
you do it, sir?

A. I would need to go in early or stay late, and
get on one of those antiquated computers that we talked
about earlier.

Q.- Your shifts, how many hours are they?

A. Well, it just recently turned into -- well,

it

when | was there, had recently turned into 10-hour

shifts.

Q- And of those 10 hours, what are you expected to
be doing?

A. I need to be patrolling, actively engaging the
public.

Q.- So of your 10 hours, how much time did you

physically spend at the District?

A. Just roll call, which I think it’s 27 minutes
or something like that. And then we would go on the
street. We’re expected not to come into District unless
you need to come into the District. And you’re out to
stay our and patrol.

The Western District is a pretty -- pretty

13
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violent place. You know, 1 had plenty to do.

Q.- So tell me what the average day in the life of
a Western District patrol officer, like yourself.

A. I can tell you about my first day of field
training. First day of field training, we get a call to
Club International. At Club International, we were just
doing some crowd control. |I’m with my field training
officer, the crowd was moving. And 1| hear about seven
gun shots rang out.

I then pull my service weapon, and I go into
the direction of the gun -- the gun fire. There, | meet

up with my field training officer. We located a number

one -- 1’m sorry, a black male who had been shot. 1°m
not -- an unknown amount of times.
I could actually see the -- a suspect running

down the street. And my field training officer advised
me not to run after him, but to give his -- his -- what
he looked like, his appearance, and call it out on the
radio.

Then we called for an ambulance to -- the
gentleman on the ground. He was taken away. And we then
did the area canvass. From there, we cleared out from
the scene, you know, did regular patrol.

But at the end of that night, about six o’clock

in the morning, 1 received a call of alarm of fire. From

14
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there, | witnessed a fire at a church that had been
started by -- 1t was an electrical fire. But, you know,
that’s a pretty exciting first day at work.

Q.- And what’s a typical day look like?

A. A typical day looks like that. It depends on
what shift you’re on. Baker -- 1°m sorry, baker shift,
which i1s their earliest shift, tends to be a little bit
slower.

But Charlie shift is you’re going from
beginning. You can go to domestic calls, to a missing
person®s report, to shoplifting, you know.

Q- Okay. Now, talk a little bit about a
PocketCop. If you wanted to check your email, sir, how
would you do that?

A. Like 1 said before, 1’d -- 1”’d either go in
early or stay late and get on one of the antiquated
computers. And there were only two available. So there
would be other people on the computers, and 1°d just have
to wait and check those emails.

Q. And if, for your shift, something was
important, how would you learn about i1t?

A. It’s typically read out at roll call. There
would be -- during roll call, they tell us about the
areas that we need more police presence in. They tell us

about BOLOs, be on the look out for persons and wanted
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persons. And it’s typically read out during roll call.
And whenever they have policy changes, they’re
read out during roll call.

Q.- Did you ever receive anything critically
important by email?

A. We did, yes.

Q- What kind of things?

A. Like 1 said, the wanted persons, the BOLOs.
They sent out emails every day for -- for anything. |
mean, but your email could also contain something about,
you know, a retirement dinner from someone at the
Southern District.

Q- So in the month of April, do you know how many
emails you received?

A. It’s approximately 1300 emails, over 1300.

Q- And did you ever send emails from Baltimore
City Police Department?

A. No. I didn’t really send emails, no.

Q. So -- and April 9*". April 9*, the day that
Lieutenant Quick sent out that email; are you familiar
with that?

A. I am familiar with that, yes.

Q.- How many emails did you get that day?

A. 44 emails that day.

Q. If you were present at an arrest, and drugs
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were recovered, what would you do with them?

A. IT 1 were the arresting officer, 1 would have
to, you know, place them in my pocket until 1 get to the
District where I could package them.

Q- You were provided with evidence bags?

A. They’re located at the District. But, no, on
the street, 1°m not provided with evidence bags, no.

Q- So In your day-to-day responsibilities, right,
how much of that, what you do every day, did you learn at
the academy?

A. Probably about 20 percent.

Q- So where did the other 80 percent come from?

A. On the street training and experiences.

Q- By whom?

A. Senior officers and field training officers.

Q. Now, what’s use of force?

A Use of force is -- is -- you know, if I were to
use my baton to hit -- strike someone, that’s a use of
force. 1f |1 were to use a taser, that’s a use of force.

IT 1 were to deploy mace, that’s a use of force.

Q- Did you ever have any findings that you used
force?

A. No. No findings that I used force.

Q. So --

A. I was -- I was always able to --

17
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THE COURT: You need a question.
THE WITNESS: [I°m sorry.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q.- So how could you de-escalate the situation
without using force?
A. I was always able to use my rapport to kind of

talk the guy into cuffs, and not have to strike him or

anything.

Q.- Other than at the range, did you ever fire your
gun?

A. No, sir.

Q- What’s officer safety?

A. Officer safety is just, you know, as | said,
officer safety, you -- you want to make sure your
officers are safety and yourself is safety -- | mean,

your safety. That’s basically it.

Q.- And how important was that to you as a police
officer?

A. It was paramount. You know, as a police
officer -- 1 became a police officer to protect life and

property. And before property, comes life. So it was

pivotal. It was paramount.
Q.- You weren’t trained on officer safety at the
academy?
A. I can’t say that there’s specific training, but
18
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it’s just ingrained to protect life. Your life, the
public’s life, and also your fellow officer’s life.

Q- How did every roll call end?

A. They would typically say make sure you, you
know, back each other up.

Q. Okay. Now, let’s talk about April 12t_ April
12th’s a Sunday; right?

A. It is, yes.

Q.- So what’s the first thing you do every Sunday
morning?

A. On Sunday, we have inspections. So that’s a
gun Inspections. You get inspected as far as your
uniform and your appearance. You also have vehicle
inspections every Sunday.

Q.- Okay. So did you do a vehicle inspection that
morning?

A. I did do a vehicle inspection that morning.

Q.- What, if anything, significant happened during
your vehicle inspection?

A. While -- while waiting to wash my car,
Lieutenant Rice comes over the air and says that he’s in
a foot pursuit.

Q.- Okay. Now, let’s step back a little. You’re
title as a police officer is what?

A. Police officer.
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> O

Q.

Who’s your direct supervisor?

My direct supervisor would be a sergeant.
And on that morning who’s the sergeant?
Sergeant Alicia White.

And who’s her supervisor?

Her supervisor is Lieutenant Rice.

And so when you say Lieutenant Rice called a

foot pursuit, that’s your boss” boss?

A.

Q.

In a way, yes.

And the -- explain, in case i1t’s not clear, 1s

Baltimore broken Into separate divisions?

A.

Q.

A.

Q.
A

Q.

Yes. We have nine different districts.
Southeast, Northwest, that sort of thing?
Yes, sir.

And you’re in the Western; right?

I’m In the Western.

On that Sunday morning who’s in charge of

Western District?

A.

Lieutenant Rice i1s the shift leader. He’s the

shift commander. He’s the commander for the District

that morning.

Q.

Okay. So Lieutenant Rice calls out a foot

pursuit; right?

A.

Q.

Yes, sir.

Does he use any codes?

20
E. 267



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

A. I can’t say for certain. But, you know, the
typical code would be, you know, 10-16.

Q. Let’s talk about that a little, sir.

Q. What’s a 10-167

A. A 10-16 is urgent backup.

Q. Are you free to disregard that?

A There are very rare occasions. You know, if
I’m protecting life, then yes, I’m free to. But if I’m
just washing my car, then no 1°’m not free to disobey a
10-16.

Q. So he says 10-16, what do you do?

A. I immediately run out to my vehicle and respond
to the areas in which he called out.

Q. And where 1s that area?

A. He may have said Gilmor Homes or -- or, you
know, Mount Street and Westwood because | responded over
to Westwood and Bruce Street.

Q.- Okay. And when you get there, what do you do?

A. When I get there, 1 exit my vehicle. 1 walk
southbound on Bruce Street where 1 can -- where 1 locate
Lieutenant Rice.

MR. PROCTOR: May 1 just retrieve one of these?
Thank you.
Judge, I’m not sure if the jury can see. Could

Officer Porter get off the stand, and just have him point
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to the map?
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q. Officer Porter.
Now, I’m the wrong person to be saying this
sir, but you have to keep your voice up.
Okay. Can you see on this map where you parked
your vehicle?
A. My vehicle was in Bruce and --
THE COURT: The witness needs to move to the
right of 1t so all the jurors can see.
THE WITNESS: [I°m sorry.
My vehicle --
THE COURT: No, no. Let --
MR. PROCTOR: How’s that?
THE WITNESS: My vehicle would have been here.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

O

Okay. And what direction did you walk in?

>

Southbound. In this direction, down.
Q.- And who did you see as you walked that way?
A Lieutenant Rice was (indiscernible at
11:11:30 a.m.)
Q. And as best as you can point out on Defendant’s
Exhibit 1, where was Lieutenant Rice?
A. Let’s see.

THE COURT: You need to move out the way of the
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THE WITNESS: [I°m sorry.

It may be covered up. Somewhere in here.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Okay. You can take the witness stand again.

So when you see Lieutenant Rice, do you have a

discussion with him?

A.

Q.

A.

Yes.
And based on that, what do you do?

From there, 1 began searching for a second

suspect that he said was in this area, general area.

Q.

marked --

Okay. [I’m showing you what’s about to be

MR. MURTHA: 9. 9; is that correct?
MR. PROCTOR: As a defendant’s exhibit.
THE CLERK: Number 9.
MR. PROCTOR: 9.
(Defendant™s Exhibit Number 9
was received in evidence.)
THE COURT: 1Is it for ID or for entry?
MR. PROCTOR: 1I1t"s for entry.
THE COURT: Any objection?
MR. SCHATZOW: No objection.
BY MR. PROCTOR:

I’m showing you what’s been marked as

23
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Defendant’s Exhibit 9, and ask you if you recognize that?

A. Yes. That looks familiar.

Q. What is i1t?

A. That’s going to be Bruce Street, and that is
Presbury.

Q- Okay. And does that fairly and accurately
depict the area where you were looking for the second
suspect, part of it?

A. I —- yes. 1 would have been behind these
houses here.

Q. Okay. And you’re pointing to the top right
corner of the screen, to the right of where the person on
the bicycle is?

A. Yes.

MR. PROCTOR: 17°d ask that be published to the

Jury.

THE COURT: Very well. 1It’s entered and
published.

(Brief pause.)

THE COURT: Excuse me one moment.

(Brief pause.)

THE COURT: You can retrieve it.

MR. PROCTOR: Thank you, sir.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q.- So, Officer Porter, as you’re searching for the
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second suspect, do you hear anything?

A. Yes, sir. While searching for the second
suspect, | can hear a gentleman, 1 didn’t know at the
time, but 1 know now, to be Mr. Gray. He was just
yelling i1naudible stuff. At some point in time, he said
I can’t breathe, 1 need an asthma inhaler. He also said
something about his legs. | could hear -- I was just a

block over, and 1 could hear what he was yelling.

Q- So you can hear it, but can you see i1t?
A. I cannot see it, no. 1°m behind houses.
Q. So approximately how long do you spend

searching for a second suspect?
A. I don’t have a good -- It was -- it wasn’t --
it was a short time. It wasn’t very long.

Lieutenant Rice walks back over -- walks back
to me and, you know, tells me to 10-6, don’t continue
that search any longer.

Q- Okay. So again --

THE COURT: Excuse me one second. 1 need
Defense 9. 1 need it over here with the exhibits
until —-

MR. PROCTOR: Absolutely, sir.

THE CLERK: Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

BY MR. PROCTOR:
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Q. What’s a 10-6, sir?
A. A 10-6 just means to stand by.
Q- It means -- okay.

So after Lieutenant Rice says 10-6, where do

you go?

A. From there 1 just do some -- some crowd control
over -- 1’m on Mount Street and Presbury. Just standing
at that corner, there was some -- some citizens there

just expressing that they didn’t like the way Mr. Gray
was arrested.
Q. At stop one, the -- with all -- you’ve been

present for testimony; right?

A. Yes.

Q- And you’ve heard people describe the six stops;
right?

A. Yes.

Q.- And what we’re talking about at the moment is

Stop 1; is that true?

A. Yes. That i1s the moment -- that’s what we’re
talking about at the moment, yes.

Q. Do you ever see the wagon at Stop 17

A. The wagon just may be pulling away, but no 1
don’t see the wagon.

Q- Do you ever see it with the doors open?

A. No. No.
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Q- Did you ever see anyone inside it?

A. No. I never saw anyone get inside 1it.

Q- Did you ever see anyone getting lifted up iInto
it?

A. No.

Q. So you’re talking about crowd control in Gilmor
Homes?

A. Yes.

Q- In your experience, how many of the arrests

you’ve been present at happened at Gilmor Homes?

A. A large number happened in Gilmor Homes.
Gillmor Homes -- yes, a lot.
Q- So iIn your experience, when someone gets

arrested at Gilmor Homes, what happens?

A. When someone gets arrested in Gilmor Homes --
it’s a housing project. Typically, people tend to come
out and start -- a crowd starts to gather, and they --

they just start to yell things at us.

Q.- So why did you feel 1t necessary to do crowd
control?
A. Just because I -- | —-- during my shifts, |

frequently walk foot in Gilmor Homes, and 1°’m a familiar
face, and 1 know people by first names, and I talk to
them a lot. So, you know, 1 can typically get people to

calm down In -- in the Gilmor Homes.
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Q- Did you see the -- the video that was shown, |

think it was Mr. Moore recorded. Did you see that video?

A. I saw that video in court, yes.

Q.- And there were people screaming and hollering?
A. There are, yes.

Q- Is that a frequent occurrence?

A. Absolutely, In Gilmor Homes, yes.

Q- So after the -- how long do you spend, roughly,
doing crowd control?

A. Not long at all. Lieutenant Rice instructed
everybody to clear out and get out of Gilmor Homes pretty
-— pretty quickly.

Q. So what did you do?

A. I then walked back to my vehicle and controlled
-- 1 mean, continued my regular patrol duties.

Q- Okay. Roughly, do you recall what direction
you drove in?

A. From Westwood, 1 probably went northbound on
Fulton and then went eastbound on North Avenue.

Q. And what’s the next thing of any significance
that happens?

A. I -—- 1 hear someone call for the wagon to go to
Mount and Baker so that it could place shackles on, |
know now to be Mr. Gray, and fill out the Central Booking

Bin Number thing.
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Is that commonly called the toe tag?

A. It is commonly called the toe tag, yes.

Q- Tell the jury what a toe tag is.

A A toe tag is just, you know, we place --
there’s identification numbers when you take people into
Central Booking. We call it the Bin Number. You just
write down the Bin Number from the bracelet that we place
on the prisoner.

And you just write on a piece of paper and the
wagon driver or the transport driver hands it over to the
people over at Central Booking. And that’s how you --
that’s the receipt for the prisoner.

Q. Okay. So you hear someone say they’re going to

toe tag him.

A. Yes.
Q.- Does anyone request for assistance?
A. After -- after they -- after the wagon -- 1

guess after the wagon heads back there, there’s another
call on the radio, just for one more unit 1 think they
said, and 1 respond. 1 had just been up the street. 1
was going to Mount and Baker.

Q. Was there a code given?

A. I’m —— I’m not certain. | don’t recall.

Q- So why”’d you go?

A. Just that’s what 1 do. That’s my sector. |
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work in Sector 4. And that’s my responsibility.

Q.- And, by the way, we talked about the hierarchy,
okay. And your shift is Baker shift?

A. At that time it would have been Baker shift,
yes.

Q. How many people are supposed to be working on a
Baker shift?

A. 17 officers.

Q- How many were there that day?

A. It may have been 10 to 11 officers there.

Q. How many sergeants are you supposed to have in
a shift?

A. Three sergeants, or it should be four sergeants

for every sector, but three to four sergeants.
Q.- How many on a shift?
A. On a shift? Like 1 said, three to four

sergeants, depending on how many sectors there are in the

District.

Q.- How many were there that day?

A. Just one.

Q. How many wagons are you supposed to have on a
shift?

A. There’s supposed to be two wagons for my
District.

Q.- And how many were working that day?
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A.

Q-

Just one.

So now let’s talk about Stop 2; okay? Because

I think everybody iIn here knows what Stop 2 is.

You said you headed over there. When you go

there, what’s going on?

A.

I stopped my car about 20 feet back. 1 could

hear the crowd. |1 could hear people yelling at the

officers at the wagon.

-— you beat him, why’d you beat him, why’d you tase him.

And there some expletive language.

They were pulling -- at that time,

I then walked up to the back of the wagon.

I didn”t know who 1t

was, you know, because it was officers standing in front

of whoever the suspect was.

wagon,

And they were -- as they pull him into the

I turned around and 1 go to the crowd because

there’s three officers and one suspect. So there’s no

need for me to be over there. And I go to the crowd.

Q.
A.
Q.

A.

So who pulled him into the wagon?
Well, 1 know now to be Lieutenant Rice.
Did you know at the time?

Not at the time, I didn’t know. |1 speculated

between either Lieutenant Rice or Officer Nero.

Q.

Okay. And did you see Mr. Gray get lifted up

into the wagon?
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A. I think he began to go before 1 turned around.

Q.- I’m sorry. Can you repeat that?
A. I’m not certain. He may have been -- well, he
may have been just getting into the wagon. 1 think I

said something about his feet were kicking, and the other
two officers grabbed his feet, and placed him in the
wagon.

Q. So then within a few seconds, 1 think I heard
you say that you turned away from the wagon; right?

A. Yes. | turned around to the wagon to -- just
to do more crowd control. We want to make sure someone
doesn”t come up to the back of the wagon and, you know,
do something, honestly.

Q- Why didn’t you assist them in lifting Mr. Gray
into the wagon?

A Why did 1 or why didn’t 1?

Q.- Why did you not?

A. I did not because there were enough officers
there. There was three officers and one detainee.
There’s only --

Q. Who was handcuffed?

A. Who was handcuffed. There was no need for me
to go over there.

Q- Okay. So I think I heard you say you did crowd

control?
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A. Yeah. | began walking over to the crowd.

Q. What does that entail?

A. Just trying to get them to calm down. And --
and if 1 can, get them to leave the scene. Just --

Q- And is that the conversation you had with
Brandon Ross (phonetic)?

A That’s -- that’s when Brandon Ross asked me to

come over to him.

Q- Now, Brandon Ross has testified; right?

A. Yes.

Q- Tell the jury what you know about Brandon Ross.

A. I’ve —- 1°ve -- Brandon Ross and Freddie Gray
hung out a lot. 1’ve seen -- like I said, Sector 4,

which is the area we’re talking about generally, is the
sector I°m in. And 1°m usually walking foot there. 1I°m
usually talking with Brandon Ross or Freddie Gray or
various people in Gilmor Homes.

So I’ve seen him a bunch. 17ve never actually
arrested him, but 1°ve been there while he’s been
arrested also.

Q- Okay. Have you ever arrested Freddie Gray?

A. I never arrested Freddie Gray, no.

Q.- So you have this -- tell the jury about your
conversation, as you recall it, with Brandon Ross.

Q.- Well, being the type -- being the officer that
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I am, 1 built a rapport with Brandon Ross and the other
guys in the neighborhood. So Brandon asked me to come
over. And he was just explaining to me that he -- he’s
upset with the officers tasing Mr. Gray and beating Mr.
Gray. And I’m just explaining to him I had never -- 1
didn’t see anybody tase him or beat him or anything.

And he asked for a supervisor. 1 -- | point
out my supervisor on the scene, and let him know that
Lieutenant Rice is the highest guy in the District, and
he would need to talk to Lieutenant Rice. He said that
wasn’t good enough.

I then iInstructed him to call 911. He didn’t
think that was a good enough fix. So he said, you know,
we got 1t on video. And I told him, you know, if you’ve
got it all on video then, you know, go to the media with
it and get i1t broadcasted.

Q.- And he did; right?

A. I guess so.

Q. You mentioned the taser.

A. Yes.

Q- Did you have one?

A. I was not issued a taser. No, I didn’t have a
taser.

Q- Did you see the wagon doors close?

A. No. I didn’t see the wagon doors close. | was
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talking to Brandon Ross.
Q.- Do you know what position Mr. Gray was put in

inside the wagon?

A. I saw him being pushed -- put into the wagon.
But no, I didn’t -- 1 don”’t know what position he ended
up iIn.

Q- And do you know if he was seat belted when he

put In the wagon?

A. I —- no. 1°d be making assumptions about it if
I were to say that.

Q. And by the way, you’ve both put people in a
wagon yourself, and assisted other officers doing it;
right?

A. Typically, when you arrest people, they
don’t -- they don’t want to be arrested. And they tend
to fight back sometimes -- or just sort of actively
resist. Not fighting, not throwing strikes at the
officers, but actively resisting and refusing to get into
the wagon.

So yes, I’ve had instances where 1’ve -- you
know, I was hit with a wagon door. Or they kick the

door, and the door hit me.

Q. So --
A. And 1’°ve seen that happen to officers, too.
Q.- Have you seen other officers get injured
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loading people into a wagon?

A. Not injured to the point where they needed to
get medical attention, but, you know -- you know, maybe a
Jjammed finger or, you know, little cuts, little bruises.

Q- So after talking to Brandon Ross, what did you
do?

A. Oh. After talking to Brandon Ross and -- he
then walks off. Then 1 walk back over to the wagon
because I can hear the -- I can hear kicking -- or what I
think to be kicking. 1 can hear there’s bumps, and 1 can
see the wagon shaking side to side, not back and forth
but side to side.

Q. Put your hand up as if it’s the wagon. Show me
how 1t was shaking.

A. It was going side to side.

Q.- You’re familiar with Freddie Gray; you’ve
arrested Freddie Gray. Ballpark, what was he like?

A. I haven’t -- I haven’t arrested him.

Q.- I’m sorry. You’re right.

Being In contact with him on a daily basis,
what does he weigh, roughly?

A. Probably 130, 150 pounds, something around
there.

Q- And the wagon is shaking; is that correct?

A Yes. The wagon was shaking.
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Q.

A.

And can -- 1

There’s yell

s there any loud voices happening?

ing. It’s i1naudible. He’s not

saying any specific or distinct.

Q-

Q.

Now, let me

MR. PROCTOR:

show you what”’s been marked --

Let me show Mr. Schatzow first.

(Brief pause.)

BY MR. PROCTOR:

What’s been

marked as Defendant’s Exhibit 10

and ask if you recognize that?

THE WITNESS:

(Defendant®s Exhibit Number 10
was marked for identification.)

Yes. 1It’s CCT footage from --

that appears to be Mount Street.

Q.

A.

And what does i1t depict?

In the -- in the picture, 1 can see Brandon

Ross. 1 also see myself. And there’s another officer

there. And it looks like there’s somebody behind us.

Exhibit 10

MR. PROCTOR:

Judge, 1°d move Defendant’s

into evidence.

MR. SCHATZOW: No objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT:

MR. PROCTOR:

THE COURT:

So entered.
(Defendant®s Exhibit Number 10
was received in evidence.)
May 1 just publish it again?

You may .
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MR. PROCTOR: While the jury is looking at
that, if I can just reload?

THE COURT: Absolutely.

(Brief pause.)

THE COURT: Actually, Counsel, approach while
they’re looking at that.

MR. PROCTOR: Yes, sir.

(Counsel approached the bench, and the
following ensued:)

THE COURT: (Inaudible at 11:30:00 a.m.)

MR. PROCTOR: 1I1°m doing all right. 1°d rather
keep going, but it’s up to you. |If you want to take a
break, 1”11 take one.

THE COURT: (Inaudible at 11:30:06 a.m.)

MS. BLEDSOE: A break?

MR. PROCTOR: Well, if it will make your life
easier, | won"t stand in the way of that.

THE COURT: Literally, five minutes. As soon
as they finish, we"ll break.

(Counsel returned to the trial table, and the
following ensued:)

(Brief pause.)

THE COURT: All right. Ladies and gentlemen,
we’re going to take about -- not about, we’re going to

take a five-minute break.

38
E. 285



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Please do not discuss this testimony, even
among yourselves.

Leave your notepads on the chair.

All rise for the jury.

(Brief pause.)

(Whereupon, the jury was excused from the
courtroom at 11:31 a.m.)

THE COURT: Thank you. Everyone may be seated.

Counsel, approach.

(Counsel approached the bench, and the
following ensued:)

THE COURT: 1 only need one. 1 don’t need
both. 1 just need one. That’s all | need.

It"s usually a five-minute break (inaudible at
11:32:04 a.m.) And then we’ll just go until lunch. And
lunch (Inaudible at 11:32:08 a.m.) break then.

I assume you have a bit more of the officer?

MR. PROCTOR: 25-30 minutes probably.

THE COURT: So we may be able to begin with
cross, but maybe not. We"ll see.

(Counsel returned to the trial table, and the
following ensued:)

THE CLERK: All rise.

(Whereupon, a recess was taken at 11:32 a.m.,

and the matter resumed at 11:42 a.m.)
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THE COURT: Thank you. Everyone may be seated.

You may remind the witness.

THE CLERK: You may be seated. Just reminding
you you’re still under oath. State your name for the
record.

THE WITNESS: William Porter.

THE COURT: You may proceed.

MR. PROCTOR: Thank you.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q.- Officer Porter, when we left off, we just
admitted Defendant’s Exhibit 10 into evidence.

Is that a captured image of the discussion with
Brandon Ross that you’ve already testified about?

A. Yes, sir. It is.
Q- And what’s Brandon Ross doing? Do you remember

that moment in time?

A. Vaguely.
Q.- What”s Brandon Ross doing?
A. He -- he was -- he was very upset. He was

yelling. He was very emotional.

Q- And where are your hands, sir?

A. Just down by my side, and in -- In -- we call
it the interview stance, just down by your side.

Q. Now, what dose the interview stance -- what

does that mean?
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A. You know, just when you’re -- I’m trying to
show Brandon Ross that I’m not being aggressive with him.
I’m just keeping my hands by my side, and just having a
conversation with him with hopes that he’ll then calm
down and have a conversation with me.

Q- And he did; right?

A. Well, not really. He kind of just walked away.

Q- Okay. So you testified right before the break
about the wagon shaking; is that correct?

A. Yes. Yes.

Q. While the wagon was shaking, what were you
doing?

A. I was then talking to Officer Miller. Officer
Miller was filling out the toe tag. But he was having
difficulty because the wagon -- he was filling it out on
the side of the wagon. He was having difficulty because
the wagon was shaking back -- side to side.

Q.- So 1 understand and the jury understands,

you’re saying he was writing on the side of the wagon

like this?
A. That’s correct.
Q. But because the wagon was shaking, his hand

wasn’t steady?
A. That is correct.

Q- And during that conversation -- who is Officer
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Miller?

A. Officer Miller is just a guy that 1 work with.
We were in the academy together. And, unfortunately,
he’s also a part of the Freddie Gray case.

Q- Okay. So at that point, did you learn
anything?

A. At that point in time, | asked who -- who this
prisoner was because it was causing such a -- you know, a
ruckus in the Gilmor Homes and in the (indiscernible at

11:44:-31 a.m.)

Q- And who was the prisoner?
A. The prisoner was Mr. Freddie Gray.
Q. And --

THE COURT: Counsel, approach.

(Counsel approached the bench, and the
following ensued:)

THE COURT: I just got a note from Juror Number
8 saying I’m having a difficult time consistently hearing
defense counsel.

MR. PROCTOR: 1°m doing what I can, Judge.

THE COURT: I°m sure you are. Your voice does
come iIn and out.

MR. MURTHA: Should you stand closer?

MR. PROCTOR: 1’1l stand closer to the jury.

As long as Officer -- i1f Officer Porter can’t
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hear me, he won’t be able to answer the question.
MR. SCHATZOW: Can you order him not to breathe
in my direction, Your Honor?
THE COURT: 1 understand that. That’s fine.
(Counsel returned to the trial table, and the
following ensued:)
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- Officer Porter, if you can’t hear me, let me
know; okay?
A. I will.
MR. PROCTOR: And, Judge, if the jury can’t
see, can you let me know?
THE COURT: Well, maybe -- it"s a difficult
position. This is the way the courtroom is set up.
IT you can’t see something, just signal, raise
your hand, and 1711 be looking for any of you.
Backup some anyway. That’s forward. Backup
and stop.
MR. PROCTOR: 171l try over here.
THE COURT: That’s fine.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q. Officer Porter, you said that you learned from
Officer Miller that it was Freddie Gray; right?
A. Yes. Yes.

Q.- What did the name Freddie Gray mean to you?
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A. Well, 1°ve known Freddie Gray from the
neighborhood. [1”ve seen him a bunch of times. But what
I said to Officer Miller was that he had done the same
thing or similar to the same thing about two weeks
earlier where he was arrested iIn Gilmor Homes, at Mount
and Baker again. But this time he was attempting to kick
out the windows of an SUV.

After being arrested, Sergeant Stevens asked
for backup because Gilmor Homes began to empty out again.
And 1 responded there.

Q. And what did you see Mr. Gray do?

A. I saw him attempt to kick out the windows. And
that’s when we opened up the door -- or 1 didn’t open the
door, but one of the officers opened the door, and you
know, tried to calm him down.

Q.- Had you -- 1 think you already testified that
you, yourself, had never arrested Freddie Gray.

A. I have never arrested Freddie Gray, no.

Q.- Had you seen him be taken in police custody on
prior occasions?

A. Yes.

Q. And typically, what would happen?

A. He would --

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained.
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BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q.- On these prior occasions you’ve seen him taken
into custody, what, if anything, did you see?

A. He would use --

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Overruled. As to what he saw, he
can testify.

THE WITNESS: He would usually act out and yell
and feign some type of injury.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q- Okay. Let’s take this one on one.

He would usually act out how?

A. Just yelling and -- and sometimes he -- he
would, you know, actively resist not -- not attempt to
hurt any officers, but actively, you know, pull away
whenever you had him in custody.

Q.- Okay. Yell?

A Yes, he would yell.

Q.- And let’s go back to Stop 1 for just a second.

When you were searching in the back of this --

in the back of those yards; you remember that?

A. Yes.

Q.- You now know from the video where the wagon is;
right?

A. Yes.
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Q- So from where you were searching to where the
wagon was, how far is that?

A. It’s not far at all. 1 would have been
essentially in the backyard of the houses where the video
was filmed.

Q. Okay. So ballpark?

A I don”t know. 1 don’t know.

Q- Okay. But you could hear him yelling from
however far away i1t was?

A. Yes. 1 could hear him.

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor. This 1is

THE COURT: Sustained. Sustained.
Again, do not lead.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q.- Could you hear -- you could hear someone
yelling?

A. I could hear someone yelling, yes.

Q.- Now, back to Stop 2, over how long that you saw

it was the wagon shaking?

A. Probably around five to eight minutes.

Q- Okay. And then what happens?

A. Well, then the wagon pulls away, and | continue
to have conversation with Officer Miller and Officer

Nero.
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Q- Okay. And ballpark, how long was that
conversation?

A. It’s not long at all. Probably another four
minutes or so. And then I get back In my car and
continue patrol duties.

Q. Okay. So where do you go?

A. I —— I’m just driving around Sector 4.

Q- Okay. And what’s the next thing that happens,
it anything?

A. The next thing that happens i1s Officer Goodson
asks for a 10-11, for someone to meet him over on Druid
Hill and Dolphin.

Q. What’s a 10-117

A. A 10-11 just to meet -- just means to meet
someone.

Q.- Okay. And who responded?

A. I answered up. And I didn’t know where Dolphin
was. But from working in the Western District, I knew
where Druid Hill was. So 1 just took Druid Hill down to
Dolphin.

Q- Okay. Stop -- we’re calling it Stop 5; right?

A. Yes.

Q. Which is where?

MR. MURTHA: Four.

MR. PROCTOR: Four?
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Q-

BY MR. PROCTOR:

I’m sorry, Stop 4. We’re calling it Stop 4,

which 1s where?

A.

Q.

A.

Stop 4 is --
Druid Hill and Dolphin?

I thought that was -- the other stop at --

Goodson stopped at by himself.

Q.

A.

here.

There’s a

Q.
correct?

A.

Q.

That’s three.
That’s three?

MR. PROCTOR: Pretty sure. Let me step over

It’s over here. Thank you.

IT 1 may show it to the witness?

THE COURT: You may.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

So let me just hold that right here.

Keep your voice in the microphone.

THE COURT: Well, why don’t you do the same?
microphone there.

MR. PROCTOR: Yes.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

So you just testified you left Stop 2; is that

That was correct.

And you go back to your patrol duties?
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A. Yes, sir.

Q.- And you hear a call over the radio for a wagon
check?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And where was that?

A. That was a Druid Hill and Dolphin.

Q- Do you see that on this map?

A. There.

Q- And that’s Stop 4; isn’t i1t, sir?

A. That 1s labeled as Stop 4, yes.

Q- Okay. 1Is Stop 4 in the Western District?

A. It is not in the Western District, no.

Q. So in your entire police career what District

was that spent iIn?

A. From the academy, 1 went over to the Western
District where I walked foot. |[I’m sorry. Field
training. From field training, | went to the Western
District where 1 walked foot. And from foot, 1 became a
patrol officer in the Western District, all in the
Western District.

Q- So when you hear Druid Hill and Dolphin, do you
know exactly where that is?

A. No. But 1 know where Druid Hill 1is.

Q- So then what do you do?

A At that point in time 1 was on North Avenue. 1
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just take North Avenue over to Druid Hill Avenue. And
from Druid Hill Avenue, there’s a one-way street, so I go
southbound on Druid Hill until 1 reach Dolphin.

Q.- Okay. And when you get to Dolphin, what, if
anything, do you see?

A. When 1 get to Dolphin, I stop just before the
intersection. And across the intersection, 1 could see
the transport wagon pulled over into a parking spot.

Q- Okay. So said you stopped. What did you do
next?

A. From there, 1 exited my vehicle. Officer
Goodson also exited his vehicle and began to walk to the
back. By the time I crossed the iIntersection, he was --
just said to me, you know, help me check this prisoner --
check the prisoner.

Q- Okay. And what happens next?

A. The doors are opened, and 1 see Mr. Freddie
Gray laying chest down or stomach down. His head is to
the -- towards the cabin of the vehicle, and his feet are
to the rear of the door. 1 then say to him, what’s up,
and he says, help.

From saying help, 1 say how can 1 help you;
what’s wrong with you. And then he says, can you help me
up- 1 think I help him up. Or -- or we’re just

kneeling, and 1°m talking to him.
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Q.

Hang on one second.

So I just want to make sure I understand. He’s

lying on his chest?

A.

Q.

A.

On his chest, yes.
And what’s his head facing?

I can’t remember what side his head may have

been facing to, but --

Q.

A.

Q.

It was on one side?
It was on one side or the other, yes.

So his chin was not touching the floor of the

No.
One cheek or the other was?
One cheek or the other was.

Okay. And when you have this conversation with

Mr. Gray, where is Officer Goodson?

A.

He was just to the rear of the wagon, just

standing outside the doors.

Q.- Could you estimate how far?

A. I don”t have a specific length. But, you know,
ifT 1 were to reach back, 1 couldn”t touch Officer
Goodson.

Q. You could not?

A. Could not touch Officer Goodson, no.

Q.- So he was a few feet away?
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A. Yes.
MR. PROCTOR: Judge, can Officer Porter come
off the stand? And can 1 use Mr. Murtha?
THE COURT: If you want to sit this way?
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- Officer Porter, could you come off the stand?
MR. PROCTOR: Mr. Murtha?
And one more thing, Judge.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q.- Officer Porter, could you put Mr. Murtha in the
position Mr. Gray was when you opened the wagon?
MR. PROCTOR: And, Judge, is it -- could you
tell the second row of the jury that they can stand up?
THE COURT: Very well.
THE WITNESS: All right. This would have the
position --
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q.- Keep your voice up, sorry. 1 know --
A. This would have been the position that Mr. Gray
was sitting in -- or laying in.
THE COURT: When 1 said everybody, 1 meant
everyone in the jury. Everyone else, sit down, please.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- Okay. And pretend this chair’s the bench. Put

the bench in relation to where Mr. Gray was.
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A.

Q.

Obviously --
You can hold this.

It was expanded -- 1t was expanded, but i1t was

How far?
It would have been, you know, just that far.

Okay. And so -- so the record is clear, the

rear of the wagon is where, sir?

A.

Q.

A.

Where you’re standing.
Okay. So where were you standing?

I would have been standing where you’re --

where you’re standing.

Q.

A.

Q.

Okay. Let’s trade places then.
So the wagon, you had gotten into i1t?
Yes.

So then just show the jury, and if you could

because we’re trying to make record here, kind of talk us

through it as you do it, what you did?

A. All right. Well, at this point In time, he
would -- he asked for help. So the wagon is kind of
tight. So --

Q- Is Mr. Murtha’s head where Mr. Gray’s head was,

or should he turn?

to,

A.

I don’t remember which side his head was turned

but he wasn’t face down.
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Q- Okay .
A. All right. And I would have gone on the side,
and reached under his arms and tried to brace myself.
You know, try to get him this way. That"s the way we
were. 1 was just standing behind him this way, and 1 was
talking to him. He was looking at me this way.
Q- Okay. And then did there come a time you
helped him on the bench?
A. Yeah, eventually. Then we, you know, we Kkind
of slid back and he assisted me in sliding back, and he
would have been on bench side.
Q- Okay. Thank you. If you can you go back to
the stand. 1 just wanted to walk through that.
MR. PROCTOR: Judge, would you like to mark Mr.
Murtha and take him into evidence, there’d be no
objection.
THE COURT: That>d be fine.
(Laughter.)
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q. So let’s walk through it one at a time.
THE COURT: Hold on a sec. Hold on, hold on.
Okay .
BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q- So you put your arm under his left armpit?

A. Yes. My -- my right arm to -- under his left
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armpit.

Q.- And 1 should have asked this a moment ago. Did
you have a gun on that day?

A. Yes. Absolutely.

Q- And if you could stand up and just show the
Jjury where on your body your gun is placed.

A. It was just on the side here.

Q- Okay. So on your right hip?

A. On my right hip, yes.

Q.- Okay. Thank you. Have a seat, please.

So Mr. Gray’s hands, were they cuffed?
A. They were cuffed. They were in a —- flex

cuffs, but yes, they were cuffed.

Q. In the rear?
A. In the rear.
Q.- So as you’re helping Mr. Gray up, how close

were his hands to your gun?

A. They’re very close.

Q.- So let me ask you this. 1 just said as you’re
helping him up. Did you lift him and pick him up and put
him on the bench? How did that work?

A. That would be -- that would be physically
impossible to pick up a 150 pound man. I weight 220
pounds. To physically pick him up and put him someplace.

There’s no way 1 would able to do that.
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Q- Okay. So --

A. He obviously -- he assisted me in helping
himself kneel. And he obviously assisted me in sitting
on the bench.

Q- You’ve heard testimony at this trial of what --

whether he was stuck; do you remember that?

A. I do.
Q- Based on your observations, was he?
A. I —- 1 ——- 1°d be assuming if 1 were to say

that. |1 have no i1dea if he were stuck. He just asked me
to help him up on the bench, and 1 helped him on the
bench.

Q. Okay. So you put him on the bench, what
position is he iIn?

A. I assisted him to the bench, and he’s just --
with his hands behind his back, and he’s just leaning
against the -- I’m sorry. Just sitting regularly, that
you would sit on a bench with handcuffs on.

Q.- And it’s hard to see you on that witness stand.
Could you just come down for one more minute?

Could you sit in this chair the way Mr. Gray
was sitting on the bench?

A. Just sitting like this. And he’s leaning
against the back of the wall, the east wall.

Q.- Okay. So -- go back to the witness stand,
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please, sir.

Is he supporting his own head?

A. Yes, he is supporting his own head.

Q.- So do you have any further conversation with
him?

A. There -- we talked about the -- you know, 1

asked him just how we’re going to get to jail today
because we’ve already had to stop multiple times. He was
acting out. And I°m just like how are we going to get
you to jail today, man, you know, it’s taking way too
long. And 1 was like what do you need, like, go to the
hospital, you need a medic or something. Because
typically people feign injury or, you know, they just
don’t want to go to jail. They --

Q- Let’s talk about that a little. Are you
familiar with the term jailitis?

A. I’m familiar with jailitis, yes.

Q. What 1s i1t?

A. Just feigning injury with hopes that, you know
-— we’re understaffed, so If -- if It’s just a petty
crime, we call -- like loitering or something like that,
the officer will write you a citation or find other means
in ——- to not taking you to jail.

Q- Tell the jury about the first arrest you ever

made.
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A. The first arrest 1 ever made was a gentlemen by
the name Tyrone Johnson (phonetic). It was in Gilmor
Homes, 1400 Mount More Court (phonetic), one of the
courts in there. 1I°m sorry, one of the homes there.

And we had someone watching the CCTV, which we
had footage from. Someone was watching the camera, and
they see -- see Mr. Johnson smoking marijuana.

Me and Officer Miller attempt to stop Mr.
Johnson. Mr. Johnson then attempts to flee into a house.
Fresh pursuit, we go after him.

After he’s in the house, he begins to resist.
He puts his hand down by his dip, and he won”t move his
hands.

And then we’re all -- we’re just sliding across
the floor. By the time we get to a television stand, he
then throws his hands up like this, and we were able to
cuff him up. And 1 bring him outside, and 1°m talking
with him. We’re trying to find the marijuana he was
smoking.

Officer Miller went Into -- or stayed in the
house and searched under the TV stand. There, we located
CDS. Once Officer Miller came outside and said we have
your CDS, then Tyrone Johnson said, oh, 1’m having a
seizure, and he kind of just shakes and falls to the

ground.
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Q- Okay. And what did you do?

A. We called for a medic. We transported him to
the hospital. The doctor said he can’t be for certain,
but they definitely don’t think that he had a seizure,

especially 1T he was able to tell me that he was having a

seizure.
Q- And you said you called for a medic.
A. Yes.

Q- Why did you call for a medic?

A. Well, there was a -- he was shaking on the
ground. There was an exigent circumstance.

Q- And you and I know what exigent means, but --

A. This iIs an emergency -- just it iIs apparent it
is emergent. That”’s what exigency means.

Q.- So when Mr. Gray called for a medic, what would
it have taken for you to get on the radio right there?

A. I think what you -- what you mean is for me to
call for a medic for Mr. Gray.

Just talking to him, he never made, like, a
complaint of Injury or pain or anything. And 1°m asking
him questions, and he’s not unresponsive. He’s just not
responding to the -- to certain questions 1’m asking.
And when 1 asked him if he wanted to go to the hospital,
he said, yes, 1 want to go to the hospital.

So having just given me -- in order for me to
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call a medic or call an ambo, I need age, sex, | need to
tell them my location, and I need a complaint of injury.
IT there’s no complaint of injury, 1 have nothing to tell
the medics when they respond to the scene. So --

Q- So when you helped Mr. Gray up to the bench --

A. Yes.

Q- Did he appear to be in any pain?

A. No, he did not appear to be in any pain. No.
He just, to me, he looked tired. “Lethargic” is the word

I used. He just looks tired.

Q. What’s an adrenaline dump?

A. An adrenaline dump i1s, you know -- I”’ve had an
adrenaline dump chasing a guy for like eight blocks. And
once | get to him, it’s just he and I, and he wanted to
fight with me, so I ended up taking him to the ground.
And I°m just holding him on the ground until more
officers show up. And then they cuff him up, and then
I’m just tired.

And, you know, 1 had run for eight -- eight --
eight blocks. And then I had to wrestle with this guy
for, 1 don’t know, 45 seconds until the other officers
showed up. 1 was just tired, and | just, you know, felt
like I was going to throw up or something like that.

Q- So when you said iIn your statement that Mr.

Gray was having an adrenaline dump, what did you mean by
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that, sir?

A. It appeared to me that he was, you know -- just
based on my training and experience, it seemed to me that
he was having an adrenaline dump because he was -- it
takes some kind of force to make that wagon go side to
side, as opposed to back and back, where you’re using the
shocks. Side to side is a little different. He had been

doing it for a while.

Q- Okay. Was he making eye contact?
A. He was making eye contact, yes.
Q. When he was answering your questions, was he

answering them in a normal tone of voice?

A. Just a normal tone of voice, yes.

Q- Have you ever had a detainee refuse to talk to
you?

A. Absolutely. People -- you know, people
exercise their Miranda Rights all the time.

Q- And you and 1 know what that is, but let’s talk
about a few terms that have just come up.

You said he had something in his dip. What’s a

A. A dip is just, you know, a front area of your

Q- Okay. What’s CDS?

A. CDS 1s controlled dangerous substance. It can
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be drugs. It can be other things.

Q- What are Miranda Rights?

A. Miranda Rights are just your right to remain
silent. You know, just ask for a lawyer to be present.

Q- Okay. And have you had detainees exercise
those rights?

A. Absolutely. 1 have detainees not talk to me
all the time. They -- I mean, there’s a culture here in
Baltimore called no snitching. You know, people don’t
say anything to police all the time.

Q. So when Mr. Gray ceases to answer -- he didn’t
say much; is that fair -- did you testify to that
already?

A. Yes. He didn’t say much.

Q.- So he’s not saying much. What are you
thinking?

A. I didn’t think anything about it. 1 mean, it
happens quite often. Whenever someone’s arrested, they

don’t want to talk to police.

Q. Did you have any belief that he was under
any -- that he was injured beyond tired?

A. No, sir.

Q.- Now, you were here when Detective Teel

testified; is that correct?

A. Yes, | was present.
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Q- And she said, did she not, that at Stop 4, you
reported Mr. Gray said he couldn’t breathe.

A. She wrote at Druid Hill and Baker that that’s
what 1 said.

Q. Do Druid Hill and Baker ever intersect?

A. They do not.

Q- So at Stop 4, did Mr. Gray discuss anything
about his ability to breathe?

A. No, he did not.

Q.- Did you hear him express that he couldn’t
breathe?
A. No. He was able to have -- to speak words. He

had a regular tone of voice when he was talking to me.

Q- At any point on April 12* did you hear him say
he couldn’t breathe?

A. Yes.

Q. Where was that?

A. At the first stop he said he needed an asthma

Q. And what did you tell Detective Teel?
A. That’s what 1 told her from the first stop.
Like 1 said earlier, when she called, 1 assumed
that she already the information that 1 had been at the
majority of the stops. So once she had told me to tell

me -- when she said tell me what happened, | started from
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the beginning.

Q.- And describe that conversation.

A. I —- 1 can’t really remember what that
conversation was.

Q- So you know it started at Stop 1.

A. She just called and said in reference to April
12*, you know, what was my involvement. | explained to
her 1 was -- 1 was there. And she said tell me what
happened.

Q- Okay. And let’s talk a little bit about Mr.
Gray said he needed a medic; right?

A. I offered 1t to him, and he said, yes. He
accepted.

Q- So after he said that, what did you do?

A. After then, then 1 -- I get out of the wagon.
And I°m talking with Officer Goodson, and 1 said that
guy’s asking to go to the hospital.

So there’s no way he’s going to pass medical
down at Central Booking because the more he says he wants
to go to the hospital, they’re going to reject him.

Q. Well, let’s talk about that for a minute. Have
you transported prisoners to Central Booking?

A. I have, yes.

Q- And what’s the process?

A. Like you hand them the toe tag, the prisoner
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goes in, then there’s a -- there’s a nurse on the inside.
She asks them various questions, and maybe take his blood
pressure. If their answers to the questions are correct,
then he’s able to serve or be accepted into Central
Booking. If not, then he is medically rejected.

Q- Okay. And if someone is medically rejected,
what do you have to do?

A. We have to take them to the hospital, and they

have to get a medical clearance from a doctor.

Q.- Can a medic provide a medical clearance?
A. They cannot, no. It needs to be a doctor.
Q- So let’s say you arrest me, and I say my elbow

hurts, but 1 look fine, maybe 1°m even waving my hands.
In your experience, is Central Booking going to take you?

A. IT you say those same things that you just said
to me right now, and you say that to the nurse, no, they
will not accept you.

Q.- So if I say my elbow hurts, but 1 look fine,
what would you do?

A. Just transport you to the hospital.

Q- And why would you do that, sir?

A. Just -- we don’t have enough officers out on
the street as it is, just efficiency. We need to be
efficient. So it would be a waste of time to have you go

down to Central Booking and get rejected. And have
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another wagon have to go down and pick you up, and then
take you to a hospital.

Q- Have there been occasions when you’ve called
for a medic to the scene?

A. Yes.

Q- Why would you do that?

A. Just -- they -- they gave me a complaint of an
injury.
Q- So In your mind, what’s the difference between

calling a medic and taking someone straight to the
hospital?
A. A medic i1s like when you call for an ambulance

or if you have a medical emergency, and it needs to be

taken care of right then and -- like someone has been
shot, someone has been stabbed, there’s -- things of that
sort.

Q.- Okay. And a sore elbow, what do you do in that
situation?

A. A sore elbow, I could transport you to the -- 1|
could just transport you to the hospital via wagon.

Q- Okay. When Mr. Gray is in the back of the

wagon -- you with me?
A. I’m with you, yes.
Q- -- who is primarily responsible for him?
A It is -- primary -- it is the wagon driver’s
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job to get the prisoner or detainee from Point A to Point
B, or whomever is transporting that -- that detainee.

Q- So at Druid Hill and Dolphin, who’s primarily
responsible for Mr. Gray’s safety?

A. Officer Goodson never transferred custody to
me. He is still under the custody of Officer Goodson.

Q- So Mr. Gray says he needs a medic; right?

A. He -- he says yes to my question, which is do
you need a medic, do you need to go to the hospital. He
says yes. So --

Q. What do you say to Officer Goodson after he
answers that question?

A. I suggest to Officer Goodson to take him to Bon

Secours or to a hospital.

Q.- Can you order Officer Goodson to do anything?

A. I cannot order Officer Goodson to do anything,
no.

Q- Why not?

A. He 1s my equal.

Q. How many years experience does he have?
A I believe he has 17.
Q. And in April of this year, how many years of
experience did you have?
A. Three years. |1°m sorry, | had two years. Two

years and a half --
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Q- Okay .

A. -- as of April.

Q- So as you’re having this conversation with
Officer Goodson, put in your own words what you suggested
to Officer Goodson.

A. My -- just tell him that --

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q.- What did you tell Officer Goodson?

MR. SCHATZOW: Same objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained. Asked and answered.
Next question.

MR. PROCTOR: Okay.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q- So after having this conversation with Officer
Goodson, does anything come across the radio?

A. Lieutenant Rice asked for a 10-16 up at -- he
may have said North and Carey. In that general area of
Pennsylvania and North, North and Carey, he asked for a
10-16.

Q- And what’s a 10-167

A. A 10-16 1is urgent backup.
Q- Okay. And Lieutenant Rice, is he your boss?
A. He -- he is my superior, yes.
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Q- So when he says 10-16, what’s your obligation
as a police officer?

A. I need to respond to that 10-16.

Q.- So once you hear “urgent backup,” what do you
do, sir?

A. I then, you know, walk briskly back to my
vehicle, which is across the intersection. | get in, and
I radio that 1°m going to head up to that scene.

Q- Okay. And as you walk to your vehicle, where’s
your back in relation to the back of the wagon?

A. My back is to the back of the wagon.

Q- So as you’re walking to your vehicle, can you
see the wagon?

A. I can not see behind me, no.

Q.- When you get in your vehicle, do you look back
at the wagon at that point?

A. When 1 sit down in the vehicle, the -- the
wagon is right in front of me, yes.

Q.- And what’s going on?

A. I believe Officer Goodson may be closing the
door or -- or he’s getting into the wagon. 1 can’t
recall at this moment.

Q.- After you walked away to get back to your
vehicle, do you ever see inside the vehicle again -- the

wagon again?
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A. Up at North Avenue is when 1 seen the wagon
again.
Q- We” 1l get there In a second.
But at Druid Hill and Dolphin, do you ever see
inside the wagon again?
A. No.
Q- Do you know that Mr. Gray was seat belted at

Druid Hill and Dolphin?

A. 1’d be -- 1°d make assumptions if | said yes or
no.

Q. So once you get into your car, where do you go?

A. I respond back up to North Avenue and Carey or
Pennsylvania.

Q- Tell the jury about that.

A. When 1 respond up there, there’s -- | see Donta
Allan. There’s Nero, Miller and Lieutenant Rice. 1 can
see them pulling bags of marijuana out of Donta Allan’s
pockets, and he’s cuffed.

Q.- And what do you do?

A. Just shortly after the wagon shows up, | then
go back and just -- just to confirm with Mr. Gray, do you
still want to go to the hospital, and he says yes.

Q.- Why do you ask him that?

A. Just because sometimes, if it takes long

enough, people will say they don’t want to go to the
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hospital anymore. They’d rather just go to Central
Booking and get it over with.
Q- Could you explain that?
A. That -- just -- that’s -- that’s it. Whenever
-— sometimes people feign Injury just to go to the
hospital, but then you realize it’s going to take way too
long. Sometimes at the hospital they reject any kind of
treatment, and just say it’s taking way too long, and 1°d
rather go to Central Booking.
Q.- So why did you ask Mr. Gray if he still wanted
to go to the hospital on North Avenue?
A. Just to see if he would, you know, if he had --
if he had changed his mind. That’s all.
Q- And again, maybe 1 could -- well, Mr. Murtha --
MR. PROCTOR: Mr. Murtha, can I borrow you for
a second?
Would you come off the stand, please?
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q.- When you got (inaudible at 12:16:32 p.m.), sSir,
what position is Mr. Gray in?
A. Well, his hands are behind his back. He’s
kneeling on this --
THE COURT: Keep your voice up.
THE WITNESS: 1°m sorry.

His hands are behind his back. He’s kneeling
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on his feet. And very close to the wagon, kind of like
in this position.
BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q. Bench?

A. I’m sorry. The bench, yeah, just kind of in
this position.

Q- Now, where is the wall of the wagon?

A. The wall would have been where this -- this --
the back of the chair 1is.

Q.- Is Mr. Gray’s head touching the wall?

A. No.
Q- Is his shoulder touching the wall?
A No, it’s isn’t

Q- Thank you. You can go back to the stand.
Is his head facing towards the doors or towards

the cabin?

A. Towards the cabin is where his head is hitting.
Q.- So how much of his face can you see?
A. Not much. Just about the side, whenever |1

walked the side. When I’m standing on the side, 1 can
see just the side of his face.

Q. And the totality of your conversation with Mr.
Gray, what was that?

A. Just, hey -- 1 said, Freddie Gray -- hey,

Freddie, you just want to go back -- hey, Freddie, still
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want to go to the hospital? And he says yes.

Q.- And then what do you do?

A. Then Sergeant White was on the scene. | then
go to her, and let her know that Freddie Gray still says
he wants to go to the hospital. And that one of the
arresting officers should go with him to the hospital, do
the hospital detail.

Q- Okay. And totality of your -- did you ever get
in the wagon at North Avenue?

A. No, I do not.

Q. The totality of your conversation with Mr.
Gray, how long does that last?

A. Seconds.

Q- So after your conversation with Sergeant White,
what do you do?

A. From there, 1 believe she goes and may check on
Freddie Gray.

I —— there I’m just talking to Nero and Miller,
again, let them know that Freddie Gray says he wants to
go to the hospital and that --

Q. And let’s talk about that for a minute, sir.

IT you arrest me, and 1 say I don’t feel well, whose job
is It to take me to the hospital?

A. A wagon would transport you to the hospital.

And --
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Q. A wagon --
THE COURT: Well, let him answer the question.
MR. PROCTOR: 1°m sorry, Judge.
THE COURT: Don’t interrupt him.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- Continue.
A. A wagon would transport you to the hospital.
And when you get to the hospital, that wagon driver will
wailt until the arresting officer gets to the hospital.
And then he would pass custody to you, and you would take
that detainee iInto the hospital.
Q- So what I think 1°m hearing you say 1S you, as
the arresting officer --
THE COURT: Sustained.
Ask a question. 1 don’t need you to restate
whatever he said. Just ask him a direct question.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q.- So at the hospital, that person is in the
arresting officer’s custody?
A. It —-
THE COURT: Sustained.
Ask a question.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- Whose custody is the arrestee in at the

hospital?

74
E. 321



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

A. He’s returned back to the arresting officer’s
custody.

Q- Now, had you been at the hospital with

arrestees?
A. I have, yes.
Q. What’s the range of how long you can be there?
A. According to General Order, i1t says two hours.

But I’ve been there for the entirety of their stay, which
can be an hour to 10 hours.

Q.- Do police officers -- do you call it the
hospital detail?

A. It’s called the hospital detail, yes.

Q. Do police officers like that detail?

A. It’s not the most fun, no.

Q.- Why not?

A The radio doesn’t work in the hospital.
Cellular devices don’t work in the hospital. You just
have to stand by while somebody gets medical treatment.
Hospitals tend to go really slow, so it’s a really long,
monotonous day.

Q- So when you’re talking to the bike cops; right?

A. Yes. The bike cops.

Q.- What are you saying to them?

A. I’m just telling them that -- or 1°m suggesting

that one of them do the hospital detail because they
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arrested Freddie Gray.

Q.- After this conversation, what happens next?

A. You know, 1 say again to -- or Sergeant White
comes over, and she says I have to do the hospital detail
because she can’t split up the bike officers. There
needs to be two of them. So that if you are attempting
to detain someone, you have to -- someone has to watch
the bikes so the bikes don’t disappear.

Q- Are bicycles getting stolen in the Western a
common thing?

A. Yes.

Q- So after your conversation with Sergeant White,
what do you do?

A. She tells me I need to follow the wagon -- or 1
need to follow the wagon to the station. And from the

station, we’ll go to the Bon Secours.

Q.- So after that conversation, where do you go
next?

A. I go to Western District.

Q- Okay. And when you leave North Avenue, is the

wagon still there?
A. No. It had already left before 1 had gone.
Q.- Could you estimate how many minutes after the
wagon you left?

A. Not -- it’s a very short time, two to five
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minutes or so.

Q-

How long was the drive to the Western from

North Avenue take?

A.

Q.

Four minutes.

And let me show you what 1°d like to mark as

Defendant’s Exhibit 12 --

Q.

THE CLERK: Eleven.

MR. PROCTOR: Eleven.

Let me show it to Mr. Schatzow first.
(Defendant®s Exhibit Number 11
was marked for identification.)

BY MR. PROCTOR:

And ask you if you recognize that, sir.

Yes, that’s the Western District.

Okay. And does it fairly and accurately depict

Yes.

MR. PROCTOR: Move Exhibit 11 into evidence.

THE COURT: Any objection?

MR. SCHATZOW: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: So entered.
(Defendant®s Exhibit Number 11
was received in evidence.)

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Can you see on this picture where you parked
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your vehicle?
A. Yes. 1 actually parked my vehicle where that

police car --

Q.- Come down off the stand for just one second,
sir
And if you could, let’s scoot over this way,
can you see -- point on Defendant’s Exhibit 11 where you

parked your vehicle, if you see it.

A. My vehicle would have been where this police
car 1is.

Q. Keep your voice up.

A. My vehicle would have been where this police

vehicle is, just along the parking lot.
Q- So on the right side of the picture, next to

the “No Entry” sign?

A. Yes.

Q.- Can you see on this picture where the wagon
was?

A. No. The wagons would be in between this side

and this side. And it would go in between that building.
Q- Okay. Can you return to the stand, please?
When you get to the wagon, sir, what do you do?
A. From the wagon, 1 believe | just -- they may be
pulling Donta Allan out of one side, and 1°m opening up

the other.
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Q- Okay. So how far is it from where you parked
to where the wagon is, ballpark?

A. 50 feet.

Q- So you walk over these 50 feet, and the second
arrestee i1s already getting out?

A. I believe he’s getting out. I°m -- I’m not
certain on that.

Q- Okay. And you’re opening up the other side?

A. Yes.

Q.- Why are you doing that?

A. Just to -- I want to put Freddie Gray into --
I’m sorry, Mr. Gray into the holding cell until we were
ready to go to Bon Secours.

Q- Why not just leave him iIn the wagon?

A. Someone’s got to have, you know, custody of
that prisoner. You can’t just leave them in the wagon.

Q.- Okay. So when you open the door to -- what
side of the wagon, if you remember, was it?

A. He”’s on -- he’s on the right side.

Q. When you open the door, is -- there are two
sets of doors in the wagon; right?

A. Yes. There’s an exterior, and there’s an
interior door.

Q- When you get to the Western, are both sides of

the right closed?
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A. No. No, no, no. The -- the -- the -- both
exterior doors are open.

Q- Okay. So when you -- do you open the interior
door?

A. I believe 1 opened up the interior door.

Q. What do you see?

A. I see Mr. -- Mr. Gray there. |I’m calling -- 1
call his name. He doesn’t answer me.

MR. PROCTOR: And for the third and final time,
could I borrow Mr. Murtha to show what position Mr. Gray
was iIn?

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q- Could you put Mr. Murtha -- if 1’m standing at
the rear of the wagon, and the jury is the cabin, could

you put Mr. Murtha in position?

A. His hands would have been behind his back. He
Q.- Keep your voice up, please.
A. I’m sorry.

His hands would have been down. And from my
recollection, i1t would be a more exaggerated -- i1t would

be way more exaggerated than he was up at North Avenue.

Q.- So at this point, is his shoulder against the
side?
A. I can’t -- | can’t remember that.
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Q- Is his head against the side?

A. Is -- his head wasn’t in the same position it
was at North Avenue.

Q- Okay .

MR. PROCTOR: Thank you, Mr. Murtha.
BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q- Go back to the stand, please.

So when you opened the door, and you see Mr.
Gray in that position, iIs there anyone else around?

A. I think Nero is -- I’m sorry, Novack Is coming
out.

Q. Now, I don”t know 1f we’ve talked about him.
Who i1s Novak?

A. Novak i1s just another officer in the Western.

Q.- Okay. And you say he’s coming out. Where is
he coming out from?

A. It would have been the holding cells. The
processing -- where we process people.

Q.- Okay. And when you see Mr. Gray in the
position you just described, what do you do?

A. I called out to him. And at this time, he
doesn’t -- typically, he would answer me. But he didn’t
answer me this time. And I call him, and he doesn’t
answer .

So now I climb in, and 1 pull him back, and
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there’s -- there’s a mucus on his mouth.
Q.- Let’s talk about that for a second. At Stop 4,
was there any mucus in his mouth?

A. At Druid Hill and Dolphin? No.

Q. Yes.

A. No. No mucus on his mouth, no.

Q- Did you see any blood, any bumps, any bruises,
anything?

A. No. I didn’t see any of that, no.

Q.- At Stop 5, did you see anything?

A. His head was facing away from me, but no, 1
didn’t

Q. Okay. But at the Western, you saw this mucus?

A. Yeah. There was some kind of -- there was

clear mucus around nose and mouth.

Q.- So when you saw that, what did you do?

A. I think on my testimony 1 said, oh shit, and I
tried to pull Freddie Gray out. And now he’s just
leaning on me. And we’re standing at the -- he’s not all
the way out, he’s just -- his upper half is outside of
the wagon and 1°m holding him. Trying to hold his back
straight, trying to clear his airway.

Novak tries to do a sternum rub. We don’t get
any response.

Q.- Let’s talk about that for a second. Let me
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stop there. What’s a sternum rub?

A.

A sternum rub is just something I’ve seen EMTs

do whenever we have a non-responsive person. They do a

sternum rub. If they’re, like, In an overdose or

sleeping or something like that, they’ll get an immediate

reaction.

Q.

Okay. So what 1°’ve seen you do is with your

knuckles rubbing straight across the chest.

A.
Q.

of those?
A.
0.

A.

Q.
A

Yep.

And so your testimony is Officer Novak did one

Yes. He did a sternum rub, yes.

And did Mr. Gray react?

No. He did not react, no.

So based on that, what happened next?

From there, 1 believe Novak then radioed for a

medic to respond to the District.

Q.

A.

After that he began to hold Mr. Gray’s head.
Okay. So you’re standing behind him?

I’m standing behind him, trying to hold his

back straight so he can have a clear airway.

Q.

A.

And what’s Officer Novak doing, if you know?

Officer Novak is just on the side of me, and

he’s holding his head trying to support his head.

Q.

Who taught you to do it that way?
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A. That was -- that was something that we learned
at the academy from our LEMAT (phonetic) class.

Q- Okay. Tell the jury what did you learn at the
academy In regard to how to hold a non-responsive person.

A. I believe they called it the lifesaving
position. You would hold the victim’s back straight, and
try to hold his head straight, so he can have a clear
airway and be able to breathe.

Q. So after Officer Novak calls for a medic, what
happens next?

A. We wait for the medic to show up.

Q- How long did the medic take?

A. It felt like an eternity. 1 don’t know.

Q- And by the way, at -- let’s go back to Stop 4
for a minute, okay?

A Druid Hill and Dolphin?

Q. Yeah.
Ballpark -- you’ve called a medic many times?
A. Yes.

Q. Ballpark, how long do they take?

A. They -- it depends on -- all right. So when 1
radio it goes to my dispatch. From my dispatch, it has
to go to fire dispatch. From fire dispatch, they have to
send 1t down to the ground units. They then respond.

And 1t -- it -- not all the time is i1t the closest
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firehouse, it’s who answers up. And so it can -- can
vary as to how long it takes.
Q- Okay. Have you had one take 15 minutes or
more”?
A. Oh, absolutely.
Q. And from Druid Hill to Dolphin on a Sunday
morning, how long would it take Officer Goodson --
A. Sunday morning, no traffic --
MR. SCHATZOW: Excuse me, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- To get -- what -- to Druid Hill and Dolphin,
what’s the nearest hospital?
A. I’m —— I’m not familiar with that part of the
City. 1 couldn’t tell you. 1 don’t know.
Q.- Okay. Bon Secours. How far to get to --
A. To get to Bon Secours, it would probably take
them around 10 minutes.

Q.- I’m sorry. | lost my train of thought.

So you -- where we left off is you said it felt

like the medic took an eternity; right?

A. That’s what it felt like, yes.

Q.- When the medic arrives, what happens next?
A. She -- she then places her hand on his chest.
She says she can’t -- she can’t -- he’s not breathing,
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something like that.

Q.- Did you see the medic testify here today?

A. I did -- well, yesterday. Yes.

Q.- And when she came and walked past the wagon,
did you see her?

A. No. 1 didn’t see her, no.

Q- Where are your eyes while awaiting for the

medic to arrive?

A. I was looking down at Freddie Gray.
Q.- So when she locates the prisoner, what happens?
A. She puts her hand on his chest, and says he’s

not breathing. And then we then pull him out of the
wagon, the entire -- the whole way. And they put -- put
the collar on, put him on a backboard, and they put the
respirator in his mouth, started to give him air. And
then put him into the ambulance.

Q.- And where do you go?

A. I’m standing by because 1 was instructed to do
the hospital detail. So I have to stand by with Freddie
Gray.

Q- So when he goes to the hospital, where do you
go?

A. I followed behind Medic 43 to Shock Trauma.

Q- And how long do you stay at Shock Trauma?

A. It had been a while. Ballpark, six or seven
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o’clock. And then I had to go and submit Mr. Gray’s
goods.
Q- And where did you submit his clothes and
property?
A. I submitted his property at ECU.
Q- You have seen, have you not, the statement of
Officer Novak?
A. I have not, no.
Q. Are you aware that Officer Novak recalls Mr.
Gray being in a different position?
A. I did.
MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Sustained. Strike the question.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q.- Are you certain that Mr. Gray was in the

position that you just described at the Western?

A. I can’t be a hundred percent certain. It was a

very traumatic thing for me also, just being the officer
there, and knowing him in the neighborhood, seeing him
every day, and calling his name, and not getting a
response, then having to do the hospital detail, and
seeing everything they had done to him. | can’t be
certain.

Q- The first phone call you had from Detective

Teel on April 15", did you answer her guestions?
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A.

Q-

Yes. 1 answered some questions.

Did you arrange to meet with her to come in?

She arranged with me to come in, yes.

Did there come a time when you changed the time

of that meeting?

A.

Q.

A.

Judge?

She changed the time.
Did you agree?
I agreed, yes.

MR. PROCTOR: Can I have a second please,

(Brief pause.)
MR. PROCTOR: Can we approach, please?

(Counsel approached the bench, and the

following ensued:)

rather than make the jury wait while 1

MR. PROCTOR: I think I’m just about done.

But

look through my 42

pages of notes, can we just break for lunch? And after

lunch,

I might have a couple of questions?
THE COURT: (Inaudible at 12:35:08 p.m.)
MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor.
THE COURT: (Inaudible at 12:35:15 p.m.)
MR. PROCTOR: 1t’s 12:35.
THE COURT: We will break.
MS. BLEDSOE: We can do that, yes.

MR. PROCTOR: Thank you.
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following

THE COURT: (Inaudible at 12:35:19 p.m.)

MR. PROCTOR: Thank you.

(Counsel returned to the trial table, and the
ensued:)

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, we’re going

to take our lunch break.

Please do not discuss your testimony even among

yourselves.

courtroom

12:36 p-m.

Please leave your notepads on the chair.

Court will resume at 1:45.

All rise for the jury.

(Whereupon, the jury was excused from the

at 12:36 p.m.)

THE COURT: Thank you. Everyone may be seated.
Again, we’ll resume at 1:45.

MR. PROCTOR: Thank you, sir.

(Whereupon, a luncheon recess was taken at

)

- 000 -
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AEFETERNOON SESSION

(Excerpt resumed at 1:59:27 p.m. with the

testimony of William Porter.)

THE COURT: You may remind the witness.

THE CLERK: Just reminding you you’re still

under oath.

State your name for the record.

THE WITNESS: William Porter.

THE COURT: You may proceed, Counsel.
MR. PROCTOR: Thank you.

DIRECT EXAMINATION (Resumed)

Officer Porter, just a few questions.

I forgot to ask you earlier, at Stop 4, when

you helped Mr. Gray onto the bench, you remember that?

A.

Q.

A.

I do remember that.
Why didn”t you seat belt him?

Well, 1n the academy and then through my

experience and training as an officer, even the most

docile detainee presents a risk. Any time I am in an

altercation with any kind of detainee, there’s a gun

involved, so there’s always an ever present officer

safety issue.

dead?

Q.

A.

Okay. And it”’s -- are you sorry Freddie Gray’s

Absolutely. Freddie Gray and 1 weren’t
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friends, but we had a mutual respect for each other, and

we built a rapport, you know. He -- 1 had a job, and he

understood that. And he did things, and 1 understood

that. And --

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor, to what

Mr. Gray understood.

THE COURT: Sustained to anything Mr. Gray

understood.
THE WITNESS: I had a job --
THE COURT: No, no. Question.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q- Explain your relationship with him.
A. I had a job to do, and he did things. And
we —-- 1 built a rapport. And we weren’t friends, but we
definitely had respect -- or 1 had respect for Mr. Gray.
And absolutely am sorry to see -- any kind of

loss of life, 1°’m sorry to see that.
Q.- Do you like being a police officer?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Would you do anything to jeopardize that?

A. Never.

MR. PROCTOR: That’s all 1 have, Judge.

THE COURT: You may Cross.

CROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. SCHATZOW:
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Q- Did you just say that you didn’t seatbelt Mr.
Gray because even though he was docile, he was still a
risk?

A. I didn”t say Mr. Gray specifically, but
prisoners -- | mean, there’s a reason why the -- the
deputies walk with two people or the prisoner through the
courthouse, and he’s shackled and restrained. They --

there’s an ever present risk.

Q- Excuse me. Mr. Goodson, did you understand --
A. My name i1s Porter.
Q. Excuse me. Mr. Porter, did you understand my

question to be about the sheriffs iIn the courthouse?
A. Just giving --
MR. PROCTOR: Objection.
THE COURT: Overruled.
THE WITNESS: Giving you just -- using my
training and experience.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- But the question that your lawyer asked you was
at Stop 4, why didn’t you seatbelt Mr. Gray. And didn’t
you say that even though he was docile, you were still
concerned about some risk?

A. Yes, I did.

Q- Now, the vans, the police transport wagons, are

equipped with seatbelts; aren’t they?
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A. They are.

Q.- And you have said that Mr. Gray was docile, and
you previously said he was not combative, and that he was
calm at Stop 4; correct?

A. That i1s correct.

Q. IT you weren’t going to seatbelt Mr. Gray at
Stop 4, 1 guess that means you would never seatbelt
anyone?

A. I’m not typically a wagon driver. 1 -- the
primary responsibility for the wagon driver is to make
sure the safety of a detainee from Point A to Point B.

Q- Again, Officer Porter, I’m talking about you.
My question is about you. You testified that you didn’t
seatbelt him even though he was docile because you were
concerned of a risk.

And my question to you iIs does that mean that
you would never seatbelt anyone in a wagon?

A. No. That isn’t -- that isn’t -- that’s not

what that means, no.

Q. But you never have?

A. I haven’t before. 1°m not typically a wagon
driver.

Q. But --

A. But, no, I haven’t before, no.

Q.- So you haven’t. Okay.
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And you didn’t -- Officer Goodson was standing
outside the wagon; correct?
A. He was behind the wagon, yes.
Q.- You didn’t hand him your gun when you first

went Into the wagon; did you?

A. That’s ridiculous. 1 would never hand anyone
my gun.
Q- A fellow officer. If you were concerned about

somebody taking your gun, you wouldn’t hand it to a

fellow officer; i1s that you’re saying -- what you’re
saying?

A. I wouldn”t hand my gun to anyone is what I°m
saying.

Q- Okay. All right. That’s fine.

Now, you said you worked at a computer company.
What did you do for a computer company?

A. I —- there I built computers, and | reimaged
them. That’s what -- reimaged.

Q.- Okay. And on April 12® —-- well, let’s take
the period between April 9% of 2015 and April 12t of
2015, did you have a home computer?

A. I do have a home computer, yes.

Q.- Did you have one then?

A. Yes, 1 did then. Yes.

Q- Okay. Did you have a cell phone?
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A. I ——- I had a cell phone, yes.

Q- Okay. Now, you don’t like hospital details;
right? They’re long and boring.

A. No, 1 don”t like hospital details. No.

Q- But when you testified you said that the
General Order provides that when you’re on a hospital
detail, you only have to be there for two hours; is that
correct?

A. There’s something iIn it about that. It also
says -- states that there need to be two officers, and
some other things.

Q- Right. And so let’s take a look at Exhibit 11,
in evidence, which is 11-14 on page 8, “One of the
directives i1s do not guard detainees for more than two
consecutive hours. When the hospital detail nears or
exceeds two hours, notify your supervisor and request a
replacement member”; is that correct?

A That is correct.

Q.- Okay. So you’re familiar with what 11-14
provides.

A. No, sir. |I’m not familiar. That was probably
adopted from the previous General Order.

Q.- Here’s Exhibit 8, take as much time as you
want, tell me where the two hour limitation is in there.

A. Il dont know. |1 can’t find 1t in here.
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Q. It’s not In there; is it?

A. It isn’t, no.

Q- Now, you deny that you told Detective Teel that
Mr. Gray, at the fourth stop, said I can’t breathe.

A. Yes, that is true.

Q- IT he had said 1 can’t breathe, and you heard
him say I can’t breathe, would you agree that that would
be a reason to get medical attention?

A. I do agree, yes.

Q. You know Detective Teel from when she was at
the Western District; correct?

A. I do, yes.

Q. When she saw you at Shock Trauma on April 12%,
2015, she gave you a hug; didn’t she?

A. Perhaps. 1°m not certain.

Q.- And when she saw you, when you came down to
Police Headquarters to give the statement that was video
and audio recorded, she gave you a hug then, too; didn’t
she, before the statement?

A. I can’t say i1f she did.

Q- You heard her testify she did.
A. I heard her testify, yes.

Q.- You don’t deny that she did?
A. I’m sorry?

Q.- You don’t deny that she did?
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A. That she did what?

Q.- Gave you a hug.

A. I can’t confirm nor deny.

Q.- She -- you guys were friendly; weren’t you?

A. I’m friendly with my fellow officer, yes, | am.

Q. Well, with OfFfFicer Teel.

A With the general public, | tend to be friendly
with the general public.

Q- When Officer Teel called you, on or about April
15, she called you specifically to talk to you about
Druid Hill and Dolphin Street, what we’ve been calling
Stop 4; didn’t she?

A. That’s not true. She asked me about the
incident.

Q.- She called you because she had seen the KGA
that said 43 was responding to Officer Goodson’s request
for assistance to check out the prisoner; isn’t that
right?

A. I can”t confirm it nor deny 1t. 1 don’t know
that answer. 1 don’t know why she called me. She could
-— she could tell you that.

MR. SCHATZOW: Could 1 have Exhibit 31-D,
please?
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- You heard her testify about her reason.
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A. I heard her testify. But, you know --

Q.- Okay. Didn’t you confirm to her that you were
the unit that responded to the call for assistance that
came from Unit 7B917?

A. I’m sorry. Repeat the question.

Q- Didn”t you confirm to her that you were the
unit on April 12 who responded to the call to assist
Unit 7B91?

A. That i1s true, yes.

Q. And 7B91 was Goodson as the van driver;

correct, Officer Goodson?

A. Officer Goodson was the wagon operator that
day, yes.
Q. And 7B91 is an identification number; correct?

A. That i1s true, yes.

Q. And you told her that when you arrived, Officer
Goodson got out and responded to the rear of the wagon;
correct?

A. I -- that’s one of the things I told her, yes.

Q. Okay. And responded to the rear of the wagon
for people who aren’t police officers, simply means he
got out and walked to the back of the wagon; is that
right?

A. That is true.

Q- Okay. And you told her that as the doors
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opened, you observed Mr. Gray lying on his stomach, head
facing the front of wagon, with his feat towards the
doors, saying help; is that what you told her?

A. I did tell her that, yes.

Q- And then you further advised that you asked Mr.
Gray what he needed, at which time he said he couldn’t
breathe.

A. No. That’s not true, no.

Q- She got that wrong?

A. She got that wrong, yes. She --

Q. And, Officer Porter, you -- you then told her
that you asked Mr. Gray i1f he needed a medic, and Mr.
Gray said -- stated yeah.

A. This 1s -- that’s like -- a condensed version
of our conversation. It doesn’t go in chronological
order, but it’s a condensed version of what we spoke on
the phone.

Q.- Thank you, Officer. |If you could please just
listen to my question.

Did you tell her that you then asked Mr. Gray
again -- excuse me. That you asked Mr. Gray if he needed
a medic, and Mr. Gray stated yeah?

A. That’s a part of this conversation, yes.

Q- And that you then asked -- you then asked Mr.

Gray again 1f he needed a medic, and you asked Mr. Gray
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to get up; is that what you told her?
A. I —— 1 don”t believe 1 told her that, no. It

wasn’t phrased that way.

Q.- How was i1t phrased?
A. I asked him -- like 1 testified to earlier,
what do you need, and when he asked me -- he said can you

help me up. 1 helped him up. And afterwards, | asked
him how are we getting to the hospital today? Do we need
-— do you need a medic or do you need a hospital? He
responded yes.

Q. So he stated | can’t get up; didn’t he?

A. No. He said can you help me up, iIs what he

Q. Uh-huh. 1 see.

And --

MR. MURTHA: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh, to the comment? 1’m sorry,
Your Honor.

THE COURT: Yes. Please let’s not have any
comments. Just ask questions from both sides.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1 apologize, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Apology accepted.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. So let me -- excuse me.
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MR. SCHATZOW: Strike that, Your Honor.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q- Both at Stop 4 and at Stop 5, Mr. Gray never

asked you for a medic; did he?

A. No, he did not. 1 -- | asked him 1f he wanted
Q- I’m sorry.
A. I’m sorry.

I asked him -- offered one to him.

Q.- Right. And at Stop 4 and Stop 5, Mr. Gray
never asked you to take him to the hospital; correct?

A. No, he didn’t. No.

Q. You are the one who introduced the term medic
to the conversation you were having with Mr. Gray;
correct?

A. That i1s true, yes.

Q.- And you are the one who introduced the term
hospital to the conversation you were having with Mr.
Gray; correct?

A. That is true, yes.

Q- Okay. Now, what you’ve been telling us here
today is that you didn’t tell Detective Teel that Mr.
Gray said 1 can’t breathe at Stop 4, but that she got
confused because you told her you heard him saying 1

can’t breathe at Stop 1; isn’t that right?
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A. When she asked me to begin about my -- when she
said can you tell me what happened, | started from the
beginning.

Q- Well, when you sat for the video and recorded
interview on April 17%, 2005, Detective Teel and
Detective Anderson were there; correct?

A. That 1s true, yes.

Q- And you went down there voluntarily; correct?
A. I —— well, she asked me to come iIn.
Q.- She asked you to come, but she didn”t force you

to come in; did she?

A. No, she didn”t. No.

Q. She didn’t threaten you with anything if you
didn’t come In?

A. She didn’t, no.

Q. She didn’t promise you anything if you would

come iIn?

A No, sir.

Q.- She asked you to come iIn?

A. Yes.

Q- And during that interview, she and Detective
Anderson asked you questions about all -- everything that

happened that day insofar as you and Mr. Gray were
concerned; is that right?

A. Yes, that’s true. Yes.
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Q- And you never told them that you heard Mr. Gray
say | can’t breathe when you were at Stop 1; correct?

A. That’s correct. 1 did not tell them that, no.

Q.- You didn’t tell that.

What you told them, at least three times, was
that all you could hear was yelling and screaming;
correct? Isn’t that what you told them?

A. I’m not certain. Could you produce that for
me?
Q.- Sure. We could. Let’s start with page 6.

You want to listen to it?

A. No. 1 don’t need to listen to i1t, no.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, this is the
transcript that we used simply as an aid to listening. |1
can use that, or I can play it, Your Honor, whichever you
prefer.

THE COURT: It’s your witness. He said he
didn’t need to hear but, but that’s -- you"re crossing.

MR. SCHATZOW: Thank you.

THE COURT: Just identify it for the record.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor.

This is a transcript of -- It’s entitled “In
the Matter of Freddie Gray Investigation, William Porter,
April 17t, 2015.” 1It’s a transcript prepared of the

audio and video interview that took place that day.
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THE COURT: Hasn’t it already been marked?
MR. SCHATZOW: 1 don’t think it was actually
marked, Your Honor.
MR. MURTHA: It was used as a demonstrative
exhibit.
MR. SCHATZOW: It was used as a demonstrative
exhibit for the jury during the playing of it.
THE COURT: AIll right. 1t will be marked as
State’s 34-A for identification only.
(State’s Exhibit Number 34-A
was marked for identification.)
MR. SCHATZOW: Thank you.
THE CLERK: You’re welcome.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Now, 1°m directing your attention to Page 6,
and 1°m specifically —- this is line 12. And i1t’s
talking about the time that you testified that you were
on Westwood and Bruce, and you were looking for someone
else.

A. All right.

Q- And don’t you say he was just yelling and
screaming?

A. That is on the paper, yes.

Q- Okay. Isn’t that what you told them, or do you

want to hear i1t?
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MR. MURTHA: Objection.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q- Are you questioning whether this iIs —-
A. No. I°m not questioning it. That’s -- that’s
on the -- yes.
Q- Okay. And then on -- on Page 12, lines 1 and
2, you said, “The entire time I could hear that there was

someone one street over just yelling”; is that what you

said?
A. You can yell, “lI can’t breathe.” That’s --
Q- Did you —-
A. You can yell that. But --
Q- -- say --
A No. 1 didn’t elaborate, no. They didn’t ask

me to elaborate. But you can yell, “l can’t breathe.”

Q.- One can yell, “1 can’t breathe.” But did you
ever tell anybody until you came to this court today that
Detective Teel was wrong, and you had heard Mr. Gray
yelling, “l can’t breathe,” when you were at Stop 17

A. Had 1 told anyone before today? Yes, | have.
Yes.

Q.- Well, 1 don’t mean about your -- 1 don’t mean
your attorneys. 1 -- had you gone -- these officers, at

the end of this interview --
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MR. MURTHA: Objection.
THE COURT: Sustained.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q.- Okay. At the end of this interview --
THE COURT: Sustained.
Get to a question.
MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- You were asked this day, at the end of the
interview, whether there was anything you cared to add
which may aid in the investigation or clarify anything
I1’ve asked of you, or clarifying anything you said;
weren’t you?

A. I was asked that, yes.

Q.- And you said, “No, sir”; didn’t you?

A. I think 1 might have said something about

seatbelting afterwards.

Q.- Well, here’s where it is, sir, if you’ll direct

your attention to Page 79, at the bottom of the page,
going up to Page 80, which is --

A. IT 1 could -- could I manipulate this?

Q. Could you what?

A. Manipulate this. Can I --

Q- No. I°m just -- I’m asking you about this --

this section, sir.
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A. But on my statement --

Q.- This page where you said -- did you -- what the
transcript reflects is that Detective Anderson said, “All
right. 1 just want to clarify anything you -- else you
care to add at this time, which may aid in this
investigation or clarify anything 1°ve asked of you or
clarify anything you said”; isn’t that what he asked you?

A. He did ask me that. And that’s the second time

he asked me that.

Q.- Right. And you said, “No, sir”; correct?
A. Yes. The second time, yes.
Q. The second time.

And this was at the end of the iInterview.
There’s no more interview after that.

A. After that part, no, there’s no more interview
from there.

Q.- Okay. And then on Page 15 -- at Page 15, you
say, starting on line 18 through line 23, ‘“Because the --
I guess they had called for more units because the crowd
was -- was -- | was more concerned with the crowd than I
was with whomever they were arresting. |1 could hear that
he was yelling or whatever. But I -- I was trying to
keep the crowd back from getting to those officers”; is
that what you said, sir?

A. I did say that, yes.
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Q- When you arrived at Stop 2 you told -- well,
strike that question.

When you met with Detectives Teel and Anderson,
you told them that when you arrived at Stop 2, you parked
about 20 feet away from the van. Stop 2 being the stop
at Baker and Mount Street; is that right?

A Yes, that is true.

Q- Okay. And you told them that you got about
halfway to the van when Mr. Gray was put into the van;
correct?

A. Perhaps. Yes.

Q- And you told them that you couldn’t -- you
weren’t close enough to see whether Mr. Gray had leg
irons on; correct?

A. That is correct.

Q- And you told them that you couldn’t i1dentify
the officers who were putting him into the van; correct?

A. That is -- that is not correct, no.

Q.- Okay. [I°m going to direct your attention --
I’m sorry --

MR. MURTHA: What page is that, sir?

MR. SCHATzZOW: I think if we -- it depends on
how much -- we’ll start on 33.

MR. MURTHA: Okay.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:
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Q- Detective Anderson says, “So what side was this
officer standing on, the right side of Mr. Gray or the
left side? | mean, if -- 1T the wagon was facing south;
right?”

And you say, “South, right.”

A. True.

Q- I’m reading accurately; correct?

A. That is accurate. Yes, sir.

Q.- Okay. And so Detective Anderson says, “So 1s
he -- was he on the, like, the west side of Mr. Gray or

the east side.”

And then Mr. Anderson interrupts you and says,
“You understand what 1°m saying?”

And you say, “lI don’t -- 1 don’t recall. |
don”t know, man.”

So Anderson -- you then say, “So he’s standing
behind him, is what I thought.” And him is Mr. Gray
there; right? The officer is standing behind him who is
putting him in the car; correct? That’s what you’re

talking about?

A. No.
Q- No?
A. In the wagon is what I’m talking about.

Putting him in the wagon.

> QO

Yes.
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Q. Yes.

Okay. At Stop 2.

A. I —— 1 believe this is at Stop 2. 1 don’t know
where we’re -- where In reference we’re talking about.
Q- And he said -- well, here’s where -- “So you

know west would be facing towards, like, the Fulton side;
right?”
A. That’s what it says.
Q. So --
A. No. I didn’t say that. Detective Anderson
said that.
Q- Right. But that helps you orient yourself.
He then goes on, you say “Right,” and he says,
“And East would be toward, like, | guess toward, what,
Mount Street?”
So doesn’t that orient you that we’re talking
about Stop 2 now?
A That’s -- yes.

Q.- Okay. And he says -- you say, “He was behind

And Detective Anderson says, “Okay. So he was
-- he was more like on -- on this side of him, or 1
guess, but i1If he’s facing this way, | guess he’d be on
his right side. Was he on the right side of Mr. Gray?”

And you say, “He was -- he was on neither left
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nor right. He was behind him. He was directly behind
him, grabbing him from behind.”

And Detective Anderson says, “Oh, directly
behind him.”

And then he asks you where his feet were
positioned, and you tell him that.

And then you say -- well, he asked you where
the feet were positioned, and you say, “All right. So --
so picture people were at the wagon.” This is you
talking.

A. That’s me.

Q- “All right. So you need to get this prisoner,
who is facing southbound, and the wagon here facing
southbound at the wagon. The officer is behind him. He
grabs him from behind. The door is already open. He’s
pushing him and pulling him into the wagon. He pushes
him into the wagon. He tries to, like, kick his feet out
or whatever. Then the officer goes on the other side of
him and pulls him into the wagon is what 1 saw.”

Detective Anderson, “So the officer got into
the wagon and pulls him in.”

And you say, “Right.”

That’s accurate so far?

A. That is accurate so far.
Q.- Okay. And Detective Anderson says, “So someone
111
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climbed up in the wagon and pulls him in.”

And you say, “After he had tried to pull him
in, he got him halfway in through the doors, and he’s,
like, kicking his feet -- his feet. And the officer goes
around him, and then pulls him into the wagon.”

And Detective Anderson says, “So the officer
did 1t by himself?”

And you say, “Right.”

And Detective Anderson says, “You saw all of
that, and you don”t know which officer i1t was?”

And you say, “l don’t know. I was back out
far, man.”

Isn”t that right?

A. That’s what i1t says. Yes, that’s what it
reads.

Q.- Okay. And that’s what you -- and i1t reads that
way because that’s what you actually said; isn’t it?

A. Well, you’re leaving out parts. But sure, yes.
And then i1t goes on to say that it’s a bicycle officer
who has the -- who happens to be slender, so it’s either

Nero or Lieutenant Rice. But, yes, you’re leaving out

things.

Q.- Well, 1°m not leaving anything out in what we
just read.

A. In what we just read, no. No.
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Q.

And you didn’t identify the officer because you

told them I was too far back, man.

A.

officer,

Honor .

Q.

It was -- | said 1t was a white, slender

Nero or Lieutenant Rice, is what | said.

MR. SCHATZOW: Excuse me one second, Your

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

When he said -- when Detective Anderson said

you saw all that and you don’t know which officer it was,

your response was, “l don’t know. | was back out far” --

Q.

MR. MURTHA: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained. Sustained.

Ask another question.

MR. SCHATZOW: Okay.

THE COURT: That hasn’t already been answered.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

But the fact of the matter is you wasn’t -- you

weren’t back out far; were you?

A.
Q.
A.

Q.

I - 1 don”’t —- I wasn’t back out far?
From the wagon?
I walked up to the wagon.

You were right up at the back of the wagon;

weren’t you?

A.

Q.

I walked up to the wagon.

Right. Even though you told the officers when
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they interviewed you you were only halfway back.
A. I’m sorry. It was -- i1t was about a week ago

when | had done that testimony.

Q. It was —-
A. It was a week later.
Q- It was -- it was five days later.

A. Oh, I’m sorry.

Q- It was on Friday; right? Correct?
A. I can’t remember. Perhaps.

Q. It was April 17%; wasn’t it?

A. All right. Yes.

Q- And that’s five days after April 12*; can you
agree with that?
A. Yes. That is five days after April 12, yes.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1In fact, it we could see which
exhibit number is i1t, the cell phone video, 25, Your
Honor?

THE COURT: Okay.

(Brief pause.)

(Whereupon, a portion of Exhibit 25, the cell
phone video, was played In open court, but is
untranscribed herein.)

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Stop right there. That’s you getting out of

the car; isn’t i1t, sir?
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A. That is me getting out of the car. Yes, sir.

Q- Okay .

MR. SCHATZOW: Would you continue to roll i1t?

(Whereupon, a portion
phone video, was played in open

untranscribed herein.)

of Exhibit 25, the cell

court, but is

MR. SCHATZOW: Stop it.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. And then, sir, in the

—-— 1n the dark blue

uniform, back to the camera, something coming out of his

back pocket, that’s you, sir?

A. That 1s me, yes.

Q- Okay. And you’re right on back of the camera

camera.

MR. SCHATzOW: 1f you
please.

(Whereupon, a portion
phone video, was played in open
untranscribed herein.)

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- You were right there,
Lieutenant Rice come out of the

A. At that that point in

could keep rolling,

of Exhibit 25, the cell

court, but is

and you didn’t see
wagon?

time, | didn’t know 1t

was Lieutenant Rice. 1 just knew it was a white, slender

officer.
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Q.

Didn’t you have -- but Lieutenant Rice is a

shift commander there.

A.

Q-

He 1s a shift commander, yes.

There were only -- 1 don’t know what Mr.

Proctor said, 11 people working that day; right?

A.
Q.
A.

Q.

That is true, yes.
You”’d been there for two years.
Yes.

Right. But you couldn’t identify -- you didn’t

identify him to the --

A.

I didn’t identify him. 1 said it was one of

the bike officers that was present at that arrest.

Q.

One of the bike officers.

Sir, were you -- you had talked about, in your

testimony In response to a question, you said something

about the don’t snitch culture in Baltimore; do you

remember being asked about that?

A.

There was a -- not -- don’t -- stop snitching

is what it’s called. Yeah.

Q- Stop snitching. Right.
Is that a culture iIn the Baltimore Police
Department?
A. Absolutely not. 1°m actually offended that you

would say something like that.

Q.

Well, sir, did you not tell the officers who
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were investigating this truth the truth about where you
were standing and what you saw because you didn’t want to
involve other officers?

A. No, that’s not true. 1 -- 1 identified the
officers. | said they were -- 1 said everyone’s name. |1
gave all the officer’s names. Lieutenant Rice, Nero,
Miller. 1 said every officer that was there.

Q- You didn’t say the officer who was coming out
of the wagon --

A. -1 -

Q- -- right while you were standing at the back of
wagon; did you?

A. I didn’t know who it was. [1°d be assuming if 1
-— 1Ff I said who -- which one 1t was. 1 didn’t know.

Q.- And would it be fair to say that, at the time,
you were as close to that officer as 1 am to you now?

A. Possibly.

Q.- When -- after Mr. Gray went into the wagon, at
Stop 2, there came a time when you had a conversation
with Brandon Ross; correct?

A. That i1s true. 1 -- yes.

Q. You say that you told Brandon Ross to call 9117

A. I said to him to call 911 for a supervisor
complaint, yes.

Q- Did you -- you listened to the cell phone video
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that was played here in court; correct?

A. I ——- I did listen to it, yes.

Q- And you’ve listened to i1t before then; haven’t
you? Before today in court and before we played it?

A. No. I hadn’t seen this video before we got to
court, no.

Q- Okay. You didn’t hear anything on that video
about telling Brandon Ross to call 911; did you?

A. You can’t really hear any other voices other
than Brandon Ross because he’s yelling, but 1°m having a
conversation with him, much like I’m having with you.

Q- You didn’t hear on the cell phone Brandon Ross
-— you -- you didn’t hear yourself telling Brandon Ross
to call 911 on the cell phone video; did you?

A. You don’t hear much on the -- on the recording
because 1t’s iIn Brandon Ross” pocket, and he’s yelling.
And I’m having a conversation like 1°m having with you
right now.

Q.- Sir, my question is what you heard. You didn’t
hear on the cell phone video Brandon Ross -- excuse me,
you telling Brandon Ross to call 911.

A. You didn’t hear much, other than Brandon Ross
yelling, because he was yelling. The pocket was in his
phone.

THE COURT: Sir, answer the question that was
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posed to you, please.
THE WITNESS: No.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. And, in fact, when Brandon Ross -- when you
told Brandon Ross the supervisor here is Lieutenant Rice,
and Brandon Ross says, in effect, he’s the guy who was --
who’s here who’s involved; 1 need somebody else. What
you told him to do was go to the media; right?

A. That’s what I instructed him to do, yes.

Q. You didn’t tell him to call Internal Affairs,
did you, at the police department?

A. No, I didn’t tell him that. No.

Q.- No.

And your telling him to go to the media was
like telling him to go fly a kite; wasn’t it?
MR. MURTHA: Objection.

MR. SCHATZOW: You just wanted to get rid of

THE COURT: Overruled.
Did you?
THE WITNESS: No. That is not -- I didn’t want
to just get rid of him. No.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q- You thought you were being helpful to him?

A. Yes. Absolutely.
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Q- He wanted -- he wanted somebody from the police
department to intervene in this situation. And what you
told him to do was go talk to the media; right?

A. No. I instructed him who my superior was, and
I gave him that information.

Q- Right. And then you told him go talk the
media. You know what to do. Not go to the police
department and seek help from the way the situation is
being handled, but go to the media; that’s what you told
him?

A. After 1 instructed him to talk to my
supervisor, yes.

Q- When you arrive at Druid Hill and Dolphin
Street, what we’ve been referring to as Stop 4, you were
aware that Officer Goodson had made a radio call for
someone to come because he -- 1 need to check out this
prisoner; isn’t that what he said?

A. Those are the words he said, yes.

Q.- And when you arrived there, didn’t you ask Mr.
Goodson why do you need my help to check out this
prisoner?

A. I did not, no.

Q.- You didn’t ask him anything about why he was
seeking assistance from another unit; did you?

A. When I walked up he said, hey, help me check on
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this prisoner, is what he said.

Q.- My question, sir, is you didn’t ask him any
questions about why --

A. No, I didn’t. I didn’t ask him any questions.
No.

Q- And when you were interviewed -- let me strike
that.

When you did the demonstration with your two
lawyers today about how you got Mr. Gray off the floor of
the van at Stop 4 and onto the bench, you said that you
were just assisting Mr. Gray because he was using his own
muscles to get up; is that right?

A. Those are the words | said, yes.

Q- Okay. But, in fact, when you were interviewed
by Detectives Teel and Anderson on April 17%, you never
say that Mr. Gray helped in any way to get from the floor
to the bench; did you?

A. No. I didn’t elaborate on how I got him from
the floor to the bench. I thought i1t was obvious.

Q. In -—- in fact -- but you thought it was obvious
to Detectives Teel and Anderson without explaining It to
them?

A. Yes.

Q- Okay. In fact, didn’t you repeatedly tell

them, “I put him on the bench”?
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A. Those are my words, yes. But it would be
physically impossible for me to place someone onto a
bench 1n that tight of a space.

Q.- You -- you told them you put him on the bench,
you placed him on the bench; correct? He was on the
bench.

A. He was on the bench; that is correct, yes.

Q- And you told them that you put him there?

A. I assisted him there, yes.

Q.- But you never told them that Mr. Gray played
any role in getting himself from the floor to the bench;
did you?

A. I apologize. They didn’t ask me that question,
no.

Q.- And -- well, they ask you whether you put him
on the bench. And when you said yes, or when you said,
“l1 put him on the bench,” you never said, “l put him on
the bench, but it was really with his assistance. He
was, you know, actively involved in getting on the
bench.” You never said anything about that in words or
substance; did you?

A. That didn”t come into question until today, no.

Q.- The question, “Did you put him on the bench,”
would not have generated that response from you because

that’s what you were asked; wasn’t it?
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A. No. That would not generate that response, no.

Q.- You would have had to have been specifically
asked, “To what extend did Mr. Gray use his own muscle
power to get on the bench?”

A. That didn’t come into question until today,

Q- Please listen to my question. Let’s -- let’s
get the exact question.

IT we could go to -- in fact, why don’t we just

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, with the Court’s
permission, I think I1t’s easier to just play the audio
portions. 1 think -- do we have the video --

THE COURT: 1t’s your witness.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- (Inaudible at 2:37:58 p.m.)?

THE COURT: What’s the -- there’s no question.
So | don’t understand what you mean.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1’m about to ask the question,
Your Honor. 1 apologize.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Weren’t -- weren’t -- didn’t you describe what
you did?
MR. MURTHA: Who -- can I get a page, please?
MR. SCHATZOW: Sure. 42, line 5.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:
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Q- Page 42, line 5. The question that Detective
Teel asks i1s, “Okay. And what did you -- take me from
that point, what happened?” We’re at Dolphin and Druid
Hill.

And you start talking about what happened.
You’re giving your own narrative about it. And you say,
“And he doesn’t say anything. And he’s like, help me,
help me up. So I was, like, what -- what’s the deal. So
I pulled him up”; isn’t that what you said?

A. IT 1 could -- 1f 1 could go along with you if
you don’t mind. [I’m sorry. 1 can’t see what you’re
reading. | apologize, sir.

Q. Well -- you haven’t -- you haven’t studied this

statement

MR. MURTHA: Objection.
MR. SCHATZOW: -- when --
THE COURT: Sustained. Strike the question.
Ask a question.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q. Sir, weren’t you -- weren’t you asked by
Detective Teel to --
MR. MURTHA: Line and page?
MR. SCHATZOW: -- from --
THE COURT: Line and page.

MR. SCHATZOW: Page 41.
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BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- She said -- you say that, on 41, line 12, “I
think I may have been, like, right at the intersection of
Dolphin and Druid Hill”; correct?

A. That 1s what it says, yes.

Q. And Detective Teel says, “Were you behind the”
-—- and you say, “l was behind, yes”; is that what --
what’s said?

A. That’s what i1t says, yes, Sir.

Q.- Okay. And then Detective Teel says, “Okay.

And what did you -- take me from that point, what
happened™; isn’t that her question?

A. That is what happens, yes.

Q- And then you proceed to tell her what happened;
correct?

A That’s -- yes.

Q.- And part of what you tell her when it comes to
putting Mr. Gray on the bench, you say, “So I pull him
up”; correct?

A. IT you skip everything else I’ve said, and go
there, then yes, that’s what it’s says.

Q. Well, is there -- is there anywhere where you
told them that Mr. Gray played any role in getting on the
bench?

A. That didn”t come into question until today,
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Q.- Well, she asked you what happened; didn’t she?

A. She did ask me what happened, yes.

Q.- When you were asked today by your lawyers what
happened, you told them that you were merely assisting

Mr. Gray, that he was using his own power to get to the

bench.
A. Because that came --
Q. Correct?
A. -— Into the question, yes.

Q. No. They just -- they asked you what happened,
and she asked you what happened, and you gave two
different answers; didn’t you?

A. No. I didn’t give —-- 1 further explained my
answer from here.

Q. But you didn’t have that explanation anywhere
in this statement; correct?

A. When | made that statement, | was making it as
a witness. 1 didn’t know I was a suspect in the case.

Q. Was that a reason to provide less information?

A. I didn”t know I needed to defend myself in that
statement, no.

Q.- Because | -- did you think that you had an
obligation to tell them the truth?

A. Absolutely. 1 told them the truth.
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Q.

Did you think you had an obligation to tell

them the complete truth?

A.

Q-

Absolutely.

So why didn’t you tell them about Mr. Gray

helping you up -- Mr. Gray helping himself up, as you

helped

A.

him up?

Why didn”t 1 tell them that he was assisting?

I thought it was obvious.

Q.

Now, you had -- at Stop 4, you had the

opportunity to put that seatbelt around Mr. Gray; didn’t

you?

>

> QO

for an

van?

A.

Q.

wasnh’t

just a

That 1s true.

And you didn’t do i1t; correct?

I did not, no.

And you didn’t call a medic?

No, 1 didn’t.

And your testimony is that you got this call

urgent backup, and that’s when you got out of the

No. That’s not -- no.
You were already out of the van?
I was already out of the van, yes.
All right. And the call for urgent -- it
an urgent backup. It was a call for 10-16. It’s

backup; isn’t it?
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A. There was some urgency.
Q- Single 13 is an emergency --

MR. MURTHA: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1I”’m asking a question.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Isn’t single 13 the emergency call?

MR. MURTHA: Objection.

THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: That is officer down, send
assistance.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. Right. And 10-16 is -- is | need a backup.
And it could be an emergency, or it could not be an
emergency; right?

A. Would you like for me to explain to you the 10
codes, and how they go?

Q. I would like --

THE COURT: No. Probably what he wants you to
do is answer the question that he poses, and not ask him
a question.

THE WITNESS: All right.

Can you repeat your question?

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- Yes. A 10-16 is the way one calls for backup,
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whether it’s an emergency or non-emergency; isn’t it?
A. The way 1 understand it, in my training and
experience, 10-16 i1s urgent backup.

Q.- Okay. Let’s talk about your training a little

Do you remember the part of your medical
training that Officer Carson-Johnson testified about
teaching you involving calling a medic when someone
requests a medic?

A. I recall her testimony, yes.

Q. No. Do you recall that part of your training?

A. Hmm. It’s not vivid, but I got that training.

Q- When you say it’s not vivid, do you recall some
part of 1t?

A. Some parts of it, of the LEMAT (phonetic)
class, yes.

Q.- No. |1 don’t mean parts of the -- 1 mean part

of you call a medic when somebody requests a medic.

A. No. I think what she said -- 1°m sorry. No,
no. 1 --
Q. You don’t recall it?

A. She said you’ve got to be a detective, | think
the words that she used. You’ve got to be a detective
and use your discretion is what she said when she

testified.
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Q- You also heard her say, didn’t you, that when
somebody requests a medic, you get them a medic, and then
you ask them questions so you can get information to give
to the medic?

A. I did hear her say that, yes.

Q. Okay. Do you remember that from your training?

A. I —- 1 remember that here, not necessarily in
my training, no. No.

Q- But you do remember parts of your medical
training; don’t you?

A. I do, yes.

Q- Just not that part?

A. Just not that part, no.

Q- And also iIn your training, you were trained to
put a seatbelt on anybody you transport unless it would
be a safety issue. Dangerous for you; correct?

A. I —— I never -- until Agent Bilheimer
(phonetic) got up here, 1 -- I never heard that. We had
no wagon training. There was no such things as a wag --
we didn’t have a wagon training.

Q- Well, he was teaching you vehicle procedures;
wasn’t he?

A. Yeah. He was teaching you vehicle procedures;
wasn’t he?

A. Yeah. He was -- he was the EVOC (phonetic)
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teacher; that is true, yes.

Q- Right. So you don’t recall him teaching what
he said he taught about seatbelts; is that right?

A. No. 1 don’t. I’m sorry, I don’t. No.

Q- But i1t is what’s right in that K-14 order,
which you say you received on flash drive?

A I received the General Orders on a flash drive,
yes.

Q- Right. And during the 11 months you were in
the academy, did you ever look on the flash drive at any
of the Orders?

A. Just the specific ones that they asked us to.
There’s a lot of General Orders.

Q- Well, this one involves persons in custody.
Did you think it was important to look at the one called
Persons i1n Custody?

A. I looked at the specific General Orders that
they asked us to do for -- as far as our curricular in
the -- 1n the academy.

Q. My question is did you think It was important
to look at an Order called Persons in Custody?

A. There’s no way -- 1 don’t know what the General
Orders are called until -- until they -- I think 1 don’t
-- there’s no guide that says Persons in Custody. It

says General Order, whatever the number is, and then they
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tell us to look it up.

Q.- So if you -- you didn’t look at the General
Orders?

A. I looked at the General Orders specifically for
the classes in the academy.

Q- And let me show you what’s in evidence as
Exhibit 5, which is a receipt. Is that your signature on
the bottom of the receipt?

A. That’s my signature at the bottom, yes.

Q.- And you signed for acknowledging receiving the
General Orders; correct, among other things?

A. I did sign there, yes.

Q. My question, did you sign it acknowledging
receipt of the General Orders, among other things?

A. Yes. Yes. |1 said yes.

Q- Okay. When you were iInterviewed by Detectives
Teel and Anderson on April 17* of this year, you never
said anything about concern about your gun being a reason
why you didn’t seatbelt Mr. Gray; did you?

A. That is true.

Q- When you were at Stop 5 -- well, excuse me.
Before we get to Stop 5, you were at -- let’s go back to
Stop 4.

You’re outside the wagon, and you say you had a

conversation with an Officer Goodson about the prisoner
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and going to the hospital; correct?

A. Yes, sir.

Q- Okay. And then you say you got called away by
the call for backup; iIs that right?

A. Everyone got the call for backup.

Q. Okay. There was a call for backup. But, in
fact, someone responded to that call before you did;

didn’t they?

A. Yes.
Q.- And there was a call for a wagon; wasn’t there?
A. There was. Immediately after the backup, there

was a call for a wagon.

Q. Right. And then Officer Goodson responded to
the call for the wagon before you responded; didn’t he?

A. Yes.

Q. And, 1n fact, then Lieutenant Rice, who was the
one who was making the call, indicated that he didn’t
need any more back up, and then there was a subsequent
call where he asked for somebody to do crowd control at
North and Carey; correct?

A. I can’t say for certain.

Q- Okay .

MR. SCHATzZOW: If we could have the -- that
portion of the KGA played. Do we have Exhibit 30? It’s

Exhibit 30. Can we have transcript --
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Your Honor, the transcript of this will be on
the screen. It’s Exhibit 30.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- IT you’d take a look at this, sir. Can you see
it from where you are?

A. Kind of.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, may he get closer if
he needs to?

THE COURT: He may.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. Now, at 9:06 and 57 seconds, where it says,
“09", that’s Lieutenant Rice; correct?

A. I’m sorry.

Q- First line. Top line.

A. Yes. Yes.

Q.- Okay. And he says 10-16, that’s the backup
call; correct?

A That is correct.

Q. 1600 North s the address; correct?

A. That is the address he gave, yes.

Q- Okay. Then on the next line, four seconds
later, that’s the dispatcher; correct? Saying 1600 North
need a 10-16; correct?

A. That is correct.

Q.- And the next thing that happens, five seconds

134
E. 381



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

after that, is 22, I’m in route; correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And that is the officer who i1s Number 22 that
day? That’s -- he’s identifying himself, and he’s saying
he’s on route; correct?

A. That is 7 Baker 22.

MR. SCHATZOW: We’re going to play it In just a
minute. Well, actually, why don’t you -- why don’t you
play it, so we can --

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. And then there’s a 10-4 from the dispatcher;

correct?
A. Yes.
Q- Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: Why don’t you go ahead and play
that for him.

(Whereupon, the call was played in open court,
but remains untranscribed herein.)

MR. SCHATZOW: Stop there.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Okay. Then the next thing that happens is
about two seconds after the dispatcher says -- yes, two
seconds after the dispatcher says 10-4, the request 1is
for a wagon; correct?

A. umm -—-
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Q- IT you look at the time?

A. Yeah, yeah. I see it. Yes, I see it. Sorry.
Yes.

Q.- 9:07:09. You got it?

A. I got it, yes.

Q. Okay. And there’s a request for a wagon;
right?

A. Yes. It says, “And a wagon and a wagon.”

Q- And a wagon and a wagon.

And then, just about a second after that,
there’s a call for 91; correct?
A. Yes.
Q. And seven seconds after that, because there’s
no response, there’s a call Baker 91; correct?
A. Yes.

Q.- Okay. And Baker 91 is Officer Goodson;

correct?
A He 1s.
Q.- And then about two seconds after that, you hear

someone say, “Hang on, I”’m going to have to turn around
and come back up there, 1600 North”; you see that?

A. Yes.

Q.- Okay. We”ll play that for a moment -- iIn a
minute --

MR. SCHATzZOW: Well, why don”t we run it, play
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it through, and you can tell me whether that’s Officer
Goodson.

(Whereupon, the call was played in open court,
but remains untranscribed herein.)

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Okay. Then -- and then you hear the dispatcher

say that 1600 North --

MR. SCHATZOW: Why don’t you -- Joe, play it
all the way through for us.

(Whereupon, the call was played 1In open court,
but remains untranscribed herein.)

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. So, sir, what happened was --
A. Can | take a seat?
Q- Yes, please.

Lieutenant Rice, who is 09, says we have things
contained, but we have a crowd forming, and we need North
and Carey covered; correct?

A. He does say that, yes.

Q. And you’re the one who responds to that when
the dispatcher says, okay, | need a unit at North and
Carey, you identify yourself by saying 43; correct?

A. Yes.

Q- Because that is who you were that day, that was

your number; correct?
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A. That is true.

Q.- Okay. And you say 1°m coming behind 91 up
there; right?

A Yes.

Q- And 91 i1s the wagon, Officer Goodson; correct?

A. That is true, yes.

Q- All right. And you are coming behind him;
correct?

A. I —- at the time when 1 said that, 1 was behind
where the wagon was, yes.

Q. Right. And at no time did you call Officer
Goodson, or when you were talking -- well, let me ask you
this. Did you hear all of this conversation while you
were talking with Officer Goodson behind the wagon?

A. I think as a soon as -- 1 can’t really recall,
but I’m going -- as soon as it came out 10-16, 1 would
have been heading back to my vehicle at that time. And
those seven seconds would have been getting in my car.

Q.- At any time, did you radio dispatch or Officer
Goodson, wailt a minute, you can’t go respond to this,
you’ve got a prisoner you’ve got to take to the hospital?

A. I can’t do that. |1 -- 1 can’t do that.

Q.- What do you mean you can’t do that? Your radio
worked; didn’t it?

A. There’s -- there’s a hierarchy. 1 can’t tell
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Officer Goodson what to do. And -- and -- I can’t tell

Officer Goodson what to do.

Q- Okay. Now, my question is did you ever make an

effort to use your radio to contact Officer Goodson and

say you’re supposed to take this guy to the hospital?

A. No, | didn’t. No. There never

did that.

came a time |

Q- All right. And did you -- there are other --

there were no other wagons in the Western that day?

A. There were no other wagons iIn the Western that
day.

Q- But there are other wagons in the City; aren’t
there?

A. That i1s true, yes. There are other wagons.

Q.- And iIf a wagon is out of service because iIt’s

taking someone to the hospital or because
tire, then the dispatcher can get another

another district; can’t they?

A. I don”t make that decision.
Q. Sir, 1°’m not asking you whether
decision. I’m asking you if a dispatcher

wagon from another district.
A. Yes. Yes. A dispatcher can --
to do that, yes.

Q.- Okay. So did you really have a
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with Officer Goodson about taking Mr. Gray to the
hospital?

A. I think 1 already answered that. And the
answer to that is yes, | did have a conversation.

Q- But you went to this scene, North and Carey,
behind the wagon, knowing full well that the wagon was

not going to the hospital; correct?

A. I -- no. That’s not true.
Q- You did know the wagon was not going to the
hospital?

A. I got to the scene before the wagon got to the
scene.

Q- Right. But you left behind the wagon; didn’t
you?

A. I was behind the wagon when 1 left, yes.

Q- Right. And you weren’t -- you said 1°m coming
behind 91 up there; correct?

A. Be -- be -- yes. That’s what 1 said, yes.

Q.- And you said it because you were behind 91;
correct?

A. My car was parked behind 91, yes.

Q- Well, you said, “1°m coming behind 91.” You
didn’t say, “I’m parked behind 91'; did you?

A. No. No. 1 didn’t say that, no.

Q.- And you knew that 91 had just said that he was
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going to the scene; correct?
A. Yes. That’s what It says, yes.
Q- And at Stop 5, you say that Sergeant White

ordered you to follow the wagon to the station house;

right?
A. She --
Q. Western District.
A. She said -- she ordered me to do the hospital

detail, yes.

Q.- Didn’t she also order you to follow the wagon?
A. I’m sorry? She ordered me to do the hospital
detail.

Q. Right. Didn’t she order you to follow the
wagon to the District?

A. Not that I can recall, no. It would have been
to do the hospital detail, and 1 would have gone behind
the wagon. But she didn’t order me to do that. She
ordered me to do the hospital detail.

Q.- You couldn”t -- you couldn’t very well do the
hospital detail if you weren’t with the wagon; could you?
The wagon would -- would -- could get to wherever the
wagon was going to go, and you wouldn’t be there.

A. I’m sorry. Repeat your question.

Q- Didn’t Sergeant White tell you that you have to

take over the hospital detail, and just to follow the
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wagon down to the station?

A. She did tell me to do the hospital detail. She
-— there -- she never said anything about the wagon.

Q- When you met with Detectives Teel and Anderson
on April 17%, 2015 --

MR. SCHATZOW: At page 47, lines 2 through 7,

Counsel.
Thank you.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q- Weren”t you asked the following question, and

didn’t you give the following answer?

A. I’m sorry —-
Q. Detective --
A. -- hold on. What -- where was 1t?

Q- 47, lines 2 through 7.

Detective Teel: “After she finished to talking
to Mr. Gray what happened?”

Officer Porter: “Uh. Well, she told me that 1
would have to take over the hospital detail, and just to
follow the wagon down to the station.”

Is that what you said?

A. That’s what it says, yes.
Q.- But you didn’t do that; did you?
A. Yes, 1 did do that.

Q.- Your own testimony this morning was that you
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waited two to five minutes --

A.

Q.
correct?

A.

Q.

-- before you went down to the station;

That 1s correct, yes.

And -- and when you went down to the station,

you didn’t go down Mount Street; you went down

Pennsylvania Avenue; didn’t you?

A.

Q.

Q.

No. No.

Okay .

MR. SCHATZOW: You’ve got that?
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Your car number -- 1 think I already asked you

this. Just to be clear, your car number that you were

driving that day is 9239; isn’t it?

A.
Q.
A.

Q.

Mmm .
I’ve handed you Exhibit 5, the run sheet.
Yes. It says 9239. That’s what it says, yes.

And on the top of Baltimore Police cars, the

number of the car appears, but only the last three

digits; correct?

A.

Yeah. That’s true, yes.
MR. SCHATZOW: What’s our next exhibit number?
THE CLERK: 77.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, at this time,
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pursuant to stipulation, 1 offer a CCTV disc, which is
Exhibit --

I’m sorry?

THE CLERK: 77.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- 77.

(State’s Exhibit Number 77
was marked for identification.)

THE COURT: And specifically what?

MR. SCHATZOW: This is a -- this iIs a scene --
this -- CCTV of the wagon and the police cars, the wagon
leaving the scene at North and Pennsylvania. And --

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- showing the delay -- the
timing and the direction of Officer Porter’s car, Your
Honor .

THE COURT: Okay.

Any objection?

MR. MURTHA: I believe it’s stipulated to, Your
Honor. No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: 1 hear it, right, a stipulation.
That’s fine. Okay.

No objection. So entered.

(State’s Exhibit Number 77
was received In evidence.)

MR. SCHATZOW: Okay.
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(Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open

court.)
MR. SCHATZOW: Stop i1t right there.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q- This 1s the wagon leaving the scene that we’ve

called Stop Number 5; isn’t it, Officer Porter?

A. Yes. That i1s, yes.

Q- Okay. And your car was the First car in front
of the wagon; wasn’t it?

A. I - 1 cant —— I don’t know. 1 can’t
remember .

Q- Okay. We”ll have a shot in a moment that will
let you see the numbers.

MR. SCHATZOW: Go ahead, please.

(Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open

court.)
MR. SCHATZOW: Stop it there for just one
second.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q. Sir, what -- what is this -- this street here,

that we’re looking down?
A That”s North Avenue.
Q.- Okay.
MR. SCHATZOW: Go ahead.

(Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open
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court.)

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Excuse me, sir. That’s your car, or one of
those cars is -- one of those cars --

A. One of those cars are mine. Yes, that’s true.

Q- -- 1S yours. And that’s on North Avenue,

facing eastbound; correct?
A. That would be westbound.
Q- Westbound. [I°m sorry. Westbound. Fine.
(Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open
court.)
MR. SCHATZOW: Stop it there for a second.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Officer, you see that the officer for the first

car is now getting into his car?
A. I can see that, yes.
Q.- Okay .
MR. SCHATZOW: You can keep rolling.
(Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open
court.)
BY MR. SCHATZOW:
Q. Sir, isn’t this your car, 239 -- get up as
close as you need to to see it -- turning down
Pennsylvania Avenue?

A. I see nine -- | see 239, yes.
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Q- Turning down Pennsylvania?

A. Yes. He turned onto Pennsylvania; yeah.
Q- And that’s you. 239 iIs your car; right?
A. Can 1 see that again?

Q. The run sheet? Sure.

A. Yes. Can I see the run sheet?

Q. It’s State’s Exhibit 29.

A. It says 9239, yep.

Q- When you got to the Western District, you
opened up the door for Mr. Allan?

A. No.

Q- You opened up the door for Mr. Gray?

A. Yes.

Q- Okay. And when you opened the door at the
Western District, which we’ve been referring to as Stop
6, you saw Mr. Gray in the same position that you had

seen him at Stop 5; correct?

A. As 1 explained earlier, it was -- It was more
exaggerated.
Q. When you were interviewed by Detectives Teel

and Anderson on April 17%" of 2015, you did not indicate
that it was more exaggerated. You simply said, “He was
in the same position”; didn’t you?

A. Yes. 1 -- 1 elaborated today.

Q. But you didn’t elaborate to them on April 17%?
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A. I did not, no.

Q- All you told them was that he was iIn the same
position.

And so what your testimony today is is
different than the information you gave to Detectives
Teel and Anderson; correct?

A. Not correct, no. 1 just elaborated today.

Q- Well, isn’t that different? Didn’t you add
something to what you told them?

A. I just expounded upon what I said.

Q. Well, but all you had told them was the same
position. Isn’t same position different than same
position but more -- more exaggerated?

Q- I think you just said exactly what 1’ve been
saying. The same position, but more exaggerated.

Q.- Could you --

A. You just said that.

Q.- Sir, answer the question. What -- is what --
when Detective Anderson, on April 17, asked you, “What
did you see,” didn’t you say the same was he was -- he
was --

MR. MURTHA: Excuse me.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- still sitting there leaning
against --

MR. MURTHA: EXcuse me.
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Honor,

reading,

line 8.

he said,

alone.

Q.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1’m just going to play it, Your

ifT you don”’t mind. |1 think that will be easier.

THE COURT: Well, no.
MR. SCHATZOW: Can you get that queued up?
THE COURT: Is there an objection?

MR. MURTHA: 1°m just -- when he starts

I would ask that --

MR. SCHATZOW: 1°m sorry.
MR. MURTHA: That’s all I°m asking for.

MR. SCHATzZOW: 62, 11 -- well, let’s go back to

MR. MURTHA: Okay. Thank you.
MR. SCHATZOW: Start at 62 on line 8.

And, Your Honor, in order to demonstrate what

if we could play the video of that portion

You’ve got it? 62, page 8.

MR. MURTHA: Line 8.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1I’m sorry. Page 62, line 8.
Your Honor, we’ll go back to the old tape now.
BY MR. SCHATZOW:

62, line 8. Detective Anderson says, “So when

you opened the door for Mr. Gray, Officer Porter” --

You say, ‘“Yeah.”

Detective Anderson says, “What did you see?”
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And you say, “The same was -- he was -- he was
still sitting there leaning against the bench.”

Isn’t that what you say?

A. That 1s -- that’s what | said, yes.

Q- Okay .

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, if I could have a
Court’s indulgence for a moment?

THE COURT: You may.

(Brief pause.)

MR. SCHATZOW: I’m sorry, Your Honor. I’°m
apparently looking at 6 when I should have been looking
at 9.

And 1 think, Your Honor, 1°m ready to conclude
now, 1f I can.

THE COURT: Okay.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q. Officer Porter, this is State’s Exhibit 9. 1
want to show you what’s marked as State’s Exhibit 9 on
page that’s numbered PO677.

A. Uh-huh.

Q- There’s some typed information there, and then
there’s handwriting; do you see that?

A. Yes.

Q- Is that your handwriting?

A That 1s my handwriting, yes.
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Q- And that’s something you wrote when you were in

the training academy; correct?

A. That 1s something I wrote in the training
academy.
Q- And what you wrote when you were in the

training academy was, “We do not transport injured
people. We rendered aid -- we render aid per our
training, and contact the medic. We cannot render aid
while driving. There are civil liabilities. We risk
bodily fluid exposure.”

Is that what you wrote?

A. That 1s an answer that 1 wrote that question,
yes.

Q- And also, when you were in the academy, you
said that you only looked at the General Orders that were
referenced i1n the materials that you had; correct?

A. That is what | said.

Q. And, in fact, iIn State’s Exhibit 7, which is
the course materials for the vehicle procedure course you
took that was taught by Officer Bilheimer (phonetic) --

THE COURT: Identify for the record.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yeah. |1’m sorry, Your Honor.
Exhibit 7, State’s Exhibit 7 iIn evidence.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- On page marked 0013013, there’s a reference
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to -- there’s an X next to reference documents. And on
the next page, under the reference materials, there’s a
specific reference to K14; isn’t there?

A Yes.

Q- Now, finally, you said that what was ingrained
in you as a police officer was to protect life; isn’t
that right?

A. That is true. That is iIngrained in every
police officer.

Q.- But at Stop 4 and Stop 5 on April 12, 2015,
you did not protect Freddie Gray’s life; did you?

A. Mister -- 1°m sorry? Repeat that question.

Q. At Stops 4 and Stops 5 on April 12, 2015, you
did not protect Freddie Gray’s life; did you?

A. Untrue.

MR. SCHATZOW: That’s all I have, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, we’ll take
our afternoon break.

Please do not discuss the testimony you®ve
heard, even among yourselves.

Please leave your notepads on the chair.

We”ll take about 10-minute break.

All rise for the jury.

(Whereupon, the jury was excused from the

courtroom at 3:17 p.m.)
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THE COURT: Everyone may be seated.

Take a 10 minute recess.

Counsel, approach for one -- don’t -- don’t
worry about it.

Actually, 1 just need -- let’s do one of each.
Let’s do one of each.

(Counsel approached the bench, and the
following ensued:)

THE COURT: Does he have any voice left?

MR. MURTHA: He does.

THE COURT: Okay. All right. Just checking to
see 1T he had a voice.

MR. MURTHA: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: You don”’t know how long he’s going
to be?

MR. MURTHA: I don’t think it’s going to be
really long. We’re sending for our next witness.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MURTHA: Just to have him around.

THE COURT: Good enough. Okay.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you.

THE COURT: Thank you.

(Counsel returned to the trial table, and the
following ensued:)

(Whereupon, a brief recess was taken at 3:18
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p.m., and the matter resumed at 3:42 p.m.)

(At 3:42 p.m., a bench conference was held, but
remains untranscribed herein, and the testimony resumed
as follows at 3:46 p.m.)

THE COURT: You may remind the witness.

THE CLERK: Just reminding you you’re still
under oath.

State your name for the record.

THE WITNESS: William Porter.

THE COURT: You may proceed with redirect.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q- Officer Porter, let’s finish -- let’s start
where Mr. Schatzow finished. His last question to you
was at Stops 4 and 5, you failed to protect Mr. Gray’s
life, and you said that was untrue.

A. That 1s untrue.

Q- Why is 1t untrue?

A. It’s untrue because Freddie Gray wasn’t injured
at Stop 4 or 5. 1It’s just that simple.

Q.- And if he had been, what would you have done?

A. Had he been injured, 1 would have called for a
medic.

Q- Now, right before that, Mr. Schatzow showed you

a State exhibit, I think it was 9; do you remember that,
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sSir?

@)

>

> QO

Q.

Yes.

And this answer you wrote?

Yes.

Was that test an open book test?
It was an open book test, yes.

So when you wrote, “We don’t transport injured

people,” where did you get that information from?

A.
Q.
A.

Q.

Probably the EVOC manual. 1 don’t recall.
You just copied 1t?
Yes.

Right before that, he asked you about the

position at the Western District; do you remember those

questions?

A.

Q.

Q.

I do.

And on --

MR. PROCTOR: Counsel, page 62.
BY MR. PROCTOR:

And he pointed out you said Mr. Gray was in the

same position; do you see that?

A.

Yes, | see that.

THE COURT: Well, what is the page and line, so

the State has --

MR. PROCTOR: Page 62, line 8.

BY MR. PROCTOR:
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Q- Do you see that, sir?

>

I do see that, yes.

Q- What did you say right after that?

A “1 pulled him back, kind of. He went limp.
Like completely limp.”

Q- So 1If Mr. Schatzow had read on a little

further, you would have described how he was different;

right?
A. Yes, sir.
MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Overruled.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q. Do you remember the questions about why didn’t

you use your radio to tell Goodson to go to the hospital?

A. I do remember those questions.

Q. What’s the answer?

A. I can’t tell Goodson to do anything. [I’m not
Goodson’s supervisor.

Q.- And at those points, at Stop 4 and Stop 5, did
you see any emergent need?

A. No. I didn’t see any need for the medic for
Mr. Gray.

Q.- Did you tell the wagon to go anywhere that day?

A. No. 1 suggested for Officer Goodson to just go

to the hospital so he doesn’t waste time, you know.
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We’re about efficiency.

Q.- Now, Mr. Schatzow talked about following the
wagon to the Western; do you remember those questions?

A. I do.

Q- What 1s your understanding -- when you were
told to follow what did you think it meant?

A. Just to meet the Western -- I’m sorry, meet the

wagon at the station.

Q- Does it mean to keep eyes on the wagon at all
times?
A. No.

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained. Leading. Strike the
question and the answer.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q.- What did you believe your obligation was with
regard to following the wagon?

A. Well, up on North Avenue, 1 continued to talk
to the sergeant, and she was directing me to do things.
And then after 1°d gone to the District, 1 was to follow
that wagon to -- to a hospital, Bon Secours,
specifically.

Q.- Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1 move to strike as non-

responsive, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: Overruled.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- So when you were asked questions about coming
behind 91; do you remember those questions?
A. I do, yes.

Q. Describe your journey between Stop 5 and Stop

A. Well, when I say 1°m going behind 91 is because
91 answered up right before me. So I was right behind
him, and physically 1 was right behind where the wagon
was when 1 had answered that question.

Q- Okay. And who gets to North Avenue first?

A. I get to North Avenue first.

Q- And how did you get there before the wagon?

A. I don”t remember the direct route that 1 took,
but -- 1 -- 1 drove faster than the wagon did to get
there.

Q.- Do you remember the question Mr. Schatzow asked

you about you didn’t say you were concerned about your
gun; do you remember those questions?

A. Somewhat, yes.

Q- Is there ever a time when you’re not concerned
about your gun?

A. No. Basically, any time 1°m talking to any

citizen, any police officer, or anytime, there’s always a

158
E. 405



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

gun involved because I bring the gun there. So I’m

always concerned about my gun on my hip.

Q- Now, Mr. Schatzow showed you Exhibit 5; do you

remember that? Let me show it to you.
A. I do remember that, yes.
Q. And what is i1t?
A. It just says -- | don’t know. It says the

below listed benefits of Interior General Orders and

Police Commissioner’s memorandums

pertaining to sworn

police personnel of this agency has been -- have been

provided to,” and 1 wrote my name.

Q- Okay. What’s the date on that, sir?

A. July 23, 2012.

Q- What date did you start at the academy?

A. I don’t remember specifically, but it was in --

it was either in late August or early September.

Q.- OFf which year?

A. Of 2012.

Q.- So you signed that document before you even

entered the academy?

A. A few months before 1 entered the -- the

academy.

Q.- You said, when Mr. Schatzow asked you a

gquestion about stop snitching, that you were offended by

that; do you remember?
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A. Absolutely. Absolutely was offended by that.
Some prosecution --
THE COURT: No question.
BY MR. PROCTOR:
Q- Why were you offended by that?
A. I was offended by that because the prosecution
works directly with police officers. So why would he --
why would he ever say that the police officers lie?

That’s a contradictory on himself.

Q.- Have you ever covered up for another police
officer?

A. Absolutely not. 1 would never do that.

Q. You remember saying to Mr. Schatzow that you
were —- may | explain 10 codes? Why don’t you explain

them now. What’s a 10 code?

A. A 10 code is just a short version -- we just --
just so -- for efficiency we use 10 codes to -- just so
we can communicate with others efficiently.

Q.- When did you first become aware that anyone was
saying that Mr. Gray’s neck was broken by Stop 47

A. 1’m sorry?

Q. You’re aware that Dr. Allan believes by Stop 4
that Mr. Gray’s neck was broken?

A. Yes.

Q- My question is when did you first become aware
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of that?

A. During this court trial.

Q- So when you were questioned back on April 17,
were you aware that i1t was believed that Mr. Gray’s neck
would have been broken at Stop 47?

A. No. 1 -- we didn’t -- we didn’t know where his
neck had been broken.

Q- So when you’re being asked questions by
Detective Teel and others, and Mr. Schatzow asked you --
do you remember the questions about is this the first
time you ever said he used his legs?

A. Yes, | do remember those questions.

Q. Were you aware that it might be significant at

that point whether he used his legs or not?

A. I was not aware that that would have made any
significance.
Q.- Mr. Schatzow said you never said that you

helped him onto the bench; do you remember those

questions?
A. I do remember that, yes.
Q- Did you ever say you lifted and carried him?
A. I never said that either.
Q.- Do you remember the questions about you told

Brandon Ross to go to the media?

A. I do remember that, yes.
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Q- What did Brandon Ross say to you to make you
say that?

A. He just said he’s got it on tape. He’s got it
on camera. He recorded the entire thing.

Q- So why did you tell him to go to the media?

A. Because he had a -- he said he had a recording
of what happened there.

Q- Remember Mr. Schatzow asked you if Lieutenant
Rice was as close from me to you, and he stood about here
in terms of those questions?

A. I do remember, yes.

Q- Mr. Schatzow have a bicycle helmet on when he
asked you that?

A. He did not, no.

Q.- Did he have two similar people standing next to

you when he asked you that?

A. He was standing alone.
Q.- At Stop 2, what was your primary focus on, sir?
A. Just crowd control. 1 could hear the crowd. |

mean, from the video, you can hear Brandon Ross yelling
pretty loudly and saying obscenities. And so my focus
was on the crowd more so than the detainee.
Q.- Why were you not concerned about the detainee?
A. There were -- he was -- there were three

officers, and there was one detainee.
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Q- When and how did you learn that it was

Lieutenant Rice lifting him in?

A. I believe Detective Anderson told me on --
on -- in my -- during the interview.
Q- When was the first time you learned -- wait a

second. I’m showing you what’s been marked for
identification as State’s Exhibit 31. Did you see that,
sir?

A. Yes.

Q.- And you’ve seen that before; right?

A. I have, yes.

Q- And that report says that Mr. Gray -- well, the
State believes that report says that Mr. Gray told you he
couldn”t breathe at Stop 4; is that correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. When was the first time you learned that
Detective Teel attributed to you that the can’t breathe
was at Stop 47?

A. During motion hearing.

Q. So when you’re being asked questions on a April
15*", do you have any knowledge of what Detective Teel
believed your conversation concerned a few days earlier?

A. I’m sorry. Can you re —-

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Overruled.
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A.

Q.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

When you’re talking to Detective Teel on video

Mmm-hmm.
-- do you know the contents of that report?
No, I do not. No.

Do you know that she wrote down that you said

Mr. Gray couldn’t breathe at Stop 47

clear up.

Q.
report.

occurred?

name?

G-r-e-y.

No, | didn’t know that. No.

Did you know there was any discrepancy to clear

No, 1 did not know there was any discrepancy to
No.

And let’s talk a little bit more about that

Where does Detective Teel say that conversation

It says Dolphin and Baker Street.

And again, do Dolphin and Baker Street ever

They do not.

How does Detective Teel spell Mr. Gray’s last

From the report here in front of me it says

So she got the location wrong; right?
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A. Yes. That’s what’s on the paper, yes.

Q.- And she got Mr. Gray’s last name wrong?
MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Sustained. Strike the question.
BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q. In the course of preparing this case, you’ve
met with Mr. Murtha and I; have you not?

A. I have, yes.

Q- And one of the things, State’s Exhibit 11, we
asked you to look at and discuss with us, Policy 1114;
isn’t 1t?

A. Yes. This i1s Policy 1114.

Q. So when you talked about two hours at the
hospital; do you remember those questions?

A. Yes, | do remember those questions.

Q.- Did you read that while preparing for
testifying?

MR. SCHATZOW: Objection, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: Yes, 1 did, yes.

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q. On April 12 --

THE COURT: Actually, sustained, as to form.
MR. PROCTOR: Okay.-

THE COURT: 1 switch people around sometimes.
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BY MR. PROCTOR:

Q.- Let me see if I can -- were you aware --

THE COURT: Mr. Proctor, hold on one second.

MR. PROCTOR: Sorry, Judge.

THE COURT: Counsel, approach, while my
sheriffs do what they need to do. 1 just need a moment
with Counsel.

(Counsel approached the bench, and the
following ensued:)

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh geez. Don’t let it be the

blind man. Please, Lord Jesus, don’t let it be the blind

man. Don"t let it be the blind man.

MR. MURTHA: It is.

MS. BLEDSOE: Who i1s 1t?

MR. SCHATZOW: Please don’t let it be the blind

man. Please, Father, don"t let i1t be the blind man.

MS. BLEDSOE: Who is 1t? It is. It is. It

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh, geez. Oh, geez. Really?
Seriously?

MS. BLEDSOE: Yes. It 1is.

THE COURT: Well, pray that 1 did not scream.
I didn"t scream.

MS. BLEDSOE: Don"t scream.

THE COURT: I’m not. I°m not. 1I°m not. I™m
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not. But, really, of all people, seriously? It had to
be the blind man. This is like, oh Lord, help me. Now I
look like the scrooge, the ogre, the wrong person.

MS. BLEDSOE: 1t’s okay.

THE COURT: Did they walk him out?

MR. PROCTOR: He"s almost there, 10 steps from
the door.

THE COURT: Don"t look. Don"t look. Don"t
look. Don"t look. Don"t look.

MS. BLEDSOE: Are we all good?

THE COURT: See. Now I look all bad and
everything, oh, Jesus.

MS. BLEDSOE: Take a deep breath.

THE COURT: Go get out, and bring him back in.
And they’re going to stay up here with me. They got --
if I"ve got to go through this, they®ve got to go
through. Hook it up. Thanks.

MR. PROCTOR: Just put him next door.

THE COURT: See? See?

MS. BLEDSOE: Nice.

THE COURT: See? Right, right. See?

THE COURT: See.

MS. BLEDSOE: That"s really nice.

MR. PROCTOR: Motion to reconsider.

THE COURT: See? | know. Motion to
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reconsider; right.

MS. BLEDSOE:

Kicked him out of the courtroom.

Keep the evidence away.

THE COURT:

notice, you®ve got to

about to do is just scream and say,

didn"t.
MS. BLEDSOE:
was something there.

THE COURT:

I know. I know. || know. But,

give me credit. Because what 1 was

I told -- but 1

I know. That was good. There

There was something.

There was

something that said just bring it down a little bit. 1

have you all as my shi
MS. BLEDSOE:
THE COURT:
MS. BLEDSOE:

THE COURT:

elds.

That counting works.
It does.

It does.

It really does.

Are you almost done?

MR. PROCTOR:

THE COURT:

I have about two questions left.

Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1 have about four.

THE COURT:

That’s fine.

And then what do you have after?

witness i1n the hallway?

MR. MURTHA:

THE COURT:

Yes, right outside.

Okay .
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MR. SCHATZOW: 1Is Novak next?

MR. MURTHA: Yes.

MR. SCHATZOW: 1It’s still Novak next.

THE COURT: 1Is he back in yet? Okay.

MS. BLEDSOE: 1°m not going to look. So --

THE COURT: No, you"re not. He"s at the edge,
so that’s his job.

MS. BLEDSOE: Right. Nice.

THE COURT: Well, thank you. And you want to
make me feel any worse? Okay. So now that we"re up here
and we"re waiting for him, here"s a quick story.

I*m young on the bench. 1 don"t really care
about people standing up or sitting down when 1 come out,
but my sheriff is a stickler. No. When you come out,
they have to stand up. Blah, blah, blah.

Okay. So, fine, so finally 1 get used to it.

I come out. Everyone is standing. Everyone except one
person. Me, the man who doesn®"t care. Sir, stand up. 1
see the sheriff going like this.

(Laughter.)

THE COURT: And I*m, like, he i1s blind and
deaf. Oh, Lord, now what else is going on.

MR. PROCTOR: Someone else is talking out loud,
Judge.

MS. BLEDSOE: Well, at least he wasn’t
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paralyzed.

MR. PROCTOR: Judge, do you want to consider
sending the jury out. Someone else is mouthing off. 1
can hear them over the husher.

THE COURT: Yeah, it will be all right. Wwell,
we"ve got one coming Iin. We"re taking one out, so It"s a
one for one. It"s a one for one.

MR. MURTHA: 1"m less sympathetic to that guy
being escorted out.

THE COURT: Right. Oh, so you want to go
there? You want to put the cane on me? Okay, fine,
thanks. Because | wanted to take a break now, but 1 want
to like --

MR. PROCTOR: If he hits you with that cane,
Judge, we"ll prosecute him.

THE COURT: Well, 1 know him well, actually. 1
see him all the time. (Inaudible at 4:02:45 p.m.)
resolve that iIssue.

THE COURT: 1 guess he"s sitting right here.

Do I need to take a break? Cause here"s the thing. They
don®"t know whose side that person is on, so it doesn"t
matter.

THE COURT: Well, I know well, actually. 1 see
him all the time. That resolves that issue.

MR. MURTHA: Maybe we should take a break
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because it looks like he’s --

MS. BLEDSOE: Yeah, let’s take a break.

(Counsel returned to the trial table, and the
following ensued:)

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen, we’re going
to take a break.

Put your notepads --

Go that way now.

THE CLERK: All rise.

(Whereupon, the jury was excused from the
courtroom at 4:03 p.m.)

MR. SCHATZOW: We don’t need to --

THE COURT: No. 1 need you all for second.

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh, you do?

THE COURT: Yes. Because there’s no reason for
you all to be involved iIn that.

Once he’s out, everyone remain in the courtroom
until the sheriff tells you can leave the courtroom for
the moment.

(Counsel approached the bench, and the
following ensued:)

THE COURT: (Inaudible at 4:04:12 p.m.) hadn"t
caused the issue. 1 would have had time for that. Hang
on one second.

Darlene, go tell them that 1°m not letting
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anyone out until the sheriff will let people out. Tell
the sheriffs that 1°m not letting anyone out until the
sheriff allows it. Go tell them that.

MR. SCHATZOW: Judge, this case has moved.

THE COURT: Oh, no, it has. No, no. 1"m just
saying --

I’m going to leave -- 1"m leaving the white
noise on so don"t leave. Someone has to share my pain.
It may as well be you all.

(Laughter.)

THE COURT: Well, because see, if the white
noise i1s on, then we"re talking about something, and it
gives a reason for them to stay. |If 1 leave, then they
want to run out.

MS. BLEDSOE: I understand. | understand.

THE COURT: 1 think It was -- just so that you
know, I think he was saying something, 1*m family, but
anyone, you know, that®"s North Carolina. 1 got that.
That"s what 1"m saying. But I think that"s what he was
saying.

MS. BLEDSOE: Because I immediately identified
the family and --

THE COURT: Right.

MS. BLEDSOE: -- I was like it"s not.

THE COURT: Yeah.
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MS. BLEDSOE: Okay?

THE COURT: Yeah. I understand.

MS. BLEDSOE: 1 don’t know --

THE COURT: AIll right. So who’s next, just out
of curiosity?

MR. PROCTOR: Another police officer.

THE COURT: Another police officer.

MR. MURTHA: 1 think -- 1 think In assessing
it, we probably are going to carry over to Friday.

THE COURT: Okay. That’s fine.

MR. PROCTOR: We~’ll be done Friday. Definitely
Friday.

MR. MURTHA: We”ll definitely be done Friday.

THE COURT: Okay. Then we can tell our jury
instructions on Friday. 1°m actually going over some of
them now. Not now. But I°d like to go over them now,
but I have to actually listen to you all, so.

(Brief pause.)

THE COURT: Okay. So can they leave the
courtroom now?

THE SHERIFF: Yes. They can.

THE COURT: Five minute recess, ladies and
gentlemen. You may leave the courtroom if you so desire.

(Whereupon, a brief recess was taken at 4:06

p.m., and the matter resumed at 4:17 p.m.)
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Q.

THE COURT: AIll right. Thank you.

Everyone may be seated.

You may remind the witness.

THE CLERK: You may be seated.

Just reminding you you’re still under oath.
State your name for the record.

THE WITNESS: William Porter.

THE COURT: You may proceed.

DIRECT EXAMINATION (Continued)

BY MR. PROCTOR:

Officer Porter, do you remember the questions

Mr. Schatzow asked you about working at the computer

company?
A.

Q.

Yes.

Back on April 12, did you know whether or not

you were able to check your BPD emails remotely?

A.

No, I did not know that. No.

MR. PROCTOR: That’s all 1 have.

THE COURT: Recross based on redirect?
MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor.

Your Honor, based on the redirect, we would

offer into evidence Exhibit 31, which was read to the

jury —-- was read from during his redirect examination.

THE COURT: Any objection.

MR. PROCTOR: Object. Still object.
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MR. MURTHA: Can I just see?
THE COURT: Yes.

Objection sustained.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you.

RECROSS-EXAMINATION

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- You were furnished the flash drive before you
went to the academy?

A. I’m sorry?

Q- You were furnished the flash drive before you
went to the academy?

A. No, sir. No, sir.

Q. Didn’t -- didn’t you just say that you had
signed the receipt for i1t two months before you entered
the academy?

A. No. I signed the receipt for various things,

including the General Orders. But I hadn’t received that

until I was iIn the academy.

Q- Are you saying you signed the receipt before
you got to the academy, but you got the materials when
you got to the academy; is that your testimony?

A. That is what I1’m saying, yes.

Q- Okay. When you were asked questions about
whether you were concerned about Mr. Gray at Baker and

Mount; you remember your lawyer asking those questions?
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A. I don’t remember him asking me about Baker and
Mount specifically.

Q- You don’t remember him asking you about why you
weren’t concerned because it having something to do with
other officers being present?

A. Oh, yes. Yes, | remember that.

Q- well, when you walked up to the back of the
wagon at Baker and Mount, and you saw Mr. Gray with his
hands cuffed behind his back and his legs shackled, being
put into the van, on the floor of the van, did you say to
any of the other officers there, isn’t there a better way
to transport him than like an animal on the ground?

MR. MURTHA: Objection.

THE COURT: Sustained. Strike the question as
inappropriate.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q.- When you were interviewed by Detectives Teel
and Anderson on April 17 of 2015, you were aware that

Mr. Gray had suffered a broken neck; weren’t you?

A. I was aware, yes.
Q- And then, finally, you were asked some
gquestions about whether -- what -- about what you had

told the officers on April 17% about whether Mr. Gray
was iIn the same position at Stop 5 -- in Stop 6 as he was

in Stop 5. And 1 think you were asked about the upper
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part of page 62.

I’m going to ask you about the bottom

of 1t.

You’re the one who opened the door on the side
that Mr. Gray was on at -- at the Western District;
right?

A. That is true, yes.
Q- Okay .

MR. PROCTOR: 1 would object.

MR. SCHATZOW: And --

THE COURT: Overruled.

BY MR. SCHATZOW:

Q- Your lawyer pointed you to some language here
on page 62, at about line 12. But at line 24, isn’t it a

fact that Detective Anderson said to you, “Okay. But

when you opened the wagon, he was still in that same

position?”

right? Th
A.

Q.

position.
correct?

A.

And your answer was, “Yeah. He was still”;

at’s what you told him.

And that he -- he interjects me --

And then he said, “Did you call his name?”

And you say, “Yeah.”

But there’s nothing else here about the

You said he was still in the same position;

But he, as you read right here,
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interjected me. That’s what that says.

Q.- Yeah. Did you say, "Yeah"?

A. I said yes, but I was interjected.

just cut me off, he cut me off also.

(Laughter.)

A. That’s what happened, sir.

Q- He -- he --

THE COURT: Quiet,

MR. SCHATZOW:

Like you

ladies and gentlemen.

Never mind, Your Honor. That’s

all 1 have for Officer --

THE COURT: Next witness.

MR. PROCTOR:

questions.

Very limited area, a couple

THE COURT: Oh no.

MR. PROCTOR:

THE COURT: 1t works for both sides.

That"s all

You may step down.

I have.

(End of Excerpt - Testimony of William Porter

concluded at 4:22 p.m.)

178
E. 425



REPORTER"S CERTIFICATE

I, Patricia A. Trikeriotis, Chief Court
Reporter of the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, do
hereby certify that the proceedings in the matter of
State of Maryland vs. William Porter, Case Number
115141037, on December 9, 2015, before the Honorable
Barry G. Williams, Associate Judge, were duly recorded by
means of digital recording.

I further certify that the page numbers 1
through 178 constitute the official transcript of an
excerpt of the proceedings as transcribed by me or under
my direction from the digital recording to the within
typewritten matter in a complete and accurate manner.

In Witness Whereof, 1 have affixed my signhature

this 4th day of January, 2016.

Patricia Trikeriotls

Patricia A. Trikeriotis
Chief Court Reporter
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* IN THE

CAESAR GOODSON, *  COURT OF SPECIAL APPEALS
Appellant, * OF MARYLAND
v, *+  SEPTEMBER TERM, 2015
STATE OF MARYLAND, £ No.2308
Appellee. *  (CC#115141032)

* * * * * * * * * * * * *

ORDER

WHEREAS, on January 6, 2016, the Circuit Court for Baitimore City issued an
order granting the “State’s Motion to Compel a Witness to Testify Pursuant to Section 9-
123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article” (the “Motion to Compel”) in State of
Maryland v. Caesar Goodson, Case No. 115141032; and

WHEREAS, on January 7, 2016, Appellant William Porter!, the witness subject to
the circuit court’s order, noted an interlocutory appeal from the circuit court’s order
granting of that motion; and

WHEREAS, following the noting of the appeal, appellant, on the same day, filed
in this Court a “Motion for Injunction Pending Appeal” (the “Motion for Injunction”);
and

WHEREAS, on January 8, 2016, this Court issued an order temporarily staying
the circuit court’s granting the State’s Motion to Compel pending a decision by this Court

on Appellant’s Motion for Injunction; and

! Pursuant to Maryland Rule 8-111, William Porter is designated as appellant in this appeal.

E. 427




WHEREAS the State has now responded to the Motion for Injunction and
appellant, in turn, has filed a reply to the State’s response to the Motion for Injunction;
and

WHEREAS the trial in State of Maryland v. Caesar Goodson, Case No.
115141032 is scheduled to commence today, Monday, January 11, 2016 at 9:30 a.m.; and

WHEREAS it is presumably in the interests of all parties that appellant’s
interlocutory appeal of the circuit court’s order granting the State’s motion to compel the
testimony of William Porter be decided before the commencement of trial; and

WHEREAS if any party to the proceedings in the circuit court or to this
interlocutory appeal disagrees with this order, they may file a motion, for this Court’s
consideration, to lift the stay.

8 -

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS this _I_I_’_ day of \)W\l/erj 2016, by the Court of
Special Appeals,

ORDERED that the trial in State of Maryland v. Caesar Goodson, Case No.
115141032, now pending in the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, be and hereby is stayed
pending a resolution of the above-captioned interlocutory appeal or further order of this

Court.

FOR A PANEL OF THE COURT

{CRIEF JUDBE'S SISmATURE
APPEARS OW CRIGHIAL ORISR

PETER B. KRAUSER, CHIEF JUDGE
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